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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer O Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company that prepares its financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, indicate by check mark if the registrant has
elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standardst provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or
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Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation
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Standards Codification after April 5, 2012.
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U.S. GAAP International Financial Reporting Standards O Other O
as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board
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Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and are expressed in U.S. Dollars.
In this Annual Report references to “U.S. dollars” or “$” are to United States dollars.

Our fiscal year ends on December 31 of each year. References to any specific fiscal year refer to the year ended

December 31 of the calendar year specified.

This Annual Report includes market data reported by Statista Market Insights (March 2024), Uptime Institute (March
2025), and SwitchUp and Course Report ratings (December 2024).
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report and the materials referenced herein contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties. All statements contained or implied other than statements of historical facts, including, without limitation,
statements regarding our business plans, market opportunities, capacity buildout plans, capital expenditure requirements,
financing requirements and projected financial performance, are forward-looking statements. In some cases, these forward-
looking statements can be identified by words or phrases such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “aim,” “estimate,”
“intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “potential,” “continue,” “is/are likely to” or other similar expressions.

99 ¢, EERT3

In addition, these forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and are not a
guarantee of future performance. Actual results may differ materially from the results predicted or implied by such statements,
and our reported results should not be considered as an indication of future performance. The potential risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ from the results predicted or implied by such statements include, among others, our
ability to:

e successfully operate and develop a fundamentally different, early-stage, capital-intensive business following
the divestment of a significant portion of our historical operations;

e obtain any further debt or equity financing that may be necessary to achieve our objectives;

e successfully identify sites and enter into purchase, lease, build-to-suit or acquisition agreements with
respect to additional data center capacity;

e obtain cost-effective and reliable access to electrical power for such sites, to implement our business plans;
e remediate our material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting;

e adapt to rapidly changing and expanding laws and regulations, including export control requirements;

e continue to successfully capture customers; and

e continue to successfully obtain required supplies of hardware on acceptable terms.

Many of these risks and uncertainties depend on the actions of third parties and are largely outside of our control. Our
actual results of operations may also differ materially from those stated in or implied by such forward-looking statements as a
result of a variety of factors, including those described under Part I, Item 3.A. “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report.

All information in this Annual Report is as of April 30, 2025, and we undertake no duty to update this information
unless required by law. In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the
relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this Annual Report, and while
we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited or incomplete, and
our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all potentially
available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely upon
these statements.

We operate in an evolving environment. New risks emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for our
management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or
combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We undertake no obligation to update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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FROM THE FOUNDER AND CEO
Dear Fellow Shareholders:
July 2024 was the real starting point for Nebius.

We’ve been building new technology and hiring new talent in new markets, raising and deploying capital, and expanding our
operations to fuel our ambitious goal to become one of the world’s largest dedicated Al infrastructure providers.

Artificial intelligence will become a general-purpose technology that will fundamentally change our world — from the way we
interact with each other, to how we work, live, and learn. As a company, we are driven by this belief, and we want to build the
engine that powers this Al revolution.

The Nebius team includes some of the best Al software and hardware engineers in the world. With Nebius, we are building a
full stack of purpose-built, tuned and optimized hardware and software that enables customers of all sizes to accelerate their
Al ambitions.

In just the last several months, we’ve grown our footprint with hubs across the US and Europe, and are increasing our capacity
to serve customers worldwide. In December 2024, Accel, Nvidia and Orbis invested in our $700 million strategic equity raise,
which gave us additional capital and more importantly validation of our thesis that we are building something unique and in
high demand.

Our core Al infrastructure business grew by more than 600% in 2024, and we have seen continued strong performance in
2025.

We also have three other assets, all of which have significant growth potential that I believe the market may not yet fully
appreciate. Like Nebius, these businesses are all built on a foundation of exceptional talent. This is what gives me so much
confidence in their future success.

At Avride, we have a team that built the core technology for one of the world's leading self-driving businesses, notching up
millions of kilometers on public roads. The team has rebuilt Avride’s entire tech stack, and is one of the few independent
autonomous mobility platforms not backed by big tech or a carmaker. Companies like Uber, Hyundai and GrubHub are
partnering with Avride because they recognize this team’s strong technical capabilities. This business needs significant capital,
and we may explore strategic investments and partnerships to help accelerate its growth.

The team at Toloka, our Al data labeling business, have also re-built their entire platform to serve the changing needs of this
market. They transformed data production from simple data annotation tasks to PhD-level deep domain expertise for LLM
development to now having experts operate in virtual environments to test Al agents. Toloka’s focus on innovation has
enabled it to serve as a trusted data partner to many global technology leaders— including Amazon, Anthropic, Avride,
Microsoft, Nebius, Poolside, Recraft, ServiceNow, Shopify and many others supporting them with high quality data for AL
training and evaluation.

TripleTen is a leading edtech platform, delivering programs to help people uplevel their skills in a world that is becoming ever
more technology-focused. The company now offers several courses related to Al, including data science, business intelligence
analytics, and cyber security. In 2024, approximately 14,000 students came to TripleTen to improve their skills. For the twelve
months ending in June 2024, over 80% of our graduates secured a tech job within six months of program completion.

We also own a 28% stake in ClickHouse, one of the fastest and most resource efficient real-time data warehouses and open-
source databases. ClickHouse originally started out as an internal project, before blossoming into an autonomous business that
we took to the next level with top-tier VC backing. This model is one that we expect to be repeated in the future at Nebius as
we cultivate exciting new businesses, foster innovation, and create pathways for future growth.

I am excited for what the future holds, but we do not take a single day for granted. We may be a relatively new name, but we
have huge experience of the challenges of growing a company from scratch. And we know the future opportunity is immense.
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Our ambition is clear — we want to build one of the world’s leading technology businesses. We have the technology, the
people, the experience and access to the capital we need to achieve this.

Thank you for your support and belief in Nebius. We are just getting started.

Sincerely,

Arkady Volozh
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Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisors.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable.

PART L.

Not applicable.

Item 3. Key Information.

A. Risk Factors

Investing in our Class A shares involves a high degree of risk. The risks and uncertainties described below and

elsewhere in this Annual Report, including in the section headed “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”, could
materially adversely affect our business. These are not the only risks that we face; additional risks and uncertainties of which
we are unaware, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also become important factors that affect us. Any of these risks
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In such case, the trading price of our

Class A shares could decline.

Summary of Risk Factors

Risks Related to our Business Model and Industry

Our businesses are at an early stage of development and operate in new and rapidly changing markets. We may not
be successful in building these businesses to the scale we hope, if at all, which would adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and future prospects.

Our businesses face significant and evolving competition, and any inability to adapt to new and changing
technologies and customer requirements or specifications could negatively affect our financial condition, results of
operations and future prospects.

Our business is capital-intensive and currently not profitable, and our ability to continue to operate and to grow will
depend in large part on our ability to raise additional equity or debt financing, either through the public or private
markets or other third-party sources. If we are not successful in raising such capital on acceptable terms or at all, we
would be unable to meet our growth targets, which would have a material adverse effect on our revenues, cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations.

If we do not successfully attract new customers, retain and expand our business with existing customers, and
increase the portion of our business under longer-term contracts, our revenues, cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations would suffer.

Technological developments in generative Al and inference, such as the development of AI models that require less
computation power than earlier models, may result in decreased or differing demand for our offerings.

We are actively building out our sales team, and our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable. If we are unable to
successfully build out our team, manage our sales processes and realize expected revenues on time, our ability to

grow our business, and our operating results and financial condition, may be adversely affected.

We may face pricing pressures as our industry evolves, and any significant or sustained reductions in pricing may
reduce our margins and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition and future prospects.

Our estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate, which could
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result in our business failing to meet its growth targets, which could negatively affect our financial condition, results
of operations and future prospects.

Our smaller business units also generally operate in new and evolving industries, are at early stages of development
and face significant competition in their markets.

Our autonomous vehicles business unit, Avride, is a capital-intensive and early-stage business operating in a highly
regulated sector. If it is unable to secure significant third-party financing and/or commercial partnerships, its ability
to meet its business objectives may be limited.

Risks Related to the Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Environment

Geopolitical and macroeconomic developments, including increases in protectionist measures, restrictions on foreign
companies, and business practices favoring local competition, could negatively affect our businesses and financial
condition.

Any changes in the markets in which we operate, including consolidations, liquidations, changes to incumbents or
the emergence of new entrants, the composition of our customer base or changes in the competitive environment
could have a material adverse effect on our revenue, cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Operations

We are currently dependent on a limited number of suppliers and our business may be adversely affected if we are
unable to source and acquire sophisticated hardware on acceptable terms and on time. Any supply chain disruptions,
delays in delivery or increased costs could adversely affect our growth plans, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our future growth relies on significant continuing expansion of our data center footprint. Any difficulties in
identifying appropriate sites, entering into greenfield or build-to-suit arrangements or co-location agreements, or
obtaining reliable power with sufficient capacity and on acceptable terms, will limit the growth of our revenues and
anticipated profitability.

Our data centers are subject to numerous operational risks, including related to cybersecurity, physical security and
third-party dependencies.

If there is insufficient customer demand to utilize the compute capacity we build, we would not realize the expected
returns on our expansion efforts and our businesses, future operating results and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We depend on third-party suppliers for power, network connectivity and other key services, which exposes us to the
risk of service failures by such suppliers.

We are continuing to build out our senior management team, and our success will depend on hiring and retaining key
management and the ability of our team to work collaboratively to achieve our goals.

There is substantial competition for highly skilled development and technical personnel in the technology and Al
industries. We may be unable to hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified technical employees, which could
materially adversely impact our businesses, results of operations and financial condition.

We are actively seeking third-party investment into Avride, including transactions in which we may cease to have
control. If we are not successful in securing third-party investment into this business, we may incur additional
expenses to develop it further or may seek to sell or wind down those operations, either of which may limit the return
on our historical investments.

If we are unable to maintain our best practices relating to environmental standards when expanding our data
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center capacity, we may be exposed to reputational and legal risks, material liabilities and costs relating to
compliance with environmental laws and regulations.

We may seek to enter into strategic partnerships or relationships, and any such arrangements may fail to realize the
benefits we anticipate on the desired timeframe or at all.

Risks Related to Legal and Regulatory Matters

The development and use of Al tools and data centers is subject to intense political scrutiny and evolving, complex
and potentially divergent regulatory frameworks across multiple jurisdictions, and the impact of such regulatory
developments on our businesses remains uncertain. If we are unable to comply with such laws and regulations and
related export controls and other regulations, or if such requirements limit our ability to implement our business
model, we may be subject to litigation, investigation or penalties, and our businesses and results of operations could
be negatively impacted.

Our business is subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations related to data privacy, data protection and
information security across the different markets in which we operate, and such laws and regulations are constantly
evolving. Any failure or alleged failure to comply with such laws could adversely affect our competitive position,
reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to Information Technology, Intellectual Property and Insurance

We rely on sophisticated IT security measures to protect our and our customers’ businesses and data. The occurrence
of a cybersecurity incident or a failure to implement effective information and cybersecurity policies and procedures
may disrupt our operations, cause material harm to our financial condition or reputational damage, compromise
confidential information or damage our business relationships.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights and prevent third parties from the unauthorized use of
our intellectual property, which may adversely affect our competitive position, businesses, financial condition and
results of operations.

We may become involved in intellectual property infringement claims, which may adversely affect our competitive
position, businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

We incorporate and may continue to incorporate “open-source” software in some of our technology solutions and
offerings, and any failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source software licenses could adversely
affect our competitive position, business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition, and future prospects.

The level of insurance coverage that we purchase, including for fire, flood, cyber risks or business disruption, may
prove to be inadequate, which could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Risks Related to our Financial Results and Reporting

Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, and such fluctuations may be particularly
pronounced in the near and medium terms given the early stage of the development of our businesses and of the
markets in which we operate.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to remediate
these material weaknesses, or if we identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to establish
and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately or timely report our financial
condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect our business.

Changes in the tax laws, regulations and systems in the countries in which we operate, or unpredictable or
unforeseen application of existing rules, may materially adversely affect our reported financial results.
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Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are not able to accurately estimate the value and useful
lives of our long-term infrastructure assets or to amortize them over the periods we anticipate.

We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our results of operations.

Risks Related to our Class A Ordinary Shares

The market price of our Class A shares has been and may continue to be volatile, including as a result of general
market and industry developments that are outside our control. These risks may be exacerbated by volatility in the
emerging industry in which we operate and the relative lack of comparable publicly traded peers.

We expect to issue additional equity or equity-linked securities from time to time, which may dilute your interest in
our company.

Future sales of Class A shares by existing shareholders could put pressure on our share price.

The concentration of voting power with our founding shareholder limits the ability of our minority shareholders to
influence corporate matters, including the election of directors.

Risks Related to US Shareholders

e  We rely on the Nasdaq Stock Market rules that permit us to comply with applicable Dutch corporate governance
practices, rather than the corresponding domestic U.S. corporate governance practices, and therefore the rights of our
shareholders differ from the rights of a shareholder of a domestic U.S. issuer.

e The rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by Dutch law and differ in some important respects
from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders under U.S. law.

e We can provide no assurance that we will not be classified as a passive foreign investment company for any taxable
year, which may result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequence to U.S. holders.

e [fwe cease to qualify as a foreign private issuer, we would be required to comply with the U.S. securities laws and
reporting requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, and we would incur significant additional legal,
accounting and other expenses that we would not incur as a foreign private issuer.

General Risks

e  Although our group no longer has any operations or employees in, or derives any revenues from, Russia, our legacy
could create challenges for our operations.

e Anti-takeover provisions in our articles of association may prevent or delay change-of-control transactions.

e  We do not comply with all of the provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, which may affect the rights
of our shareholders.

e Any U.S. or other foreign judgments our shareholders may obtain against us may be difficult to enforce in the
Netherlands.

e We may fail to achieve our environmental, social and governance and sustainability goals, or may encounter

objections to them, either of which may adversely affect public perception of our business, impose additional costs,
or affect our relationship with our customers, shareholders or other stakeholders.

10




Table of Contents

Detailed Overview of Risk Factors
1. RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS MODEL AND INDUSTRY

a. Our businesses are at an early stage of development and operate in new and rapidly changing markets. We may
not be successful in building these businesses to the scale we hope, if at all, which would adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

Although our Class A shares have been listed on Nasdaq since 2011, our current businesses are in their early stages of
development and operate in highly competitive and evolving markets characterized by rapid commercial and technological
advancements. We previously operated as part of a larger, profitable group, but we introduced our current business model in
2024 and have limited experience in managing and financing only early-stage, capital-intensive businesses. We encounter
risks frequently experienced by growing companies that operate at an early stage in rapidly changing and capital-intensive
sectors, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section. These factors may make it difficult for you to
evaluate our current business and future prospects. For example, if our assumptions regarding these risks change due to
fluctuations in our markets, such as any material reduction in Al spending or changes in demand for specialized Al cloud
infrastructure, or if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from
our expectations, and our future prospects could be adversely affected. Furthermore, our current businesses have never been
profitable and may never reach profitability. If we are unable to expand and develop our businesses to the scale we hope or at
all, our financial condition, results of operations and future prospects would be adversely affected.

b. Our businesses face significant and evolving competition, and any inability to adapt to new and changing
technologies and customer requirements or specifications could negatively affect our financial condition, results
of operations and future prospects.

The market for our offerings is intensely competitive and evolving at a rapid pace. To remain competitive, we must
evolve our products and differentiate our offerings from those of our competitors while the market experiences volatility,
changes in customer requirements and industry standards, regulatory developments, advancements in technology, and the
frequent introduction of new or improved solutions. A failure to compete successfully could materially adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

For our core Al infrastructure business, our key competitors are specialized cloud service providers focused on Al,
including CoreWeave, Crusoe and Lambda. We also compete with general purpose cloud computing including Amazon
(AWS), Google (Google Cloud Platform), Microsoft (Azure), and Oracle. In addition, national governments have launched
initiatives in certain jurisdictions, including the U.S., to sponsor, support or otherwise encourage the development of Al
infrastructure, which may intensify the competition in our core sector. Our smaller business units also face significant
competition in their respective sectors. Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing, sales, and other
resources, greater name recognition, longer operating histories, and a larger customer base. We expect to continue to face
intense competition from current and new entrants into the market. Our ability to compete effectively depends on a number of
factors, many of which are beyond our control, including those described elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, and in
particular:

+ the potential ability of larger competitors to develop technologies more efficiently or faster than we can, and any
resulting need for us to increase our expenditure on research, development and marketing to remain competitive;

*  deferral of orders from customers in anticipation of new or enhanced solutions and services announced by us or
our competitors or suppliers;

» the adoption of aggressive pricing policies by our competitors and resulting pricing pressures on our offerings;

* declines or changes in Al spending or demand for specialized Al cloud infrastructure or the growth rate of the Al
cloud infrastructure sector generally;

*  our ability to innovate, adapt our products and services to changing industry demands and client

11
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requirements to maintain high-quality customer service and attractive value proposition;
*  our access to capital; and

*  material security breaches, or technical difficulties with or interruptions to the use of our offerings, power
shortages, inability to timely secure power, and capacity constraints.

If we are not able to compete effectively with current and future players, our businesses’ ability to generate income
and sustainably fund development will be negatively impacted.

c Our business is capital-intensive and currently not profitable, and our ability to continue to operate and to grow
will depend in large part on our ability to raise additional equity or debt financing, either through the public or
private markets or other third-party sources. If we are not successful in raising such capital on acceptable terms or
at all, we would be unable to meet our growth targets, which would have a material adverse effect on our
revenues, cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

Our businesses are in their early stages of development, not currently profitable and extremely capital intensive. We
have made, and intend to continue to make, significant financial investments into our business, including expenditures related
to the enhancement and expansion of our data centers and the procurement of key components (including GPUs). Accordingly,
we expect the need to raise additional equity or debt financing, either through the public or private markets or other third-party
sources, to support our growth. We can provide no assurance that we will be able to obtain such financing on acceptable terms
or at all.

The current global macroeconomic environment could also make it challenging to raise additional capital on
acceptable terms. The trading prices of public companies have been, and may continue to be, highly volatile as a result of
broader geopolitical and macroeconomic dynamics, including conflicts, political tensions, recession risks or other sustained
adverse market events, inflation risk, protectionist measures, interest rate volatility, and/or market downturns, any of which
may reduce our ability to access capital on favorable terms or at all.

Any failure to fund the necessary level of capital expenditures to maintain and expand our operations, meet our
growth targets and/or invest in future growth opportunities, could have a material adverse effect on our revenues, cash flow,
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, equity or convertible debt issuances could result in our existing
shareholders suffering significant dilution and/or result in the issuance of securities that have preferential rights and privileges
in addition to those of our existing Class A shares. Even if we are able to raise sufficient capital, we cannot guarantee you that
we will deploy it in a manner that allows us to achieve better operating results or grow our business.

d. If we do not successfully attract new customers, retain and expand our business with existing customers, and
increase the portion of our business under longer-term contracts, our revenues, cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations would suffer.

Our ability to maximize revenues and cash flow relies heavily on our ability to develop and grow a balanced
customer base, continue to attract new customers and retain and expand our longer-term business with existing customers. Our
ability to attract and retain customers will depend on a variety of factors, some of which are outside of our control, including,

without limitation:

» the range and quality of our products and services, as well as our ability to innovate and develop new attractive
offerings and differentiate our offerings from those of our competition;

*  our ability to secure larger and longer-term contracts from a diversified client base;

+ the operating reliability, performance and security of our data centers and offerings, as well as our ability to
secure sufficient capacity to meet the demand of current and prospective customers;

*  our ability to effectively market our offerings via our sales team;

* increasing competitive pressure from other market players, including on price, as well as potential
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customers’ commitments to or greater familiarity with other existing solutions or services offered by our
competitors;

*  our ability to secure sufficient power for our platform and solutions;
* decreased spending on Al cloud infrastructure or Al or machine learning development generally;

+  general economic and geopolitical challenges, which could reduce customer spending or delay decision-making
on our offerings; and

+ future governmental regulation, which could adversely impact growth of the Al sector.

In addition, most of our customer engagements to date have been relatively short-term. If our efforts to expand our
relationships with existing and prospective customers, and to conclude longer-term contracts, are not successful, this may have
an adverse impact on our revenues, cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

e Technological developments in generative AI and inference, such as the development of AI models that require
less computation power than earlier models, may result in decreased or differing demand for our offerings.

Al technologies have been developing, and will likely continue to develop, at a rapid pace. In addition, the market is
immature and volatile, and it is uncertain whether it will achieve and sustain high levels of demand and market acceptance.
Currently, as part of our expansion efforts, we seek to attract customers requiring high-performance computing. We are unable
to predict whether additional computing power will continue to be required to develop larger, more powerful Al models or to
support inference or other use cases. Technological advancements with open-source Al models and inference may lead to
compute and other efficiencies that may impact the demand for Al services, including our offerings. Furthermore, market
acceptance, understanding, and valuation of solutions and services that incorporate Al technologies are uncertain, and the
perceived value of Al technologies used and/or provided by our customers could be inaccurate. Any decreased or differing
demand for our offerings may adversely affect our revenue and profitability.

If we are unable to develop enhancements to and new features for our existing offerings or acceptable new offerings
that keep pace with rapid technological developments, or if the Al landscape does not develop to the extent and in the manner
we anticipate, our business, results of operations and financial condition will be harmed. Moreover, we may incur significant
costs and experience delays in developing new offerings, or enhancing our current offerings, to adapt to market changes, and
may not achieve our targeted return on such investment.

f We are actively building out our sales team, and our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable. If we are unable
to successfully build out our team, manage our sales processes and realize expected revenues on time, our ability
to grow our business, and our operating results and financial condition, may be adversely affected.

We have been expanding our global sales team rapidly in recent quarters from a low base. We may not be able to
successfully build, expand, and deploy our sales organization on schedule and to the scale we hope, if at all, or to successfully
hire, retain, train, and motivate our sales personnel, in which case our growth and long-term success could be adversely
affected.

Sales to customers of our core offerings can involve relatively long and unpredictable sales cycles. Before a customer
is willing to purchase our products and services, they may require extensive education and testing opportunities with our
offerings, which further lengthens our sales cycle. As a result, it is difficult to predict when we will obtain new customers and
commence generating revenue from these customers. If we are unable to build out our sales team, that team is not successful
in capturing customers, or our sales cycles lengthen, our future revenue could be lower than expected in a given period or
overall, which would have an adverse impact on our operating results.
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g. We may face pricing pressures as our industry evolves, and any significant or sustained reductions in pricing may
reduce our margins and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition and future prospects.

The pricing for our key offerings is continuing to mature as our industry develops and competition increases. We
anticipate that increasing competition may lead to further pressures on pricing and differentiation. In addition, in a weakened
economy, companies that have competing products may reduce prices which could require us to reduce our average selling
prices and harm our operating results. We may be unable to effectively calibrate our prices, whether through increases or
decreases, in order to remain competitive and attract new customers and develop our existing customer base.

Given our early stage of development, and the immaturity of the market, there is limited experience with respect to
determining the most favorable prices and pricing models for our offerings. As customer demand shifts to inference and other
use cases, we may experience changing pricing dynamics. In addition, larger competitors with more diverse offerings may
reduce the price of any offerings that compete with ours or may bundle them with other solutions and services. This could lead
customers to demand greater price concessions or additional functionality at the same price levels. These risks may reduce our
margins and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and future prospects.

h. Our estimates of market opportunity and forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate, which could
result in our business failing to meet its growth targets, which could negatively affect our financial condition,
results of operations and future prospects.

Market estimates are subject to significant uncertainty, particularly in a new and rapidly evolving market with newly
emerging use cases, and are based on assumptions that may not prove to be accurate and variables that change over time.
Accordingly, our forecasts of market growth should not be taken as indicative of our future growth. If our assumptions about
the adoption or growth rates of Al and Al cloud infrastructure prove to be inaccurate, we may fail to meet our growth targets,
which could negatively affect our financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

i. Our smaller business units also generally operate in new and evolving industries, are at early stages of
development and face significant competition in their markets.

Our smaller business units, Avride, Toloka, and TripleTen, operate in new and evolving industries and sectors, are at
early stages of development and face significant competition in their respective sectors. The limited operating history of these
businesses, the dynamic and rapidly evolving markets in which they operate and other factors beyond their control may make
it difficult to evaluate these businesses and their future prospects and trends. In addition, we are actively pursuing third-party
investment into both Avride and Toloka, including transactions in which we may cede control. We may be unsuccessful in
securing such investments, which could limit the growth prospects of these businesses.

J. Our autonomous vehicles business unit, Avride, is a capital-intensive and early-stage business operating in a
highly regulated sector. If it is unable to secure significant third-party financing and/or commercial partnerships,
its ability to meet its business objectives may be limited.

Our autonomous vehicles business unit, Avride, requires substantial capital expenditures and operating funds to
support its growth and respond to a dynamic business environment. We have made significant financial investments into
Avride to date and are actively exploring third-party financing into this business. In the event that we are unable to secure
significant third-party financing for Avride, however, the likelihood that it will be able to meet its business objectives, if at all,
will be significantly diminished. In addition, Avride’s business model is heavily reliant on commercial partnerships to expand
into different business models and geographies. If it is unable to secure and retain commercial partnerships, its ability to meet
its business objectives may be significantly limited.

In addition, any failure of the Avride business to adhere to stringent safety and product liability requirements, or

satisfy applicable regulatory obligations, could harm its reputation, limit its ability to attract third-party financing or business
partners, result in liability claims, and significantly impede its growth prospects.
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2. RISKS RELATED TO THE MACROECONOMIC AND GEOPOLITICAL ENVIRONMENT

a. Geopolitical and macroeconomic developments, including increases in protectionist measures, restrictions on
foreign companies, and business practices favoring local competition, could negatively affect our businesses and
financial condition.

Geopolitical risks, including those arising from trade tensions and/or the imposition of tariffs, terrorist activity, or
acts of civil or international hostility, are increasing and could have a negative effect on our business and could disrupt our
business, partners, customers, supply chains or the economy as a whole. The introduction of tariffs, stock market volatility and
interest rate increases, have had, and may continue to have, an impact on our ability to forecast our expected cash flows and
operating results, on our margins, business, operating results, financial condition, and future prospects. The trading prices of
public companies in the markets in which we operate have recently been highly volatile as a result of general macroeconomic
and political conditions in the markets and regions where we operate including for those reasons described in this “Risk
Factors” section.

Many jurisdictions have taken, and will likely continue to take, a proactive and protectionist approach to international
trade generally. Governments and regulators are also increasingly recognizing the importance of data centers in ensuring the
availability, resilience, security and stability of important services, including in relation to national security, healthcare and
financial and banking services. As a result, foreign ownership of data centers may come under heightened scrutiny in certain
jurisdictions.

Our overall performance also depends in part on worldwide economic conditions and the economic health of our
current and prospective customers. Weak global and regional economic conditions affect the rate of information technology
spending, including in the area of generative Al, and could adversely affect our customers’ ability or willingness to purchase
our offerings.

b. Any changes in the markets in which we operate, including consolidations, liquidations, changes to incumbents or
the emergence of new entrants, the composition of our customer base or changes in the competitive environment
could have a material adverse effect on our revenue, cash flow, financial condition and results of operations.

The markets in which we operate are at risk of sudden and material changes as a result of numerous factors, many of
which are outside of our control. We anticipate that market developments, including consolidation of potential or current
customers, recent and future acquisitions by our competitors, or partnerships or strategic cooperation between competitors,
advancements in technology and the emergence of new entrants, will continue to change the competitive environment in
which we operate. For example, acquisitions or strategic arrangements completed by our competitors may allow them to offer
more directly competitive offerings and adapt more quickly to changes in the markets in which we operate. It is also possible
that some customers may develop their own infrastructure that may compete with our offerings or adopt a competitor’s
infrastructure for services that they currently acquire from us. These changes, and any failure to accurately predict and adapt
to such changes and compete effectively, could materially and adversely affect our revenue, cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations.

3. RISKS RELATED TO OUR OPERATIONS

a. We are currently dependent on a limited number of suppliers and our business may be adversely affected if we are
unable to source and acquire sophisticated hardware on acceptable terms and on time. Any supply chain
disruptions, delays in delivery or increased costs could adversely affect our growth plans, financial condition and

results of operations.

We currently rely on Nvidia for the GPU chips we use and on a limited number of other suppliers for other key
components in our infrastructure. The concentration of our suppliers exposes us to a number of risks including:

+ the potentially limited availability of and access to the latest components including sophisticated GPU chips,
which can be affected by suppliers’ capacity and commitments to other customers;

* lack of control over production costs, delivery, availability, terms, and pricing of components;
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+ the potential for binding price or purchase commitments with our suppliers at higher than market rates;

* changes in market-leading technologies away from those currently offered by our existing suppliers, which
could impact our ability to offer our customers the services that they are seeking;

* reliance on our current suppliers to keep up to date with technological advancements at the same rate that our
customers and the market demands, including delivering next-generation components that perform significantly
better than their previous versions;

+ limited ability to control aspects of the quality, performance, quantity, and cost of our infrastructure or of its
components;

+ the prioritization by our suppliers of other customers;
*  breaches of contracts by our suppliers;

* impacts on our supply chain from geopolitical disputes, natural disasters or adverse public health developments,
including outbreaks of contagious diseases or pandemics; and

*  business, legal compliance, litigation, and financial concerns affecting our suppliers or their ability to
manufacture and ship components in the quantities, quality, and manner we require.

Should we be required to change our current suppliers, our ability to meet our obligations to our customers, including
scheduled compute access, could be adversely affected and our solutions may not perform at the level of quality intended,
which could adversely affect our growth plans, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our suppliers
themselves rely on complex networks of third-party suppliers for semiconductor manufacturing, hardware components, and
other critical inputs, which introduces further risks throughout our supply chain and over which we have no control. Any kind
of disruption in the supply chain may affect our suppliers’ ability to meet our requirements. To the extent any of our suppliers’
businesses are impacted by business, legal compliance, litigation, and financial concerns, including regulatory scrutiny and
export controls, our business may be adversely affected. For example, the use of protectionist policies including, but not
limited to tariffs, reciprocal tariffs, sanctions and export controls, may impact the cost and availability of GPU chips or other
hardware. In the event of any supply disruption, it may not be possible for us to secure alternate sources of components in a
timely and cost-effective manner, or at all.

b. Our future growth relies on significant continuing expansion of our data center footprint. Any difficulties in
identifying appropriate sites, entering into greenfield or build-to-suit arrangements or co-location agreements, or
obtaining reliable power with sufficient capacity and on acceptable terms, will limit the growth of our revenues
and anticipated profitability.

We intend to purchase, build-to-suit or enter lease agreements with respect to additional data center capacity. In
particular, we have commenced the expansion of our existing owned data center in Finland, are developing several facilities in
the U.S. and Europe and are exploring other appropriate locations.

The expansion of our data center infrastructure, including new data centers, will be complex, and delays in the
completion of these projects or the cost, availability or access to components necessary for these projects may result in
increased expenditures, operational and project inefficiencies, delays, or interruptions in the delivery of our services to our
clients. Moreover, problems related to our data center infrastructure may only become evident once we have launched
operations and may not be discovered during the design and testing phases, which could limit or delay our growth plans.

Construction projects expose us to a variety of significant risks, including:

*  project delays;

* unexpected budget changes;

* increased prices for, availability of, and delays in obtaining building supplies, raw materials and data center
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equipment;
* labor availability, labor disputes and work stoppages with contractors, subcontractors and other third parties;
* environmental issues and geological problems; and

* delays in connection with approvals and any necessary permitting from public agencies, utility companies, or
other organizations.

The selection of sites is a critical factor in our data center expansion plans. We may not be able to identify adequate
or appropriate properties that have the appropriate specifications required for our business including power capacity,
connectivity, and other considerations. We may also face increasing competition for appropriate sites as data center
development expands rapidly in our markets.

Moreover, many of the leases we have entered or expect to enter for third-party data centers have multi-year terms
and fixed capacity. If we are unable to accurately predict the data center capacity that our customers require, we could incur
additional costs as a result of leasing more capacity than our customers require. We may also need to seek additional data
center capacity in the event customer demand exceeds our forecasts, or if any leases with third parties are terminated or not
renewed, which we may be unable to do on reasonable terms or at all.

c Our data centers are subject to numerous operational risks, including related to cybersecurity, physical security
and third-party dependencies.

Our data centers and associated infrastructure may be subject to cybersecurity attacks or failures, including as a result
of outside nefarious parties (whether private or state-backed), human error, malfeasance, internal threats, various kinds of
system errors, system vulnerabilities, lack of or inadequate cybersecurity controls and protective mechanisms, which may
result in service outages and adversely affect our ability to provide our services to customers. We are unable to ensure that the
security measures that we take will be adequate to prevent or protect our data centers and associated infrastructure against a
cybersecurity attack, and any impact to our data centers will affect our services and may also impact our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Various factors, many of which are beyond our control, can adversely affect the performance, availability, and
delivery of our services to our customers including:

* the development, maintenance, and functioning of the underlying infrastructure of the internet as a whole;
*  power and power grid constraints;

* lack of availability and delays for data center equipment, including items such as server racks, generators and
switchgear;

+ the performance and availability of third-party telecommunications services with the necessary speed, data
capacity, and security for providing reliable and efficient internet access and services;

* the success or failure of our redundancy systems;

» the success or failure of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans;

* decisions by global telecommunications service provider partners who provide us with network bandwidth to
modify or terminate our contracts, shut down their operations, increase our prices, modify the level of service

they provide, breach their contract, or prioritize other parties over us;

*  our ability to enter into data center agreements, purchase or build-to-suit agreements and leases according to our
business needs and on terms and with counterparties that are acceptable to us; and

* in locations where we do not fully control the operation of our leased data centers, potential service
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disruptions arising because of these third-party dependencies for reasons that are outside of our control.

d. If there is insufficient customer demand to utilize the compute capacity we build, we would not realize the expected
returns on our expansion efforts and our businesses, future operating results and financial condition would be
adversely affected.

We are investing significantly in continuously increasing the compute capacity we are able to make available to our
current and future customers and expanding the number, size and efficiency of our data centers worldwide. These expansion
efforts require significant investment in capital, resources, personnel and management time. Our expected returns are
dependent on customer demand for the additional compute capacity that we build. There are many factors that can reduce or
constrain increases in customer demand that are beyond our control, including pricing of competitors, advancements in
technologies, changes to customer needs and specifications, our inability to develop enhancements to our data centers and our
service and platform offerings that meet customer needs and attract customers, and other factors including those described in
this “Risk Factors” section.

e We depend on third-party suppliers for power, network connectivity and other key services, which exposes us to the
risk of service failures by such suppliers.

We depend on being able to secure reliable and cost-effective power, network and internet connectivity and other
services such as water to operate our data center facilities. Any inability to secure these requirements at acceptable cost, or
shortages, supply chain issues or lack of availability of any the services upon which we rely, could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and future prospects.

In particular, limitations on the availability of power sources, transmission and distribution may limit our ability to
obtain the power that we require to implement our growth plans and adequately service our customers. Moreover, regulators
or public agencies in the power market, power providers, or other market participants may impose onerous operating
conditions on the availability or provision of, or approval for, power which may lead to significant delays or increased costs or
result in the lack of availability of the level of power required to operate our current business and implement our future growth
plans.

f We are continuing to build out our senior management team, and our success will depend on hiring and retaining
key management and the ability of our team to work collaboratively to achieve our goals.

Our future success is dependent, in part, on our ability to hire, integrate, train, manage, retain, and motivate the
members of our senior management team and key technical team. The loss of key personnel, particularly Arkady Volozh, our
founder and Chief Executive Officer, and our key infrastructure and technical personnel, could disrupt our operations and have
an adverse effect on our ability to achieve our goals.

g. There is substantial competition for highly skilled development and technical personnel in the technology and Al
industries. We may be unable to hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified technical employees, which could
materially adversely impact our businesses, results of operations and financial condition.

Competition for highly skilled talent in our industry is intense, and we may not ultimately be successful in
identifying, hiring or retaining qualified personnel to satisfy our current or future needs. Moreover, in the event that our direct
or indirect competitors recruit our current or prospective employees, our level of expertise and ability to execute our business
plan could be negatively impacted.

In addition, current and prospective employees may give significant weight to the value of equity awards, and if the
value of our Class A shares decreases or fluctuates, it may significantly impact our ability to attract, retain and appropriately
incentivize the talent we require. If we were required to increase the cash component of our compensation, this would increase
our cash expenditures which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
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h. We are actively seeking third-party investment into Avride, including transactions in which we may cease to have
control. If we are not successful in securing third-party investment into this business, we may incur additional
expenses to develop it further or may seek to sell or wind down those operations, either of which may limit the
return on our historical investments.

As part of our business strategy, we are seeking third-party investment into Avride in the form of equity, debt,
convertible financing or other sources from investors. Any third-party investment in our business units may be from a wide
variety of different parties including financial investors, competitors or strategic buyers, and may take a variety of forms
including minority or majority investments and may come with varying levels of requirements or conditions. Such external
investments may also result in us no longer maintaining operational control over the business unit in question. If we are not
successful in securing such arrangements, we may decide to continue to fund those operations at a level to be determined,
which may lead to additional expenses, or to divest or discontinue those businesses, which could increase our expenses or
significantly limit our return on our investment.

L. If we are unable to maintain our best practices relating to environmental standards when expanding our data
center capacity, we may be exposed to reputational and legal risks, material liabilities and costs relating to
compliance with environmental laws and regulations.

We are subject to various environmental and health and safety laws and regulations in the United States and at our
non-U.S. locations, including those concerning the generation, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous substances and
other regulated materials. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault,
for investigation and cleanup costs on current as well as on former owners and operators of real property and persons who
have disposed of or released hazardous substances into the environment. Some of our operations also involve the use of
hazardous substances and other regulated materials including petroleum fuel for emergency generators, as well as batteries,
cleaning solutions, refrigerants and other materials that are available and present at our data center sites. There may be
unknown hazardous substances or regulated materials present at sites that we own, operate or lease, including in the soil or
groundwater. To the extent that any hazardous substances and other regulated materials must be investigated, cleaned or
removed from sites that we own, operate or lease, we could be responsible under health and safety laws and regulations for the
cleanup and removal of such materials which could require significant time and expose us to material liabilities and costs.
Failure to observe best practices with respect to environmental management may also result in reputational harm to our
company.

J- We may seek to enter into strategic partnerships or relationships, and any such arrangements may fail to realize
the benefits we anticipate on the desired timeframe or at all.

We may seek to expand our businesses by entering into strategic partnerships, joint ventures or other arrangements
with third parties including for distribution of our services. Identifying strategic relationships with appropriate counterparties,
and negotiating and documenting relationships with them, may take significant time and resources and distract members of
senior management and key personnel. In addition, we may not be successful in realizing the underlying benefits we anticipate
from any strategic partnership within the timeframe expected, or at all. Third parties may not meet our or our customers’
needs, demands or specifications, and, as a result, our services to customers may be adversely affected and our business,
growth plans, financial condition and future prospects may be harmed. Conflicts may arise with strategic partners including
regarding the expectations of each party, their responsibilities, and the interpretation of terms of the agreement. These
disagreements may also lead to disputes in litigation or arbitration which would take significant time of our senior
management, require significant costs, and adversely affect our reputation. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or
maintaining strategic relationships with third parties, our ability to compete or to grow could be impaired and our business,
operating results, financial condition, and future prospects could be adversely affected.
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4. RISKS RELATED TO LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS

a. The development and use of Al tools and data centers is subject to intense political scrutiny and evolving, complex
and potentially divergent regulatory frameworks across multiple jurisdictions, and the impact of such regulatory
developments on our businesses remains uncertain. If we are unable to comply with such laws and regulations
and related export controls and other regulations, or if such requirements limit our ability to implement our
business model, we may be subject to litigation, investigation or penalties, and our businesses and results of
operations could be negatively impacted.

As the market for cloud infrastructure and Al solutions continues to evolve at a rapid pace, regulators and lawmakers
have begun proposing and adopting regulations and guidance on the responsible use of Al and data centers, including, for
example, the Al Act in the European Union, and we expect the continued introduction of measures with respect to Al,
cybersecurity, data privacy and sustainability. In addition, the recent and continuing strengthening of export controls in many
jurisdictions will likely impact our supply chains and operations. Any changes to existing regulations, their interpretation
and/or implementation, or new regulations, could impact our customers’ ability to use and commercialize Al tools, which in
turn would impact demand for our platform and solutions, and could materially impair our ability to implement our business
model and result in an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

We strive to comply with all laws and regulations that apply to our business. We may incur greater costs in
connection with such compliance requirements than anticipated. If we fail to comply with applicable laws, regulations and
requirements we may become subject to investigations, enforcement actions, civil and criminal penalties or injunctions. If any
of these risks materialize, our businesses, results of operations, financial condition and future prospects could be seriously
harmed.

In the U.S., we are subject to various economic and trade sanctions. Given the nature of our core business, we are
monitoring regulatory developments concerning export controls regarding the semiconductor industry and their impact on our
sourcing of equipment for our cloud computing infrastructure. In addition, we are monitoring a proposed rule from BIS, which
if implemented as proposed, would impose requirements on Infrastructure-as-a-Service (“laaS”) providers and their foreign
resellers to verify the identity and beneficial ownership of foreign person customers and to perform related reporting to BIS,
as well as provide BIS authority to restrict certain laaS transactions with foreign persons.

We have implemented procedures and safeguards to facilitate our compliance with applicable laws and regulations
concerning economic sanctions and export controls. We also conduct customary “know-your-customer” and onboarding
procedures for third parties that we contract with, including suppliers and customers, in accordance with our internal policies.
Given the nature of our core business, we are also carefully monitoring regulatory developments concerning exports controls
regarding the semiconductor industry and their impact on our sourcing of equipment for our cloud computing infrastructure.
Notwithstanding these measures, we are unable to ensure that we have complied with all economic sanctions and export
control laws and regulations, in particular given that the relevant rules implemented by some jurisdictions can be ambiguous.
In addition, any failure by third parties outside of our control, our employees, representatives, contractors, partners, agents or
intermediaries to comply with such laws and regulations could have negative consequences to us, including reputational harm
and penalties, and could adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, and future prospects.

Furthermore, changes in the enforcement or scope of existing economic sanctions and export controls, or changes in
the targets of such laws and regulations, could result in an inability to export or sell our offerings to existing and potential
customers with international operations, which would adversely affect our business, results of operations and future prospects.

b. Our business is subject to stringent and complex laws and regulations related to data privacy, data protection and
information security across the different markets in which we operate, and such laws and regulations are
constantly evolving. Any failure or alleged failure to comply with such laws could adversely affect our competitive
position, reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

Global governmental and regulatory focus on privacy issues continues to increase and evolve, and laws and
regulations concerning the handling, protection, disclosure and transfer of personal data and data sovereignty have
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become more complex and stringent. Many jurisdictions in which we do business, including the European Union, have laws
and regulations concerning data privacy, data protection and information security that are often more restrictive than those in
the U.S. In addition, data privacy, data protection and information security laws across the various markets and jurisdictions in
which we operate are subject to uncertainty and conflicting interpretations and applications. Our efforts to comply with new
and existing laws result in significant costs for our business. If these laws and regulations are amended, interpreted or applied
in a manner not consistent with current practice, we could face fines or orders requiring that they change operating practices,
which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any
inspections result in the determination that we fail to comply with the applicable data protection legislation, our competitive
position, reputation, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely impacted.

5. RISKS RELATED TO INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY, INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND INSURANCE

a. We rely on sophisticated IT security measures to protect our and our customers’ businesses and data. The
occurrence of a cybersecurity incident or a failure to implement effective information and cybersecurity policies
and procedures may disrupt our operations, cause material harm to our financial condition or reputational
damage, compromise confidential information or damage our business relationships.

Companies are experiencing an increasing number and variety of attacks on their networks on an evolving basis,
presenting unprecedented cybersecurity challenges, some of which are augmented by developments in generative Al. These
risks are particularly acute for technology and cloud infrastructure companies.

Third parties have in the past attempted, and in the future may attempt, to interfere with our network and offerings.
Third parties may also attempt to fraudulently induce employees or customers to disclose sensitive information in order to
gain access to our data or our customers’ data. In addition, state-sponsored cyberattacks may continue to rise in connection
with regional geopolitical conflicts. We expect these risks, and the risks associated with other malicious cyber activities, will
continue to increase. Any actual or perceived cybersecurity breaches and incidents could adversely affect market perception of
our infrastructure and would adversely affect our financial condition and future prospects.

We have implemented and rely on sophisticated IT and other security measures to protect our, our customers’ and
partners’ businesses, information, data and personal details, as well as to safeguard the seamless operation of our offerings.
While no incidents have had a material impact on our financial condition or business relationships to date, we are unable to
guarantee that material incidents will not occur in the future. Despite our efforts, we may not be able to predict or recognize a
cybersecurity incident, or implement adequate preventative measures, as the techniques used to sabotage systems and/or gain
unauthorized access are ever-changing and may not be identified until the cyberattack has been launched against us. In the
event of a serious cybersecurity breach, we could risk the loss of this information, litigation and possible liability, which could
cause material harm to our financial condition, reputational damage or damage to our business relationships.

b. We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights and prevent third parties from the unauthorized use
of our intellectual property, which may adversely affect our competitive position, businesses, financial condition
and results of operations.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights and proprietary information, we rely on, among other things,
copyright, trademark, patent, trade secret laws and other related laws in the markets in which we operate, together with
confidentiality procedures, contractual commitments and controls. Any significant infringement of our intellectual property
rights and proprietary information could adversely affect our competitive position, business, financial condition and results of
operations. In addition, we cannot guarantee that the steps we take to protect our intellectual property and technology rights
will be sufficient to deter any misappropriation or unauthorized use of our intellectual property and proprietary information or
provide us with any competitive advantages. For example, there is no guarantee that any confidentiality or license
arrangements that we enter into with, among others, our employees, customers and partners are enforceable. Legal standards
relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights can be uncertain and any
inadequate protection in some jurisdictions may hinder our international expansion efforts.
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We may be required to incur significant costs and dedicate significant resources to monitor and protect our
intellectual property rights and proprietary information. If we are unable to successfully protect these rights, we may find
ourselves at a competitive disadvantage. Furthermore, technology companies are actively developing patents covering Al,
cloud infrastructure and internet-related technologies, and disputes regarding the ownership of technologies and rights
associated with online activities are likely to increase in the future. We may find ourselves having to initiate claims or
litigation in order to defend our intellectual property rights or to establish the validity of such rights. Any such litigation could
result in significant expense for our business and could affect our results of operations, financial condition, and future
prospects.

c We may become involved in intellectual property infringement claims, which may adversely affect our competitive
position, businesses, financial condition and results of operations.

We may in the future be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their intellectual property or proprietary
rights resulting from claims that our current or future offerings infringe or otherwise misuse such rights and/or breach our
arrangements with them. The cloud infrastructure and technology industries are characterized by the existence of a large
number of patents, trademarks and copyrights, and frequent litigation based on allegations of infringement or other violations
of proprietary rights. We expect that the volume of these claims, regardless of validity, will increase as the number of
competitors in our market continues to grow, as we continue to grow and expand into new businesses, and the volume of
issued hardware and software patents and patent applications in our industry continues to increase.

Third parties may in the future claim that our current or future offerings infringe or otherwise misuse their intellectual
property rights and/or breach our agreements with them. Such claims may result in legal claims against us, our customers and
our third-party partners. If we are found to be in violation of a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may have to pay
significant damages or compensation and/or stop using the technology found to be in violation of a third party’s rights or
release source code to third parties, possibly under open-source license terms, or require us to satisfy indemnification
obligations owed to our customers and other third parties. In addition, we may have to seek a license for the technology, which
may not be available on commercially favorable terms or at all and may significantly increase our operating expenses.
Furthermore, we may have to dedicate significant time and resources to develop an alternative non-infringing technology. If
we are unable to license or develop the relevant technology for any potentially infringing aspects of our business, we may be
forced to limit, stop selling or redesign our offerings, which could adversely affect our competitive position, financial
condition and results of operations.

d. We incorporate and may continue to incorporate “open-source” software in some of our technology solutions and
offerings, and any failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open-source software licenses could
adversely affect our competitive position, business, reputation, results of operations, financial condition, and
future prospects.

The use and distribution of open-source software may involve different risks than the use of third-party commercial
software. For example, generally speaking, open-source licensors provide no warranties or indemnification on such code and
open-source software may have unknown bugs and other security vulnerabilities which could impact the performance and
security of our offerings. In addition, open-source software licenses can impose significant limitations on the use of their
proprietary software. While we believe we comply with the license terms of the open-source software that we incorporate in
our offerings, from time to time we may face claims from the copyright holders of open-source software alleging copyright
infringement and breach of contract for failure to meet the open-source license terms. Although we have tools and processes in
place relating to software development and design to help us identify the usage of open-source software in our proprietary
software, and take various steps to mitigate such exposures, it is possible that we may not be aware of all instances where
open-source software has been incorporated into our proprietary software or used in connection with our solutions or our
corresponding obligations under open-source. Furthermore, the copyright holders of certain open-source software could
demand the release of the source code of any of our proprietary code that is a derivative work of the open-source software, or
otherwise seek to enforce, have us specifically perform, or recover damages for the alleged infringement or breach of, the
terms of the applicable open-source license. While we would not expect there to be any grounds for such claims or for them to
be successful, any actual or claimed requirement to disclose our proprietary source code or pay damages for breach of any
open-source software licenses could adversely affect our competitive position, sales prospects, results of operations, financial
condition, and future prospects.
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Any claims in connection with our use of open-source software, regardless of validity, could result in litigation,
require us to purchase a license at unfavorable cost or on unfavorable terms, or require us to devote additional research and
development resources to change our offerings in order to replace contested open-source software with third party licensed
software or our own proprietary software. The terms of various open-source licenses have been interpreted by courts to a very
limited extent, and there is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions,
obligations or restrictions on our use of the open-source software. We endeavor to use open-source software in a manner that
complies with the terms of the open-source licenses while at the same time not requiring the disclosure of the source code of
our proprietary software. The above risks could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business,
reputation, financial condition, results of operations and future prospects.

e. The level of insurance coverage that we purchase, including for fire, flood, cyber risks or business disruption, may
prove to be inadequate, which could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We carry liability, property, business interruption, cybersecurity, and directors’ and officers’ insurance and other
insurance policies to cover insurable risks to our business. We select the types of insurance, including the limits and
deductibles, based on our specific risk profile, including risks prevalent in our markets, the cost of the insurance coverage
versus its anticipated benefit and general industry and market standards.

There can be no guarantee that any or all costs or losses incurred will be partially or fully recouped from such
insurance. In addition, as cyberattacks and cyber incursions increase in frequency and degree, in particular in our industry and
against technology companies, we may be unable to obtain cybersecurity insurance in amounts and on terms we view as
adequate for our operations.

Furthermore, insurance coverage is becoming increasingly expensive, and in the future, we may not be able to
maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in ample amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. Any of the
limits of insurance that we purchase could prove to be inadequate, which could materially and adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

6. RISKS RELATED TO OUR FINANCIAL RESULTS AND REPORTING

a. Our results of operations may fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis, and such fluctuations may be
particularly pronounced in the near and medium terms given the early stage of the development of our businesses
and of the markets in which we operate.

We have experienced fluctuations in our results of operations, and we expect that our operating results will continue
to vary from period to period. Accordingly, our financial results in any one quarter should not be relied upon as indicative of
future performance. The fluctuations in our results of operations may cause the market price of our Class A shares to be
volatile and/or negatively impacted. We may experience significant fluctuations in our results of operations in the foreseeable
future due to a variety of factors, many of which are described in this “Risk Factors” section, and including the following
factors relating to the early stage of the development of our business and of the markets in which we operate:

+ the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures related to the expansion of our business,
including the timing and magnitude of depreciation and interest expense or other expenses related to the
acquisition, purchase or construction of additional data centers or the upgrade of existing data centers;

*  our ability to successfully expand our business and integrate new infrastructure, including new chip generations;

*  our ability to attract new and retain existing customers, increase sales of our offerings, or sell additional
offerings to existing customers;

* changes in customer requirements or market needs;

*  changes in the growth rates of the markets in which we operate;
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*  changes in our legal or regulatory environment, including developments in regulations relating to data privacy,
intellectual property, sustainability and Al and machine learning;

+ the timing and length of our sales cycles;
*  changes in our pricing practices or those of our competitors;

» lack of available capacity in our existing data centers to generate new revenue or delays in opening new or
acquired data centers that delay our ability to generate new revenue in markets which have otherwise reached
capacity;

+ technical difficulties with, or interruptions to, the use of our offerings; and
*  our ability to reduce our cost of capital over time.

Any of the foregoing factors, individually or in the aggregate, or other factors discussed elsewhere in this “Risk
Factors” section, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

b. We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. If we are unable to
remediate these material weaknesses, or if we identify additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise
fail to establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately or timely
report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect our business.

As a public company, we are subject to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires, among other things, that we
maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over financial reporting, and evaluate and
determine the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The process of designing and implementing
effective internal controls compliant with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act is a continuous effort and requires the investment of
substantial time and resources, including by members of our senior management. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to
include a report of management on our internal control over financial reporting in our annual report on Form 20-F, together
with an attestation of our independent registered public accounting firm. The report prepared by management assessing the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting needs to include disclosure of any material weaknesses identified
by our management in our internal control over financial reporting.

While preparing the financial statements that are included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F, we identified material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement
of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

We have concluded that these material weaknesses reflected the substantial change in our businesses and organization
as a result of the significant and complex divestment transaction we completed in 2024. Although we took extensive steps to
create the infrastructure to operate independently from the larger divested businesses, we were unable to complete the
implementation of all necessary controls for our newly constituted group during 2024. In particular, as we continued to
implement a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, we did not yet have in place all necessary business processes,
systems, personnel, and related internal controls. We believe that these control deficiencies did not result in a misstatement in
our annual or interim financial statements.

The material weaknesses identified were as follows:

e We did not adequately and timely design and implement effective controls in business applications across our
new information technology infrastructure. Specifically, we did not adequately and timely design, implement
and ensure the effectiveness of controls in access management, system monitoring and change management.
This resulted in lack of sufficient effective controls, which undermines the assurance of data accuracy and
increases the risk of errors or misstatements.

e  We did not adequately and timely design and maintain effective information technology general controls or
certain information systems supporting our key financial reporting processes commensurate with our
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financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we did not adequately and timely design, implement and ensure
the effectiveness of the operating system controls in connection with our revenue recognition process. This
resulted in our inability to ensure that we would be able to consistently prepare accurate revenue statements,
which undermined the assurance of our data accuracy and increased the risk of errors or misstatements.

e We did not adequately and timely design and maintain effective information systems, policies and procedures
for our reconciliation process for fixed assets. Specifically, we did not design, implement and ensure the
effectiveness of the relevant operating system controls. In addition, we did not complete our asset validation
policy and procedures. This resulted in the ineffectiveness of our ability to ensure the existence, ownership and
accuracy of data in connection with our assets, which undermines the assurance of data accuracy and increases
the risk of errors or misstatements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, and first quarter of 2025, our management undertook the following
remedial actions to help address these material weaknesses:

e  We performed compensating control procedures across all our businesses in 2024 to reconcile our 2024 revenue,
with a view to ensuring the accuracy of the revenue recognized during the year.

e We conducted a stock count at key asset locations across our businesses to validate the existence, ownership and
accuracy of data in connection with our assets as reported for our 2024 fiscal year.

e  We began a companywide remediation project, with the support of external consultants, to enhance the control
framework and address our material weaknesses in internal controls. This project is designed to ensure a more
robust, effective, and sustainable control environment and information technology systems supporting our key
financial reporting processes commensurate with our financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we expect
that this project will improve our information technology systems relating to our revenue recognition and fixed
assets reconciliation processes and ensure the effectiveness of the operating system controls in connection with
each of these processes.

While management has made improvements to our control environment and business processes to support and scale
with our growing operations, the identified material weaknesses remain un-remediated. We expect our remediation efforts to
be completed by the fourth quarter of 2025.

If we are unable to remediate these material weaknesses, or if we identify additional material weaknesses in the
future or otherwise fail to establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately or
timely report our financial condition or results of operations, or fail to prevent malfeasance, any of which could result in our
shareholders losing confidence in our reported financial information, limitations on our access to capital markets, sanctions or
investigations by regulatory authorities, harm to our results of operations and a decline in the market price of our Class A
shares.

We will not be able to fully remediate the identified material weaknesses until the ongoing steps described above
have been completed and our internal controls have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time. We have already
made improvements to our control environment and business processes to support and scale with our growing operations and
we believe we will make further significant progress in our remediation plan by the end of 2025. We can provide no assurance
that we will be able to fully remediate the material weaknesses by such time. We may also incur significant costs to execute
various aspects of our remediation plans but cannot provide a reasonable estimate of such costs at this time.

Furthermore, we can provide no assurance that we have identified all material weaknesses. In the future, it is possible
that additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may be identified that we may be unable to remediate promptly.
As our business matures and develops, we will also need to further develop our internal control systems and procedures to
keep pace with our growth and successfully implement or scale improvements to our systems, processes, and controls in an
efficient, timely and cost-effective manner. Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become
inadequate because, among other reasons, they may not keep pace with our growth or the conditions in our business may
change. Any future growth will continue to add complexity to our business. In order to evaluate and improve our internal
controls over financial reporting, we will need to continue to incur substantial
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professional fees and internal costs for our accounting and finance functions, expend significant management efforts, and
continue to implement, and validate through testing, plans developed to address areas that we have identified as requiring
improvement.

If we are unable to successfully remediate our existing or any future material weaknesses, or identify any additional
material weaknesses, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected, we may be unable to
maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports and applicable Nasdaq listing
requirements, and investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting.

c Changes in the tax laws, regulations and systems in the countries in which we operate, or unpredictable or
unforeseen application of existing rules, may materially adversely affect our reported financial results.

We are subject to complex tax laws, regulations and systems in numerous jurisdictions, including income, sales,
value-added, dividend withholding, transaction and other taxes. During the ordinary course of our business, there are many
activities, arrangements and transactions for which the ultimate tax analysis and determination is uncertain. Ambiguities,
uncertainties, and changes in taxation, and arbitrary or inconsistent government action, including the application of tax laws
and tax audits by regulatory authorities in the jurisdictions in which we operate, may materially adversely affect our future tax
obligations and financial results.

In addition, the tax treatment of the significant divestment transaction we completed in 2024 is complex. In
particular, the Class A shares we received as partial consideration for the divestment are considered for Dutch tax purposes as
having been repurchased, and therefore subject to dividend withholding tax, other than to the extent they qualify as
“temporary investments” for Dutch tax purposes. Although we believe that we have paid all applicable withholding tax due in
connection with such transaction, it is possible that the Dutch tax authorities may challenge our assessment and determine that
additional tax is due.

Furthermore, due to the expanding scale of our international business activities and operations, any changes to the
taxation of our activities could impact the tax treatment of our foreign earnings, increase our worldwide effective tax rate,
increase the amount of taxes imposed on our business, and harm our financial position. The foregoing changes may also apply
retroactively and result in taxes greater than the amounts estimated and reported in our financial statements.

d. Our results of operations may be adversely affected if we are not able to accurately estimate the value and useful
lives of our long-term infrastructure assets or to amortize them over the periods we anticipate.

Our management must make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated
financial statements, including with respect to the useful lives of our long-lived assets. Our estimates of useful lives of
property, plant and equipment primarily relate to our server and network equipment, and to a lesser extent to the investments
in infrastructure and our own-built datacenter facilities. Such estimates are based in part on our historical experience in
operating assets of a similar nature, market inputs, if available, and multiple other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable.

We anticipate that depreciation and amortization expense will increase in absolute terms as we continue to invest in
our technology infrastructure and data center facilities. Given our limited history of operations in respect of our current
business, and the immature and evolving market in which we operate, our estimates of the useful lives of such assets may be
subject to change. Our reported results of operations may be adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual
circumstances differ from those in our assumptions.

e We are exposed to fluctuations in currency exchange rates, which could negatively affect our results of operations.

We operate internationally and have experienced, and may continue to experience, gains and losses resulting from
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The functional currency of our parent company, Nebius Group N.V., is the
U.S. dollar, while the functional currency of our group’s other businesses is generally the respective local currency.
Accordingly, fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates have a direct impact on how our international results of operations
translate into U.S. dollars.
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7. RISKS RELATED TO OUR CLASS A ORDINARY SHARES

a. The market price of our Class A shares has been and may continue to be volatile, including as a result of general
market and industry developments that are outside our control. These risks may be exacerbated by volatility in the
emerging industry in which we operate and the relative lack of comparable publicly traded peers.

Trading in our Class A shares on Nasdaq was suspended in February 2022 and resumed in October 2024, following
the successful divestment of our Russian assets. Since the resumption of trading, the market price of our Class A shares has
been and may continue to be volatile. The market price of our Class A shares depends on a number of factors, including those
described in this “Risk Factors” section, some of which are beyond our control and/or unrelated to our operating performance
or prospects.

In addition, given the relatively recent resumption of trading in our shares, the early stage of the development of our
businesses and the immaturity of the industry in which we operate, it may take some time for the trading price of our Class A
shares to reflect the intrinsic value of our group.

Furthermore, on the back of current global macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainty and disruption, the stock
market, and the market for technology companies in particular, have recently experienced significant price and volume
fluctuations that have often been unconnected or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. The
market price of our Class A shares has been and may continue to be negatively impacted as a consequence of these conditions,
regardless of our actual operating performance. Companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their shares
have been subject to securities class action litigation. Securities litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial
costs and/or damages, and divert management’s attention from other business concerns, which could seriously harm our
business.

The foregoing factors and fluctuations could cause our shareholders to lose all or part of their investments as they
may not be able to resell their Class A shares at or above the price at which they acquired such shares.

b. We expect to issue additional equity or equity-linked securities from time to time, which may dilute your interest in
our company.

In order to expand our businesses and invest in our future prospects, we may consider offering Class A shares and
securities that are convertible into our Class A shares, and we may issue additional Class A shares in connection with
acquisitions or joint ventures. If we sell additional Class A shares, the ownership interests of our existing shareholders will be
diluted to the extent that they do not participate in such offering. We have also granted and will in the future grant equity
awards to our employees, directors and consultants, which upon settlement will also dilute the interest of our current
shareholders.

c. Future sales of Class A shares by existing shareholders could put pressure on our share price.

We issued approximately 33 million Class A shares to institutional and strategic investors in a private offering in
December 2024. We have agreed to file a registration statement withing five days following the filing of this Annual Report
on Form 20-F to register these shares for resale by such investors. Once registered, such shares will be freely tradeable. If the
investors decide to sell a material number of our Class A shares over a short period, it could create downward pressure on our
share price.

d. The concentration of voting power with our founding shareholder limits the ability of our minority shareholders to
influence corporate matters, including the election of directors.

Our Class B shares carry ten votes per share and our Class A shares carry one vote per share. As of March 31, 2025,
our CEO, directors, employees and other pre-IPO shareholders together held Class A and Class B shares carrying
approximately 65% of the voting power of our ordinary shares; and a family trust established by our CEO held Class B shares
carrying approximately 55% of the voting power of our ordinary shares (representing an approximately 13% economic
interest in our company). To the extent these shareholders continue to hold a large percentage of our share capital and voting
rights, they will remain in a position to control the election of the directors of our company and in other corporate actions that
require shareholder approval.
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8. RISKS RELATED TO US SHAREHOLDERS

a. We rely on the Nasdaq Stock Market rules that permit us to comply with applicable Dutch corporate governance
practices, rather than the corresponding domestic U.S. corporate governance practices, and therefore the rights of
our shareholders differ from the rights of a shareholder of a domestic U.S. issuer.

As a foreign private issuer whose shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, we are permitted in certain
cases to follow Dutch corporate governance practices instead of the corresponding requirements of the Nasdaq Marketplace
Rules. We follow Dutch corporate governance practices with regard to the quorum requirements applicable to meetings of
shareholders and the provision of proxy statements for general meetings of shareholders. In accordance with Dutch law and
generally accepted business practices, our articles of association do not provide quorum requirements generally applicable to
general meetings of shareholders. Although we do provide shareholders with an agenda and other relevant documents for the
general meeting of shareholders, Dutch law does not have a regulatory regime for the solicitation of proxies and the
solicitation of proxies is not a generally accepted business practice in the Netherlands. Accordingly, our shareholders may not
be afforded the same protection as provided under Nasdaq’s corporate governance rules.

b. The rights and responsibilities of our shareholders are governed by Dutch law and differ in some important
respects from the rights and responsibilities of shareholders under U.S. law.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our articles of association and by the laws governing companies incorporated
in the Netherlands. The responsibilities of members of our Board of Directors under Dutch law are different than under the
laws of some U.S. jurisdictions. In the performance of its duties, our Board of Directors is required by Dutch law to consider
the interests of the company and its group, its shareholders, its employees and other stakeholders and not only those of our
shareholders. In addition, as a Dutch company, we are not required to solicit proxies or prepare proxy statements for general
meetings of shareholders.

Furthermore, the rights of our shareholders are governed by Dutch law and our articles of association and differ from
the rights of shareholders under U.S. law. For example, Dutch law does not grant appraisal rights to a company’s shareholders
who wish to challenge the consideration to be paid upon a merger or consolidation of the company.

c We can provide no assurance that we will not be classified as a passive foreign investment company for any
taxable year, which may result in adverse U.S. federal income tax consequence to U.S. holders.

Based on certain management estimates with respect to our gross income and the average value of our gross assets
and on the nature of our business, we believe that we were not a “passive foreign investment company,” or “PFIC”, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes for the 2024 tax year, and do not expect to be a PFIC in the foreseeable future. There is a change
of business exception to PFIC status that, in general terms, applies if a foreign corporation otherwise would be a PFIC for a
year because it has disposed of one or more active businesses, so long as the foreign corporation is not a PFIC during the two
succeeding years, and that might apply to us if we were found to have been a PFIC for the 2024 tax year, after taking into
account the significant divestment transaction we completed in 2024. There is limited guidance as to the application of this
exception, and it is unclear whether this exception would apply to us, if it were determined, absent this exception, that we
were a PFIC for the 2024 tax year. In addition, our PFIC status for any taxable year will depend on the composition of our
income and assets and the value of our assets in such year, and because this is a factual determination made annually after the
end of each taxable year and there are uncertainties in the application of the rules, there can be no assurance that we will not
be considered a PFIC for the current taxable year or any future taxable year. In particular, the value of our assets may be
determined in large part by reference to the market price of our Class A shares, which has fluctuated, and may continue to
fluctuate, significantly. If we were to be treated as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. holder held our Class A
shares, certain adverse U.S. federal income tax consequences could apply to the U.S. holder.

d. If we cease to qualify as a foreign private issuer, we would be required to comply with the U.S. securities laws and
reporting requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, and we would incur significant additional legal,
accounting and other expenses that we would not incur as a foreign private issuer.

Foreign private issuers are not required to comply with certain disclosure requirements that apply to U.S. domestic

public companies. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act
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prescribing the furnishing and content of proxy statements, and our directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the
reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition, while we
continue to qualify as a foreign private issuer, we are not required under the Exchange Act to file periodic reports and financial
statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. domestic issuers, and we are not required to disclose in our
periodic reports all of the information that U.S. domestic issuers are required to disclose. While we currently expect to
continue to qualify as a foreign private issuer, we may cease to qualify as a foreign private issuer in the future, in which case
we would incur significant additional legal, accounting and other expenses that we would not incur as a foreign private issuer
that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

9. GENERAL RISKS

a. Although our group no longer has any operations or employees in, or derives any revenues from, Russia, our
legacy could create challenges for our operations.

We divested all our group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain international markets in 2024. We
do not have any customers, suppliers or business partners in Russia, own or hold any interest in any businesses or legal entities
in Russia, or derive any revenues from Russia, and have undertaken a comprehensive operational, legal, HR and technical
review of all aspects of our business to ensure that no legacy connections to Russia exist. Nevertheless, despite these efforts,
our legacy could create challenges for our businesses, including more protracted client on-boarding and “know-your-
customer” processes with counterparties and financial institutions.

b. Anti-takeover provisions in our articles of association may prevent or delay change-of-control transactions.

Our multiple class share structure may discourage others from initiating any potential merger, takeover or other
change-of-control transaction that our public shareholders may view as beneficial. Our articles of association also contain
additional provisions that may have the effect of making a takeover of our company more difficult or less attractive, including:

* aprovision that our directors may only be removed by a two-thirds majority of votes cast representing at least
50% of our outstanding share capital;

* requirements that certain matters, including an amendment of our articles of association, may only be brought to
our shareholders for a vote upon a proposal by our Board of Directors;

*  minimum shareholding thresholds, based on par value, for shareholders to call general meetings of our
shareholders or to add items to the agenda for those meetings, which will be very difficult for Class A
shareholders to meet given our multiple class share structure; and

*  supermajority requirements for shareholder approval of certain significant corporate actions, including the legal
merger or demerger of our company and the amendment of our articles of association.

The Dutch public offer rules, which impose substantive and procedural requirements in connection with the
attempted takeover of a Dutch public company, only apply in the case of Dutch target companies that have shares listed on a
regulated market within the European Union. We have not listed our shares, and do not expect to list our shares, on a regulated
market within the European Union, and therefore these rules do not apply to any public offer for our Class A shares.

c We do not comply with all of the provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, which may affect the rights
of our shareholders.

As a Dutch company, we are subject to the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, or “DCGC”. The DCGC contains
both principles and best practice provisions for management boards, supervisory boards, shareholders and general meetings of
shareholders, financial reporting, auditors, disclosure, compliance and enforcement standards. The DCGC applies to all Dutch
companies listed on a government-recognized stock exchange, whether in the Netherlands or elsewhere, including the Nasdaq
Global Select Market. The principles and best practice provisions apply to the board (in relation to role and composition,
conflicts of interest and independence requirements, board committees and remuneration), shareholders and the general
meeting of shareholders (for example, regarding anti-takeover protection
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and obligations of the company to provide information to its shareholders) and financial reporting (such as external auditor
and internal audit requirements). The DCGC requires that companies either “comply or explain” any non-compliance and, in
light of our compliance with Nasdaq requirements and as permitted by the DCGC, we have elected not to comply with all of
the provisions of the DCGC. This may affect the rights of our shareholders who may not have the same level of protection as
shareholders in a Dutch company that fully complies with the DCGC.

d. Any U.S. or other foreign judgments our shareholders may obtain against us may be difficult to enforce in the
Netherlands.

Most of our assets are located outside of the United States, our company is incorporated in the Netherlands, and some
of our directors and most of our senior management are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult to
serve process on us or persons within the United States. Although arbitration awards are generally enforceable in the
Netherlands, you should note that judgments obtained in the United States or in other foreign courts, including those with
respect to U.S. federal securities law claims, may not be enforceable in the Netherlands. There is no mutual recognition treaty
between the United States and the Netherlands, and no Dutch law provides for the recognition and enforcement of foreign
court judgments. Therefore, it may be difficult to enforce any U.S. or other foreign court judgment obtained against our
company, any of our operating subsidiaries or any of our directors in the Netherlands.

e. We may fail to achieve our environmental, social and governance and sustainability goals, or may encounter
objections to them, either of which may adversely affect public perception of our business, impose additional costs,
or affect our relationship with our customers, shareholders or other stakeholders.

We are committed to sustainability and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) principles. The
implementation of our sustainability and ESG-related objectives are overseen by our Board’s Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee, coordinated by our group’s sustainability manager, and monitored by executive teams and
management at the level of the individual business units.

Regulators, investors, customers, employees and other stakeholders are increasingly focused on sustainability
matters, including climate change. There is also an increased focus on Al businesses and their impact on the environment, in
particular with respect to the high power-demands involved and the reliance on critical materials. To address these goals and
concerns, where possible, we plan to invest heavily in the energy efficiency of our infrastructure to reduce our environmental
footprint. Furthermore, we plan to pursue opportunities to improve energy and water efficiency. For example, our data center
in Finland features innovative free cooling and heat recovery systems, and hosts one of Europe’s most energy-efficient
supercomputers. As a consequence of these and other initiatives, we intend to make progress towards reducing our
environmental impact and global carbon footprint, meet our climate related commitments, as well as ensuring that our
business remains viable in a low-carbon economy.

Pursuing these objectives may involve additional costs for conducting our business, which could adversely affect our
financial position and results of operations. There is also a risk that our ESG and sustainability objectives will not be
successful. A failure to meet our ESG goals, or significant controversy regarding these goals and how we achieve them, could
adversely affect public perception of our business or customer, stakeholder or community support, which could result in a
decline in the market price for our Class A shares.

We also may face potential governmental enforcement actions or private litigation challenging our ESG and
sustainability goals, or our disclosure of those goals and our metrics for measuring achievement of them. New or changing
regulation or public opinion regarding our ESG and sustainability goals or our actions to achieve them may result in adverse
effects on our financial performance, reputation or demand for our services and products, or may otherwise result in
obligations and liabilities that cannot be predicted or estimated at this time. We may also face conflicting and contradictory
requirements in the Netherlands, U.S. and other relevant jurisdictions, and therefore face challenges in meeting competing
demands and expectations.

There is some indication that ESG and sustainability goals are becoming more controversial, as some governmental
entities in the U.S. and certain investor constituencies question the appropriateness of, or object to, ESG and sustainability
initiatives. Some investors may use ESG-related factors to guide their investment strategies and may choose not to invest in
us, a factor that would tend to reduce demand for our shares and possibly affect our share price adversely.

30




Table of Contents

Item 4. Information on the Company.
Overview

Nebius is a global technology company building full-stack Al cloud infrastructure to support the rapid growth of the
Al industry. Our mission is to power Al innovation with dedicated, high-performance infrastructure including an Al cloud
platform purpose-built for Al innovators, from individual developers to startups to the largest enterprises. To do this, we
provide the compute, storage, managed services and critical software they need to train, run, and deploy models and apps
quickly and efficiently. We deliver accelerated compute and data storage solutions that power Al application development and
deployment at scale, offering our customers a full range of consumption options ranging from on-demand to fully managed
infrastructure to “bare metal” deployments. We are one of the largest specialized Al cloud providers, with a significant
presence in Europe and rapid ongoing expansion in the U.S.

As Al adoption accelerates, we expect the demand for the services we offer to continue to grow rapidly. The Al
technology market is projected to reach $800 billion by 2030, growing at a 29% CAGR from 2023 to 2030. We estimate that
the total addressable market for GPU-as-a-Service and Al cloud will exceed $260 billion by 2030, with a 35% CAGR over the
same period.

Our full-stack approach encompasses data centers, in-house-designed hardware, and an intelligent software layer,
enabling us to deliver accelerated compute clusters, a proprietary cloud platform, and advanced tools for Al model training
and inference. This ensures end-to-end optimization that combines the reliability and user experience of a hyperscaler with the
flexibility and efficiency of purpose-built Al infrastructure.

We own and operate a data center in Finland, and also operate co-location sites in France and Iceland. In early 2025,
we commissioned our first US-based co-location site in Kansas City, Missouri and began construction of a build-to-suit
facility in Vineland, New Jersey. The New Jersey site is a phased development scalable up to 300 MW, with initial capacity
expected to be available in the second half of 2025. We plan to dedicate the facility’s incremental capacity to NVIDIA next
generation Blackwell GPUs. As of March 31, 2025, our total capacity stood at approximately 30,000 GPUs, most of which are
NVIDIA H200s. We plan to further expand our data center footprint in other regions.

We have optimized our Al-native cloud platform for highly intensive, distributed Al workloads. Our full-stack
solution is built for efficiency and reliability, and optimizes resource allocation through continuous innovation across every
layer of our infrastructure. Unlike the majority of “neoclouds”, we built our infrastructure from the ground up, designing
servers and racks in-house and embedding innovation in the design of our data centers to maximize compute performance.
This also gives us full control over performance optimization, reliability, and cost efficiency. Unlike off-the-shelf hardware,
our designs are tailored specifically for Al workloads, enabling optimized power and cooling efficiency, lower latency, and
seamless integration with our cloud platform. This not only improves performance and reliability, but also gives us flexibility
on pricing, provides cost savings for customers by maximizing resource utilization and minimizing hardware bottlenecks, and
enables us to be competitive for our customers. We believe this deep hardware integration delivers substantial benefits to
customers building transformative applications across many diverse industries including healthcare, robotics, and
entertainment.

Our purpose-built software allows us to quickly and efficiently provision compute resources on-demand from a
single node to thousands of nodes. This flexibility ensures customers can handle everything from small-scale experiments in
our self-service offering, to enterprise-grade Al training and inference, without over-provisioning, and to adjust resources
dynamically to meet their evolving needs.

Our close-knit and highly experienced team has over a decade of expertise working together to design, scale and
operate data centers, cloud-based infrastructure and software solutions. With hundreds of engineers across Europe, the US and
Israel, including specialists in data-center construction and operations, hardware R&D, Al cloud platform development, and
Al research and development, we maintain full control over our technology stack, ensuring seamless integration of every
aspect from infrastructure to Al services, with 24/7 service globally. Our team’s long-standing partnerships with leading
chipmakers and OEMs further enhance our infrastructure capabilities.

Our customers range from technology companies and Al-native startups to research labs and individual developers
building the next generation of Al models, applications and services. They choose our platform for its flexibility, reliability,
and comprehensive support for diverse Al workloads.

In addition to our core Al infrastructure business, we have three distinct businesses that operate under separate
brands: Avride, a developer of autonomous driving technology for self-driving vehicles and delivery robots; Toloka, a
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data partner for Al model training, evaluation, and development; and TripleTen, a leading edtech platform focused on re-
skilling individuals for careers in technology.

Core business: Nebius’s full-stack Al cloud offering

Nebius offers a comprehensive and integrated suite of Al cloud solutions, designed to support the entire Al lifecycle
— from building and deploying Al models to managing large-scale Al applications.

At its foundation is a highly efficient and sustainable infrastructure layer that delivers scalable compute, storage, and
networking resources engineered for high-performance Al workloads. This design offers greater compute capacity per unit of
energy when compared to conventional solutions, while ensuring reliability and operational resilience.

Built on top of this robust foundation, our Al cloud platform streamlines Al development and deployment.
Completely rebuilt from the ground up and launched in October 2024, Nebius Al Cloud leverages the NVIDIA accelerated
computing platform, featuring NVIDIA’s GPUs and networking, and offers key capabilities such as containerization,
orchestration, and serverless computing. These features allow Al innovators to effectively scale Al workloads while seeking to
maximize flexibility and performance.

At the top layer, our Al and machine learning services provide a comprehensive suite of tools for data preparation,
model training and model deployment. In addition to our infrastructure and compute, we offer pre-built Al applications and
development tools that simplify Al adoption — particularly for organizations without dedicated Al engineering teams.

In November 2024, we significantly extended the application layer of our stack with the launch of Nebius Al Studio,
our inference-as-service platform. Al Studio gives Al app builders access to dozens of open-source Al models, enabling them
to build and ship innovative products quickly and at an optimized cost.

Hardware layer

Data Centers

With decades of experience in developing hundreds of megawatts of greenfield capacity, our team has built large-
scale, highly efficient data centers featuring supercomputing and efficiency innovation, including Finland’s first server-heat
recovery system. We leverage our advanced data-center design to enhance unit economics by reducing energy overheads,
optimizing IT workload allocation, and lowering server maintenance costs, and to ensure scalability of capacity at each site.

To support our rapid growth and geographical expansion, we operate three types of data centers:

Greenfield

We own the land and manage the power infrastructure, and our engineers design every aspect of the data center. This
approach offers the greatest flexibility for optimizing energy efficiency and performance. Our Finland data center is a
greenfield facility. It features what we believe to be one of the world’s leading power usage effectiveness (PUE) levels under
high IT loads, employs an innovative free-cooling system that eliminates the use of water and refrigerants, and has been
recovering 15,000-20,000 MWh of server heat annually to warm local homes.

Build-to-suit

We partner with a developer who owns the land and secures the power, while we provide custom specifications for
the data-center buildout. This allows us to drive energy efficiency and infrastructure optimization within the facility. Our New
Jersey facility follows a build-to-suit model.

Co-location

We lease capacity at existing data centers through third-party providers, enabling us to rapidly deploy compute
resources. While these facilities are not owned by us, we apply rigorous selection criteria to ensure they meet our
performance, reliability and scalability standards. Operational efficiencies are achieved through the deployment of our in-
house-designed racks, optimizing power consumption. Our France, Iceland, and Kansas City deployments are all co-location
sites.
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Hardware

Designing our servers and racks in-house gives us full control over server prototyping, production and deployment,
which is a key factor in reducing operational cost, accelerating time-to-market and scaling Al infrastructure. Our servers are
engineered to operate at temperatures up to up to 40°C (105°F), compared to the ASHRAE standard limit of 27°C (80°F). This
makes air cooling sufficient to maintain optimal performance for the current generation of chips, even those with high thermal
density. Beyond energy saving, our proprietary toolless rack design simplifies maintenance and repairs, so components can be
replaced within minutes instead of hours, improving reliability and uptime. This also reduces staffing requirements, allowing
one engineer to manage thousands of servers. Furthermore, our streamlined design enhances workplace safety, reducing risks
associated with complex traditional server maintenance.

As of March 31, 2025, we have deployed approximately 30,000 GPUs across our global data center footprint,
primarily NVIDIA H200s. We also currently plan to take delivery of over 22,000 NVIDIA Blackwell and Blackwell Ultra
GPUs starting in 2025; our New Jersey data center will be dedicated to NVIDIA Blackwell and Blackwell Ultra-architecture
GPUs.

Our hardware stack consists of the following core components:

e  Compute — our compute solutions include both GPU and CPU-only instances, providing flexibility for diverse
workloads.

e InfiniBand-connected GPU clusters — we interconnect our GPU clusters using NVIDIA InfiniBand, ensuring
high-speed, low latency communication for distributed workloads.

e  Storage — we offer a range of storage solutions to meet diverse customer demands, including block storage,
shared file storage and object storage. Our platform combines in-house storage offerings with solutions from
leading third-party storage providers, giving customers flexibility to optimize storage based on their individual
needs.

Software layer
Cloud Platform and Value Added Services

Our proprietary Al cloud platform is configured to support Al workloads of any scale, from single-GPU virtual
machines to large clusters of many thousands of GPUs. It orchestrates resource usage across compute, storage and workload
allocation, enabling efficient scaling and management of infrastructure while minimizing performance bottlenecks. For
example, our Kubernetes and SLURM orchestrators are built on industry-standard open-source solutions, delivering resilient
and extensible infrastructure for managing containerized workloads and services at scale. Our Soperator solution, used by
many of our customers, is a SLURM-based workload manager for machine learning and high performance compute clusters,
enables robust job scheduling, fault-tolerant training, and a simplified user experience.

Every feature we develop is designed with an intuitive user interface, covered by comprehensive documentation, and
allows for seamless access via API and/or Terraform for programmatic orchestration. We also prioritize observability and
logging, ensuring that critical information is accessible both through the UI and via an APL.

The following graphic shows our Al Platform and Applications and our Al Cloud layers, both further described
below.
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On top of our Al cloud infrastructure, we have created a powerful Al Platform and Applications layer for our
customers featuring popular third-party and open-source software, which is available as managed services or through our
marketplace. This layer includes:

Ready to use LLMs — We provide access to leading open-source models including the Llama family, Mistral
and DeepSeek-R1. These can also be pre-configured for optimal performance and usability.

Machine-learning operations (MLOps) — We have built a suite of MLOps tools that streamline the entire
machine-learning lifecycle, from data preprocessing and model training to continuous monitoring.

This includes:

o MLflow for tracking experiments and efficient model management;

o JupyterLab for simplified interactive computing for data and ML workloads;

o  Flowise for deploying ML pipelines with minimal coding;

o Volcano for scheduling high-performance Al and deep learning workloads;

o Kubeflow for streamlining deployment scaling and management of ML workflows;

o Cvat for annotating images and videos for computer vision tasks;

o Apache Airflow for monitoring complex data across distributed environments;

o Apache Spark for high-performance data processing; and

o ClearML Agent to work with the ClearML Al Platform to streamline Al adoption and the entire

development lifecycle.

Vector databases — Efficient data storage and retrieval are critical for Al workloads and particularly for
similarity search and large-scale embeddings. Our platform supports leading vector databases such as Qdrant,
Milvus and ClickHouse, enabling customers to store, index and access high-dimensional data with low latency.

Development operations (DevOps) — We have assembled a suite of DevOps tools that enhance every stage of
the software development lifecycle, from code integration and deployment to continuous monitoring and
scaling. This includes:

o Prometheus Operator, Node Exporter, Grafana, Prometheus and Kube State Metrics for comprehensive
monitoring of clusters;

o NGINX Ingress Controller and cert-manager for managing network traffic; and

o Sealed Secrets for control of sensitive data, protecting from unauthorized access.
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Other Offerings

Al Studio is our inference-as-a-service offering, designed to streamline application development for foundation
model users and app builders. Unlike traditional GPU-per-hour pricing, Al Studio is monetized through a token-based model,
offering customers greater flexibility and cost efficiency.

Launched in October 2024, Al Studio provides access to dozens of the latest open-source text and multimodal LLMs,
including DeepSeek-R1 and the Llama family, with key benefits including low latency, verified model quality and expert
support. Services available to date include real-time inference, batch inference, fine-tuning of models and image generation.
Since its launch, Al Studio has attracted nearly 60,000 registered users.

We are also experimenting with other service offerings. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2024 we introduced in
beta TractoAl, our serverless platform designed for scalable Al and Big Data workloads. It eliminates infrastructure
management by automatically provisioning and scaling resources, combining serverless flexibility with hyperscaler-like
performance. Built on our bare metal and compute cloud, TractoAl optimizes resource allocation dynamically handling
everything from low-GPU tasks to large-scale Al training. It also offers high-throughput and exabyte-scale storage for
structured, semi-structured and unstructured data. Clients benefit from flexible compute, enabling them to start small, scale up
for tasks that demand more resources, and then scale down again as needed, avoiding overprovisioning and optimizing
resource usage. Additionally, Tracto AI’s pay-as-you-go model ensures users are billed only for actual compute consumption,
making it the ideal solution for workloads with unpredictable demands.

Data center footprint

We have a broad data-center footprint across Europe and the US. As of March 31, 2025, we had approximately
45MW of connected capacity across both geographies, and are rapidly expanding it further. Our goal is to open more built-to-
suit and greenfield data centers; with additional capacity deployments through co-locations as appropriate.

Europe

®  Miintsdli, Finland — a greenfield data center built to our own design specifications to optimize power and
hardware for greater efficiency. We signed the agreement for this greenfield data center in April 2015.

®  Paris, France — in July 2024 we signed an agreement for our Paris data center, our first co-location facility.

o  Keflavik, Iceland — in December 2024, we signed an agreement in connection with adding a cluster of
thousands of GPUs at a co-location in Iceland.

United States

o  Kansas City — in November 2024, we signed an agreement for our first co-location data center in the US,
located in Kansas City, MO.

®  New Jersey — in February 2025, we signed an agreement for our first built-to-suit facility, located in Vineland,
NJ. We are working with a developer who will build the facility based on our reference design, and expect to
launch in the first clusters as early as summer 2025. This facility is a phased development expandable up to
300MW.

We are also actively exploring additional sites in the US and other geographies to significantly expand our capacity.
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Customers and Go-To-Market Strategy

Our primary customers today are independent developers and Al-native technology companies. We are also focused
on building out our offering to meet the needs of frontier Al labs and enterprise customers, which we see as potentially
important drivers of future revenue growth. Below we provide more details on these three target customer segments.

Independent developers and AI Native Tech Companies

These are generally VC-backed Al-native technology companies that are building Al-specific solutions and need a
full-stack Al cloud service that is flexible, scalable, and can meet their AI workload needs. The Al workloads that these
customers run with Nebius include training, fine-tuning and inference using proprietary as well as open-source models.
Typically, these customers make use of a range of the different products and services available on our platform, including
managed services for workload management and orchestration as well as MLOps tools. This customer segment also includes
independent developers and researchers who are able to access our Al cloud platform via our self-service offering, which
provides instant access to GPUs on demand.

Frontier AI Labs

These companies are at the forefront of Al research and development and require massive, scalable compute
infrastructure to support the training, fine-tuning and deployment of large-scale Al models, particularly large language models
(LLMs) that utilize hundreds of billions or trillions of parameters. Their workloads are computationally intensive, demanding
high-performance GPUs, low-latency networking and distributed storage solutions to process vast datasets efficiently.

Enterprise Customers

These include mid-market and larger enterprises that plan to use Al to drive efficiencies and optimized results within
their organization. Use cases can range from in-house model development and fine-tuning to the deployment and inferencing
of tools built on open-source Al models. We anticipate that the scale of deployments from enterprise customers and related
compute requirements, in particular inference workloads, will grow substantially over time as Al models become more widely
available and cost effective to deploy in production systems.

With respect to our go-to-market efforts, we have made and continue to make significant investment in our sales and
marketing functions to expand our customer base and build our brand recognition. Our direct sales teams across the U.S. and
Europe continue to scale, supported by growing pre-sales and post-sales teams that seek to ensure customer success from
initial engagement through deployment. This includes dedicated system architects who lead proof-of-concepts and accelerate
onboarding, as well as robust ongoing technical and engineering support. Furthermore,
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we are expanding our reach through a growing network of strategic channel partners. Independent software vendors (ISVs)
focused on Al and ML, value-added resellers (VARSs), system integrators (SIs), and other strategic partners are becoming an
essential extension of our go-to-market engine. We believe these partners not only have the potential to broaden our
distribution, but also enable us to penetrate new markets, deliver joint solutions, and scale more efficiently.

Other businesses and investments
Avride

Avride is a developer of autonomous driving technology for self-driving cars and delivery robots for use-cases across
ride-hailing, logistics, e-commerce, food and grocery delivery. The company main operations are in Austin, Texas, with
additional R&D hubs in Europe, Israel and South Korea.

In 2024, Avride signed a multiyear partnership with Uber to deploy its autonomous vehicles and delivery robots on
Uber and Uber Eats in the US. As part of this collaboration, Uber Eats launched delivery services utilizing Avride’s sidewalk
robots in Austin and Dallas, TX, in 2024, with further expansion to Jersey City, NJ, in February 2025. The partnership also
encompasses mobility solutions, which are expected to launch for riders in Dallas in 2025.

Avride has also partnered with Grubhub, deploying its sidewalk robots for last-mile deliveries at the Ohio State
University campus. Within the first week of deployment, the number of daily deliveries exceeded 1,000. In February 2025,
following the receipt of certification for its delivery robots in Japan in December 2024, Avride entered into a commercial
partnership with Rakuten, Japan’s largest e-commerce player, to deploy Avride’s autonomous robots for restaurant and grocery
deliveries in central Tokyo.

In March 2025, Avride entered a strategic partnership with Hyundai for the joint development of an autonomous
driving platform and the expansion of its fleet. As part of this collaboration, Avride will initially deploy 100 Hyundai loniq 5
SUVs retrofitted with autonomous driving technology in the near-term, with plans for further fleet expansion.

We are actively exploring third-party investment into Avride, including transactions in which we may cede control.
Toloka

Toloka is a leading data provider for LLM and generative Al developers, delivering scalable, high-quality data
solutions for all stages of Al development, including training, fine-tuning, alignment, and evaluation. By leveraging Al and
expert-human input, Toloka ensures the production of complex, high-quality data at scale.

With an R&D hub in Europe and offices in the US, Toloka serves a global client base, including Al research labs,
foundational model developers, Fortune 500 companies, and GenAl startups. Its network of domain experts, annotators, and
writers spans over 20 knowledge areas and 120 subdomains, providing broad industry coverage.

In 2024, Toloka transitioned to a new technology platform. The company has expanded its generative Al data
offerings to include red-teaming for Al agents, evaluation of reasoning models, and scalable training data powered by coding
and math experts.

We are in advanced negotiations regarding a potential third-party investment into Toloka, in which we may cede
control.

Triple Ten

TripleTen is an edtech platform focused on reskilling individuals for careers in technology. As of December 31, 2024,
the company offered six immersive B2C study tracks — software engineering, quality assurance, BI analytics, data science,
cybersecurity, and UX/UI design — principally in the US and Latin America, as well as B2B Al-focused courses for both
beginners and professionals.

TripleTen operates on a proprietary tech stack and automated platform that enables scalable course development,
localization, and expansion at minimal incremental cost.

In 2024, Fortune Magazine recognized TripleTen as the best overall provider of software engineering bootcamps in
the US. The company is among the top-rated US edtech providers based on employment outcomes and student feedback, with
a 4.87/5 rating on major bootcamp review platforms SwitchUp and Course Report as of December 2024. More than 14,000
students enrolled in 2024, a 149% increase from 2023.
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Material investments

We hold a 28% ownership stake in ClickHouse, an open-source, column-oriented DBMS provider that was spun off
from the group in September 2021.

Competition

The markets that we target are highly competitive and changing rapidly. Given the current pace of innovation and
technological advancement, we anticipate continued high levels of competition in the industry.

Our primary competitors are specialist Al infrastructure providers, including developers of Al-centric cloud services,
providers of bare-metal GPU clusters and GPU-centric data-center companies. This group of competitors includes
CoreWeave, Crusoe and Lambda Labs.

In addition, as a full-stack Al cloud provider, we also face competition from general-purpose cloud computing
providers that are developing Al-specific offerings such as Amazon (AWS), Google (Google Cloud Platform), Microsoft
(Azure) and Oracle.

We believe that our core competitive advantages include:
e  Full-stack approach with control over the whole Al infrastructure value chain;

e [eading team of Al / ML and cloud engineers focused on developing our growing portfolio of tools and
services to optimize and accelerate complex Al workloads at the Al cloud and Al Platform and Applications
layers;

e Al cloud platform built from the ground up to meet the needs of Al developers and businesses;

e A comprehensive suite of Al services — from data preparation to model deployment — within a single
environment, eliminating the need for multiple vendors and resulting in efficiencies, reduced operational
complexity and improved ROI;

e  Architecture optimized for large-scale Al deployments, enabling customers to quickly and easily scale their
infrastructure up or down as needed, with auto-scaling capabilities that automatically adjusts infrastructure to
match workload fluctuations, ensuring Al applications run at optimal efficiency;

e  Expertise in designing and operating data centers with heavy power loads and high rack densities in a reliable,
scalable and highly power-efficient way;

e  In-house hardware design, development and production with lower cost of ownership leading to faster time-to-
market;

e  Longstanding partnerships with critical Al hardware providers and leading server original design manufacturers
(ODMs);

e  Our Reference Platform NVIDIA Cloud Partner status, one of only a handful of Al cloud providers to meet
these requirements globally, underscoring Nebius’s expertise in designing and deploying a full stack of
hardware and software infrastructure that meets NVIDIA’s standards for Al and ML workloads; and

e  Flexible access to affordable capital.

The other businesses within the group also face their own competitors in the markets in which they compete. For
example, Avride competes with other major developers of self-driving technologies, including Waymo, Zoox, and others.
Toloka competes with other GenAl data providers, including Scale Al, Snorkel Al and Surge Al, while TripleTen primarily
competes with number of US-based edtech bootcamp providers.

Employees and workforce culture

As of March 31, 2025, Nebius had 1,371 employees, of whom the majority are engineers.

Talent is the foundation of our business, and we have historically built our products around people. Our full-stack Al
infrastructure offering is a direct result of the expertise in our team across domains including data-center construction and
operations, hardware engineering and R&D, cloud solutions development, Al and ML engineering, backed by experienced
business development and management professionals.
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Our HR approach is built on our principles of fairness, transparency and compliance with local labor regulations
across all our global locations.

Nebius offers competitive compensation packages in line with industry standards. We aim to promote professional
growth and high performance, and to support employee wellbeing. We offer flexible working arrangements, including remote
working options, as well as mental health support services. Our benefits program is designed to support both short-term and
long-term employee needs, including meal and transportation allowances, home-office support for remote employees, and
healthcare plans.

We are committed to hiring local talent in the regions where we operate. By the end of the first quarter of 2025, our
workforce included individuals from more than 50 nationalities. In 2024, women represented approximately one-third of our
leadership team.

Commitment to sustainability

Sustainability is at the core of our business, enhancing efficiency, reliability and affordability while reducing
environmental impact. We integrate responsible practices across our operations and technology stack to align growth with
resource management.

Our sustainability efforts focus on three key areas: sustainable computing, empowerment through technology, and
reliability and security.

Sustainable Computing

Given the energy-intensive nature of Al workloads, we focus on driving efficiency across the entire technology stack —
from data centers and hardware to product features — to optimize resource use. This enhances infrastructure reliability, results
in economic benefits for both our business and our customers, and reduces environmental impact.

e  Hardware — our in-house hardware is designed for thermal efficiency and simplified maintenance. Internal
tests show our servers consume approximately 20% less power than equivalent third-party hardware, enabling
efficient air cooling and minimizing downtime risks.

e  Data-center design — our data center in Finland features innovative free cooling and heat recovery systems,
achieving energy overheads at least half the industry averages.

e  Cloud-embedded capabilities: Our cloud platform is designed for efficiency. Flexible GPU allocation,
workload bundling, auto-scaling, and resource-efficient inference minimize idle capacity and lower client costs.

Empowerment through technology

We leverage technology to support industries, academia and individuals with advanced tools, training, and research
resources. Through Nebius Academy, we provide cloud grants to students and academic partners, as well as advanced online
and in-person programs in data science, machine learning, and generative Al. Nebius’s portfolio includes an Al cloud platform
and ML tools designed to support Al-powered solutions for critical fields such as healthcare, life sciences and biotech that are
involved in personalized medicine, genomics and drug discovery.

Reliability and Security

We are committed to maintaining the highest standards of information security and operational resilience. Our
services adhere to stringent security certifications, and we work to establish a comprehensive array of safety controls in our
pioneering work with autonomous technologies.

More details on our sustainability initiatives can be found at nebius.com/sustainability.
History and Development of the Company; Organizational Structure

Nebius Group N.V. is a Dutch public company with limited liability, which became the parent company of our group
in 2007. Its registered office is at Schiphol Boulevard 165, 1118 BG, Schiphol, The Netherlands (tel: +31 (0) 20 206 6970).

In July 2024, we completed the divestment of all our group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain
international markets. The divested businesses constituted more than 95% of the group’s consolidated revenues,

39




Table of Contents

assets and employees at the time. Following the divestment, the group continues to be headquartered in Amsterdam, with
principal operations in Europe, the US and Israel.

Nebius Group N.V. is the holding company of the group. Our principal operating subsidiaries are Nebius B.V.,
Nebius Israel Ltd., Avride B.V., Toloka Al B.V., Toloka Al Inc., TripleTen Inc. and EdTech Plus B.V.

Our company’s Class A shares were listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market in May 2011. Trading in our shares
was suspended in February 2022 and resumed on October 21, 2024, following the completion of the divestment. The ticker
symbol for the Class A shares is NBIS.

Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report. In
addition to historical information, this discussion contains forward-looking statements based on our current expectations that
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth in the “Risk Factors” and “Forward Looking
Statements” sections and elsewhere in this Annual Report. The historical results described below relate to the results of our
continuing operations.

Overview

Nebius Group N.V. and its subsidiaries are a technology group building full-stack Al infrastructure including high-
performance GPU clusters, a proprietary cloud platform, and advanced tools for Al model training and inference to support
the rapid growth of the global Al industry. We also operate three smaller business units described below. Headquartered in
Amsterdam and listed on Nasdaq, we have a global footprint with R&D hubs across Europe, North America and Israel.

On February 5, 2024, we announced that we had entered into a definitive agreement with a purchaser consortium to
sell all of the group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain international markets (the “Divestment”). The first
closing took place on May 17, 2024, and the second and final closing occurred on July 12, 2024. Following the Divestment,
we have no interest in the divested businesses.

The Divestment was approved by the Board in February 2024, followed by approval by our shareholders in March
2024. This transaction represented a strategic shift in our operations, and we present the results of operations of our divested
businesses as discontinued operations in our financial statements included in this Annual Report. Prior period statements of
operations, balance sheet and cash flow statements have been recast to reflect the results of discontinued and continuing
operations separately.

We believe the most significant factors that affect our continuing businesses are the following:

e Competing effectively in a rapidly evolving market. We operate in a highly competitive industry
characterized by continuous technological advancements and evolving customer needs. To strengthen our
market position, we are investing in the development of a flexible, full-stack Al cloud solution that extends
beyond bare-metal compute, and includes comprehensive software and value-added services for our clients.
This approach positions us well to address a broader customer base, including those that may not have large
internal teams dedicated to infrastructure management, thereby expanding our addressable market and
driving long-term growth.

e Expanding our customer base as the AI market matures. While most of our revenue currently comes
from Al-native startups, we believe we can supplement this business with demand from frontier Al labs and
large technology companies. At the same time, we believe enterprise adoption of Al is accelerating, creating
demand for secure, reliable infrastructure and purpose-built cloud solutions.
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To address this, we are expanding our offerings to better serve enterprise clients, whom we expect to
become a significant driver of future growth.

e Leveraging our global footprint to capture new opportunities. While the majority of our customer base
is currently concentrated in the US, Al adoption is accelerating worldwide. As an Amsterdam-based
company, with data centers in Finland, France and Iceland in addition to our US-based GPU clusters, we are
positioned to navigate customer demands and capture market opportunities beyond the US.

e Securing scalable and resilient data center capacity. The rapid growth of Al workloads, particularly for
large-scale foundation models and generative Al applications, is driving increasing demand for high-
performance computing (HPC). To maintain competitiveness, we are expanding our global data center
footprint, building highly optimized and scalable infrastructure, including GPU clusters, high-speed
networking and an efficient software stack. This requires securing access to land, cost-effective and
sustainable power, and critical hardware components, and navigating evolving regulatory frameworks.

e Expanding our talent base. Our success depends on a highly skilled workforce across key domains such as
infrastructure engineering, cloud computing, software development, AI/ML engineering and business
development. Since our formation, we have had a strong technical team in place, which laid the foundation
for our business. As we scale, we are expanding our sales, marketing, and customer success teams with
hires from leading technology companies, including hyperscalers and neocloud providers. We will continue
assessing talent needs and focusing on competitive HR practices to be an employer of choice.

e  Our other businesses also operate in high-growth sectors. Outside of our core Al Cloud business, the
other businesses we operate, Avride, Toloka and TripleTen, have exposure to the dynamic and fast-growing
autonomous technologies, data production for Al, and edtech sectors.

Refer to Risk Factors (Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report) for a discussion of these factors and other risks.
Operating Segments

Nebius is a technology company specializing in Al infrastructure and cloud services, providing comprehensive full-
stack solutions to support the rapid growth of the global Al industry. We equip Al innovators and businesses with the compute
resources and critical software they need to train, run, and deploy their models with confidence and speed.

Our primary business is Al infrastructure, delivering high-performance compute solutions that power Al development
at scale. Our full-stack approach incorporates data centers, custom-designed hardware, and an intelligent software layer,
enabling us to deliver high-performance GPU clusters, a proprietary cloud platform, and advanced tools for Al model training
and inference. In addition to our core Al infrastructure business, we operate three distinct businesses under separate brands:

e  Avride — a developer of autonomous driving technology for self-driving vehicles and delivery robotics.
e  Toloka— a data partner for Al model training, evaluation, and development;
e  TripleTen — a leading edtech platform focused on re-skilling individuals for careers in technology;

Key Trends Impacting our Results of Operations
The key factors affecting our results of operations include the current geopolitical and macroeconomic environment,
including the potential impact of tariffs and other trade restrictions, the current demand-supply imbalance of GPUs, supply

chain constraints in semiconductor components, inflationary pressures, and regulatory shifts impacting the technology and Al
infrastructure sectors. These factors influence our cost base, capital expenditure plans and overall market demand.

We anticipate in particular that our results of operations will continue to be significantly affected by the level of
expenditures we incur to expand our compute capacity, our access to capital, and the pricing and supply/demand dynamics in
our competitive and rapidly evolving industry.

In addition, other significant factors that influenced the group’s results of operations in 2024 include:
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e Completion of our Divestment. In July 2024, we completed a complex Divestment process, and were only
able to publicly launch the new Nebius Group after the transaction had completed.

e Introduction of a new business model. As we worked to complete the Divestment, we undertook a
fundamental transformation of our business model, requiring significant capital expenditures to build out
our data center and GPU capacity, together with the creation of a new corporate infrastructure to support our

business.

While these factors impacted short-term costs and revenue timing, we believe they helped us to establish a

foundation for long-term growth.

Results of Operations

The following table presents our historical consolidated results of continuing operations for the periods indicated:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)

Revenues 13.5 20.9 117.5
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues 28.4 31.9 73.4

Product development 58.3 112.3 129.7

Sales, general and administrative 57.3 174.9 277.8

Depreciation and amortization 27.5 29.3 77.3
Total operating costs and expenses 171.5 348.4 558.2
Loss from operations (158.0) (327.5) (440.7)

Interest income 1.0 33 63.6

Income/(loss) from equity method

investments (14.0) (10.9) 0.4

Other loss, net (7.9) 4.3) (17.3)
Loss before income tax expense (178.9) (339.4) (394.0)
Income tax expense/(benefit) 1.1 2.1 (0.5)
Net loss from continuing operations (180.0) (341.5) (393.5)

Net loss from continuing operations was $393.5 million in 2024, compared with net loss of $341.5 million in 2023
and net loss of $180.0 million in 2022. The increased losses are primarily due to an increase in operating expenses to support
the expansion of our continuing businesses. The increase in operating expenses was partly offset by interest income of $63.6
million in 2024 compared to $3.3 million in 2023 and $1.0 million in 2022, reflecting our significant cash balances following

the Divestment transaction.
Revenues

The table below presents information about the revenues of the reportable segments:

Year ended December 31,

Year on year growth

2022 2023 2024 2022 to 2023 2023 to 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars) (as a percentage, %)

Nebius 0.5 9.6 68.3 n/m n/m

Avride 0.3 — 0.3 n/m n/m
Toloka 10.5 11.1 26.4 6 % 138 %
TripleTen 2.2 8.2 28.8 273 % 251 %
Total segment revenues 13.5 28.9 123.8 114 % 328 %

Eliminations — (8.0) (6.3) n/m n/m
Total revenues 13.5 20.9 117.5 55 % 462 %
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Eliminations represent the elimination of transactions between the reportable segments, including use of our Nebius
cloud platform by other segments within the Group.

Revenues by reportable segment:

Total revenues increased by $96.6 million, or 462%, from $20.9 million in 2023 to $117.5 million in 2024. This
increase was predominantly driven by the revenues generated by our core Al infrastructure business, Nebius, as well as
substantial growth in both Toloka and TripleTen. In 2023, total revenue increased by $7.4 million, or 55%, from $13.5 million
in 2022. The primary drivers of the growth for the period were the launch of the core Al infrastructure business and rapid
development of TripleTen.

Revenues for the Nebius business grew by $58.7 million, from $9.6 million in 2023 to $68.3 million in 2024. The
growth of the Nebius business was largely due to the rise in number of new customers and increasing size of engagements per
customer, facilitated by the expansion of our data center facility and growth in installed base of GPUs. In 2023, revenues for
Nebius grew $9.1 million, from $0.5 million in 2022. The main driver was the initial commercial launch of Al infrastructure
business and initial installation of GPUs in our data centers in late 2023.

Revenues from Toloka increased by $15.3 million, or 138%, from $11.1 million in 2023 to $26.4 million in 2024.
The increase was largely due to the growth in demand for data services utilized in the training, evaluation and development of
generative Al models. In 2023, revenues for Toloka grew $0.6 million, or 6%, from $10.5 million in 2022.

Revenues from TripleTen grew by $20.6 million, or 251%, from $8.2 million in 2023 to $28.8 million in 2024. In
2023, revenues for TripleTen grew $6.0 million, or 273%, from $2.2 million in 2022. The main driver for the growth in
revenues in both periods was the growth in the number of new students on the back of the increasing penetration of the core
US market as well as expansion to Latam.

The Avride business had only a limited contribution to the total revenue for the group.

Operating Costs and Expenses

We classify operating costs and expenses as follows: cost of revenues; product development; sales, general and
administrative expenses; and depreciation and amortization.

Cost of revenues primarily consists of costs of operation and co-location of data center facilities, the electricity, utility
and maintenance costs in data centers, direct costs of expert contractors and crowdsourcing costs, and other related expenses.
The group’s owned Finland data center together with rented data center facilities are significant components of the group’s
cost of revenues.

The following table presents the cost of revenues in absolute terms and as a percentage of revenues and total
operating expenses for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
(except percentages)

Cost of revenues 28.4 31.9 73.4
as a percentage of revenues 210 % 153 % 62 %
as a percentage of operating expenses 17 % 9 % 13 %

Cost of revenues increased by $41.5 million, or 130%, from 31.9 million in 2023 to $73.4 million in 2024. The
increase in 2024 was due to expansion of our core Al infrastructure business. Growth accelerated after the Divestment as we
were then able to increase our data center capacities in the form of co-location agreements and hire of additional personnel.
Increase in cost of sales related to the Toloka business was the second largest contributor to the growth in 2024, in line with
the revenue growth in Toloka. Our Avride and TripleTen businesses had limited contribution to the overall increase in cost of
revenues. Cost of revenues remained relatively stable in 2023 and 2022 showing an increase of $3.5 million, or 12%, from
$28.4 million in 2022.
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Product development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs incurred for research and development activities.
The following table presents product development expenses in absolute terms and as a percentage of total operating expenses
for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
(except percentages)

Product development expenses 58.3 112.3 129.7
as a percentage of operating expenses 34 % 32 % 23 %

Product development expenses increased by $17.4 million, or 15%, from $112.3 million in 2023 to $129.7 million in
2024, and by $54.0 million, or 93%, from $58.3 million in 2022. These increases were primarily due to increases in headcount
of personnel engaged in product development activities, as well as growth in salaries in 2023 compared to 2022 due to
relocation of a significant personnel to higher-cost jurisdictions as a part of the Divestment process.

Sales, general and administrative expenses include: expenses for personnel engaged in sales and promotion of
products to the market, or performing general or administrative functions, including share-based compensation expenses;
rental of office space and related utilities in proportion to the number of employees performing these functions; training and
hiring expenses; advertising and marketing expenses, including the costs of organizing promotions; legal and audit services;
and other expenses related to the group’s wider operating activities.

The following table presents sales, general and administrative expenses in absolute terms and as a percentage of total
operating expenses for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
(except percentages)

Sales, general and administrative expenses 57.3 174.9 277.8
as a percentage of operating expenses 33 % 50 % 50 %

Sales, general and administrative expenses increased by $102.9 million, or 59%, from $174.9 million in 2023 to
$277.8 million in 2023. This increase is primarily due to an increase in consultancy, legal and professional fees which were
incremental to our main operating activities, public launch of Nebius Group and related to the Divestment. Increase in share-
based compensation expense allocated to personnel engaged in sales, general and administrative activities was the second
largest contributor to the growth, followed by an increase in advertising and marketing expenses. Sales, general and
administrative expenses increased by $117.6 million, or 205%, from $57.3 million in 2022. The increase was primarily due to
increases in headcount of personnel engaged in sales, general and administrative activities, as well as growth in salaries in
2023 compared to 2022 due to relocation of a significant personnel to higher-cost jurisdictions as a part of the Divestment
process.

Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense relates to the depreciation of property and
equipment, mainly servers and networking equipment, data center equipment and office furniture, and the amortization of
intangible assets.

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
(except percentages)

Depreciation and amortization expense 27.5 29.3 77.3
as a percentage of operating expenses 16 % 8 % 14 %

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $48.0 million, or 164%, from $29.3 million in 2023 to $77.3
million in 2024. The growth was primarily due to the increase of depreciation expense related to server and network
equipment and infrastructure systems, primarily as a result of expansion of data center and GPU capacity in our core Al
infrastructure business, Nebius. In 2023 depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.8 million, or 7%, from 27.5
million in 2022.
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Share-based compensation. In the consolidated statements of operations, share-based compensation expense is
recorded in the same functional area as the expense for the recipient’s cash compensation. As a result, share-based
compensation expense is allocated among the cost of revenues; product development expenses; and sales, general and
administrative expenses.

The following table presents aggregate share-based compensation expense in absolute terms and as a percentage of
operating expenses for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
(except percentages)

Share-based compensation expense included within:

Cost of revenues 0.2 0.2 0.3

Product development 8.8 20.9 10.1

Sales, general and administrative expenses 0.6 10.2 46.2
Total share-based compensation expense 9.6 31.3 56.6

as a percentage of operating expenses 6 % 9% 10 %

Share-based compensation expense increased by $25.2 million, or 80%, from $31.4 million in 2023 to $56.6 million
in 2024. The growth was due to the awards of RSUs granted under the company’s equity incentive program in 2024, following
a period of more than two years during which no grants had been made.

In 2023 share-based compensation expense increased by $21.8 million, or 227%, from $9.6 million in 2022 due to
the growth in headcount.

See Note 14 — “Share-based compensation” of the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Annual Report.

Adjusted EBITDA loss by reportable segments

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA loss as a financial measure of performance of our businesses. Adjusted
EBITDA loss means U.S. GAAP net income/(loss) from continuing operations plus (1) depreciation and amortization, (2)
certain SBC expense, (3) interest expense, (4) income tax expense/(benefit), (5) one-off restructuring and other expenses, less
(1) interest income, (2) other income/(loss), net, and (3) income/(loss) from equity method investments. For a reconciliation
between total Adjusted EBITDA loss and net loss before income tax expense see Note 15 — “Information about segments &
geographic areas” of our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

The table below presents information about the Adjusted EBITDA loss of the reportable segments:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Nebius (43.9) (134.1) (128.5)
Avride (22.6) (69.6) (67.0)
Toloka (22.3) (42.1) (40.1)
TripleTen (35.7) (37.0) (30.8)
Total adjusted EBITDA (loss) (124.5) (282.8) (266.4)

Adjusted EBITDA loss by reportable segments:

Total Adjusted EBITDA loss for the group improved by $16.4 million in 2024 compared to 2023 primarily due to the
increase in revenue, partially offset by growth in sales, general and administrative expenses and cost of revenues. Total
Adjusted EBITDA loss in 2023 increased by $158.3 million compared to 2022 due to increases in sales, general and
administrative expenses and product development expenses.

Adjusted EBITDA loss for the Nebius business improved by $5.6 million in 2024 compared to 2023 due to the
increase in revenue, partially offset by growth in sales, general and administrative expenses and cost of revenues. Adjusted
EBITDA loss for Nebius in 2023 increased by $90.2 million compared to 2022 due primarily to increases in sales, general and
administrative expenses and product development expenses.
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Adjusted EBITDA loss of Toloka improved by $2.0 million in 2024 compared to 2023 due to the increase in revenue
partially offset by growth in cost of revenues and product development expenses. Adjusted EBITDA loss for Toloka in 2023
increased by $19.8 million compared to 2022 as a result of increases in sales, general and administrative expenses and product
development expenses.

Adjusted EBITDA loss of TripleTen improved by $6.2 million in 2024 compared to 2023, due to the increase in
revenue. Adjusted EBITDA loss for TripleTen in 2023 increased by $1.3 million compared to 2022 as a result of increases in
sales, general and administrative expenses.

Adjusted EBITDA loss of Avride improved by $2.6 million in 2024 compared to 2023 due primarily to a reduction in
sales, general and administrative expenses. Adjusted EBITDA loss for Avride in 2023 increased by $47.0 million compared to
2022 as a result of growth in sales, general and administrative expenses and product development expenses.

Interest Income

Interest income is mainly generated from short term bank deposits and cash account balances. Interest income
increased from $3.3 million in 2023 to $63.6 million in 2024. After the completion of the Divestment, we placed a substantial
portion of such proceeds into highly liquid financial instruments. Interest income remained relatively stable at $3.3 million in
2023, compared with $1.0 million in 2022.

Income/(loss) from equity method investments

Income from equity method investments in the amount of $0.4 million in 2024 represents income received in the
form of cash distributions from our investment in venture capital funds. Loss from equity method investments in the amount
of $10.9 million and $14.0 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively, reflected impairments in respect of investments in venture
capital funds as well as attribution of net loss of our equity investment.

See Note 5 — “Investments in equity securities and equity investments”’ of our consolidated financial statements for
more information.

Other Income/(Loss), net

The following table presents the components of other income/(loss), net in absolute terms and as a percentage of
revenues, for the periods presented:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Other loss, net (7.9) 4.3) (17.3)

Other income/(loss), net includes foreign exchange losses in the amounts of $2.8 million and $17.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively, and a foreign exchange gain of $1.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Other income/(loss), net in 2022 includes the loss from impairment of our investment in a venture capital fund in the
amount of $7.7 million.

Foreign exchange gain/(loss) dynamics reflect changes in the U.S. dollar value (the Group’s reporting currency) of
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in other currencies (primarily the euro), as well as changes in the
functional currencies of foreign subsidiaries' monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies different from
their respective local currencies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The group’s principal source of liquidity to date is cash received as part of consideration for the Divestment, as well
as the proceeds of an equity financing completed in December 2024 through a private placement of the company’s treasury
shares.

As of December 31, 2024, $2,449.6 million was recorded in cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents mainly
consist of bank deposits with original maturities of three months or less and investments in money market funds.
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The group’s main cash outflows are as follows: acquisitions of server and infrastructure equipment, investments in
construction of new capacities in our proprietary data center in Finland, lease payments for co-location agreements and other
general corporate activities. Our businesses expect to fund their operations, to the extent required, through debt or equity
financing, as well as achieving positive operating cash flow.

Cash Flows

Set out below is a summary of cash flows from continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024.

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Net cash used in operating activities (139.7) (265.1) (307.7)
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (12.6) (93.4) 671.8
Net cash provided by financing activities — — 656.8

Cash flows used in operating activities.

Our continuing businesses were loss making in all periods presented. Cash is primarily used for payments to
employees and the purchase of various services constituting our operating expenses, which include, but are not limited to,
payments for rent and utilities, payments to suppliers for professional services and other general corporate expenditures.

Net cash used in operating activities increased by $42.6 million in 2024 and by $125.4 million in 2023, respectively,
year over year. The increase in both periods mainly resulted from an increase in personnel-related payments and is in line with
the increase in our headcount and growth in salaries due to relocation of significant personnel to higher-cost jurisdictions as a
part of the Divestment process, as well as increases in corporate overheads. Changes in operating assets and liabilities resulted
in an outflow of $71.2 million in 2024 and $4.4 million in 2023, primarily due to changes in interest receivable, accounts
payable and other accrued liabilities and prepaid expenses.

Cash flows (used in)/provided by investing activities.

Net cash provided by investing activities in 2024 amounts to $671.8 million and consists primarily of the proceeds
from the Divestment, partially offset by purchases of property, plant and equipment, as well as the effect of deconsolidation of
the Group’s former subsidiaries.

Cash received for the Divestment consists of cash received in the first closing in May 2024 in the amount of $2,458.1
million and proceeds from the second closing in July 2024 in the amount of $184.2 million (see Note 3 — “Acquisitions,
Disposals and Discontinued Operations” in the Notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report).
As a result of the Divestment, we deconsolidated $1,174.9 million in cash and cash equivalents related to discontinued
operations as of the date of first closing.

The table below presents information about our capital expenditures:
Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Capital expenditures 14.6 83.4 807.7

Capital expenditures relate primarily to our investments in GPUs and data center hardware. After the completion of
the Divestment in July 2024 we substantially increased the pace of our investments in this area to support the growth of our
core Al infrastructure business.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2023 and in 2022 amounted to $93.4 million and $12.6 million, respectively.
The amounts consist primarily of the acquisition of property plant and equipment in both years, offset by proceeds from the
sale of property and equipment in 2022 in the amount of $2.0 million.

Cash flows provided by financing activities.

Net cash provided by financing activities in 2024 was $656.8 million. This primarily consists of the sale of
approximately 33.3 million Class A shares from treasury pool in a private placement completed in December 2024,
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which generated gross proceeds of $700 million. Those proceeds were partially offset by the following outflows: $32.5
million of private placement issuance costs, $10.0 million for repurchase of equity classified awards related to one of our
business units, and $0.7 million cash payments for the repurchase of the company’s convertible notes restructured in 2022.
Off-Balance Sheet Items

The Nebius Group does not currently engage in material off balance sheet financing arrangements, and does not have
any material interest or obligation, including any contingent obligation arising out of a variable interest in entities referred to
as variable interest entities, which include special purpose entities and other structured finance entities.
Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024:

Payments due by period

Less than One to three Three to five More than

Total one year years years five years
(in millions of U.S. dollars)
Operating lease obligations! 47.6 15.1 17.9 14.6 —
Non cancellable other purchase obligations? 29.4 5.9 12.2 11.3 —
Total contractual obligations 77.0 21.0 30.1 25.9 —

! Includes lease obligations for corporate offices and data center facilities.

2 Includes power and utilities of rented data center facilities (co-location agreements).

For agreements denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, the amounts shown in the table above are based
on the respective exchange rate prevailing on December 31, 2024. All amounts are shown excluding value added tax, where
applicable.

See Note 8 — “Leases” of the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for more
information on our lease contracts, including leases not yet commenced.

Critical Accounting Policies, Estimates and Assumptions

The accounting policies affecting our financial condition and results of operations are more fully described in our
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 2024 included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make judgments in selecting appropriate assumptions for
calculating accounting estimates, which inherently contain some degree of uncertainty. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. We believe our critical accounting policies that affect the more significant judgments and estimates
used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful life on a straight line basis. We monitor
conditions related to these assets to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining
amortization or depreciation period. We test these assets for potential impairment whenever our management concludes that
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The original estimate of an
asset’s useful life and the impact of an event or circumstance on either an asset’s useful life or carrying value involve
significant judgment regarding estimates of the future cash flows associated with each group of long-lived assets. Given the
rapidly evolving nature of our young industry and our limited history operating under our current business model, there may
be a greater risk that our estimates of useful lives may be subject to change over time. Our main assets, GPUs, are currently
depreciated over four years.
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Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets

Significant management judgment is required in determining whether deferred tax assets will be realized. A valuation
allowance is recognized to reduce deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not ultimately to be utilized based
on our ability to generate sufficient future taxable income. Establishing or reducing a tax valuation allowance requires us to
make assessments about the timing of future events, including the probability of expected future taxable income and available
tax planning strategies. If actual events differ from management’s estimates, or to the extent that these estimates are adjusted
in the future, any changes in the valuation allowance could materially impact our consolidated financial statements.

Leases

We determine if an arrangement meets the definition of a lease at the inception of the lease. Right-of-use (“ROU”)
assets represent the group’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the group’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets are measured based on the discounted present value of
the remaining lease payments, initial direct costs incurred, and prepaid lease payments, excluding lease incentives received
prior to lease commencement. To determine the present value of our lease payments, we utilize the interest rate implicit in the
lease agreement. If the implicit interest rate is unknown, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future lease payments. Certain future minimum
lease payments due under the operating lease agreements contain rent-free periods or escalating rent payment provisions.

We make an accounting policy election regarding the distinction of lease and non-lease components for each group of
underlying assets. For co-location spaces at data center facilities, we apply an accounting policy election to separate lease and
non-lease components. Payments under our lease agreements are primarily fixed. Non-lease components primarily consist of
power consumption and internet connection and can be both fixed and\or usage-based.

Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

We accrue a provision or contingent liability when our management determines that it is probable that an asset has
been impaired or a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. In determining the
appropriate accounting for loss contingencies, we consider the likelihood of loss or impairment of an asset or the incurrence of
a liability, as well as our ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss. We regularly evaluate current information available
to us to determine whether an accrual should be established or adjusted. Estimating the probability that a loss will occur and
estimating the amount of a loss or a range of loss involves significant judgment.

A significant portion of the consideration for the divested businesses was received in the form of our Class A shares.
The acquisition of such shares by our company is treated as a repurchase of its own shares for Dutch tax purposes, which
would be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 15%, unless the shares so acquired qualify as "temporary investments". Based
on our use of a portion of these shares in 2024 for financing purposes and our equity incentive program, in the fourth quarter
of 2024, we accrued a contingent tax liability in respect of approximately 117 million repurchased Class A shares in the
amount of $180.9 million, which has been subsequently settled in February 2025.

Valuation of Investments in Equity Securities

Investments in the stock of entities in which we can exercise significant influence but do not own a majority equity
interest or otherwise control are accounted for under the equity method. Following the loss of significant influence over equity
method investments without readily determinable fair values, we account for these investments under the measurement
alternative at its cost less impairment.

Equity investments without readily determinable fair values are written down to fair value if a qualitative assessment
indicates that the investment is impaired and the fair value of the investment is less than carrying value. We perform a
qualitative assessment on a periodic basis. We are required to estimate the fair value of the investment to determine the
amount of the impairment loss. Once an investment is determined to be impaired, an impairment charge is recorded in other
income / (expense), net.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 — “Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk significantly decreased in 2024, following the Divestment of our
former Russian and Russia-related businesses, the results of which were primarily denominated in Russian rubles. We monitor
our foreign currency exposures to maximize the economic effectiveness of our foreign currency positions. Our principal
currency exposures include the euro and, to a lesser extent, the Israeli shekel.

For example, if the euro had been stronger/weaker by 10% relative to the value of the U.S. dollar as of December 31,
2024 we would have recognized additional foreign exchange gains/losses before tax of $6.9 million.

The functional currency of our parent company, Nebius Group N.V., is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of the
group’s other businesses that are incorporated outside the U.S. is generally the respective local currency. The U.S. dollar is our
reporting currency. The financial statements of our foreign entities are translated into U.S. dollars using the current rate
method, where balance sheet items are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end exchange rates and revenue and expenses
are translated using weighted average exchange rates for the relevant period. The resulting translation effects are recorded as
part of accumulated other comprehensive losses in the consolidated balance sheets and amounted to a loss of $ 22.1 million, as
of December 31, 2024. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we reclassified other comprehensive loss in the amount of
$2,428.6 million from equity to earnings upon deconsolidation of the divested businesses, which consisted solely of currency
translation adjustments.

Interest Rate Risk

As of December 31, 2024, we had cash and cash equivalents, including money market funds and short-term bank
deposits in the amount of $2,449.6 million. We do not have debt, except immaterial remaining liability for the convertible
notes restructured in 2022. Our cash and cash equivalents are held for further expansion of our infrastructure facilities and for
working capital purposes. We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes.

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees.

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each of the executive and non-executive members

of our board of directors (the “Board”) and their respective age and position as of the date of this Annual Report:

Date of
Expiration Director or
of Current  Executive

Term of Officer

Name Age Office Since Title
Arkady Volozh 60 2025 2024  Executive Director, CEO
Ophir Nave 55 2025 2024  Executive Director, COO
John Boynton 59 2025 2000 Non-Executive Chairman
Elena Bunina 48 2025 2024 Non-Executive Director
Esther Dyson 73 2025 2024 Non-Executive Director
Kira Radinsky 38 2025 2024 Non-Executive Director
Rogier Rijnja 61 2025 2013 Non-Executive Director
Charles Ryan 57 2025 2011  Non-Executive Director

Arkady Volozh is the principal founder of Nebius Group and was the founder and Executive Director and the group’s
Chief Executive Officer of Yandex N.V. between 2000 and 2022. In August 2024, Mr. Volozh was appointed as executive
director and CEO. A serial entrepreneur, Mr. Volozh’s background in computer science led to the inception of
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several successful IT enterprises, including InfiNet Wireless and CompTek International. Having served as CEO of CompTek
International, Mr. Volozh moved to become the CEO of the Company. Mr. Volozh has invested in and served on the board of
Face.com, an Israeli face-tagging company (sold to Facebook in 2012), and was an early investor in Getir, a Turkish based
company and pioneer in the ‘quick commerce’ market, being the first to introduce the 15-minute grocery delivery model. Mr.
Volozh has also served as a board member for US-based Neurosteer, the company responsible for developing the world’s first
wearable, medical-grade brain activity interpretation platform used across a wide range of medical and lifestyle applications.
Mr. Volozh holds a degree in applied mathematics from Gubkin Institute of Oil and Gas.

Ophir Nave was appointed Chief Operating Officer of the Company in May 2024 and became an executive director
in August 2024. Previously, Mr. Nave was a Lead Partner in the Corporate and M&A Practice at the Israeli law firm Arnon,
Tadmor-Levy, where he also served on the firm’s executive committee. His legal career includes positions at the U.S. law firm
Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz, clerking for Justice Theodor Or of the Israeli Supreme Court, and lecturing on corporate
finance at Tel Aviv University. Mr. Nave holds a Doctor of Juridical Science from Harvard Law School, an LL.B. from Tel
Aviv University, and a B.Sc. in Computer Engineering from the Technion.

John Boynton has been a non-executive director since 2000 and was appointed to serve as Chairman of our Board in
2016. He was a founding shareholder of the Company and has served our Board in a number of capacities including
Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee, Chairman of the Compensation Committee, and Member of the
Audit Committee. He is a member of the National Association of Corporate Directors. Mr. Boynton was also co-founder of
CompTek and InfiNet Wireless and has served as a founder, investor and/or board member in a variety of growth companies in
technology, healthcare services, and real estate. He graduated from Harvard in 1988.

Elena Bunina became a non-executive member of our Board of Directors in August 2024. Ms. Bunina is a university
professor, Israel-based businesswoman and an accomplished mathematician with almost 70 research publications and with a
particular focus on algebra and model theory. She currently serves as the Head of Science and Education for the Nebius
Group. Ms. Bunina previously served as the Head of Academic and Educational Services across the Company’s group, as well
as the General Director and director of Human Resources at Yandex LLC, stepping down in April 2022. Ms. Bunina holds a
Doctor of Science degree, in addition to having a Ph.D in Mathematics, from the faculty of Mechanics and Mathematics at the
Moscow State University, where she served as a professor for 12 years until 2022. She currently serves as a professor of
Mathematics at Bar Ilan University, in Israel.

Esther Dyson was a non-executive director of Nebius Group N.V. from 2006 until her resignation in March 2022 and
was re-appointed as non-executive director in August 2024. Ms. Dyson is the founder of Wellville, a US-based 10-year non-
profit project to demonstrate the value of investing in health, ending December 2024. Ms. Dyson is an active investor in a
variety of IT, health, logistics and space start-ups, and also sits on the boards of AvanleeCare, BAMF Health, SWVL
(Nasdaq), and PressReader, a Vancouver, Canada-based IT company of Russian origin (among others). She also sits on the
boards of non-profits including Charity Navigator and ExpandED Schools. Her primary public board experience in addition to
Yandex was at WPP Group (1999-2014). She started her career as a fact-checker for Forbes Magazine, and then spent five
years as a securities analyst on Wall Street. At New Court Securities, Ms. Dyson comprised the sell-side research department,
and worked on the initial public offering of Federal Express, among others. At Oppenheimer & Co., she followed the nascent
software and personal computer markets. From 1982 to 2004, as the owner of Edventure Holdings, she edited its newsletter
Release 1.0 and ran its annual PC Forum conference. She was an early investor in Flickr and del.icio.us (sold to Yahoo!),
Medstory and Powerset (sold to Microsoft), Meetup (sold to WeWork), Geometric Intelligence and Jump (sold to Uber), and
Square/Block and Omada Health, among others. She is the author of “Release 2.0: A design for living in the digital age”
(1997). She earned a BA in economics from Harvard University, and a certificate of completion from the Yuri Gagarin
Cosmonaut Training Institute.

Kira Radinsky became a non-executive member of our Board of Directors in August 2024. Ms. Radinsky is the chief
executive officer and chairwoman of Diagnostic Robotics, a US-based technology business working in the field of Al to make
healthcare better, cheaper and more widely available. As a result of Ms. Radinsky’s technology expertise, she founded Mana
Bio, an Al-based drug delivery business, and cofounded San Francisco based SalesPredict in 2012, where she led the research
and development aspects of data mining. When SalesPredict was sold to eBay in 2016, Ms. Radinsky became eBay’s director
of data science and chief scientist. Ms. Radinsky has also served on the board of directors for Esh Digital Bank (Tel Aviv),
Maccabi Health Care Data Science Institute (Tel Aviv) and HSBC Technology Board (London). Aside from her corporate
roles, Ms. Radinsky focuses her research on how web dynamics and knowledge can help predict future global events. Ms.
Radinsky has a B.Sc. and a Ph.D in Computer Science from
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Technion, the Israel Institute of Technology.

Rogier Rijnja has been a non-executive director of Nebius Group N.V. since 2013. Mr. Rijnja is an independent
management consultant and entrepreneur. Previously he served as a Senior Vice President of Human Resources and a member
of the executive committee at D.E Master Blenders, a Dutch public company listed on the Amsterdam stock exchange. Earlier,
Mr. Rijnja served as head of the human resources departments at several international companies, including Maxeda (2008 to
2011), Numico N.V. (2004 to 2008) and Amazon.com (2002 to 2004). Prior to this, he was director of global management
development at Reckitt Benckiser PLC from 1998 to 2002, and a human resources manager for Nike Europe from 1996 to
1998. Between 1989 and 1996, Mr. Rijnja held several positions at Apple in The Netherlands and the United States. Mr. Rijnja
has a degree in law studies from Leiden University in The Netherlands.

Charles Ryan became a non-executive director of Nebius Group N.V. at the time of its initial public offering in 2011.
A finance professional with 29 years of experience in both the Russian and international markets, Mr. Ryan co-founded United
Financial Group (UFG) and became its Chairman and CEO in 1994. In 1998, Mr. Ryan initiated the New Technology Group
within UFG Asset Management, which sponsored an early-stage technology investment in ru-Net Holdings whose investments
include the Company. In 2006, Deutsche Bank acquired 100% of UFG's investment banking business, and Mr. Ryan was
appointed chief country officer and CEO of Deutsche Bank Group in Russia and remained in that position until the end of
2008, when he became chairman of UFG Asset Management. From 2008 through the end of 2010, Mr. Ryan was a consultant
for Deutsche Bank. Prior to founding UFG, Mr. Ryan worked as an associate and principal banker with the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development in London from 1991 to 1994 and as a financial analyst with CS First Boston from 1989 to
1991. Mr. Ryan is also a founder and the general partner of Almaz Capital Partners, an international VC firm, headquartered in
Silicon Valley, which connects entrepreneurs and engineering talent in the USA and Eastern European /CIS countries and
brings prominent startups to the global market. Mr. Ryan has a degree in government from Harvard University.

Elena Bunina, a Non-Executive Director and Head of Science and Education, and Roman Chernin, our Chief
Business Officer, are involved in a personal relationship and share a primary residence. To our knowledge, there are no other
family relationships among any of our directors, executive officers or senior managers as of the date of this annual report.

Compensation and Share Ownership of Executive Officers and Directors

The aggregate cash compensation paid or accrued in 2024 for members of our senior management (including our
executive directors) (a total of 9 persons), as a group, was $14.9 million, including $7.8 million of cash compensation paid in
lieu of equity awards that would otherwise have vested in 2024 and repurchases of certain business unit awards. Following the
suspension of trading of our Class A shares on Nasdaq in February 2022 until the resumption of trading in October 2024,
equity awards were settled in cash. In addition, in 2024, we granted an aggregate of 4,379,999 RSUs to the members of our
senior management (including our executive directors). RSUs generally vest over four years with one-sixteenth vesting each
quarter.

The aggregate cash compensation paid or accrued in 2024 for our non-executive directors (a total of 6 persons), as a
group, was $17.9 million, including special bonuses paid to three non-executive directors in an aggregate amount of $15.0
million as approved by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders in August 2024. In addition, in 2024, we granted an
aggregate of 1,128,332 RSUs to our non-executive directors as a group. RSUs generally vest over four years with one-
sixteenth vesting each quarter.

In addition, in 2024 we paid special bonuses to key employees (including a former senior executive) in the aggregate
amount of $34.2 million in recognition of extraordinary services in connection with the divestment transaction completed in
2024.

Further, in 2025, our board approved the grant of “premium-priced” options to each of four senior executives,
including our CEO, to purchase up to 2,000,000 Class A shares at an exercise price of $100 per share. Our CEO declined his
award. These awards are intended to incentivize exceptional long-term performance and drive exceptional growth in
shareholder value. The awards vest quarterly over four years from January 1, 2025, and once vested will remain exercisable
for up to ten years, including in the case of termination other than for cause or good reason.

For information on share ownership and options held by our directors and senior management, please see “Major
Shareholders and Related Party Transactions”.
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Corporate Governance

Our Class A ordinary shares are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market and our Board relies upon the listing
requirements and rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market to assist it in its determinations of director independence. Because Mr.
Volozh beneficially holds approximately 55% of the voting control as of March 31, 2025 and holds greater than 50% of the
voting power for election of directors, Nebius is a “Controlled Company” as defined by Rule 5615 of the Nasdaq Stock
Market rules. As such, we are not required to have a majority of independent directors on our Board, nor are we required to
have an independent nominating and corporate governance committee or compensation committee. While our Board currently
includes a majority of independent directors and our compensation committee and nominating and corporate governance
committee consist solely of independent directors, that may not always be the case. Our audit committee consists solely of
independent directors. For so long as we remain a Controlled Company, we may take advantage of some or all of the
exemptions to the independence requirements available to Controlled Companies.

The principal standing committees of our board of directors are the audit, compensation, and nominating and
corporate governance committees. We have adopted a charter for each of these committees.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee consists of Messrs. Ryan (chairperson), Boynton and Rijnja. Each member satisfies the
independence requirements of the Nasdaq listing standards, and Mr. Ryan qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,”
as defined in Item 16A of Form 20-F and as determined by our board of directors. The audit committee oversees our
accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of our consolidated financial statements. The audit committee is

responsible for, among other things:

e making recommendations to our board of directors regarding the appointment by the shareholders of our
independent auditors;

e coordinating our board’s oversight of the internal control over financial reporting, disclosure controls and
procedures and code of conduct;

e overseeing the work of the independent auditors, including resolving disagreements between management and
the independent auditors relating to financial reporting;

e pre-approving all audit and non-audit services permitted to be performed by the independent auditors;
e reviewing the independence and quality control procedures of the independent auditors;

e discussing material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements and obligations with management and the
independent auditors;

e reviewing and approving all proposed related-party transactions;

e discussing the annual audited consolidated and statutory financial statements with management;

e periodically reviewing and reassessing the adequacy of our audit committee charter;

e meeting separately with the independent auditors to discuss critical accounting policies, observations on internal
controls, the auditor’s engagement letter and independence letter and other material written communications
between the independent auditors and the management;

e establishing procedures for an annual internal audit;

e dealing with the internal audit matters and reviewing the findings of annual internal audits prepared by the
internal auditors; and

53




Table of Contents

e attending to such other matters as are specifically delegated to our audit committee by our board of directors
from time to time.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee currently consists of Mr. Rijnja (chairperson), and Mses. Dyson and Radinsky. Each
member satisfies the independence requirements of the Nasdaq listing standards. The compensation committee assists our
board of directors in reviewing and approving or recommending our compensation structure, including all forms of
compensation relating to our directors and senior management. Members of our management may not be present at any
committee meeting while the compensation of our chief executive officer is deliberated. Subject to the terms of the
remuneration policy approved by our general meeting of shareholders from time to time, as required by Dutch law, the
compensation committee is responsible for, among other things:

e reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to compensation of our executive
and non-executive directors;

e reviewing and approving the compensation, including equity compensation, change-of-control benefits and
severance arrangements, of our chief financial officer and such other members of our management as it deems
appropriate;

e overseeing the evaluation of our management;

e reviewing periodically and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to any incentive
compensation and equity plans, programs or similar arrangements;

e cxercising the rights of our board of directors under any equity plans, except for the right to amend any such
plans unless otherwise expressly authorized to do so; and

e attending to such other matters as are specifically delegated to our compensation committee by our board of
directors from time to time.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

The nominating and corporate governance committee consists of three members: Messrs. Boynton (chairperson) and
Rijnja and Ms. Radinsky. Each member satisfies the independence requirements of the Nasdaq listing standards. The
committee assists our Board in developing our corporate governance guidelines. The committee is also responsible for making
recommendations to our Board regarding the composition of certain committees of our Board and for overseeing the
Company’s policies and initiatives with respect to environmental, social and governance matters; and for overseeing the
evaluation of our Board. The committee is also responsible for identifying and recommending directors to our Board.

The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for, among other things:
e reviewing with our Board, on an annual basis, the requisite skills and criteria for new directors as well as
the composition of our Board as a whole. The committee may adopt, and periodically review and revise as it
deems appropriate, procedures regarding director candidates proposed by shareholders;

e recommending to our Board the directors to be appointed to each committee of our Board;

e overseeing an annual review by our Board on succession planning, which shall include transitional
leadership in the event of an unplanned vacancy; and

e overseeing an annual self-evaluation of our Board to determine whether it and its committees are
functioning effectively.
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Employment Agreements

Substantially all of our employees are employed by our operating subsidiaries. Our employment agreements
generally contain the minimum statutory notice periods required under local law. The employment agreements generally
contain non-competition and non-solicitation provisions.

Employees

The following table indicates the composition of our workforce as of December 31 each year indicated:

2023 2024
Netherlands 442 493
United States 98 192
Israel 290 190
Other 450 496
Total 1,280 1,371
2023 2024
Product development 784 731
Sales, general and administration 410 496
Cost of sales 86 144
Total 1,280 1,371

Our employees are not represented by any collective bargaining agreements and we have never experienced a work
stoppage. Pursuant to the requirements of Dutch law, our employees in the Netherlands have formed an employee works
council. The works council has the right to be informed by and/or to advise management on specific matters in accordance
with the Dutch Works Council Act. In addition, the Works Council Act provides that various decisions with respect to
employment conditions of general application require the works council's consent. If withheld, such consent may be replaced
with a judgment from the cantonal court. The works council has the right to render advice on any proposed decision to appoint
or dismiss a director of the Board. We believe our employee relations are good.

Employee Plan

We grant equity awards in the form of stock options (“Options”), share appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted
shares, restricted share units (“RSUs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”) (together, the “Company Awards”) under our
Nebius Group N.V. Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan was approved by the general meeting
of shareholders on May 27, 2016, and was amended on June 27, 2019 and amended and restated on August 15, 2024. The Plan
currently provides that the maximum number of shares available for issuance under the Plan (and predecessor plans) is
30,000,000.

Additionally, the Plan provides employees of certain business units in the group, including Avride and Toloka (the
“Participating Subsidiaries”), the opportunity to receive equity awards (and synthetic awards) in respect of shares in the equity
of those Participating Subsidiaries (the “Business Unit Equity Awards”). The maximum number of ordinary shares of any
Participating Subsidiary which may be subject to awards over the term of the Plan (together with any shares that may be sold
to business unit management outside the Plan) is determined by the Board but may not exceed 20% of the aggregate number
of such Participating Subsidiary shares issued and outstanding from time to time. In the future, additional of our business
units, or new business units, may be designated Participating Subsidiaries by our Board of Directors.

Plan administration. Our Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee administers our Plan. Although our Plan
sets forth certain terms and conditions of our equity awards, our Board of Directors or its Compensation Committee
determines the provisions and terms and conditions of each grant. These include, among other things, the vesting schedule,
repurchase provisions, forfeiture provisions, any performance conditions and forms of payment upon exercise.
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Eligibility. We may grant Company Awards to employees, directors, advisors and consultants to our Company and its
subsidiaries. We may also grant Business Unit Equity Awards to employees, officers, directors, advisors and consultants of a
Participating Subsidiary. No participant has an automatic right of participation, and no participant will have a right to
automatic top up or replenishment of awards when outstanding awards vest or are exercised.

Exercise price and term of equity awards. With respect to Company Awards, the exercise price of options or
measurement price of share appreciation rights awards is the fair market value of an underlying Class A Share, which means
(A) at any time when the Class A Shares are not publicly traded on an internationally recognized stock exchange, the price per
share most recently determined by our Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, to be the fair market value thereof, which
determination shall be made at least once every six calendar months; and (B) at any time when such shares are publicly traded
on an internationally recognized stock exchange, (i) in the case of RSUs, the closing price per share on the date of such
determination; and (ii) in the case of options and SARs, the average closing price per share on the 20 trading days
immediately following the date of determination, subject to compliance with applicable law. RSU and PSU awards have no
exercise or measurement price. Equity awards are generally exercisable up until the tenth anniversary of the grant date so long
as the participant’s relationship with us has not terminated and any performance or other pre-determined conditions have been
fulfilled. The Plan does not permit re-pricing of options without shareholder approval except in cases of major capital events,
and similar, to arrive at an equitable position akin to that prior to the event.

Vesting schedule. The notice of grant specifies the vesting schedule. Company Awards generally vest quarterly over a
four-year period, with 4/16ths vesting after one year and an additional 1/16 vesting each quarter thereafter unless otherwise
determined by our Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee and set forth in a specific award agreement; awards
granted to employees who have been with the Company for more than one year generally vesting quarterly over four years.
When a participant’s employment or service is terminated, the participant may generally exercise his or her options that have
vested as of the termination date within 90 days of termination or as determined by our Board of Directors or the
Compensation Committee.

Amendment and Termination. Subject to any shareholder approval requirements under the rules of any stock
exchange that are applicable to the Company at any time or applicable law, our Board of Directors may amend or suspend the
Plan or any portion thereof at any time. Unless otherwise specified in the amendment, any amendment to the Plan will apply
to, and be binding on the holders of, all Company Awards outstanding under the Plan at the time the amendment is adopted,
provided our Board of Directors determines that such amendment does not materially and adversely affect the rights of
participants under the Plan.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions.

The following table contains information concerning each of our executive and non-executive directors and each
shareholder known by us to beneficially own more than five percent of each class of our outstanding ordinary shares.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and includes
voting or investment power with respect to our shares.

The number of shares outstanding used in calculating the percentage for each listed shareholder includes restricted
share units in respect of Class A shares and the shares underlying options held by such shareholder that were exercisable as of
March 31, 2025. The percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 202,410,157 Class A shares and 35,698,674 Class B
shares outstanding as of March 31, 2025. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and
includes voting or investment power with respect to Class A ordinary shares. Generally, a person “beneficially owns” our
Class A ordinary shares if the person has or shares with others the right to vote those shares or to dispose of them, or if the
person has the right to acquire voting or disposition rights within 60 days of March 31. All holders of our ordinary shares,
including those shareholders listed below, have the same voting rights with respect to such shares. Class A shares have one
vote per share, and Class B shares have 10 votes per share.

Unless otherwise indicated, the address of each beneficial owner listed on the table below is ¢/o Nebius Group N.V.,
Schiphol Boulevard 165 Schiphol P7 1118 BG, the Netherlands.
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Shares Beneficially Owned as of March 31, 2025

Class A Shares Class B Shares Total Percentage

Number of Number of By Voting By Number of
Name of Beneficial Owner Shares % Shares % Power(1) Shares
Directors:
Arkady Volozh(2) 32,656 * 30,786,700 86.24 % 55.04 % 12.94 %
Ophir Nave (3) 303,751 * — — * *
John Boynton(4) 494,377 * — — * *
Elena Bunina(5) 472,417 * — — * *
Esther Dyson (6) 58,910 0 — — & &
Kira Radinsky(7) 17,996 * — — * *
Rogier Rijnja(8) 180,787 & — — & &
Charles Ryan(9) 402,837 * — — * *
|All directors as a group (8 persons)(10) 1,963,731 0.97 % 30,786,700 86.24 % 55.39 % 13.75 %
Principal Shareholders:
LASTAR Trust(11) — — 30,786,700 86.24 % 55.04 % 1293 %
Orbis Investment Management Ltd(12) 15,703,919 7.76 % — — 2.81 % 6.60 %
Vladimir Ivanov 6,854,456 3.39 % 3,318,884 9.30 % 7.16 % 427 %
Total shares held by directors and 5%
holders 24,522,106 12.12 % 34,105,584 95.54 % 65.36 % 24.62 %

(M

2

3)

“4)

®)

(6)
(M
®)

)

Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent of such class.

Percentage of total voting power represents voting power with respect to all of our Class A and Class B shares, voting
together as a single class. Each holder of Class B shares is entitled to ten votes per Class B share and each holder of Class
A shares is entitled to one vote per Class A share on all matters submitted to our shareholders for a vote. The Class A
shares, and Class B shares vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders, except as
may otherwise be required by Dutch law or our articles of association. Each Class B share is convertible at any time by
the holder into one Class A share and one Class C share.

Includes (a) 32,656 restricted share units in respect of Class A shares that were vested as of or will vest within 60 days of
March 31, 2025, and (b) 30,786,700 Class B shares held by Highvern Cayman Limited, as Trustee of the LASTAR Trust,
the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Volozh or members of his family.

Consists of (a) 178,751 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares and (b) vested “premium priced” options
to purchase 125,000 Class A shares at an exercise price of $100 per share.

Includes (a) 60,000 Class A shares held by trusts, the beneficiaries of which include Mr. Boynton or members of his
family, (b) 57,013 Class A shares held by the John W. Boynton IV Trust of 2006, (c) 12,781 vested restricted share units
in respect of Class A shares. Other than in respect of the shares held by the John W. Boynton IV Trust of 2006, (d) 25,625
vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares (e) 333,333 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A
Shares which are subject to a contractual lock-up until October 1, 2025 and (f) 5,625 restricted share units in respect of
Class A shares to be vested by May 30, 2025. Mr. Boynton disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares described in (a)
and (b) above, except to the extent of his pecuniary interest therein.

Includes (a) vested options to purchase 362,250 Class A shares, and (b) 110,167 vested restricted share units in respect of
Class A shares.

Consists of 58,910 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares.
Consists of 17,996 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares.

Includes (a) 14,235 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares and (b) 166,552 vested restricted share units
in respect of Class A Shares which are subject to a contractual lock-up until October 1, 2025.

Includes (a) 69,504 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares, and (b) 333,333 vested restricted share units
in respect of Class A Shares which are subject to a contractual lock-up until October 1, 2025.

(10) Includes 1,838,731 vested restricted share units in respect of Class A shares.
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(11) Consists of 30,786,700 Class B shares held by Highvern Cayman Limited, as Trustee of the LASTAR Trust, the
beneficiaries of which include Mr. Volozh or members of his family.

(12) Based solely on a Schedule 13G filed by Orbis Investment Management Ltd on February 14, 2025 and represents its
beneficial ownership as of December 31, 2024.

Related Party Transactions

None.
Item 8. Financial Information.

See the financial statements beginning on page F-1.
Dividends

We do not have any present plan to pay cash dividends on our shares in the near term. Any future determination as to
the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on then
existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business
prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.

If and when we pay dividends in the future, they will be payable on a pari passu basis on the outstanding Class A and
Class B shares. Although our Class C shares are technically entitled to a maximum dividend of 1% of the nominal value of
such Class C shares when we declare dividends on our Class A and Class B shares, we intend to repurchase all Class C shares
issued upon conversion of our Class B shares promptly following their issuance such that no dividends would be payable on
our Class C shares. Cash dividends on our shares, if any, will be paid in U.S. dollars.

Item 9. The Listing.
Markets

Our Class A ordinary shares are currently listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, under the symbol “NBIS”.

Item 10. Additional Information.
Articles of Association

The material provisions of our articles of association as currently in force and relevant provisions of Dutch law and
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code are summarized below or included in Exhibit 2.1 to this Annual Report. This summary
does not restate our articles of association or relevant Dutch law in their entirety. Although we believe that this summary
contains all of the information about our articles of association important to your decision to purchase our Class A shares, it
does not include all of the provisions that you may feel are important. It is the articles of association, and not this summary,
that will define the rights of holders of our shares (and therefore, the rights of holders of our Class A shares).

Our articles of association are registered at the Commercial Register kept at the Chamber of Commerce in The Hague
under file number 27265167, and an English translation has been filed with the SEC. Our articles of association were amended
most recently on August 15, 2024.

As provided in Article 3 of our articles of association, the stated objectives of our company are:
e cither alone or jointly with others to acquire and dispose of participations or other interests in bodies

corporate, companies and enterprises; and to collaborate with and to manage such bodies corporate,
companies or enterprises;
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e {0 acquire, manage, turn to account, encumber and dispose of any property, including intellectual property
rights, and to invest capital;

e to supply or procure the supply of money loans, particularly, but not exclusively, loans to bodies corporate
and companies which are subsidiaries and/or affiliates of the company or in which our company holds any
interest, subject to the provisions of the articles of association, as well as to draw or to procure the drawing
of money loans;

e to enter into agreements whereby our company grants security, commits itself as guarantor or severally
liable co-debtor, or declares itself jointly or severally liable with or for others, particularly, but not
exclusively, to the benefit of bodies corporate and companies as referred to above; and

e to do all such things as are incidental or conducive to the above objects or any of them.
Amendment of the Articles of Association

Our articles of association may only be amended upon a proposal of our board of directors and following approval by
a two-thirds majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of shareholders and the prior approval of such resolution by a
simple majority of the votes cast at a meeting of holders of Class A ordinary shares. In addition to such vote:

e The approval of a three-fourths majority of the votes cast at a separate meeting of holders of Class A shares is
required for any amendment that:

o climinates or affects the rights, including but not limited to the calculation of entitlement to any profits, of holders of
Class A shares (including any change in the dividend or liquidation entitlement of the holders of Class B shares or
Class C shares);

e amends certain specific provisions and/or articles as set out in our articles;
e changes the transferability and conversion features of the Class B shares; or

e increases the number of authorized Class B shares.

The approval of a three-fourths majority of the votes cast at a separate meeting of holders of preference shares is
required for any amendment that changes the rights or obligations of the holders of preference shares, if any are outstanding.

Exchange Controls

Under existing laws of the Netherlands, there are no exchange controls applicable to the transfer to persons outside of
the Netherlands of dividends or other distributions with respect to, or of the proceeds from the sale of, shares of a Dutch
company.

Corporate Governance

We acknowledge the importance of good corporate governance. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code, or the Code,
was released in 2003 and last amended in 2025. The Code contains both principles and best practice provisions for
management boards, supervisory boards, shareholders and general meetings of shareholders, financial reporting, auditors,
disclosure, compliance and enforcement standards. The Code applies to all Dutch companies listed on a government-
recognized stock exchange, whether in the Netherlands or elsewhere, including the Nasdaq Global Select Market. Such
companies are required under Dutch law to disclose in their Dutch annual reports filed in the Netherlands whether or not they
comply with provisions of the Code and, if they do not comply with those provisions, to explain why they deviate from any
such provision.

The Code provides that if a company's general meeting of shareholders explicitly approves the company's corporate
governance structure and policy and endorses the explanation for any deviation from the best practice provisions, such
company will be deemed to have complied with the Code. We have not generally applied the provisions of the Code
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and, except as described under the heading “—Management—Corporate Governance Matters,” we instead comply with the
applicable corporate governance rules of the SEC and Nasdaq applicable to U.S. domestic issuers.

Differences in Corporate Law

The following comparison between Dutch corporation law, which applies to us, and Delaware corporation law, the
law under which many publicly listed corporations in the United States are incorporated, discusses additional matters not
otherwise described in this prospectus. Although we believe this summary is materially accurate, the summary is subject to
Dutch law, including Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (see "—Corporate
Governance") and Delaware corporation law, including the Delaware General Corporation Law.

Corporate Governance
Duties of directors

The Netherlands. In the Netherlands, a listed company typically has a two-tier board structure with a management
board comprised of the executive directors and a supervisory board comprised of the non-executive directors. It is, however,
also possible to have a single-tier board of directors, comprising both executive directors and non-executive directors. We
have a single-tier board of directors.

Under Dutch law the board of directors is collectively responsible for the policy and day-to-day management of the
company. The non-executive directors have the task of supervising the executive directors and providing them with advice.
Each director has a duty towards the company to properly perform the duties assigned to him or her. Furthermore, each board
member has a duty to act in the corporate interest of the company. Under Dutch law, the corporate interest extends to the
interests of all corporate stakeholders, such as shareholders, creditors, employees, customers and suppliers. The duty to act in
the corporate interest of the company also applies in the event of a proposed sale or break-up of the company, whereby the
circumstances generally dictate how such duty is to be applied. Any board resolution regarding a significant change in the
identity or character of the company requires shareholders' approval.

Delaware. The board of directors bears the ultimate responsibility for managing the business and affairs of a
corporation. In discharging this function, directors of a Delaware corporation owe fiduciary duties of care and loyalty to the
corporation and to its stockholders. Delaware courts have decided that the directors of a Delaware corporation are required to
exercise informed business judgment in the performance of their duties. Informed business judgment means that the directors
have informed themselves of all material information reasonably available to them. Delaware courts have also imposed a
heightened standard of conduct upon directors of a Delaware corporation who take any action designed to defeat a threatened
change in control of the corporation. In addition, under Delaware law, when the board of directors of a Delaware corporation
approves the sale or break-up of a corporation, the board of directors may, in certain circumstances, have a duty to obtain the
highest value reasonably available to the stockholders.

Director terms

The Netherlands. In line with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, a director of a listed company is generally
appointed for an individual term of a maximum of four years, although all directors currently serving on the Board have been
appointed for a one-year term. There is no limit in the number of consecutive terms a director may serve. Our articles of
association provide that our directors will be appointed for individual terms of a maximum of four years, with no limit on the
number of consecutive terms a director may serve. Despite being elected for a specified term, a director may be suspended
and/or removed at any time, with or without cause, by the general meeting of shareholders. Our articles of association provide
that a resolution to this effect requires a two-thirds majority of the votes cast representing at least 50% of our issued share
capital.

Delaware. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally provides for a one-year term for directors, but permits
directorships to be divided into up to three classes with up to three-year terms, with the years for each class expiring in
different years, if permitted by the certificate of incorporation, an initial bylaw or a bylaw adopted by the stockholders. A
director elected to serve a term on a "classified" board may not be removed by stockholders without cause. There is no limit in
the number of terms a director may serve.
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Director vacancies

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, new members of the board of directors of a company such as ours are appointed
by the general meeting of shareholders.

Delaware. The Delaware General Corporation Law provides that vacancies and newly created directorships may be
filled by a majority of the directors then in office (even though less than a quorum) unless (i) otherwise provided in the
certificate of incorporation or bylaws of the corporation or (ii) the certificate of incorporation directs that a particular class of
stock is to elect such director, in which case any other directors elected by such class, or a sole remaining director elected by
such class, will fill such vacancy.

Conflict-of-interest transactions

The Netherlands. Our articles of association provide that any director may not take part in any vote on a subject or
transaction in relation to which he has a conflict of interest with our company. If, as a direct result of the foregoing, no
resolution can be adopted by the Board, such resolution will be put before the general meeting of shareholders and
subsequently the general meeting of shareholders can resolve on the matter. The Dutch Corporate Governance Code contains a
number of best practice provisions as to conflicts of interest. Our articles of association provide that in the event that we have
a conflict of interest with one or more members of the board of directors, we may still be represented by our executive
directors. Subject to our articles of association the board of directors may grant power of attorney for signature to one or
several persons and may alter or revoke such power of attorney.

Delaware. The Delaware General Corporation Law generally permits transactions involving a Delaware corporation
and an interested director of that corporation if:

e the material facts as to the director's relationship or interest are disclosed and a majority of disinterested
directors consent,

e the material facts are disclosed as to the director's relationship or interest and a majority of shares entitled to
vote thereon consent, or

e the transaction is fair to the corporation at the time it is authorized by the board of directors, a committee of
the board of directors or the stockholders.

The Delaware General Corporation Law also provides certain safe harbor procedures for transactions in which a
director or officer, or a controlling stockholder or control group, may have a conflict of interest.

Proxy voting by directors

The Netherlands. An absent director may issue a proxy for a specific board meeting but only to another director in
writing.

Delaware. A director of a Delaware corporation may not issue a proxy representing the director's voting rights as a
director.

Shareholder Rights
Voting rights

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, the number of voting rights per share depends on the par value thereof (i.e. each
Class A share with a par value of €0.01 carries the right to cast one vote, each Class B share with a par value of €0.10 carries
the right to cast ten votes and each Class C share with a par value of €0.09 carries the right to cast nine votes). All shareholder
resolutions are taken by an absolute majority of the votes cast, unless the articles of association or Dutch law
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prescribe otherwise. Save for a few exceptions, there is no required quorum under Dutch law for shareholder action at a
properly convened shareholder meeting.

If so resolved by the board of directors, shareholders as of the record date for a shareholders' meeting are entitled to
vote at that meeting, and the record date established by the board of directors is at the 28th day before the meeting. There is no
specific provision in Dutch law for adjournments.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, each stockholder is entitled to one vote per share of stock,
unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. In addition, the certificate of incorporation may provide for
cumulative voting at all elections of directors of the corporation, or at elections held under specified circumstances. Either the
certificate of incorporation or the bylaws may specify the number of shares and/or the amount of other securities that must be
represented at a meeting in order to constitute a quorum, but in no event will a quorum consist of less than one-third of the
shares entitled to vote at a meeting.

Stockholders as of the record date for the meeting are entitled to vote at the meeting, and the board of directors may
fix a record date that is no more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of the meeting, and if no record date is set then
the record date is the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which notice is given, or if notice is waived then
the record date is the close of business on the day next preceding the day on which the meeting is held. The determination of
the stockholders of record entitled to notice or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the
meeting, but the board of directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.

Shareholder proposals

The Netherlands. Pursuant to our articles of association, extraordinary shareholders' meetings will be held as often as
the board of directors deems necessary. Pursuant to our articles of association, shareholders and other persons entitled to
attend such meetings who jointly represent at least 10% of the issued share capital may make a written request for a special
meeting to the board of directors. Such written request must specify in detail the business to be considered. If our board of
directors has not convened a meeting within six weeks of the request, the persons who have made the request are authorized to
request the courts to convene the meeting themselves.

The agenda for a meeting of shareholders must contain such items as the board of directors or the person or persons
convening the meeting decide. The agenda shall also include such other items as one or more shareholders, representing at
least 3% of the par value of our issued share capital may request together with an explanation in writing, at least 60 days
before the date of the meeting.

Given the disproportionate par value of our Class B shares, it will be difficult for the holders of our Class A shares to
meet the required thresholds described above.

Delaware. Delaware law does not specifically grant stockholders the right to bring business before an annual or
special meeting. However, if a Delaware corporation is subject to the SEC's proxy rules, a stockholder who owns at least
$2,000 in market value, or 1% of the corporation's securities entitled to vote, may propose a matter for a vote at an annual or
special meeting in accordance with those rules.

Action by written consent

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, shareholders' resolutions may be adopted in writing without holding a meeting of
shareholders, provided that, among other things, the resolution is adopted unanimously by all shareholders that are entitled to
vote. For a listed company this method of adopting resolutions is, therefore, not feasible.

Delaware. Although permitted by Delaware law, publicly listed companies do not typically permit stockholders of a
corporation to take action by written consent.
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Appraisal rights

The Netherlands. Subject to certain exceptions, Dutch law does not recognize the concept of appraisal or dissenters'
rights. See "—Differences in corporate law—Shareholder rights—Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations."

Delaware. The Delaware General Corporation Law provides for stockholder appraisal rights, or the right to demand
payment in cash of the judicially determined fair value of the stockholder's shares, in connection with certain mergers and
consolidations.

Shareholder suits

The Netherlands. In the event a third party is liable to a Dutch company, only the company itself can bring a civil
action against that party. The individual shareholders do not have the right to bring an action on behalf of the company. Only
in the event that the cause for the liability of a third party to the company also constitutes a tortious act directly against a
shareholder does that shareholder have an individual right of action against such third party in its own name. The Dutch Civil
Code does, however, provide for the possibility to initiate such actions collectively. A foundation or an association whose
objective is to protect the rights of a group of persons having similar interests can institute a collective action. The collective
action can result in a collective settlement or an order for payment of monetary damages. An individual injured party may also
itself institute a civil claim for damages.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a stockholder may bring a derivative action on behalf of
the corporation to enforce the rights of the corporation. An individual also may commence a class action suit on behalf of
himself and other similarly situated stockholders where the requirements for maintaining a class action under Delaware law
have been met. A person may institute and maintain such a suit only if that person was a stockholder at the time of the
transaction which is the subject of the suit. In addition, under Delaware case law, the plaintiff normally must be a stockholder
not only at the time of the transaction that is the subject of the suit, but also throughout the duration of the derivative suit.

Repurchase of shares

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, a company such as ours may not subscribe for newly issued shares in its own
capital. Such company may, however, subject to certain restrictions of Dutch law and its articles of association, acquire fully
paid-up shares in its own capital. We may acquire our own shares either without paying any consideration, or in the event any
consideration must be paid only if (i) the sharcholders' equity less the payment required to make the acquisition is not less
than the sum of called and paid-up capital and any reserve required by Dutch law and our articles of association, (ii) we and
our subsidiaries would not thereafter hold or hold as a pledgee shares with an aggregate par value exceeding 50% of the par
value of our issued share capital, (iii) our articles of association permit such acquisition, which currently is the case, and
(iv) the general meeting of shareholders has authorized the board of directors to do so from time to time for the maximum
period allowed under Dutch law and our articles of association, being 18 months. We intend to regularly repurchase, for no
consideration, any Class C shares upon the conversion of Class B shares, in which case the above requirements do not apply.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may purchase or redeem its own shares
unless the capital of the corporation is impaired or the purchase or redemption would cause an impairment of the capital of the
corporation. A Delaware corporation may, however, purchase or redeem out of capital any of its preferred shares or, if no
preferred shares are outstanding, any of its own shares if such shares will be retired upon acquisition and the capital of the
corporation will be reduced in accordance with specified limitations.

Anti-takeover provisions

The Netherlands. Neither Dutch law nor our articles of association specifically prevent business combinations with
interested shareholders. Under Dutch law various protective measures are possible and permissible, within the boundaries set
by Dutch case law and Dutch law. We have adopted several provisions that may have the effect of making a takeover of our
company more difficult or less attractive, including:
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e our multiple-class share structure, with differential voting rights;

e aprovision that our directors may only be removed by a two-thirds majority of votes cast representing at
least 50% of our issued share capital;

e requirements that certain matters, including an amendment of our articles of association, may only be
brought to our shareholders for a vote upon a proposal by our board of directors;

e minimum shareholding thresholds, based on par value, for shareholders to call general meetings of our
shareholders or to add items to the agenda for those meetings, which will be difficult for Class A
shareholders to meet given our multiple-class share structure; and

e supermajority requirements for shareholder approval of certain significant corporate actions, including the
legal merger or demerger of our company and the amendment of our articles of association.

In the event of a hostile takeover bid, in general our board of directors reserves the right to use all powers available to
it in the interest of our company and its stakeholders.

Delaware. In addition to other aspects of Delaware law governing fiduciary duties of directors during a potential
takeover, the Delaware General Corporation Law also contains a business combination statute that protects Delaware
companies from hostile takeovers and from actions following the takeover by prohibiting some transactions once an acquirer
has gained a significant holding in the corporation.

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law prohibits "business combinations," including mergers, sales
and leases of assets, issuances of securities and similar transactions by a corporation or a subsidiary with an interested
stockholder that beneficially owns 15% or more of a corporation's voting stock, within three years after the person becomes an
interested stockholder, unless:

e the transaction that will cause the person to become an interested stockholder is approved by the board of
directors of the target prior to the transactions;

e after the completion of the transaction in which the person becomes an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder holds at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation not including shares owned by persons who
are directors and officers of interested stockholders and shares owned by specified employee benefit plans; or

e after the person becomes an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by the board of
directors of the corporation and holders of at least 66.67% of the outstanding voting stock, excluding shares held
by the interested stockholder.

A Delaware corporation may elect not to be governed by Section 203 by a provision contained in the original
certificate of incorporation of the corporation or an amendment to the original certificate of incorporation or to the bylaws of
the company, which amendment must be approved by a majority of the shares entitled to vote and may not be further amended
by the board of directors of the corporation. Such an amendment is not effective until twelve months following its adoption.

Inspection of books and records

The Netherlands. The board of directors provides all information desired by the shareholders' meeting, unless there is
a compelling reason not to do so. Our shareholders' register is available for inspection by the shareholders.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, any stockholder may inspect for any proper purpose the
corporation's stock ledger, a list of its stockholders and its other books and records during the corporation's usual hours of
business. The Delaware General Corporation Law defines the scope of “books and records™ available for inspection and the
procedural requirements related to stockholder demands for inspection.
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Removal of directors

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, the general meeting of shareholders has the authority to suspend or remove
members of the board of directors at any time with or without cause. Our articles of association provide that a resolution to
this effect requires a two-thirds majority of the votes cast representing at least 50% of our issued share capital.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, any director or the entire board of directors may be
removed, with or without cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors,
except (i) unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise, in the case of a corporation whose board is classified,
stockholders may effect such removal only for cause, or (ii) in the case of a corporation having cumulative voting, if less than
the entire board is to be removed, no director may be removed without cause if the votes cast against his removal would be
sufficient to elect him if then cumulatively voted at an election of the entire board of directors, or, if there are classes of
directors, at an election of the class of directors of which he is a part.

Preemptive rights

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, in the event of an issuance of ordinary shares, each shareholder will have a pro
rata preemptive right based on the number of ordinary shares held by such shareholder (with the exception of ordinary shares
to be issued to employees or ordinary shares issued against a contribution other than in cash). Preemptive rights in respect of
newly issued ordinary shares may be limited or excluded by the general meeting of shareholders or by the board of directors if
so authorized by the general meeting of shareholders or by the articles of association for a period not exceeding five years.

Our articles of association conform to Dutch law and authorize the general meeting of shareholders, or the board of
directors, if so authorized by a resolution of the general meeting of shareholders or by the articles of association, to limit or
exclude preemptive rights for holders of our ordinary shares for a period not exceeding five years. In order for such a
resolution to be adopted, a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes cast in a general meeting of shareholders is required if
less than half of the issued share capital is present or represented at the meeting.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, stockholders have no preemptive rights to subscribe for
additional issues of stock or to any security convertible into such stock unless, and to the extent that, such rights are expressly
provided for in the certificate of incorporation.

Dividends

The Netherlands. Dutch law provides that dividends may only be distributed after adoption of the statutory accounts
by the general meeting of shareholders from which it appears that such dividend distribution is allowed. Moreover, dividends
may be distributed only to the extent the shareholders' equity exceeds the sum of the amount of issued and paid-up capital and
increased by reserves that must be maintained under the law or the articles of association. Interim dividends may be declared
as provided in the articles of association and may be distributed to the extent that the shareholders' equity exceeds the amount
of the issued and paid-up capital plus required legal reserves as described above as apparent from an (interim) financial
statement. Interim dividends should be regarded as advances on the final dividend to be declared with respect to the financial
year in which the interim dividends have been declared. Should it be determined after adoption of the annual accounts with
respect to the relevant financial year, that the distribution was not permissible, the company may reclaim the paid interim
dividends as unduly paid. Under Dutch law, the articles of association may prescribe that the board of directors decide what
portion of the profits are to be held as reserves. Pursuant to our articles of association, our board of directors may reserve a
portion of our annual profits. The portion of our annual profits that remains unreserved may be distributed as follows: On
a pari passu basis on the issued Class A, Class B and Class C shares, provided that any dividend paid on the Class C shares
will not exceed 1% of the nominal value of such Class C shares. On the proposal of our board of directors, the general meeting
of shareholders may resolve that we make distributions out of our general share premium account or out of any other reserves
available for distributions under Dutch law, not being a reserve that must be maintained under Dutch law or pursuant to our
articles of association. Dividends may be paid in the form of shares as well as in cash.
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Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a Delaware corporation may pay dividends out of its
surplus (the excess of net assets over capital), or in case there is no surplus, out of its net profits for the fiscal year in which the
dividend is declared and/or the preceding fiscal year (provided that the amount of the capital of the corporation is not less than
the aggregate amount of the capital represented by the issued and outstanding stock of all classes having a preference upon the
distribution of assets). In determining the amount of surplus of a Delaware corporation, the assets of the corporation, including
stock of subsidiaries owned by the corporation, must be valued at their fair market value as determined by the board of
directors, without regard to their historical book value. Dividends may be paid in the form of common stock, property or cash.

Shareholder vote on certain reorganizations

The Netherlands. Under our articles of association, the general meeting of shareholders may resolve by a two-thirds
majority of the votes cast at a general meeting of shareholders, but only upon a proposal of the board of directors, that the
company conclude a legal merger (juridische fusie) or a demerger (juridische splitsing). In addition, the general meeting of
shareholders must approve resolutions of the board of directors concerning an important change in the identity or character of
our company or its business, in any event including:

e the transfer of the business or a substantial part thereof by our company to a third party;

e the entering into or termination of a long-term cooperation by our company or a subsidiary with a third party, if
this cooperation or the termination thereof is of essential importance to the company; and

e the acquiring or disposing of an interest in the share capital of a company, by our company or a subsidiary, with
a value of at least one-third of the sum of our company's assets according to the most recent annual accounts.

Under Dutch law, a shareholder who owns shares representing at least 95% of the par value of a company's issued
capital may institute proceedings against the company's other shareholders jointly for the transfer of their shares to that
shareholder. The proceedings are held before the Enterprise Chamber (Ondernemingskamer), which may grant the claim for
squeeze-out in relation to all minority shareholders and will determine the price to be paid for the shares, if necessary after
appointment of experts who will offer an opinion to the Enterprise Chamber on the value of the shares.

Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, the vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of capital
stock entitled to vote thereon generally is necessary to approve a merger or consolidation or the sale of all or substantially all
of the assets of a corporation. The Delaware General Corporation Law permits a corporation to include in its certificate of
incorporation a provision requiring for any corporate action the vote of a larger portion of the stock or of any class or series of
stock than would otherwise be required.

Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, no vote of the stockholders of a surviving corporation to a merger is
needed, however, unless required by the certificate of incorporation, if (i) the agreement of merger does not amend in any
respect the certificate of incorporation of the surviving corporation, (ii) the shares of stock of the surviving corporation are not
changed in the merger and (iii) the number of shares of common stock of the surviving corporation into which any other
shares, securities or obligations to be issued in the merger may be converted does not exceed 20% of the surviving
corporation's common stock outstanding immediately prior to the effective date of the merger. In addition, stockholders may
not be entitled to vote in certain mergers with other corporations that own 90% or more of the outstanding shares of each class
of stock of such corporation, but the stockholders will be entitled to appraisal rights.

Compensation of the board of directors

The Netherlands. Under Dutch law, the shareholders must adopt the compensation policy for the board of directors,
which includes the outlines of the compensation of any members of our senior management who also serve on our board of
directors. Additionally, our articles of association provide that our board of directors may decide the compensation of the
members of our board of directors without obtaining the approval of the general meeting of the shareholders provided it is in
due observation to the general guidelines in respect of the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors adopted by
a general meeting (the “Remuneration Policy”).
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Delaware. Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, the stockholders do not generally have the right to approve
the compensation policy for directors or the senior management of the corporation, although certain aspects of the
compensation policy may be subject to stockholder vote due to the provisions of U.S. federal securities and tax law.

Material Contracts
Divestment
Share Purchase Agreement

On February 4, 2024, the Company entered into a share purchase agreement, as amended on March 28, 2024 (the
“Share Purchase Agreement”) with Closed-end Mutual Investment Fund “Consortium First”, a closed-end mutual investment
fund under the trust management of JSC Solid Management, a joint stock company incorporated under the laws of the Russian
Federation (the “Purchaser”), relating to the sale of all of the group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain
international markets (the “Divestment”) through the sale of IJSC “Yandex”, an international joint stock company
incorporated under the laws of the Russian Federation (the “Divestment HoldCo”). Prior to completion of the Divestment,
Divestment HoldCo was the ultimate holding company of the Group’s operations in the Russian Federation and further
operations elsewhere in the CIS and certain international markets (“Yandex Russia”).

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement, the Company agreed to sell its entire equity interest in the Divestment
HoldCo at a valuation of RUB 475 billion, to be satisfied in a combination of cash and the Company’s own shares (the
“Consideration Shares”). The consideration amount gave effect to a 50% discount to fair value of the assets to be divested, as
required under Russian law. The Company understood that the Purchaser would acquire the Consideration Shares through
bilateral arrangements with and public offers to current shareholders in Russia whose Company shares were recorded within
the Russian securities infrastructure (the “Consideration Shares Acquisitions”).

The Divestment took place across two closing. The first closing took place on May 17, 2024 (“First Completion™),
and the second and final closing occurred on July 12, 2024 (“Second Completion”). At the First Completion, the Company
sold a controlling stake in the Divestment HoldCo to the Purchaser for a combination of cash and Consideration Shares.
Following the First Completion, the Purchaser completed the Consideration Shares Acquisitions. At the Second Completion,
the further Consideration Shares acquired by the Purchaser were transferred to the Company in consideration for the transfer
of the remaining shareholding in the Divestment HoldCo, with the balance of the transaction consideration paid in additional
cash by the Purchaser. The Share Purchase Agreement contains customary warranties and covenants of each of the parties
thereto.

In addition, in connection with the Divestment and as contemplated by the Share Purchase Agreement, the Company
sold 14,166,665 ordinary shares in the capital of Divestment HoldCo (the “Pre-Completion Sale Shares”), constituting 3.73%
of the entire issued share capital in the Divestment HoldCo, for cash to Yandex.Technologies LLC, a Russian subsidiary of
Divestment HoldCo, to serve as an equity incentive pool for the divested group.

Deed of Undertaking

On February 4, 2024, the Company and the Divestment HoldCo entered into a deed of undertaking (the “Deed of
Undertaking”) pursuant to which the Company has agreed to certain non-compete, non-solicitation and non-hiring obligations
for a period of five (5) years following the First Completion.

Pursuant to the Deed of Undertaking, the Company and its affiliates are permitted to operate its retained businesses,
including any development or natural evolution of these businesses, globally (save for in Russia and Belarus) at any time,
provided that during the five (5) year non-compete period, the Company shall not engage in or otherwise be concerned with:
(1) the principal businesses of Yandex Russia, as conducted at First Completion, in any territory worldwide (a “Restricted
Business™); or (ii) any development or natural evolution of the Company’s businesses outside of their original scope, if such
business develops in a way as to be engaged or otherwise concerned with a Restricted Business. Furthermore, the Company
agreed that the Company and its affiliates, for a period of five (5) years following First Completion, will not solicit, attempt to
solicit, engage or hire or attempt to engage or hire any employee of the Yandex Russia businesses to work for the Company or
its affiliates. The restrictions apply, subject to certain exceptions,
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to certain individuals who were employed by the Yandex Russia businesses in the 12 months prior to First Completion or who
are subsequently hired within the three (3) years post-First Completion.

Private Investment in Public Equity Financing

On December 2, 2024, Nebius entered into share purchase agreements (the “Share Purchase Agreements’) with the
investors named therein (the “Purchasers”), for the private placement (the “Private Placement”) of an aggregate of 33,333,334
Class A ordinary shares (the “Shares”), nominal value €0.01 per share (the “Class A Shares”), at a purchase price of $21.00 per
Class A Share. The aggregate gross proceeds to Nebius were approximately $700 million, before deducting offering expenses.
The Share Purchase Agreements contain customary representations, warranties and agreements by the Company,
indemnification obligations of the Company and the Purchasers, including for liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), and other obligations of the parties.

In addition, on December 2, 2024, Nebius and the Purchasers entered into investor agreements (the “Investor
Agreements”), pursuant to which Nebius will use its reasonable best efforts to file a registration statement with the Securities
and Exchange Commission by no later than the earlier of (i) five (5) calendar days following the timely filing with the SEC of
this Annual Report on Form 20-F; and (i) May 20, 2025 (the “Filing Deadline”), covering certain sales and distributions as set
out in the Investor Agreements, pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act, and to use its reasonable best efforts to have
such registration statement declared effective within the time period set forth in the Investor Agreement.

Exchange Controls

Under existing laws of the Netherlands, there are no exchange controls applicable to the transfer to persons outside of
the Netherlands of dividends or other distributions with respect to, or of the proceeds from the sale of, shares of a Dutch
company.

Taxation
Taxation in the Netherlands
General

The information set out below is a general summary of the material Dutch tax consequences in connection with the
acquisition, ownership and transfer of our Class A shares. The summary does not purport to be a comprehensive description of
all the Dutch tax considerations that may be relevant for a particular holder of our Class A shares, who may be subject to
special tax treatment under any applicable law, and this summary is not intended to be applicable in respect of all categories of
holders of the Class A shares. In particular, this summary is not applicable in respect of any holder who is, is deemed to be or
is treated as a resident of the Netherlands for Dutch tax purposes nor to a holder that holds, alone or together with his partner,
whether directly or indirectly, the ownership of, or certain other rights over, shares representing 5% or more of our total issued
and outstanding capital (or the issued and outstanding capital of any class of shares), or rights to acquire shares, whether or not
already issued, that represent at any time 5% or more of our total issued and outstanding capital (or the issued and outstanding
capital of any class of shares) or the ownership of, or certain other rights over, profit participating certificates that relate to 5%
or more of the annual profit and/or to 5% or more of our liquidation proceeds. Such interest in our Class A shares is further
referred to as a Substantial Interest (aanmerkelijk belang).

Please note that under Dutch tax law an individual is considered as a holder of Class A shares as well if he/she is
deemed to hold an interest in the Class A shares pursuant to the attribution rules of article 2.14a of the Dutch Income Tax Act
2001, with respect to property that has been segregated, for instance in a trust or a foundation.

The summary is based upon the tax laws of the Netherlands as in effect on the date of this Annual Report, as well as
regulations, rulings and decisions of the Netherlands and its taxing and other authorities available on or before such date and
now in effect. All references in this summary to the Netherlands and Netherlands law are to the European part of the Kingdom
of the Netherlands and its law, respectively, only. All of the foregoing is subject to change, which could apply retroactively
and could affect the continuing validity of this summary. As this is a general summary, we recommend that investors or
shareholders consult with their own tax advisors as to the Dutch or other tax consequences
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of the acquisition, ownership and transfer of our Class A shares, including, in particular, the application to their particular
situations of the tax considerations discussed below.

The following summary does not address the tax consequences arising in any jurisdiction other than the Netherlands
in connection with the acquisition, ownership and transfer of our Class A shares.

Our company currently takes the view that it is a resident of the Netherlands for tax purposes, including for purposes
of tax treaties concluded by the Netherlands, and this summary so assumes. This summary further assumes that the holders of
Class A shares will be treated for Dutch tax purposes as the absolute beneficial owners of those Class A shares and any
dividends (as defined below) received or realized with respect to such shares.

Dividend Withholding Tax
General

Dividends paid on the Class A shares to a holder of such shares are generally subject to Dutch dividend withholding
tax at a rate of 15% per the Dutch dividend withholding tax Act 1965 (Wet op de dividendbelasting 1965). The term
“dividends” for this purpose includes, but is not limited to:

e distributions in cash or in kind, deemed and constructive distributions, and repayments of paid-in capital not
recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes;

e liquidation proceeds, proceeds of redemption of shares or, generally, consideration for the repurchase of shares
in excess of the average paid-in capital recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes;

e the par value of shares issued to a shareholder or an increase of the par value of shares, as the case may be, to
the extent that it does not appear that a contribution to the capital recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax
purposes was made or will be made; and

e partial repayment of paid-in capital, recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes, if and to the
extent that there are net profits (zuivere winst), within the meaning of the Dutch Dividend Withholding Tax Act
1965, unless the general meeting of our shareholders has resolved in advance to make such a repayment and
provided that the par value of the shares concerned has been reduced by a corresponding amount by way of an
amendment of our articles of association.

Generally, we are responsible for the withholding of taxes at source and the remittance of the amounts withheld to the
Dutch tax authorities; the dividend withholding tax will not be for our account.

The company may, with respect to certain dividends received from qualifying non-Dutch subsidiaries, credit taxes withheld
from those dividends against the Dutch withholding tax imposed on certain qualifying dividends that are redistributed by the
company, generally up to a maximum of the lesser of:

e 3% of the amount of qualifying dividends redistributed by the company; and
e 3% of the gross amount of certain qualifying dividends received by the company.

The amount of Dutch withholding tax that we may retain reduces the amount of dividend withholding tax that we are
required to pay to the Dutch tax authorities, but does not reduce the amount of tax we are required to withhold from dividends
paid to a holder of our Class A shares.

As of January 1, 2024, a Dutch conditional withholding tax may apply at a statutory rate of 25.8% on dividends and
other (deemed) distributions to certain affiliated entities of the company, as defined under the Dutch Withholding Tax Act
2021 (Wet bronbelasting 2021). This conditional withholding tax applies only to dividends and other (deemed) distributions
made to entities that are either resident in or have a permanent establishment in a jurisdiction listed in the Dutch Regulation on
Low-Taxing States and Non-Cooperative Jurisdictions for Tax Purposes (Regeling laagbelastende staten en niet-cooperatieve
rechtsgebieden voor belastingdoeleinden). It may also apply in certain cases of deemed abuse. Under the Dutch Withholding
Tax Act 2021, an entity is generally considered affiliated if there is a controlling relationship between such entity and the
distributing company.
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Non-residents of the Netherlands (including but not limited to U.S. holders)

The following is a description of the material Dutch tax consequences of holders of our Class A shares who under
certain circumstances may not be subject to the above described 15% Dutch dividend withholding tax.

Relief at source is available to certain qualifying corporate holders of common shares if the shares are attributable to
a business conducted in the Netherlands, provided the holder can demonstrate beneficial ownership of the dividend.
Additionally, relief at source applies to dividend distributions for qualifying corporate holders of common shares who are
residents of EU/EEA member states or of non-EU/EEA states that have a tax treaty with the Netherlands, including a dividend
article. However, this relief is not available if the holder’s primary or one of the primary purposes for holding the shares is to
avoid Dutch dividend withholding tax for another party, and if the shareholding lacks valid commercial reasons that reflect
economic reality.

Entities (i) that are resident in another EU Member State, in a State of the European Economic Area (the “EEA”)
i.e. Iceland, Norway and Liechtenstein, or a country outside the EU/EEA which has an arrangement for the exchange of tax
information with the Netherlands; and (ii) that are not subject to taxation by reference to profits in such State, in principle have
the possibility to obtain a full refund of Dutch dividend withholding tax, provided such entities would not have been subject to
Dutch corporate income tax either had they been resident within the Netherlands, and provided further that such entities do not
perform a similar function to that of a tax exempt investment institutions or fiscal investment institutions as referred to in the
Dutch Corporate Income Tax Act 1969, and with respect to entities resident in a country outside the EU/EEA which have an
arrangement for the exchange of tax information with the Netherlands, provided such entities hold their Class A shares as a
portfolio investment, i.e. such shares are not held with a view to the establishment or maintenance of lasting and direct
economic links between such holder of Class A shares and our company, and these shares do not allow such holder to
effectively participate in the management or control of our company.

Further, a holder of Class A shares who is resident in another EU Member State or in a State of the EEA i.e. Iceland,
Norway and Liechtenstein, in principle has the possibility to obtain a refund of Dutch dividend withholding tax, provided that
(i) such dividends are not taxable with the holder of Class A shares for personal income tax purposes or corporate income tax
purposes and (ii) insofar the Dutch dividend withholding tax exceeds the amount of personal income tax or corporate income
tax that would have been due had the holder of Class A shares been resident in the Netherlands, and with respect to a holder of
Class A shares resident in a country outside the EU/EEA which has an arrangement for the exchange of tax information with
the Netherlands, provided the Class A shares are held by such holder as a portfolio investment, i.e. such shares are not held
with a view to the establishment or maintenance of lasting and direct economic links between such holder of Class A shares
and our company, and these shares do not allow such holder to effectively participate in the management or control of our
company.

A holder of Class A shares who is considered to be a resident of the United States and is entitled to the benefits of the
1992 Double Taxation Treaty between the United States and the Netherlands (“U.S. holder”), as amended most recently by the
Protocol entered into force December 28, 2004 (the “Treaty”) will generally be subject to Dutch dividend withholding tax at
the rate of 15% unless such U.S. holder:

e is an exempt pension trust as described in article 35 of the Treaty, or an exempt organization as described in
article 36 of the Treaty; or

e beneficially owns directly 10% or more of the voting power of our company.

U.S. holders that are exempt pension trusts or exempt organizations as described in articles 35 and 36, respectively, of
the Treaty may qualify for an exemption from Dutch withholding tax and may generally claim (i) in the case of an exempt
pension trust full exemption at source by timely filing two completed copies of form IB 96 USA signed by the U.S. holder
accompanied with U.S. form 6166 (as issued by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and valid for the relevant tax year) or (ii) in
the case of either an exempt pension trust or an exempt organization a full refund by filing through the withholding agent =
(which is generally the company) one of the following forms signed by the U.S. holder within three years after the end of the
calendar year in which the withholding tax was levied:

e ifthe U.S. holder is an exempt pension trust as described in article 35 of the Treaty: two completed copies of
Form IB 96 USA accompanied with U.S. Form 6166 as issued by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service valid for the
relevant tax year; and
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e ifthe U.S. holder is an exempt organization as described in article 36 of the Treaty: two completed copies of
Form IB 95 USA accompanied with U.S. Form 6166 as issued by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, valid for
the relevant tax year.

Taxes on Income and Capital Gains
General

The description of taxation set out in this section of this Annual Report is not intended for any holder of Class A
shares who is:

e an individual for whom the income or capital gains derived from the Class A shares are attributable to
employment activities the income from which is taxable in the Netherlands; or

e an individual who or an entity which holds, or is deemed to hold, a Substantial Interest in our company (as
defined above).

Non-residents of the Netherlands (including, but not limited to, U.S. holders)

A non-resident of the Netherlands who holds Class A shares is generally not subject to Dutch income or corporate
income tax (other than dividend withholding tax described above) on the income and capital gains derived from the Class A
shares, provided that:

e such Non-Resident of the Netherlands does not derive profits from an enterprise or deemed enterprise, whether
as an entrepreneur (ondernemer) or pursuant to a co-entitlement to the net worth of such enterprise (other than
as an entrepreneur or a shareholder) which enterprise is, in whole or in part, carried on through a permanent
establishment or a permanent representative in the Netherlands or effectively managed in the Netherlands and to
which enterprise or part of an enterprise, as the case may be, the Class A shares are attributable or deemed
attributable;

e in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlands who is an individual, (a) such individual does not carry out any
activities in the Netherlands with respect to the Class A shares that exceed ordinary active asset management
(normaal vermogensbeheer), (b) the benefits derived from such Class A shares are not intended as remuneration
for activities performed by a holder of Class A shares or by a person connected to such holder as meant by
article 3.92b paragraph 6 of the Dutch Income Tax Act 2001 and (c) such individual does not derive income or
capital gains from the Class A shares that are taxable as benefits from “other miscellaneous activities” in the
Netherlands (resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden in Nederland);

e in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlands which is an entity, it is neither entitled to a share in the profits
of an enterprise effectively managed in the Netherlands, nor co-entitled to the net worth of such enterprise, other
than by way of the holding of securities, to which enterprise the Class A shares or payments in respect of the
Class A shares are attributable; and

e in the case of a Non-Resident of the Netherlands who is an individual, such individual is not entitled to a share
in the profits of an enterprise effectively managed in the Netherlands, other than by way of the holding of
securities or, through an employment contract, to which enterprise the Class A shares or payments in respect of
Class A shares are attributable.

A U.S. holder that is entitled to the benefits of the Treaty and whose Class A shares are not attributable to a Dutch
enterprise or deemed enterprise, will generally not be subject to Dutch taxes on any capital gain realized on the disposal of
such Class A shares.

Gift, Estate or Inheritance Taxes

No Dutch gift, estate or inheritance taxes will arise on the transfer of Class A shares by way of a gift by, or on the
death of, a holder of Class A shares who is neither resident nor deemed to be resident in the Netherlands, unless in the case of
a gift of the Class A shares by an individual who at the date of the gift was neither resident nor deemed to be resident in the
Netherlands and (i) such individual dies within 180 days after the date of the gift, while being resident or deemed to be
resident in the Netherlands; or (ii) the gift of the Class A shares is made under a condition precedent and the holder of these
shares is resident, or is deemed to be resident, in the Netherlands at the time the condition is fulfilled.

For purposes of Dutch gift, estate and inheritance taxes, an individual who holds the Dutch nationality will be
deemed to be resident in the Netherlands if he or she has been resident in the Netherlands at any time during the ten
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years preceding the date of the gift or his or her death. Additionally, for purposes of Dutch gift tax, an individual not holding
the Dutch nationality will be deemed to be resident in the Netherlands if he or she has been resident in the Netherlands at any
time during the twelve months preceding the date of the gift. Applicable tax treaties may override deemed residency.

Value-Added Tax

There is no Dutch value-added tax payable in respect of payments in consideration for the sale of the Class A shares
(other than value added taxes on fees payable in respect of services not exempt from Dutch value added tax).

Other Taxes and Duties

There is no Dutch registration tax, capital tax, customs duty, stamp duty or any other similar documentary tax or duty
other than court fees payable in the Netherlands by a holder of Class A shares in respect of or in connection with the
execution, delivery and enforcement by legal proceedings (including any foreign judgment in the courts of the Netherlands) of
the Class A shares.

Residence

Other than as set forth above, a holder of Class A shares will not become or be deemed to become a resident of the
Netherlands, nor will a holder of Class A shares otherwise become subject to taxation in the Netherlands, solely by reason of
holding the Class A shares.

Taxation in the United States

The following summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and
disposition of our Class A shares is based upon current law and does not purport to be a comprehensive discussion of all the
tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase our Class A shares. This summary is based on current
provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, existing, final, temporary and proposed United States Treasury Regulations,
administrative rulings and judicial decisions, in each case as available on the date of this Annual Report. All of the foregoing
are subject to change, which change could apply retroactively and could affect the tax consequences described below.

This section summarizes the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. holders, as defined below, of
Class A shares. This summary addresses only the U.S. federal income tax considerations for U.S. holders that hold the Class A
shares as capital assets. This summary does not address all U.S. federal income tax matters that may be relevant to a particular
U.S. holder, nor does it address any state, local or foreign tax matters or matters relating to any U.S. federal tax other than the
income tax. Each investor should consult its own professional tax advisor with respect to the tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of the Class A shares. This summary does not address tax considerations applicable to a
holder of Class A shares that may be subject to special tax rules including, without limitation, the following:

e certain financial institutions;

e insurance companies;

e dealers or traders in securities, currencies, or notional principal contracts;

e tax-exempt entities;

e regulated investment companies;

e persons that hold the Class A shares as part of a wash sale, hedge, straddle, conversion, constructive sale or
similar transaction;

e persons that hold the Class A shares through partnerships or certain other pass-through entities;
e persons that own (or are deemed to own) 10% or more of our voting shares; and
e persons that have a “functional currency” other than the U.S. dollar.

Further, this summary does not address alternative minimum tax consequences or indirect effects on the holders of
equity interests in entities that own our Class A shares. In addition, this discussion does not consider the U.S. tax
consequences to non-U.S. holders of Class A shares.
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For the purposes of this summary, a “U.S. holder” is a beneficial owner of Class A shares that is, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes:

e an individual who is either a citizen or resident of the United States;

e acorporation, or other entity that is treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, created or
organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States or the District of Columbia;

e  an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

e atrust, if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over its administration and one
or more “United States persons,” within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code, have the authority to control
all of the substantial decisions of such trust.

If a partnership holds Class A shares, the tax treatment of a partner will generally depend upon the status of the
partner and upon the activities of the partnership.

We will not seek a ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) with regard to the U.S. federal income tax
treatment of an investment in our Class A shares, and we cannot assure you that the IRS will agree with the conclusions set
forth below.

Distributions. Subject to the discussion under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations” below, the
gross amount of any distribution (including any amounts withheld in respect of Dutch withholding tax) actually or
constructively received by a U.S. holder with respect to Class A shares will be taxable to the U.S. holder as a dividend to the
extent paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles.
Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will be nontaxable to the U.S. holder to the extent
of, and will be applied against and reduce, the U.S. holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Class A shares. Distributions in excess of
our current and accumulated earnings and profits and such adjusted tax basis will generally be taxable to the U.S. holder as
capital gain from the sale or exchange of property. However, since we do not calculate our earnings and profits under U.S.
federal income tax principles, it is expected that any distribution will be reported as a dividend, even if that distribution would
otherwise be treated as a nontaxable return of capital or as capital gain under the rules described above. The amount of any
distribution of property other than cash will be the fair market value of that property on the date of distribution. The U.S.
holder will not be eligible for any dividends received deduction in respect of the dividend otherwise allowable to
corporations.

Under the Internal Revenue Code, qualified dividends received by certain non-corporate U.S. holders (i.e. individuals
and certain trusts and estates) currently are subject to a maximum income tax rate of 20%. This reduced income tax rate is
applicable to dividends paid by “qualified foreign corporations” to such non-corporate U.S. holders that meet the applicable
requirements, including a minimum holding period (generally, at least 61 days during the 121-day period beginning 60 days
before the ex-dividend date). Dividends paid by us will not qualify for the 20% U.S. federal income tax rate cap if we are
treated, for the tax year in which the dividends are paid or the preceding tax year, as a “passive foreign investment company”
for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as discussed below. Dividends paid by us that are not treated as qualified dividends will
be taxable at the normal (and currently higher) ordinary income tax rates, except to the extent that they are taxable otherwise if
we are a passive foreign investment company as described below.

Dividends received by a U.S. holder with respect to Class A shares generally will be treated as foreign source income
for the purposes of calculating that holder’s foreign tax credit limitation. Subject to applicable conditions and limitations, and
subject to the discussion in the next two paragraphs, any Dutch income tax withheld on dividends may be deducted from
taxable income or credited against a U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability. The limitation on foreign taxes eligible for
the U.S. foreign tax credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. For this purpose, dividends
distributed by us generally will constitute “passive category income” (but, in the case of some U.S. holders, may constitute
“general category income”).

A “United States person,” within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code, that is an individual, an estate or a
nonexempt trust is generally subject to a 3.8% surtax on the lesser of (i) the United States person’s “net investment income”
for the year and (ii) the excess of the United States person’s “modified adjusted gross income” for that year over a threshold
(which, in the case of an individual, will be between $125,000 and $250,000, depending on the individual’s U.S. tax filing

status). A U.S. holder’s net investment income generally will include, among other things,
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dividends on, and gains from the sale or other taxable disposition of, our Class A shares, unless (with certain exceptions) those
dividends or gains are derived in the ordinary course of a trade or business. Net investment income may be reduced by
deductions properly allocable thereto; however, the U.S. foreign tax credit may not be available to reduce the surtax.

Upon making a distribution to shareholders, we may be permitted to retain a portion of the amounts withheld as
Dutch dividend withholding tax. See “—Taxation in the Netherlands—Dividend Withholding Tax—General.” The amount of
Dutch withholding tax that we may retain reduces the amount of dividend withholding tax that we are required to pay to the
Dutch tax authorities but does not reduce the amount of tax we are required to withhold from dividends paid to U.S. holders.
In these circumstances, it is likely that the portion of dividend withholding tax that we are not required to pay to the Dutch tax
authorities with respect to dividends distributed to U.S. holders would not qualify as a creditable tax for U.S. foreign tax credit
purposes.

Sale or other disposition of Class A shares. A U.S. holder will generally recognize gain or loss for U.S. federal
income tax purposes upon the sale or exchange of Class A shares in an amount equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar
value of the amount realized from such sale or exchange and the U.S. holder’s tax basis for those Class A shares. Subject to
the discussion under “Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations” below, this gain or loss will be capital gain or
loss and will generally be treated as from sources within the United States. Capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain
or loss if the U.S. holder held the Class A shares for more than one year at the time of the sale or exchange; in general, long-
term capital gains realized by non-corporate U.S. holders are eligible for reduced rates of tax. The deductibility of losses
incurred upon the sale or other disposition of capital assets is subject to limitations.

Passive foreign investment company considerations. A corporation organized outside the United States generally will
be classified as a passive foreign investment company (“PFIC”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes in any taxable year in
which, after applying the applicable look-through rules, either: (i) at least 75% of its gross income is passive income, or (ii) at
least 50% of the average gross value of its assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income or are held for the
production of passive income. In arriving at this calculation, a pro rata portion of the income and assets of each corporation in
which we own, directly or indirectly, at least a 25% interest by value, must be taken into account. Passive income for this
purpose generally includes dividends, interest, royalties, rents and gains from commodities and securities transactions. We
believe that we were not a PFIC for any prior tax year after 2013. Based on estimates of our gross income and the average
value of our gross assets, and on the nature of the active businesses conducted by our “25% or greater” owned subsidiaries, we
do not expect to be a PFIC in the current taxable year and do not expect to become one in the foreseeable future. There is a
change of business exception to PFIC status that, in general terms, applies if a foreign corporation otherwise would be a PFIC
for a year because it has disposed of one or more active businesses, so long as the foreign corporation is not a PFIC during the
two succeeding years, and that might apply to us if we were found to have been a PFIC for the 2024 tax year, after taking into
account the significant divestment transaction we completed in 2024. There is limited guidance as to the application of this
exception, and it is unclear whether this exception would apply to us, if it were determined, absent this exception, that we
were a PFIC for the 2024 tax year. In addition, because our status for any taxable year will depend on the composition of our
income and assets and the value of our assets for such year, and because this is a factual determination made annually after the
end of each taxable year, there can be no assurance that we will not be considered a PFIC for the current taxable year or any
future taxable year. In particular, the value of our assets may be determined in large part by reference to the market price of
our Class A shares, which may fluctuate considerably. If we were a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. holder held
Class A shares, gain recognized by the U.S. holder on a sale or other disposition (including a pledge) of the Class A shares
would be allocated ratably over the U.S. holder’s holding period for the Class A shares. The amounts allocated to the taxable
year of the sale or other disposition and to any year before we became a PFIC would be taxed as ordinary income. The amount
allocated to each other taxable year would be subject to tax at the highest rate in effect for individuals or corporations, as
appropriate, for that taxable year, and an interest charge would be imposed on the resulting tax liability for that taxable year.
Similar rules would apply to the extent any distribution in respect of Class A shares exceeds 125% of the average of the annual
distributions on Class A shares received by a U.S. holder during the preceding three years or the holder’s holding period,
whichever is shorter. Elections may be available that would result in alternative treatments (such as a mark-to-market
treatment) of the Class A shares. In addition, if we are considered a PFIC for the current taxable year or any future taxable
year, U.S. holders will be required to file annual information returns for such year, whether or not the U.S. holder disposed of
any Class A shares or received any distributions in respect of Class A shares during such year.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting. U.S. holders generally will be subject to information reporting
requirements with respect to dividends on Class A shares and on the proceeds from the sale, exchange or disposition of
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Class A shares that are paid within the United States or through U.S. related financial intermediaries, unless the U.S. holder is
an “exempt recipient.” In addition, certain U.S. holders who are individuals may be required to report to the IRS information
relating to their ownership of the Class A shares, subject to certain exceptions (including an exception for shares held in an
account maintained by a U.S. financial institution). U.S. holders may be subject to backup withholding (currently at 24%) on
dividends and on the proceeds from the sale, exchange or disposition of Class A shares that are paid within the United States
or through U.S. related financial intermediaries, unless the U.S. holder provides a taxpayer identification number and a duly
executed IRS Form W9 or otherwise establishes an exemption. Backup withholding is not an additional tax and the amount of
any backup withholding will be allowed as a credit against a U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle
such holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

Documents on Display

We are subject to the periodic reporting and other informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the Exchange Act. Under the Exchange Act, we are required to file reports and other information with the
SEC. Specifically, we are required to file annually a Form 20-F no later than four months after the close of each fiscal year,
which is December 31. Such reports and other information, when so filed, may be accessed at www.sec.gov/edgar or at
https://group.nebius.com/sec-filings. As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act
prescribing the furnishing and content of quarterly reports and proxy statements, and officers, directors and principal
shareholders are exempt from the reporting and short swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the
Exchange Act.
Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”
Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities.

Not applicable.

PART II.

Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies.

Not applicable.

Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds.

Not applicable.
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Item 15. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of the company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2024. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls
and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and
procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive
and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management
recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost benefit
relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures
as of December 31, 2024, the company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of such
date, the company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and
procedures that:

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets;

(i1) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of the company's internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2024. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on that evaluation, we concluded that as of December 31, 2024, our internal control
over financial reporting was not effective.

In making the assessment, we identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A
material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is
a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis.

We have concluded that these material weaknesses reflected the substantial change in our businesses and organization
as a result of the significant and complex divestment transaction we completed in 2024. Although we took extensive steps to
create the infrastructure to operate independently from the larger divested businesses, we were unable to complete the
implementation of all necessary controls for our newly constituted group during 2024. In particular, as we continued to
implement a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system, we did not yet have in place all necessary business processes,
systems, personnel, and related internal controls.
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The material weaknesses that we identified were as follows:

We did not adequately and timely design and implement effective controls in business applications across
our new information technology infrastructure. Specifically, we did not adequately and timely design,
implement and ensure the effectiveness of controls in access management, system monitoring and change
management. This resulted in lack of sufficient effective controls, which undermines the assurance of data
accuracy and general IT dependencies increases the risk of errors or misstatements.

We did not adequately and timely design and maintain effective information technology general controls or
certain information systems supporting our key financial reporting processes commensurate with our
financial reporting requirements. Specifically, we did not adequately and timely design, implement and
ensure the effectiveness of the operating system controls in connection with our revenue recognition
process. This resulted in our inability to consistently establish accurate revenue statements, which
undermined the assurance of our data accuracy and increased the risk of errors or misstatements.

We did not adequately and timely design and maintain effective information systems, policies and
procedures for our reconciliation process for fixed assets. Specifically, we did not design, implement and
ensure the effectiveness of the relevant operating system controls. In addition, we did not complete our asset
validation policy and procedures. This resulted in the ineffectiveness of our ability to ensure the existence,
ownership and accuracy of data in connection with our assets, which undermines the assurance of data
accuracy and increases the risk of errors or misstatements.

We believe that these control deficiencies did not result in a misstatement to our annual or interim financial
statements. However, each of these control deficiencies could result in a misstatement of the aforementioned accounts or
disclosures that would result in a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would
not be prevented or detected, and accordingly, we determined that these control deficiencies each constitute material

weaknesses.

Because of these material weaknesses, management concluded that the Company did not maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024.

Remediation activities

We have

identified and implemented, and continue to implement, certain remediation efforts to improve the

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures. These remediation efforts
are ongoing. The following remedial actions have been undertaken to date:

We have performed compensating control procedures across all our businesses in 2024 to reconcile our
2024 revenue, with a view to ensuring the accuracy of the revenue recognized during the year.

We conducted a stock count at key asset locations across our businesses to validate the existence, ownership
and accuracy of data in connection with our assets as reported for our 2024 fiscal year.

We began a company-wide remediation project, with the support of external consultants, to enhance the
control framework and address our material weaknesses in internal controls. This project is designed to
ensure a more robust, effective, and sustainable control environment and information technology systems
supporting our key financial reporting processes commensurate with our financial reporting requirements.
Specifically, we expect that this project will improve our information technology systems relating to our
revenue recognition and fixed assets reconciliation processes and ensure the effectiveness of the operating
system controls in connection with each of these processes. We expect to complete this project by the fourth
quarter of 2025.

We may not be able to fully remediate the identified material weakness until the steps described above have been
completed and our internal controls have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time. We believe we have already
made progress and will continue to make progress in our remediation plan during the year ending December 31, 2025, but

cannot assure you

that we will be able to fully remediate the material weakness in 2025. If the
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steps we take do not correct the material weakness in a timely manner, we will be unable to conclude that we maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, there could continue to be a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of our financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. We also may incur
significant costs to execute various aspects of our remediation plan but cannot provide a reasonable estimate of such costs at
this time.

The process of implementing an effective financial reporting system is a continuous effort that requires us to
anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant
resources to maintain a financial reporting system that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations. As we continue to
evaluate and take actions to improve our internal control over financial reporting, we may take additional actions to address
control deficiencies or modify certain of the remediation measures described above.

While progress has been made to enhance our internal control over financial reporting, we are still in the process of
implementing, documenting and testing these processes, procedures and controls. Additional time is required to complete
implementation and to assess and ensure the sustainability of these procedures. We will continue to devote significant time
and attention to these remedial efforts. However, the material weaknesses cannot be considered remediated until the applicable
remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls
are operating effectively.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

There were significant changes in our financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) in 2024 due to the implementation of a new enterprise resource planning (ERP) system following the
divestment transaction that was completed in July 2024. The implementation of a new ERP system has had a material effect
on our internal disclosure controls and procedures as a result of the complexities in ensuring accurate and timely collection
and reporting of financial data. In addition, the reporting for our fiscal year 2024 relies partially on the legacy ERP system and
partially on the new ERP system, which has required adjustments to our internal controls to maintain the integrity of financial
reporting. The implementation of the new ERP system has been completed and we no longer rely on the legacy ERP system.

There have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in an evaluation thereof
that occurred during the fiscal year 2024 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert.

Mr. Ryan qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined in Item 16A of Form 20-F and as determined
by our board of directors.

Item 16B. Code of Ethics.

We have adopted a written code of ethics that applies to our Board, all of our employees, including our principal
executive and principal financial officers, and any of the company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries. A copy of the code of
ethics, which we refer to as our “Code of Business Ethics and Conduct”, is available on our website at
group.nebius.com/governance/governance-documents. Any amendments to our code of ethics will be disclosed on our website
within five business days of the occurrence.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The following table summarizes the fees of Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V., our independent registered public

accounting firm, or its affiliates billed to us for 2024 and of Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust - Audit” (before
June 2022 named AO PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit), our previous registered public accounting firm for 2023, respectively:
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2023 2024
Audit Fees™™ (U2S l; i mion) 22
Other Audit related Fees® — 0.8
All Other Fees® 0.1 —
Total Fees 24 3.0

(1) Audit fees for 2024 and 2023 were for professional services provided for the interim review procedures and the audit of
our consolidated annual financial statements included in our Annual Reports on Form 20-F or services normally provided
in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal years.

(2) Other Audit related Fees are fees for assurance and other related services which were related to our continuing operations.

Not included in the table above are fees of $0.5 million billed by Reanda Audit and Assurance B.V. to us in connection
with their audit and all other services for the 2023 fiscal year and fees of $3.5 million billed by Joint-Stock Company
“Technologies of Trust - Audit” to us in connection with their audit of discontinued operations and other services for the
2024 fiscal year.

(3) All other fees relate to due diligence investigations, advisory services and professional trainings for employees.
Pre-Approval Policies for Non-Audit Services

The audit committee pre-approved all of the non-audit services performed for us by JSC “Technologies of Trust -
Audit” during 2023. There were no non-audit services performed by Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V.

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees.

Not applicable.
Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.

The consideration received by Nebius Group for the divestment that we completed in 2024 consisted of a
combination of cash and Class A shares. The divestment was implemented in two closings, on May 17, and July 12, 2024. At
the first closing, we received 67,632,122 Class A shares; at the second closing, we received 94,853,603 Class A shares. The

weighted-average cost per Class A share received was $14.1 (based on the deemed repurchase price of RUB 1,251.8 per Class
A share and applicable exchange rates as of the dates of each transfer).

Total number of shares Maximum number of Class A
Total number of Average purchased as part of shares that may yet be
Class A shares price per publicly announced purchased under the plan
Period purchased Class A share plans or programs or programs
May 2024 67,632,122 See above — —
July 2024 94,853,603 See above — —
Total 162,485,725 — _

Item 16F. Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.

We prepare consolidated financial statements under U.S. GAAP for public investor reporting purposes, and under
IFRS for Dutch regulatory purposes. We appointed Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit” (“Technologies of
Trust”), an independent registered public accounting firm, as the auditor of the Company’s U.S. GAAP consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. We appointed Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V. (“Reanda
Netherlands”), an independent registered public accounting firm, as the auditor of our IFRS consolidated financial statements
for fiscal years 2023 and 2022.
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In 2024, our Board of Directors, at the recommendation of its Audit Committee, proposed to our Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders that Reanda Netherlands be appointed as auditor of our consolidated financial statements to be
prepared under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2024. Reanda Netherlands was appointed as our
independent auditor by our Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on August 15, 2024.

Following the appointment of Reanda Netherlands at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, Technologies of Trust was
dismissed and ceased to be our independent auditor and our independent registered public accounting firm for our
consolidated financial statements included in our reports on Form 20-F.

Technologies of Trust’s audit reports issued in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 did not contain an adverse
opinion or a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to audit scope or accounting principles. Audit report
issued in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB on the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2023 included an explanatory paragraph referring to uncertainty about the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the subsequent interim period from January 1, 2024
through May 16, 2024, (i) there were no disagreements with Technologies of Trust on any matter of accounting principles or
practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to their
satisfaction, would have caused them to make reference thereto in their reports on the consolidated financial statements of
such years; and (ii) there were no “reportable events” as defined in Item 16F(a)(1)(v) of Form 20-F.

In accordance with Item 16F(a)(3) of Form 20-F, we have provided Technologies of Trust with a copy of this Item
16F disclosure on Form 20-F prior to its filling with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The Company
requested that Technologies of Trust furnish the Company with a letter addressed to the SEC stating whether or not
Technologies of Trust agrees with the above statements that are related to Technologies of Trust. A copy of Technologies of
Trust’s letter, dated April 30, 2025, is filed as Exhibit 16.1 to this Annual Report on Form 20-F.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 and in the subsequent interim period from January 1, 2024
through May 16, 2024, neither the Company nor anyone on its behalf consulted with Reanda Netherlands with respect to any
of the matters described in Item 16F(a)(2) of Form 20-F.

Item 16G. Corporate Governance.

The Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as well as related rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, requires foreign
private issuers, including our company, to comply with various corporate governance practices. In addition, Nasdaq rules
provide that foreign private issuers may follow home country practice in lieu of the Nasdaq corporate governance standards,
subject to certain exceptions and except to the extent that such exemptions would be contrary to U.S. federal securities laws.
The home country practices followed by our company in lieu of NASDAQ rules are described below:

e  We do not follow Nasdaq’s quorum requirements applicable to meetings of shareholders. In accordance with
Dutch law and generally accepted business practice, our articles of association do not provide quorum
requirements generally applicable to general meetings of shareholders.

e  We do not follow Nasdaq’s requirements regarding the provision of proxy statements for general meetings of
shareholders. Dutch law does not have a regulatory regime for the solicitation of proxies and the solicitation of
proxies is not a generally accepted business practice in the Netherlands. We do intend to provide shareholders
with an agenda and other relevant documents for the general meeting of shareholders.

We intend to take all actions necessary for us to maintain compliance as a foreign private issuer under the applicable
corporate governance requirements of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, the rules adopted by the SEC and Nasdaq’s listing standards.
As a Dutch company listed on a government recognized stock exchange, we are required to apply the provisions of the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code, or explain any deviation from the provisions of such code in our Dutch Annual Report required
by Dutch law.
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Item 16H. Mine Safety Disclosure.

Not applicable.

Item 16J. Insider Trading Policies.

We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures governing the purchase, sale, and other dispositions of our
securities by directors, senior management, and employees that are reasonably designed to promote compliance with
applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and applicable listing standards, which are filed as Exhibit 11 to this
Annual Report on Form 20-F.

Item 16K. Cybersecurity.

We recognize the importance of assessing, identifying, and managing material risks associated with cybersecurity
threats. These risks include, among other things, operational risks, the risk of intellectual property theft, fraud, harm to
employees or third parties with which we conduct business and violation of data privacy or security laws.

Identifying and assessing cybersecurity risk is integrated into our overall risk management systems and processes.
Cybersecurity risks related to our business are identified and addressed through a multi-faceted approach that consists of
robust information technology security, testing of our information systems and third-party assessments. To defend against,
detect and respond to cybersecurity incidents, we, among other things, conduct regular monitoring of our environment by our
internal security tools, conduct employee trainings, monitor emerging laws and regulations related to data protection and
information security and implement appropriate changes.

Consistent with our cybersecurity risk management policies and controls, we have processes in place for: (i) regular
vulnerability scanning (not on all environments) and technical monitoring of our systems, (ii) detection and analysis of
cybersecurity incidents that present risk of unauthorized access to company assets, (iii) containment, eradication and data
recovery (exist partly), and (iv) post-incident analysis. Such incident responses are overseen by leaders from our information
technology, finance, legal and compliance teams.

Cybersecurity events and data incidents are evaluated, assessed based on severity and prioritized for response and
remediation. Under our incident response plan and related policies, incidents are evaluated to determine materiality as well as
operational and business impact and reviewed for privacy impact. Our team of cybersecurity professionals then collaborate
with technical and business stakeholders to further analyze the risk to the company, and form detection, mitigation and
remediation strategies. As part of the above processes, we regularly engage external consultants to assess our internal
cybersecurity programs and compliance with applicable practices and standards.

Cybersecurity is an important part of our risk management processes and an area of focus for our board of directors
and management team. Our board of directors has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee for the oversight of risks
from cybersecurity threats. Members of the Audit Committee receive regular updates from senior management, including
leaders from our information technology, legal and compliance teams regarding matters of cybersecurity. This includes
existing and new cybersecurity risks, information on how management is addressing and/or mitigating those risks,
cybersecurity incidents (if any) and status on key information security initiatives.

Despite our cybersecurity efforts, we may not be successful in preventing or mitigating a cybersecurity incident that
could have a material adverse effect on our business. For a discussion of cybersecurity risks applicable to us, see the section
headed “Risk Factors”.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the board of directors of Nebius Group N.V.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Nebius Group N.V. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2024, and the related consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive income/(loss), cash flows and
shareholders’ equity, for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated
financial statements”). In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust —
Audit”, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31,
2024, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO) and our report dated April 30, 2025, expressed an adverse opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting.

We did not audit the consolidated financial statements of International Public Joint-Stock Company YANDEX, a subsidiary
that was divested on May 16, 2024, whose results from January 1, 2024 to May 16, 2024, are reflected as net income from
discontinued operations of USD 477.7 million net of tax. Those financial statements were audited by Joint-Stock Company
“Technologies of Trust — Audit”, whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts
included for International Public Joint-Stock Company YANDEX, is based solely on the report of Joint-Stock Company
“Technologies of Trust — Audit”.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit and the report of Joint-Stock
Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit” provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements
that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures
that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments.
The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Revenue recognition

Description of the Matter

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company offers a range of services which involve
contracts with customers. Determining the appropriate timing and method for recognizing revenue from these services
requires careful analysis of contract terms, performance obligations and variable components. Identifying distinct performance
obligations within contracts and determining when they are satisfied involves significant judgment. Estimating the progress
toward completion of performance obligations introduces uncertainty requiring auditor’s judgement and effort. Inaccurate
estimates can lead to either premature or delayed revenue recognition, affecting reported financial results.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding and tested controls over the Company’s process to identify performance obligations and
allocate the transaction price to those performance obligations, including controls over determining standalone selling prices
and services delivered. To test the Company’s judgments and conclusions related to the identification of performance
obligations, our audit procedures included, among others, obtaining an understanding of the Company’s various service
offerings and evaluating management’s conclusions regarding which were distinct. We tested a sample of customer contracts
to assess the identification of performance obligations, allocation of transaction prices, and timing of revenue recognition. We
tested a sample of billings to customers to assess evidence of delivery of services, compliance with contract terms and
accuracy of pricing.

Divestment of businesses

Description of the Matter

As described in Note 1 and Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements, the company divested businesses. The divested
businesses accounted for more than 95% of the Group’s consolidated revenues in 2023, and approximately 95% of the
Group’s consolidated assets and employees immediately prior to the divestment. The divestment was implemented in two
closings, the first one occurred on May 17, 2024 and the second one on July 12, 2024.

The accounting for these transactions required management to make complex judgments regarding the presentation,
classification, measurement, and disclosure in accordance with applicable accounting standards. Additionally, these
transactions had a material impact on the financial statements, further heightening their significance.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to discontinued operations is a critical
audit matter, are the complexity and judgement exercised by the Company’s management in assessing the accounting
treatment of this transaction, which in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment and effort in performing procedures and
evaluating audit evidence obtained relating to whether the transaction attributes were appropriately analysed and accounted for
by the Company’s management.

How We Addressed the Matter in Our Audit

We gained an understanding of the nature and purpose of the transaction through discussions with management and review of
supporting documentation, including contracts and board of director and stockholder meeting minutes. We tested the internal
controls over the identification, accounting, presentation and disclosure of the transactions. We evaluated the appropriateness
of the Company’s accounting policies and their application to the transactions. We analysed management’s judgments and
estimates to determine whether the transactions were appropriately presented, classified and measured. We tested the
completeness and accuracy of financial statement presentation and disclosures related to these transactions.

/s/ Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V.

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2024.
Amsterdam, the Netherlands

April 30, 2025
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the board of directors of Nebius Group N.V.
Adverse Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited internal control over financial reporting of Nebius Group N.V. ( “the Company”) as of December 31, 2024,
based on criteria established in Internal Control —Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weaknesses
described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the Company has not maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there
is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included in
management’s assessment:

e Management has identified a material weakness in internal controls over business applications across the new
information technology infrastructure.

e Management also has identified a material weakness in internal controls in connection with the revenue recognition
process.

e Management also has identified a material weakness in internal controls over fixed assets.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024, and the related
notes. These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our
audit of the 2024 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not affect our report dated April 30, 2025 which
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
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management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V.
Amsterdam, the Netherlands
April 30, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2024.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Nebius Group N.V.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Nebius Group N.V. (formerly known as Yandex N.V.) and its subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income/(loss), cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including
the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audits of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Substantial Doubt about the Company’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern Has Been Removed
Management and we previously concluded there was substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going

concern. As discussed in Note 1, management has subsequently taken certain actions, which management and we have
concluded remove that substantial doubt.

/s/ Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit”

Moscow, Russian Federation

April 26, 2024, except with respect to the matter that alleviated previous substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and except for the effects of discontinued operations and the change in reporting currency
discussed in Note 1 and the change in composition of reportable segments discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements, as to which the date is April 30, 2025.

We have served as the Company’s auditor from 2021 to 2024.
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NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $0.4 and $0.1, respectively
Investments in debt securities
Prepaid expenses
Interest receivable
VAT reclaimable
Other current assets
Current assets from discontinued operations
Total current assets
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Equity method investments
Investments in non-marketable equity securities
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Non-current assets from discontinued operations
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Debt, current portion
Income and non-income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Current liabilities from discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Other accrued liabilities
Non-current liabilities from discontinued operations
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Priority share: €1 par value; shares authorized: 1 and nil, respectively; shares issued: 1 and nil, respectively;
shares outstanding: 1 and nil, respectively
Ordinary shares: par value (Class A €0.01, Class B €0.10 and Class C €0.09); shares authorized (Class A:
500,000,000, Class B: 37,138,658 and Class C: 37,748,658); shares issued (Class A: 326,342,270, Class B:

35,698,674 and Class C: nil); shares outstanding (Class A: 325,783,607 and 200,054,926, respectively, Class B:

35,698,674, and Class C: nil)
Treasury shares at cost (Class A: 558,663 and 126,287,344, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to Nebius Group N.V.
Noncontrolling interests

Total shareholders’ equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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As of December 31,

Notes 2023 2024

4 116.1 2,449.6
4 4.1 13.1
5.1 —

16.6 22.9

— 21.6

5.4 8.1

4 16.7 18.0
3 3,289.5 —
3,453.5 2,533.3

7 128.2 847.0
8 18.7 45.0
9 4.2 4.9
5 6.4 6.4
5 90.7 90.7
10 59 7.8
4 11.6 13.5
3 5,035.9 —
5,301.6 1,015.3

8,755.1 3,548.6

4 56.5 235.5
12 6.8 6.1
9.2 59

4 6.9 16.5
3 3,791.0 —
3,870.4 264.0

8 9.7 30.3
0.2 0.6

3 1,580.9 —
1,590.8 30.9

5,461.2 294.9

11
13 - -
13

9.2 9.2
(19.6) (1,968.1)

1,812.2 2,016.7
(2,367.5) (22.1)

3,859.4 3,218.0

3,293.7 3,253.7

0.2 —

3,293.9 3,253.7

8,755.1 3,548.6




Table of Contents
NEBIUS GROUP N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024

Revenues 13.5 20.9 117.5
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues(!) 28.4 31.9 73.4

Product development(!) 58.3 112.3 129.7

Sales, general and administrative(1) 573 174.9 277.8

Depreciation and amortization 275 29.3 77.3
Total operating costs and expenses 171.5 348.4 558.2
Loss from operations (158.0) (327.5) (440.7)
Interest income 4 1.0 3.3 63.6
Income/(loss) from equity method investments (14.0) (10.9) 0.4
Other loss, net 4 (7.9) 4.3) (17.3)
Net loss before income taxes (178.9) (3394) (394.0)
Income tax expense 10 1.1 2.1 (0.5)
Net loss from continuing operations (180.0) (341.5) (393.5)
Discontinued operations:
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax 3 1,050.7 607.4 477.7
Income from revaluation of investment in equity securities held for sale 3 — — 59.0
Loss from disposal 3 — — (784.6)
Net income / (loss) from discontinued operations 1,050.7 607.4 (247.9)
Net income / (loss) 870.7 265.9 (641.4)
Net income from discontinued operations attributable to noncontrolling interests (125.1) (24.6) —
Net income / (loss) attributable to Nebius Group N.V. 745.6 241.3 (641.4)
Net loss from continuing operations per Class A and Class B share:
Basic 2 (0.49) (0.92) (1.40)
Diluted 2 (0.49) (0.92) (1.40)
Net income / (loss) from discontinued operations per Class A and Class B share:
Basic 2 2.52 1.57 (0.88)
Diluted 2 2.08 1.57 (0.88)
Net income / (loss) per Class A and Class B share:
Basic 2 2.03 0.65 (2.28)
Diluted 2 1.59 0.65 (2.28)
Weighted average number of Class A and Class B shares used in per share
computation:
Basic 2 368,020,254 370,839,686 281,005,226
Diluted 2 368,020,254 370,839,686 281,005,226

(1) These balances exclude depreciation and amortization expenses, which are presented separately, and include share-based compensation
expenses of:

Cost of revenues 0.2 0.2 0.3
Product development 8.8 20.9 10.1
Sales, general and administrative 0.6 10.2 46.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024

Net income/(loss) attributable to Nebius Group N.V. 745.6 241.3 (641.4)
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests from

. . . 125.1 24.6 —
discontinued operations
Net income/ (loss) 870.7 265.9 (641.4)
Foreign currency translation adjustment:

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of nil 105.3 (1,114.6) (83.2)

Reallocation adjustment, net of tax of nil 4 _ (102.5) 2,428.6

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 976.0 (951.2) 1,704.0

Total comprehensive (income)/loss attributable to noncontrolling
interests (131.7) 35.0 _
N VComprehensive income/(loss) attributable to Nebius Group 844.3 916.2) 1,704.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NEBIUS GROUP N.V.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Year ended December 31,
Notes 2022 2023 2024

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss from continuing operations (180.0) (341.5) (393.5)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation of property and equipment 7 26.9 279 75.4
Amortization of intangible assets 9 0.6 1.4 1.9
Operating lease right-of-use assets amortization and the lease liability accretion 8 2.0 7.5 9.0
Share-based compensation expense 14 9.6 314 56.6
Deferred income tax benefit 10 (2.5) (1.5) 2.9)
Foreign exchange (gains) / losses 4 (1.4) 2.8 17.5
Loss/(income) from equity method investments 5 14.0 10.9 0.4)
Provision for expected credit losses 4 1.1 0.4) 0.3
Other — 0.8 0.4)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities excluding the effect of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 2.7) 2.1 9.1)
Prepaid expenses (17.9) (8.5) (12.9)
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and non-income taxes payable 13.0 6.7 (31.3)
Deferred revenue 0.8 23 9.6
Other assets (5.0) (8.0) (3.7)
VAT reclaimable 1.8 1.0 2.2)
Interest receivable — — (21.6)
Net cash used in operating activities — continuing operations (139.7) (265.1) 307.7)
Net cash provided by operating activities — discontinued operations 836.7 1,094.9 5533
Net cash provided by operating activities 697.0 829.8 245.6
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment and intangible assets (14.6) (83.4) (807.7)
Proceeds from Divestment, net of cash of discontinued operations sold 3 — — 1,283.2
Proceeds from the sale of the remaining equity interest in Divested businesses 3 — — 184.2
Investments in debt securities — (10.0) —
Proceeds from maturity of debt securities — — 10.0
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 2.0 — 1.6
Other investing activities — — 0.5
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities — continuing operations (12.6) 93.4) 671.8
Net cash used in investing activities— discontinued operations (390.5) (1,118.7) (360.2)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (403.1) (1,212.1) 311.6
CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of equity securities 13 — — 700.0
Treasury shares issuance costs 13 — — (32.5)
Repayment of debt 12 _ _ ©7)
Repurchase of equity classified awards — — (10.0)
Net cash provided by financing activities — continuing operations — — 656.8
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities— discontinued operations (100.3) 375.6 168.7
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (100.3) 375.6 825.5
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash
equivalents (61.8) (102.6) (23.6)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents 131.8 (109.3) 1,359.1
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,068.7 1,200.5 1,091.2
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period 1,200.5 1,091.2 2,450.3
Less cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents of discontinued -
operations, end of period (909.7) (971.7)
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents of continuing 290.8 1195 2,450.3

operations, end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(In millions of U.S. dollars)

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024
RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND RESTRICTED
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,067.1 1,181.9 1,076.1
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1.6 18.6 15.1
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 1,068.7 1,200.5 1,091.2
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 1,181.9 1,076.1 2,449.6
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period 18.6 15.1 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period 1,200.5 1,091.2 2,450.3
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period — continuing operations 288.5 116.1 2,449.6
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period — continuing operations 23 34 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash equivalents, end of period- 290.8 1195 2.450.3
continuing operations . - [
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid for income taxes 0.2 2.0 4.8
Operating cash flows from operating leases 33 53 11.5
Non-cash operating activities:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations 11.1 15.0 40.5
Non-cash investing activities:
Acquired property and equipment and intangible assets not yet paid for 39 0.5 0.1

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

Priority Share Ordinary Shares Accumulated Non-redeemable Redeemable
Issued and Issued and Treasury Additional Other Total equity non- non-
Outstanding Outstanding shares at Paid-In  Comprehensive Retained attributable to controlling Total controlling
Shares Amount Shares Amount cost Capital _Income/(Loss) Earnings Nebius Group N.V. interests Equity interests

Balance as of January 1,
2022 1 — 358,703,352 9.2 (38.2) _ 1,861.6 (1,308.7) _2,869.2 3,393.1 186.9 _ 3,580.0 11.7
Share-based compensation
expense — — — — — 70.0 — — 70.0 — 70.0 —
Restructuring of convertible
debt (Note 12) — — — — — 176.6 — — 176.6 — 176.6 —
Issue of new shares (Note 13) — — 2,541,791 — — — — — — — — —
Exercise of share options — — 237,138 — — — — — — — — —
Tax withholding related to
exercise of share awards — — — — — (0.3) — — (0.3) — (0.3) —
Reissue of shares for options
exercised — — — — 18.6 (18.6) — — — — — —
Repurchase of share options — — — — — — — (1.3) (1.3) — (1.3) (6.7)
Net income — — — — — — — 745.6 745.6 125.1 870.7 —
Translation adjustment — — — — — — 98.7 — 98.7 6.6 105.3 —
Change in redemption value of
redeemable noncontrolling
interests — — — — — — — 4.6 4.6 — 4.6 (4.6)
Other — — — — — 1.8 — — 1.8 [€)) 0.8 (0.4)
Balance as of
December 31, 2022 1 — 361,482,281 9.2 (19.6)  2,091.1 (1,210.0) 3,618.1 4,488.8 317.6  _ 4,806.4 —
Share-based compensation
expense — — — — — 109.0 — — 109 — 109.0 —
Transaction with Uber (Note
3) — — — — — (320.2) (102.5) (422.7) (280.0) (702.7) —
Net income — — — — — — — 241.3 2413 24.6 265.9 —
Translation adjustment — — — — — — (1,055.0) (1,055.0) (59.6) (1,114.6) —
Other — — — — — (67.7) — — (67.7) (2.4) (70.1) —
Balance as of
December 31, 2023 1 — 361,482,281 9.2 (19.6)  1,812.2 (2,367.5) 3,859.4 3,293.7 02 3,2939 —
Priority share elimination (1) — — — — — — — — — —
Net loss — — — — — — —  (641.4) (641.4) — (641.4) -
Translation adjustment — — — — — — (83.2) — (83.2) — (83.2) —
Divestment (Note 3) — — (162,485,725) —  (2,286.4) — 2,428.6 — 142.2 — 1422 —
Sale of treasury shares, net of
issuance costs (Note 13) — — 33,333,334 — 471.7 195.8 — — 667.5 — 667.5 —
Transfer of shares to
noteholders (Note 13) — — 3,046,129 — 43.1 (43.1) — — — — — —
Contingent tax liability in
respect of shares remained in
treasury (Note 11) — — — — (180.9) — — — (180.9) — (180.9) —
Share-based compensation
expense — — — — — 65.8 — — 65.8 — 65.8 —
Repurchase of equity
classified awards — — — — (10.0) — — (10.0) (0.2) (10.2) —
Exercises of share-based
awards — — 283,870 — 4.0 (4.0) — — — — — —
Other — — 93,711 — — — — — — — — —
Balance as of
December 31, 2024 — — 235,753,600 9.2 (1,968.1)  2,016.7 (22.1) 3,218.0 3,253.7 — 3,253.7 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NEBIUS GROUPN.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022, 2023 AND 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Nebius Group N.V., the parent company (the “Company”), together with its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively
“Nebius Group” or the “Group”), is a technology company building full-stack infrastructure to service the high-growth global
Al industry, including large-scale GPU clusters, cloud platforms, and tools and services for developers. The Group also
operates additional businesses, currently including autonomous driving technologies (Avride), data-for-generative Al solutions
(Toloka) and education technology (“edtech”) (TripleTen).

On February 5, 2024, the Company announced that it had entered into a definitive agreement with a purchaser
consortium to sell (the “Divestment”) all of the Group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain international
markets (the “Divested Businesses”). The Divested Businesses accounted for more than 95% of the Group’s consolidated
revenues in 2023, and approximately 95% of the Group’s consolidated assets and employees immediately prior to the
Divestment. The Divestment was implemented in two closings. The first closing occurred on May 17, 2024, in which the
Company sold a controlling stake in the Divested Businesses of 68% to the purchaser for consideration consisting of a
combination of the cash equivalent of RUB 237.5 billion less transaction expenses and other applicable adjustments, payable
in Chinese Yuan (“CNH”), and 67.6 million of the Company’s Class A shares. The Company received the cash payment in the
amount of CNH 17.8 billion or approximately $2.4 billion on May 16, 2024. The Company held a remaining minority interest
in the Divested Businesses between the first and the second closings.

The second and final closing occurred on July 12, 2024, at which the Company sold its remaining stake in the
Divested Businesses. The consideration at the second closing was paid in a combination of cash of CNH 1.3 billion
(approximately $0.2 billion) and 94.9 million Class A shares. The total amount of cash proceeds received in the transaction
amounted to $2.6 billion, and the total number of consideration shares received was 162.5 million Class A shares. The
Divestment represented the Company’s exit from Russia, a strategic shift that had a significant effect on the Company’s
operations and financial results and, as such, the Divested Businesses are reported as discontinued operations. See Note 3 —
“Acquisitions, Disposals and Discontinued Operations” for further detail.

Nebius Group N.V. was incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands in June 2004 and is the holding company of a
number of subsidiaries globally. The Company changed its name from Yandex N.V. to Nebius Group N.V. in August 2024,
following the completion of the Divestment.

Basis of Presentation and Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Such consolidated financial statements were prepared
assuming that the Group will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business. The result of operations, assets and liabilities and cash flows of the Divested
Businesses are presented as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for all periods
presented.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Nebius Group N.V. and the entities it controls. All
inter-company transactions and balances within the Group have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated subsidiaries are included in the consolidated balance sheets as a separate
component of equity. The Group reports consolidated net income/(loss) inclusive of both the Company’s and the
noncontrolling interests’ share, as well as amounts of consolidated net income/(loss) attributable to each of the Company and
the noncontrolling interests.
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NEBIUS GROUPN.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022, 2023 AND 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

Deconsolidation and Discontinued Operations

The Company uses deconsolidation accounting upon the loss of control of a subsidiary generally determined to be
less than 50% owned. Upon deconsolidation, the Company will no longer present the subsidiary’s assets, liabilities, and results
of operations in its consolidated financial statements. If the Company owns more than 20% but less than 50% the Company
will continue to report under the equity method, in case significant influence over the investee is maintained.

The Company considers the provisions of ASC 205 “Discontinued operations” and analyzes whether the disposed
portion of the Company’s operations qualifies as held-for-sale and presentation of discontinued operations. In the period that a
discontinued operation is classified as held for sale and for all prior periods presented, the assets, liabilities and operations of
the component are presented separately in the Group’s consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of operations.
Prior period financial statements and the accompanying notes have been restated for the presentation of discontinued
operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates relate to useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets, fair value of financial instruments, fair values of share-based awards, recoverability of
deferred tax assets, uncertain tax positions, and tax provisions. The Group bases its estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of Nebius Group N.V. is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of the Group’s other
businesses, including Divested Businesses, which are incorporated in other countries is generally the respective local currency.
Following the completion of the Divestment, the Group changed the reporting currency from the Russian Ruble to the U.S.
dollar, which better reflects the geography of operations and key focus markets of the continuing businesses. The change in
reporting currency was applied retrospectively. Consolidated financial statements for all periods and the accompanying notes
thereto presented have been recast into U.S. dollars as if the change had occurred on January 1, 2022. Equity components
were translated using approximate historical exchange rates for the periods before January 1, 2022.

The U.S. dollar is currently the Company’s reporting currency. All balance sheet items are translated into U.S. dollars
based on the exchange rate on the balance sheet date and revenue and expenses are translated at the monthly weighted average
rates of exchange. Translation gains and losses are recorded as foreign currency translation adjustments in other
comprehensive income/(loss). Foreign exchange transaction gains and losses are included in other income/(loss), net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Certain Risks and Concentrations

Prior to the Divestment, the Group’s principal business activities, through its subsidiaries, were in the Russian
Federation. The ongoing geopolitical situation created critical risks for the Group and its respective operations. After
successful completion of the Divestment, the Group’s exposure to geopolitical risks and uncertainties significantly decreased.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily
of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and accounts receivable. The Group’s treasury policy addresses the level of credit
exposure by working with different geographically diversified banking institutions, subject to their conformity to an
established minimum credit rating.
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NEBIUS GROUPN.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022, 2023 AND 2024
(in millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

Significant Customers

The Group’s retained businesses operate primarily in the Netherlands, the United States, and to a lesser extent in
Israel and other international markets. Additionally, the Group owns a proprietary data center located in Finland. A significant
portion of the Group’s revenues is derived from the core Al infrastructure business and to a lesser extent from Toloka business
of providing data solutions for Al model training, evaluation and development, as well as from fees collected from users of
TripleTen’s edtech platform. A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue is collected on a prepaid basis.

Due to the early development stage of the continuing businesses, the Group experiences concentration of revenues
from individual customers. The following customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Customer A & & 21%
Customer B 20% 13% 17%
Customer C 54% 31% &

* Customer did not represent 10% or more of revenue

Customer B and C accounted for 33% and 19% of accounts receivable, net, respectively, as of December 31, 2023.
Customer A and B accounted for 50% and 10% of accounts receivable, net as of December 31, 2024.

Supplier Concentration

Certain capital expenditures can be made from a limited number of suppliers. One supplier accounted for 73% of
total capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the control of promised goods or services is transferred to the Group’s customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The
Group identifies its contracts with customers and all performance obligations within those contracts. The Group then
determines the transaction price and allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations based on their standalone
selling prices within the Group’s contracts with customers, recognizing revenue when, or as, the Group satisfies its
performance obligations. The Group excludes from the measurement of its revenues any tax collected on behalf of third
parties.

The Group’s principal revenue streams and their respective accounting treatments are discussed below:
Revenues from the Nebius cloud platform

The Group operates a sophisticated cloud platform providing high-performance computing (HPC), managed
Kubernetes services, object storage, and scalable GPU-powered solutions, specifically designed to train intensive Al
workloads. Revenue from the cloud platform is recognized as services are provided, in accordance with customer contract due
dates and contract model (on-demand “pay-as-you-go” model or “reserved capacity” model). Advance payments received by
the Group from customers for services not yet rendered are recorded as deferred revenue on the Group’s consolidated balance
sheets and recognized as revenue in the period when services are provided. The Group may accept a lower consideration than
the amount promised per the contract for certain revenue transactions and certain customers may receive cash-based
incentives or credits, which are accounted for as variable consideration when estimating the amount of revenue to recognize.
The Group believes that there will be no significant changes to the estimates of variable consideration.
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Revenues from Toloka data solutions for AI models training, evaluation and development

Toloka offers data for Generative Al solutions and projects by leveraging both Al-powered labeling and human
expert input.

The Group recognizes revenues from data solutions as services are transferred to the customers, and in accordance
with due dates of a customer contract. For managed contracts, which stipulate the end-to-end project management, where
Toloka oversees the entire process, from task design to quality control and delivery, revenue is recognized proportionally
based on the volume of services delivered over the contract duration.

The Group may accept lower consideration than the amount promised per the contract for certain revenue
transactions and certain customers may receive cash-based incentives or credits, which are accounted for as variable
consideration when estimating the amount of revenue to recognize. The Group believes that there will be no significant
changes to the estimates of variable consideration.

Revenues from TripleTen educational technology services

The Group provides educational services to individual customers (students) through boot camps and project-based
learning opportunities by providing online educational products. These services allow students to graduate with professional
certificates and portfolios to proceed with building a career in tech.

The Group recognizes revenue in accordance with principles set in ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. For TripleTen, the performance obligations include providing students with access to educational content, such as
lessons, materials, and resources. The fees for educational courses are allocated to the performance obligation of providing the
course to the student, which is typically the fixed price at inception of the course. Revenue is recognized proportionally over
the duration of the course provided to a student, including course extensions. Advance payments received by the Group from
customers for services not yet rendered are recorded as deferred revenue in the Group’s consolidated balance sheets and
recognized as revenue in the period services are provided.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues primarily consists of costs of co-location of data center facilities, the electricity, utility and
maintenance costs in data centers, direct costs of expert contractors and crowdsourcing, and other related expenses. The
Group’s owned Finland data center together with rented data center facilities are significant components of the Group’s cost of
revenues.

Product Development Expenses

Product development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs incurred for the development of, enhancement to
and maintenance of the Group’s technology platforms. Product development expenses also include rent and utilities
attributable to office spaces occupied by development staff.

The Group’s development expenditures, including costs to develop software products, are expensed before
technological feasibility is reached. Technological feasibility is typically reached shortly before the release of such products
and, as a result, development costs that meet the criteria for capitalization were not material for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024. Product development expenses related to relatively minor upgrades, enhancements and maintenance are
expensed as incurred.

Advertising and Promotional Expenses

The Group expenses advertising and promotional costs in the period in which they are incurred. For the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024, advertising and promotional expenses totaled approximately $16.8, $15.6, and
$25.3, respectively.

Social Security Contributions

The Group makes contributions to governmental pension, medical and social funds on behalf of its employees. These
contributions are expensed as incurred. These contributions are subject to changes in national laws and
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regulations, which the Group monitors for compliance. In the Netherlands the amount is calculated based on rates from
16.76% to 21.76%. The rates for 2024 for other companies range from 5.33% to 33.80%; income thresholds are usually
applied.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has historically granted equity awards to the Group’s employees, directors and consultants in respect
of the Company’s Class A ordinary shares, including restricted share units (“RSUs”) and performance share units (“PSUs”); as
well as equity awards in respect of individual business units or subsidiaries (“Business Unit Equity Awards”), including
synthetic options (“Synthetic Options”) (collectively, “Share-Based Awards”).

The fair value of RSUs is measured based on the fair market values of the underlying shares on the dates of grant.
The fair value of PSUs is measured using the Monte-Carlo pricing model. The Group estimates the fair value at the grant date
of Synthetic Options and other Business Unit Equity Awards that are expected to vest using the Black-Scholes-Merton
(“BSM”) pricing model or the Monte-Carlo pricing model and recognizes the fair value on a straight-line basis over the
requisite service period. These models incorporate assumptions such as stock price volatility, contractual terms, maturity, risk
free rates and expected dividends. The expense per RSU, Synthetic Option and other Business Unit Equity Award is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.

The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of Share-Based Awards represent the Group’s best estimates, but
these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. As a result, if factors change or
the Group uses different assumptions, the Group’s share-based compensation expense could be materially different in the
future. The Group accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

Cancellation of an award accompanied by the concurrent grant of a replacement award is accounted for as a
modification of the terms of the cancelled award (“modification awards”). The compensation costs associated with
modification awards are recognized if either the original vesting condition or the new vesting condition has been achieved.
Such compensation costs cannot be less than the grant-date fair value of the original award. The incremental compensation
cost is measured as the excess of the fair value of the replacement award over the fair value of the cancelled award at the
cancellation date. Therefore, in relation to the modification awards, the Group recognizes share-based compensation over the
vesting periods of the new awards, which comprises (1) the amortization of the incremental portion of share-based
compensation over the remaining vesting term and (2) any unrecognized compensation cost of the original award, using either
the original term or the new term, whichever is higher for each reporting period.

Income Taxes

Current provision for income tax is calculated as the estimated amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxing authorities based on the taxable income for the period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities
and their respective tax bases and for carryforwards. Deferred tax assets, including those for operating loss carryforwards, and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the deferred tax asset
or liability is expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred tax expense represents the change during the period in the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to the amount that is more
likely than not to be realized. In making such a determination, management considers all available evidence, including future
reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, limitations and enacted changes to the tax
legislation in respective jurisdictions, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations.

The Group accounts for uncertainty in tax positions recognized in the consolidated financial statements by
recognizing a tax benefit from a tax position when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon
examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. For those tax
positions that meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, the Group recognizes tax benefit measured as the largest
amount with a realization possibility exceeding 50 percent. Income tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold at the effective date to be recognized.
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Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

Comprehensive income/(loss) is defined as the change in equity during a period from non-owner sources.
U.S. GAAP requires the reporting of comprehensive income/(loss) in addition to net income/(loss). Comprehensive
income/(loss) of the Group includes net income/(loss) and foreign currency translation adjustments. For the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 total comprehensive income/(loss) included, in addition to net income/(loss), the effect of
translating the financial statements of the Group’s legal entities from these entities’ functional currencies into U.S. dollars.

Accumulated other comprehensive loss of $2,367.5 and $22.1 as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively,
consists solely of cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment.

In 2024, as a result of the Divestment and the change in reporting currency, the Group reclassified the accumulated
other comprehensive loss totaling $2,428.6 from equity to earnings.

Noncontrolling Interests

Interests held by third parties in consolidated majority-owned subsidiaries are presented as noncontrolling interests,
which represent the noncontrolling stockholders’ interests in the underlying net assets of the Group’s consolidated majority-
owned subsidiaries. Noncontrolling interests that are not redeemable are reported in the equity section of the consolidated
balance sheets. The net income/(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests reflects the share of the net income/(loss) of the
Group’s consolidated subsidiaries, in which there are noncontrolling interests.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments carried on the balance sheets such as cash and cash equivalents, short-
term deposits, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities approximate their respective
fair values due to the short-term nature of those instruments.

Fair value considerations related to the business combination entered into during the reporting period and other
financial instruments are disclosed in Note 3 and Note 6, respectively.

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants. A three-tier fair value hierarchy is established as a basis for considering
such assumptions and for inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value:

Level 1—observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2—inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3— unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activities.

Term Deposits

Bank deposits are classified as cash and cash equivalents if the original maturities are three months or less. Bank
deposits, that have original maturities of longer than three months, are classified as (i) current term deposits if they are
repayable in less than twelve months; and (ii) non-current term deposits if they are repayable in more than one year.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Group maintains an allowance for credit losses for expected uncollectible accounts receivable, which is recorded
as an offset to the respective receivable, and changes in such amounts are classified as sales, general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. The Group determined that the expected loss rates should be calculated
using the historical loss rates adjusted for current market conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future
economic conditions such as changes in inflation rates to inform adjustments to historical loss data. The historical rates are
calculated for each of the aging categories used for pooling receivables. To determine the
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collected portion of each bucket, the collection time of each receivable is identified. To determine the appropriate allowance
for expected credit losses, the Group considers certain historical information and credit quality indicators, such as aging,
collection history, and creditworthiness of debtors. The Group assesses collectability by reviewing accounts receivable on a
collective basis where similar characteristics exist and on an individual basis when the Group identifies specific customers
with known disputes or collectability issues.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over their useful lives.
Capital expenditures incurred before property and equipment are ready for their intended use are capitalized as assets not yet
in use.

The depreciable amount of property and equipment is its cost less its residual (salvage) value (if applicable).
Depreciation is computed under the straight-line method using estimated useful lives as follows:

Estimated useful lives

Server and network equipment 4.0 years
Infrastructure systems and equipment 3.0-10.0 years
Office furniture and equipment 3.0 years
Buildings 20.0 years
Other property and equipment 2.0-5.0 years

Land is not depreciated.
Depreciation of assets included in assets not yet in use commences when they are ready for the intended use.
Leases

The Company leases co-location space at data center facilities and, to a lesser extent, corporate offices, all of which
are operating leases.

The Group determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception by assessing whether the arrangement
contains an identified asset and whether it has the right to control the identified asset. Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent
the Group’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to make
lease payments arising from the lease. Lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present
value of future lease payments over the lease term. ROU assets are based on the measurement of the lease liability and also
include any lease payments made prior to or on lease commencement and exclude lease incentives and initial direct costs
incurred, as applicable.

To determine the present value of its lease payments, the Group utilizes the interest rate implicit in the lease
agreement. If the implicit interest rate in the Group’s leases is unknown, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate based
on the information available at the lease commencement date in determining the present value of future lease payments. The
Group gives consideration to its credit risk, term of the lease and total lease payments and adjusts for the impacts of collateral,
as necessary, when calculating its incremental borrowing rates. The lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the
lease when it is reasonably certain the Group will exercise any such options. Lease costs for the Group’s operating leases are
recognized on a straight-line basis within operating expenses over the lease term.

The Group determines lease payments related to the use of the underlying leased assets at lease commencement and
lease modification dates. Based on the terms of the individual lease agreement, such lease payments may represent fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) or variable lease payments.
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The Group separates its leases into leases of office spaces and data center facilities by their class of underlying assets.
For both classes the Group separately accounts for lease and non-lease components based on the identifiable standalone price
of such non-lease components and, as a result, allocates part of lease contract consideration to the non-lease component and
accounts for it separately. The Group has also elected to not apply the recognition requirement to any leases within its existing
classes of assets with a term of 12 months or less.

A change to the terms and conditions of a contract that results in a change in the scope of or the consideration for a
lease is assessed by the Group to determine whether the modified contract contains a lease. If the modification results in a
separate contract, the Group continues to account for the unmodified original contract and a separate new contract arising
from the modification. If the modification is not a separate contract, the Group remeasures the corresponding ROU asset and
lease liability, adjusted for the circumstances of the particular contract and its modification. In the event of a full or a partial
termination, any difference between the changes in lease liability and ROU asset is recognized in profit or loss at the effective
date of the modification.

Equity Method Investments

Investments in the stock of entities in which the Group can exercise significant influence but does not own a majority
equity interest or otherwise control are accounted for under the equity method. The Group records its share of the results of
these companies within the income/(loss) from equity method investments line on the consolidated statements of operations or
as an adjustment to equity to reflect the Group’s share in the changes of the investee’s capital.

Following the loss of significant influence over equity method investments without readily determinable fair values
the Group accounts for these investments under the measurement alternative at its cost less impairment.

The Group reviews its equity method investments for other-than-temporary impairment whenever events or changes
in business circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the investment may not be fully recoverable. Investments
identified as having an indication of impairment are subject to further analysis to determine if the impairment is other-than-
temporary and this analysis requires estimating the fair value of the investment. The determination of fair value of the
investment involves considering factors such as current economic and market conditions, the operating performance of the
company including current earnings trends and forecasted cash flows, and other company and industry specific
information. Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary, an impairment charge is recorded to other
income/(loss), net in the consolidated statements of operations and a new cost basis in the investment is established.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase consideration over the Group’s share of fair value of the net assets of
acquired businesses. During the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Group may
apply adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed with a corresponding offset to goodwill. Goodwill is not
subject to amortization but is tested for impairment at least annually.

The Group performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether further impairment testing on goodwill is
necessary. If the Group believes, as a result of its qualitative assessment, that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, a quantitative impairment test is required. Otherwise, no further testing is
required. The quantitative impairment test is performed by comparing the carrying value of each reporting unit’s net assets
(including allocated goodwill) to the fair value of those net assets. If the reporting unit’s carrying amount is greater than its
fair value, the Group recognizes a goodwill impairment charge for the amount by which the carrying value of a reporting unit
exceeds its fair value.

The Group recognized goodwill impairment in the amount of nil, $13.7 and nil for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. All of the Group’s historical goodwill and acquisition-related intangible assets were
directly attributable to the Divested Businesses and included in the non-current assets of discontinued operations in the
Group’s consolidated balance sheets. Goodwill impairment and acquisition-related
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intangible assets amortization are presented within results of discontinued operations in the Group’s consolidated statement of
operations.

Impairment of Long-lived Assets Other Than Goodwill

The Group evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of the assets may not be recoverable. When such a determination
is made, management’s estimate of undiscounted cash flows to be generated by the assets is compared to the carrying value of
the assets to determine whether impairment is indicated. If impairment is indicated, the amount of the impairment recognized
in the consolidated financial statements is determined by estimating the fair value of the assets and recording a loss for the
amount by which the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value. This fair value is usually determined based on estimated
discounted cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07 "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable
Segment Disclosures" which expands annual and interim disclosure requirements for reportable segments, primarily through
enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning January 1,
2024, and for interim periods beginning January 1, 2025, with early adoption permitted.

The Group adopted the standard effective January 1, 2024.
Effect of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Effective

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09 "Income Taxes (Topics 740): Improvements to Income Tax
Disclosures" to expand the disclosure requirements for income taxes, specifically related to the rate reconciliation and income
taxes paid. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning January 1, 2025, with early adoption permitted. The Group
is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this ASU will have on the consolidated financial statements.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03 "Income Statement: Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense
Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40)" to improve the disclosures about an entity’s expenses. Upon adoption, it will
be required to disclose in the notes to the financial statements a disaggregation of certain expense categories included within
the expense captions on the face of the income statement. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning January 1
2027, with early adoption permitted. The standard can be applied either prospectively or retrospectively. The Group is
currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of this ASU will have on the consolidated financial statements.

No other recent accounting pronouncements were issued by FASB or the SEC that are believed by management to
have a material impact on the Group’s present or future consolidated financial statements.

2. NET INCOME/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income/(loss) per Class A and Class B ordinary share from continuing and discontinued operations for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 is computed on the basis of the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding using the two class method. Basic net income/(loss) from continuing and discontinued operations and per share is
computed using the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period and including vested restricted
share units and shares to be delivered as part of the restructuring of the Company’s convertible notes in June 2022. Diluted net
income/(loss) per ordinary share from continuing and discontinued operations is computed using the dilutive effect of Share-
Based Awards calculated using the “treasury stock” method and the dilutive effect of convertible debt restructuring under the
if-converted method.

The computation of the diluted net income/(loss) per Class A share from continuing and discontinued operations
assumes the conversion of Class B shares, while the diluted net income/(loss) per Class B share from continuing and
discontinued operations does not assume the conversion of those shares. The net income/(loss) per share from continuing and
discontinued operations amounts are the same for Class A and Class B shares because the holders
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of each class are legally entitled to equal per share distributions whether through dividends or in liquidation. In compliance
with ASC 260-10-45-18 the Group uses loss from continuing operations as the control number in determining whether those
potential common shares are dilutive or antidilutive. The number of Share-Based Awards excluded from the diluted net
income/(loss) per ordinary share from continuing and discontinued operations computation, because their effect was anti-
dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, was 14,200,679, 6,005,247 and 4,026,852 respectively.

In June 2022, the Group completed the repurchase of 93.2% in aggregate principal amount of the Group’s 0.75%
convertible notes due March 3, 2025 (the “Notes”) and accounted for the modification of all the Notes. The Group has to date
repurchased more than 99% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes originally issued (Note 12). The consideration for such
repurchase consisted of cash in an amount equal to 70% of the principal amount of the Notes, plus the delivery of a fixed
number of Class A shares per Note (the “Settlement Shares”). An aggregate of 2,694,657 Class A shares originally issuable
upon conversion of the Notes were excluded from the diluted net income/(loss) per ordinary share from continuing and

discontinued operations computation, because their effect was anti-dilutive.

The components of basic and diluted net (loss)/income per share from continuing and discontinued operations were

as follows:

Net (loss)/income from continuing operations, allocated for basic
Reallocation of net (loss)/income from continuing operations as a
result of conversion of Class B to Class A shares
Reallocation of net (loss)/income from continuing operations to
Class B shares
Net (loss)/income from continuing operations, allocated for
diluted
Net (loss)/income from discontinuing operations, allocated for
basic
Reallocation of net (loss)/income from discontinuing operations as a
result of conversion of Class B to Class A shares
Reallocation of net (loss)/income from discontinuing operations to
Class B shares
Effect of convertible debt restructuring, net of tax
Net (loss)/income from discontinued operations, allocated for
diluted
Weighted average ordinary shares used in per share computation —
basic
Effect of:
Conversion of Class B to Class A shares
Weighted average ordinary shares used in per share computation —
diluted
Net loss per share from continuing operations attributable to ordinary
shareholders:

Basic

Diluted
Net income/(loss) per share from discontinued operations attributable
to ordinary shareholders:

Basic

Diluted
Net income/(loss) per share attributable to ordinary shareholders:

Basic
Diluted

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
(162.5) (17.5) (308.6) 32.9) (343.5) (50.0)
(17.5) — (32.9) — (50.0) —
— 0.5 — (0.1) — —
(180.0) (17.0) (341.5) (33.0) (393.5) (50.0)
835.8 89.8 526.7 56.1 (216.4) 31.5)
89.8 — 56.1 — (31.5) —
— (15.8) — (0.1) — 0.5
(159.2) — — _ _ -
766.4 74.0 582.8 56.0 (247.9) (31.0)
332,321,580 35,698,674 335,141,012 35,698,674 245,306,552 35,698,674
35,698,674 — 35,698,674 — 35,698,674 —
368,020,254 35,698,674 370,839,686 35,698,674 281,005,226 35,698,674
(0.49) (0.49) (0.92) (0.92) (1.40) (1.40)
(0.49) (0.49) (0.92) (0.92) (1.40) (1.40)
2.52 2.52 1.57 1.57 (0.88) (0.88)
2.08 2.08 1.57 1.57 (0.88) (0.88)
2.03 2.03 0.65 0.65 (2.28) (2.28)
1.59 1.59 0.65 0.65 (2.28) (2.28)
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3. ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Disposal of businesses in Russia and certain international markets in 2024

As disclosed in Note 1, in 2024 the Company sold all of the Group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in
certain international markets. The transaction was implemented in two closings. The first closing occurred on May 17, 2024,
at which the Company sold a controlling stake of 68% in the Divested Businesses; the second closing occurred on July 12,
2024, at which the Company sold the remaining stake. The Divestment represents a strategic shift in the Company’s
operations, and as such the Divested Businesses are reported as discontinued operations as defined by ASC 205-20-45.

In accordance with ASC 810-10-40, “Consolidation — Overall — Derecognition - Deconsolidation of a Subsidiary or
Derecognition of a Group of Assets,” a parent company must deconsolidate a subsidiary as of the date the parent ceases to
have a controlling interest in that subsidiary and recognize a gain or loss in net income at that time. The Company
deconsolidated the disposal group from its consolidated financial statements on May 17, 2024, after the first closing when the
Company lost a controlling interest in the Divested Businesses and recognized a loss on the disposal of discontinued
operations totaling $784.6. Loss from disposal represents both the impairment of the held-for-sale component in the amount of
$501.7, the result of the deconsolidation in the amount of $270.4 as of the date of the first closing of the Divestment and
transaction costs to sell the divested component in the amount of $12.5.

In connection with the deconsolidation, the Company reclassified the accumulated other comprehensive loss from
equity to earnings as a result of the change in reporting currency and attributable to the Divested Businesses. Prior to and in
anticipation of the first closing, the Company effected the sale of approximately 14.1 million shares (or 4% of the outstanding
shares) of IPJC Yandex to another subsidiary within the disposal perimeter for use in the equity incentive pool of the disposal
perimeter, in consideration for approximately $208.0 in cash. The transaction did not result in a change of economic
ownership of disposed business prior to the Divestment transaction.

The following table provides details of the consideration received for the Divestment:

Fair value of

Class A shares Cash part of
Class A shares received consideration Total
1st closing 67,632,122 931.1 2,458.1 3,389.2
2nd closing 94,853,603 1,355.3 184.2 1,539.5
Total 162,485,725 2,286.4 2,642.3 4,928.7

As of May 17, 2024 the Group deconsolidated $ 1,174.9 of cash and cash equivalents related to Discontinued
Operations.

The following is a summary of the assets and liabilities that were deconsolidated effective May 17, 2024, as a result
of the first closing of the Divestment, and a reconciliation of the assets and liabilities disclosed in the notes to financial
statements that are presented as discontinued operations on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023:
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ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Sales financing receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventory
Funds receivable
VAT reclaimable
Other current assets
Total current assets from discontinued operations
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Content assets
Goodwill
Equity method investments
Investments in non-marketable equity securities
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Total non-current assets from discontinued operations
TOTAL ASSETS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Debt, current portion
Income and non-income taxes payable
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities from discontinued operations
Debt, non-current portion
Deferred tax liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities
Other accrued liabilities

Total non-current liabilities from discontinued operations

TOTAL LIABILITIES FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
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December 31, 2023

960.0
948.1
244.4
192.3
236.7
145.6
313.5
248.9

3,289.5
2,029.6
377.4
3117
296.9
1,592.6
1.7

1.6
104.5
319.9

5,035.9

8,325.4

2,097.7
1,019.5
427.0
246.8
3,791.0
551.2
127.8
275.2
307.7
319.0

1,580.9

5,371.9
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The Company reclassified the following operations to discontinued operations for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

Revenues 7,916.8 9,344.8 3,848.5
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of revenues 3,498.4 4,193.7 1,588.8

Product development 1,015.7 1,099.5 433.6

Sales, general and administrative 2,522.9 2,878.1 1,143.4

Depreciation and amortization 436.4 440.5 89.3

Goodwill impairment - 84.3 1.6
Total operating costs and expenses 7,473.4 8,696.1 3,256.7
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations 443.4 648.7 591.8
Interest income 68.7 62.7 33.70
Interest expense (51.2) (122.6) (80.60)
Gain on restructuring of convertible debt 177.4 — —
Effect of the News and Zen deconsolidation 629.3 — —
Income/(loss) from equity method investments 0.2 (6.4) (0.5)
Other income/(loss), net 134.4 264.1 13.2
Income/(loss) from discontinued operations before income tax expense 1,402.2 846.5 557.6
Income tax expense 351.5 239.1 79.9
Net income from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,050.7 607.4 477.7

Results of discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 were consolidated until the date of the first
closing of the Divestment, at which the Company sold a controlling stake in the Divested Businesses. The Group ceased
depreciation and amortization of long-lived assets related to discontinued operations as of March 7, 2024, the date of
shareholder approval of the Divestment, upon satisfaction of held-for-sale criteria.

Following the first closing of the Divestment, the Company held a remaining interest of approximately 28% in the
Divested Businesses. This investment was subject to revaluation due to RUB / USD exchange rate fluctuations. Result of
revaluation of the investment in these businesses in the amount of $59.0 was presented within Net income/(loss) from
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations.

Substantially all of the Group’s consolidated debt before the Divestment was assumed by the buyer. As a
consequence, interest expense incurred in all periods presented was allocated to the results of discontinued operations.

After the Divestment, the Company does not have any continuing involvement in the Divested Businesses.
Acquisitions in 2023
Acquisition of Uber’s remaining interest in MLU B.V.

On April 21, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement with Uber NL Holdings 1 B.V. (“Uber”), a subsidiary of
Uber Technologies Inc., and on the same day acquired Uber’s entire remaining 29% interest in MLU B.V., a mobility joint
venture, for consideration in cash of $702.5.

In order to account for the equity ownership changes contemplated by the transaction, the Group reduced the amount
of the non-controlling interest and additional paid-in capital by $280.0 and $320.2, respectively, and increased
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the amount of the accumulated other comprehensive loss by $102.5 (Note 4). After the closing date, no earnings are allocated
to the noncontrolling interest.

The transaction related to the Divested Businesses.

Acquisitions and disposals in 2022

News and Zen divestment and acquisition of Delivery Club

On August 22, 2022, the Group entered into a binding agreement with VK to sell its news aggregation platform and
Zen, the Group’s infotainment service, (together, “News and Zen”) as well as to acquire 100% of the shares of Delivery Club
LLC (“Delivery Club”), one of the leading food and grocery delivery services in Russia. On September 8, 2022, the Group
completed its acquisition of 100% of Delivery Club and on September 12, 2022, the Group completed the sale of News and
Zen. The transaction marked a strategic decision to exit from media businesses (other than entertainment streaming). The
Group accounted for the acquisition as a business combination.

The non-cash consideration transferred to acquire Delivery Club amounted to $638.7 (RUB 38,620 at exchange rate
as of September 12, 2022), representing the fair value of News and Zen. As a result of the News and Zen deconsolidation, a
gain in the amount of $629.3 (RUB 38,051 at exchange rate as of September 12, 2022) was recognized for the difference
between carrying value and fair value of the net assets of the News and Zen businesses.

The goodwill of $277.8 (RUB 24,919 at exchange rate as of December 31, 2023) related to the Divested Businesses.
Results of Delivery Club after acquisition are included in the Group’s net income from discontinued operations in the
consolidated statement of operations and goodwill were included in non-current assets of discontinued operations in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023.

The transaction related to the Divested Businesses.

4. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DETAILS

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 consisted of the following:

2023 2024
Cash 75.2 648.1
Cash equivalents:
Bank deposits — 1,301.0
Money market funds 40.0 500.4
Other cash equivalents 0.9 0.1
Total cash and cash equivalents 116.1 2,449.6

Current expected credit losses for cash and cash equivalents were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2024. All of the Group’s cash is held at financial institutions that management believes to be of high credit quality.

Allowance for current expected credit losses on trade receivables

Movements in the allowance for current expected credit losses on trade receivables for the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2024 were as follows:

2023 2024
Balance at beginning of period 0.4 0.4
Current period provision for expected credit losses 0.7 1.0
Write-off (0.7) (1.3)
Balance at the end of the period 0.4 0.1
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Other Current Assets

Other current assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 consisted of the following:

2023 2024
Security and guarantee deposits for next 12 months 7.2 6.4
Prepaid income tax 3.1 3.1
Deferred expenses — 2.7
Prepaid other taxes 0.4 1.8
Funds receivable 1.3 1.6
Restricted cash 2.3 0.6
Loans granted to employees 0.7 —
Other 1.7 1.8
Total other current assets 16.7 18.0
Other Non-current Assets
Other non-current assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 consisted of the following:
2023 2024
Prepaid expenses 0.8 5.1
Security and guarantee deposits over next 12 months — 4.1
Deferred consideration receivable 3.8 3.8
Other 1.0 0.4
Restricted cash 1.1 0.1
Investments in debt securities 4.9 —
Total other non-current assets 11.6 13.5
Accounts Payable, Accrued and Other Liabilities
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 comprised the following:
2023 2024
Tax liabilities accrued (Note 12) — 181.9
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities 25.0 21.4
Salary and other compensation expenses payable/accrued to employees 15.7 13.7
Operating lease liabilities, current (Note 8) 9.7 13.3
Unused vacation reserve accrued 43 5.2
Other liabilities 1.8 —
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities 56.5 235.5
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Deferred Revenue

The Group recognizes deferred revenue when cash is received and before performance obligations are fulfilled,
including amounts that may be refundable. Deferred revenue balances primarily relate to activities of TripleTen business.

As of December 31, 2023, total deferred revenue was $6.9, nearly all of which was recognized as revenue during the
year ended December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, total deferred revenue increased to $16.5, driven by the overall
growth in the Group’s operations.

Interest income

The Group recognized interest income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 in the amounts of
$1.0, $3.3 and $63.6, respectively. Interest income is earned from the Group’s cash and cash equivalents, represented by
current accounts and other high liquid financial instruments such as bank deposits with maturities of less than three months,
overnight deposits and money market funds.

The accrued interest receivable in the amount of $21.6 as of December 31, 2024 is excluded from the amortized cost
basis of financing receivables. The Group did not write-off any accrued interest receivable during the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2024.

Other Income/(Loss), Net

Other income/(loss), net includes foreign exchange losses in the amounts of $2.8 and $17.5 for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively, and a foreign exchange gain of $1.4 for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income and non-income taxes payable

The income and non-income taxes payable line in the consolidated balance sheets includes income taxes payable in
the amount of $2.8 and $0.8 as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Reallocations of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group reclassified other comprehensive loss in the amount of $2,428.6
from equity to earnings upon deconsolidation of the Divested Businesses (Note 3). Such other comprehensive loss consisted
solely of currency translation adjustment directly attributable to the Divested Businesses.

The Group adjusted the carrying amount of accumulated other comprehensive loss by $102.5 for the year ended
December 31, 2023, reflecting the acquisition of Uber's remaining interest in MLU B.V. (Note 3). There were no reallocations
in the year ended December 31, 2022.

5. INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES AND EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Equity method investments

The table below summarizes the movements in the carrying amount of the Group’s equity method investments for the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

2022 2023 2024
Balance at the beginning of the year 123.3 19.6 6.4
Share of profit / (loss) in equity method investments (20.9) 2.3) —
Impairment loss 2.5) (10.9) —
Dilution gain from changes in equity interest 9.4 — —
Reclassification to equity securities (89.7) — —
Total equity method investments 19.6 6.4 6.4
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The Group’s equity method investments as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 consisted of the
investments in venture capital funds.

Investments in non-marketable equity securities and other investments

The Group’s non-marketable equity securities represent investments in privately held companies that do not have
readily determinable fair values. As of December 31, 2023, and December 31, 2024, the Group held non-marketable equity
securities in the amount of $90.7, which represents the cost under the measurement alternative.

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2024 investments in non-marketable equity securities primarily included
an investment of $89.7 in ClickHouse Inc., a company specializing in open-source database management system services. In
2022, the Company lost significant influence over ClickHouse Inc. As a result, the investment is accounted for under the
measurement alternative, recorded at its initial cost less impairment, with the initial cost determined on the date of transfer
from the equity method.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Group recorded impairment and downward adjustments
of $7.7, nil, and nil, respectively, for non-marketable equity securities measured under the measurement alternative.

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value of the Group financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 approximates their
carrying value.

Investments measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Cash and cash equivalents, including term deposits and money market funds, are measured at fair value and classified
as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy, as their valuation is based on quoted prices for identical assets in active markets or
on inputs derived from quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets.

Debt securities are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy, as their fair value is determined using quoted
market prices when available or through alternative pricing sources and models that rely on market-observable inputs.

Investments measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis

The Group’s non-marketable equity securities represent investments in privately held companies without readily
determinable market values. The carrying value of these securities is adjusted to fair value based on observable transactions
involving identical or similar investments of the same issuer or due to impairment. During the years ended December 31,
2023, and December 31, 2024, all non-marketable equity securities were remeasured due to impairment and primarily
classified as Level 3 investments.

Loans granted to employees
The Group assesses the fair value of loans granted for disclosure purposes. The carrying amount of these loans

closely approximates their fair value.

There were no transfers of financial assets and liabilities between the levels of the fair value hierarchy for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

F-29




Table of Contents
NEBIUS GROUPN.V.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022, 2023 AND 2024

(in millions of U.S. dollars (“$”), except share and per share data)

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 consisted of the
following:

2023 2024

Server and network equipment 305.7 794.9
Infrastructure systems 63.1 63.1
Land, land rights and buildings 50.3 48.5
Other equipment 12.0 13.0
Assets not yet in use 1.9 163.9
Total 433.0 1,083.4
Less: accumulated depreciation (304.8) (236.4)

Total property and equipment 128.2 847.0

Assets not yet in use primarily represent server and network equipment, infrastructure systems, equipment and other
assets under installation, including related prepayments, and comprise the cost of the assets and other direct costs applicable to
purchase and installation.

Depreciation expenses related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024
amounted to $26.9, $27.9 and $75.4 respectively.

8. LEASES

The Group leases co-location space at data center facilities and, to a lesser extent, corporate offices, all of which are
operating leases. The Group’s leases have remaining lease terms of 1 to 5 years, some of which include options to terminate
the leases within 1 year.

The components of lease expense comprise operating lease costs, which are disclosed in the consolidated statements
of cash flows.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to the Group’s operating leases was as follows:

2023 2024
Operating leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets 18.7 45.0
Operating lease liabilities — current (Note 4) 9.7 133
Operating lease liabilities — non-current 9.7 30.3
Total operating lease liabilities 19.4 43.6
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Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 were as follows:

Operating
Leases
Year ended December 31,
2025 15.1
2026 9.1
2027 8.8
2028 8.3
2029 6.3
Thereafter —
Total lease payments 47.6
Less imputed interest 4.0)
43.6

Total

Information about weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate is presented below:

Weighted average r ining Weighted average discount
lease term, years rate, %
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
Operating leases 2.8 4.1 3.3% 4.0%

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had additional operating leases that have not yet commenced of $168.0. These
operating leases will commence in accordance with lease terms of up to 9 years.

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets, net of amortization, as of December 31, 2023 and 2024 consisted of the following:

As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2024
Less: Less: Weighted-
Gross  accumulated Net Gross  accumulated Net average
. amortization . . amortization . ..
carrying and carrying carrying and carrying remaining
amount _impairment amount amount _impairment amount useful life
(in years)
Technologies and licenses 5.7 2.7) 3.0 6.4 (3.7 2.7 1.6
Assets not yet in use 1.2 — 1.2 22 — 22
Total intangible assets 6.9 2.7) 4.2 8.6 3.7 4.9

Amortization expenses of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were $0.6, $1.4
and $1.9, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense over the remaining useful life for intangible assets subject to amortization as of
December 31, 2024 was as follows:
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Other
intangible

assets
2025 1.9
2026 0.6
2027 0.2
Thereafter —
Total 2.7

10. INCOME TAX

Income taxes are computed in accordance with Dutch, US and other national tax laws.
Nebius Group N.V. is incorporated in the Netherlands, and its taxable profits are subject to income tax at the rate of
25.8% for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Income tax provision related to the Group’s continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 consisted of the following:

2022 2023 2024
Current tax benefit - Netherlands — — (2.0)
Current tax expense - other 3.6 3.6 4.4
Total current tax expense 3.6 3.6 2.4
Deferred tax benefit - other 2.5) (1.5) 2.9)
Total deferred tax benefit 2.5) (1.5) 2.9)
Total income tax expense 1.1 2.1 0.5)

The components of loss before income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were as
follows:

2022 2023 2024
Loss before income tax expense - Netherlands (64.3) (193.4) (312.1)
Loss before income tax expense - other (114.6) (146.0) (81.9)
Total loss before income tax expense (178.9) (339.4) (394.0)

The amount of income tax expense that would result from applying the Dutch statutory income tax rate to
income/(loss) before income taxes reconciled to the reported amount of income tax expense was as follows for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024:

2022 2023 2024

Expected income at Dutch statutory income tax rate of 25.8% (46.2) (87.6) (101.7)
Effect of:

Allocation of expenses from legal entities of disposed businesses 37.1 24.6 —
Non-deductible share-based compensation 2.5 7.5 52
Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.4 18.3 8.1
Non-taxable inter-company dividends distribution — 5.7) (7.9)
Difference in foreign tax rates 0.9 54 3.6
Change in valuation allowance 4.1 38.9 93.0
Other 1.3 0.7 (0.8)
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Income tax expense

Movements in the valuation allowance were as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the period
Charged to expenses

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Other

Balance at the end of the period

2.1 (0.5)

2023 2024
(26.4) (85.8)
(38.9) (93.0)
(2(5) _

(85.8) (178.8)

Temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and carryforwards gave rise to the following deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2024:

Assets/(liabilities) arising from the tax effect of:
Deferred tax asset
Accrued expenses
Net operating loss carryforward
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Operating lease liabilities
Other
Total deferred tax asset
Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance
Deferred tax liability
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Deferred expenses
Operating lease assets
Other
Total deferred tax liability
Net deferred tax asset

2023 2024

2.6 23
43.0 107.2
14.6 493
11.4 19.0
2.0 10.1
23.1 9.9
96.7 197.8
(85.8) (178.8)
10.9 19.0
(0.3) (0.1)
(0.1) —
(0.6) —
(2.6) (10.5)
(1.4) (0.6)
(5.0) (11.2)
5.9 7.8

As of December 31, 2024, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) for Dutch income tax
purposes of $79.0, which can be carried forward indefinitely. However, losses can only be fully deducted (on an annual basis)

up to an amount of EUR 1 million plus 50% of the taxable profit that exceeds EUR 1 million.

As of December 31, 2024, the Dutch entities of the Group (other than the Company) also had NOLs for Dutch

income tax purposes in the amount of $252.9.

NOLs for other jurisdictions income tax purposes amounted to $104.0 as of December 31, 2024 and related mostly to
the USA, where such losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

The tax years 2021 — 2024 remain open for examination by the Dutch tax authorities with respect to the Company

and Dutch subsidiaries.
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Purchase Commitments

The Group has entered into purchase commitments for power and utilities of rented data center facilities (co-location
agreements) with future payments (net of VAT) amounting to $5.9 in 2025, $6.0 in 2026, $6.2 in 2027, $6.4 in 2028 and $4.9
in 2029 and thereafter. The Group has no material purchase commitments for other goods and services.

Legal Proceedings

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is a party to various legal proceedings and subject to claims, certain of
which relate to the alleged breach of certain contractual arrangements. The Group intends to vigorously defend any lawsuit
and believes that the ultimate outcome of any pending litigation, other legal proceedings or other matters will not have any
material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or liquidity of the Group.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group was subject to various legal and regulatory matters that have arisen in the
normal course of business with related claims amounting to $4.5 (nil as of December 31, 2023). The Group has not recognized
a liability in respect of those claims because management does not believe that the Group has incurred a probable material loss
by reason of any of those matters. These amounts do not include amounts related to discontinued operations.

Tax Contingencies

Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities authorized by law to impose fines and
penalties. Although the Group believes it has provided adequately for all tax liabilities based on its understanding of the
applicable tax legislation, the relevant tax authorities may take different positions. As of December 31, 2024, the Group
accrued $181.9 (nil as of December 31, 2023) for contingencies related to non-income taxes, as a component of account
payable, accrued and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The amount primarily consists of dividend
withholding tax of $180.9 payable in connection with the portion of the consideration for the Divested Businesses that was
received in the form of the Company’s Class A shares. The acquisition of such shares by the Company is treated as a
repurchase by the Company of its own shares for Dutch tax purposes, which would be subject to withholding tax at a rate of
15%, unless the shares so acquired qualify as "temporary investments". Based on the Company’s use of a portion of these
shares in 2024 for financing purposes (Note 13) and the Company’s equity incentive program, as of December 31, 2024 the
Company has accrued a contingent tax liability in respect of approximately 117 million Class A shares.

Additionally, the Group has identified possible contingencies related to non-income taxes, which are not accrued.
Such contingencies could materialize and require the Group to pay additional amounts of tax. As of December 31, 2024, the
Group estimated the contingencies related to non-income taxes, including penalties and interest, at approximately $1.5 (nil as
of December 31, 2023).

Environment and Current Economic Situation

In 2024, after the completion of the Divestment (Note 1, Note 3) the Group had principal operations in the
Netherlands and the United States, alongside a number of smaller, early-stage operations in other international regions.

The global macroeconomic environment continues to be uncertain, reflecting the impacts of inflation, potential tariffs
and other trade restrictions, supply chain constraints in semiconductor components, regulatory shifts impacting the technology
and Al infrastructure sectors, changes in interest rates, instability in the global credit markets, geopolitical conflicts in Europe
and the Middle East, and related market uncertainty. While inflation has fallen in most major economies over the last year, the
risk of renewed inflationary pressures and the resulting impact on economic growth remains. The Company will continue to
actively monitor and respond accordingly to the macroeconomic environment.

Following the completion of the Divestment, the Company no longer has exposure to the risks and uncertainties
associated with the operations of the Divested Businesses. As of December 31, 2024 none of the Group’s current subsidiaries
are restricted from remitting funds in the form of cash dividends or loans.
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12. CONVERTIBLE DEBT

On March 3, 2020, the Company issued and sold $1,250.0 in aggregate principal amount of 0.75% convertible notes
due March 3, 2025 at par. The net proceeds to the Group from the sale of the Notes were $1,237.0.

On March 7, 2022, the Notes’ delisting event condition was triggered as a result of the trading of the Company’s
Class A shares on Nasdaq having been suspended for at least five trading days. This resulted in the holders of the Notes having
the right to require the redemption of their Notes at par in the full amount of $1,250.0, plus accrued interest.

In June 2022, the Group completed the repurchase of 93.2% in aggregate principal amount of the Notes and
accounted for the modification of all the Notes. The Group has to date repurchased more than 99% in aggregate principal
amount of the Notes originally issued. The consideration for such repurchase consisted of cash in an amount equal to 70% of
the principal amount of the Notes, plus the delivery of an aggregate of approximately 5.6 million Class A shares (the
“Settlement Shares™).

Having considered all relevant circumstances, including indicators of financial difficulties and the amendment of the
terms of the Notes, the Group accounted for the modification of the Notes as a troubled debt restructuring as defined by ASC
470. In June 2022, the Group recognized a gain of $177.4 and a related income tax expense in the amount of $13.1 as the
difference between the carrying value of all the Notes and the fair value of the purchase price paid and payable, including the
cash component and share consideration. The Group’s remaining obligation in respect of the Settlement Shares was reflected
as additional paid-in capital in the consolidated balance sheets. In accordance with the reporting requirements of ASC 470, the
Group measured the fair value of the Settlement Shares with reference to its publicly quoted share price (Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy). The effect of the gain, related tax expense and interest expense are presented within net income from
discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations, because the proceeds from the debt were used entirely for
the purposes of financing the operations of the Divested Businesses.

The remaining cash consideration for Notes amounts to $6.8 and $6.1 as of December 31, 2023 and 2024
respectively.

13. SHARE CAPITAL

The Company has three authorized classes of ordinary shares, Class A, Class B and Class C with €0.01, €0.10 and
€0.09 par value, respectively. The principal features of the three classes of ordinary shares are as follows:

e (lass A shares, par value €0.01 per share, entitled to one vote per share. The Class A shares share ratably with
the Class B shares, on a pari passu basis, in any dividends or other distributions.

e (lass B shares, par value €0.10 per share, entitled to ten votes per share. Class B shares may only be
transferred to qualified holders. In order to sell a Class B share, it must be converted into a Class A share.

e (lass C shares, par value €0.09 per share, entitled to nine votes per share. The Class C shares are entitled to a
fixed nominal amount in the event of a dividend or distribution limited to 1% of the nominal value of such
Class C shares in any one financial year if any such shares were to be outstanding on the record date for a
dividend declaration. The Class C shares are used for technical purposes related to the conversion of Class B
shares into Class A shares. During the periods between conversion and cancellation, all Class C shares are
held by the Nebius Group Conversion Foundation (Stichting Nebius Group Conversion). The Nebius Group
Conversion Foundation was incorporated under the laws of the Netherlands in October 2008 for the sole
purpose of facilitating the conversion of Class B shares into Class A shares. The Nebius Group Conversion
Foundation is managed by a board of directors appointed by the Company.
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On September 21, 2009, the Company issued a Priority Share. On March 7, 2024, the Meeting of Holders of Class A

Ordinary Shares and the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company approved the cancellation of the
Priority Share.

The share capital as of each balance sheet date was as follows (EUR in millions):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024
Shares EUR USD Shares EUR USD
Authorized: 574,887,317 574,887,316
Priority share 1 —
Class A ordinary shares 500,000,000 500,000,000
Class B ordinary shares 37,138,658 37,138,658
Class C ordinary shares 37,748,658 37,748,658
Issued and fully paid: 362,040,945 € 6.8 % 9.2 362,040,944 € 6.8 % 9.2
Priority share 1 — — — — —
Class A ordinary shares 326,342,270 32 4.3 326,342,270 32 4.3

Class B ordinary shares 35,698,674 3.6 4.9 35,698,674 3.6 49
Class C ordinary shares — —

Class C shares held in treasury were not disclosed as such due to the technical nature of this class of shares.

The Company issued a total of 2,541,791 new Settlement Shares in September 2022 and October 2022 in
connection with the Convertible Notes (Note 12). In 2024, an additional 3,046,129 Settlement Shares were transferred to
former noteholders from treasury.

In May 2024 and July 2024, the Company received in aggregate 162,485,725 of its Class A shares as part of the
consideration for the Divestment (Note 3). Following the completion of the Divestment, such shares are held in treasury.
Treasury stock was accounted for under the weighted-average cost method.

In December 2024, the Company sold 33,333,334 Class A ordinary shares at a price of $21.00 per share in a private
placement. The aggregate net proceeds to the Company of $667.5 were accounted against treasury shares at cost and the
difference between the selling price and the weighted-average price per Class A share held in treasury was accounted in
additional-paid-in capital.

As of December 31, 2024 the Company has 235,753,600 ordinary shares outstanding, consisting of 200,054,926
Class A shares and 35,698,674 Class B shares. The Company also has an additional 126,287,344 Class A shares issued and
held in treasury.

14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
Employee Equity Incentive Plan

On August 15, 2024, the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company (the “AGM”) approved the
amendment and restatement of the Company’s Equity Incentive Plan and renamed it the Nebius Group N.V. Amended and
Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Among other things, the AGM also approved the extension of the term of the Plan
for a further ten-year period and an increase in the number of shares available under the Plan. The Plan provides for the
issuance of Share-Based Awards (including options, restricted shares units (“RSUs”), performance share units (“PSUs”) and
awards in respect of the Group’s business units and subsidiaries (“Business Unit Equity Awards”)) to employees, officers,
advisors and consultants of the Group and members of the Board of the Company. The maximum number of Company shares
available under the Plan is 30,000,000 Class A shares. RSUs entitle the holder to receive a fixed number of Class A shares at
no cost upon the satisfaction of certain time-based vesting criteria. Options entitle the holder to purchase a Class A share at a
specified exercise price. PSUs entitle the recipient to receive a number of Class A shares at no cost based on the satisfaction of
both time-based and performance-based criteria. In 2024, upon completion of the Divestment (Note 3), all outstanding PSUs
grants were forfeited, as the performance criteria set out in such awards were no longer relevant for the activities of the Group
after the Divestment. No dividends or dividend equivalents are
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granted in connection with options or share appreciation rights and any dividend equivalents or dividends granted in
connection with RSUs will only vest and be paid to the extent the underlying award vests and is paid.

Under the Plan, the award exercise or measurement price per share is set at the “fair market value” and denominated
in U.S. dollars on the date the Share-Based Awards are granted by the Company’s Board. For purposes of the Plan, “fair
market value” means (A) at any time when the Company’s shares are not publicly traded, the price per share most recently
determined by the Board to be the fair market value; and (B) at any time when the shares are publicly traded, (i) in the case of
RSUs the closing price per Class A share (as adjusted to account for the ratio of shares to depositary shares, if necessary) on
the date of such determination; and (ii) in the case of share options and SARs, the average closing price per Class A share on
the 20 trading days immediately following the date of determination. Share-Based Awards granted under the Plan generally
vest over a four-year period with four-sixteenths (4/16) of such awards vesting on the last day of the 12th full calendar month
following the date of grant, and an additional one-sixteenth (1/16) of such awards vesting on the last day of each third full
calendar month thereafter. The maximum term of a Share-Based Award granted under the Plan may not exceed ten years. The
Plan expires at midnight on August 14, 2034, as amended. After its expiration, no further grants can be made under the Plan
but the vesting and effectiveness of Share-Based Awards previously granted will remain unaffected.

The Group estimates the fair value of share options using the BSM pricing model. No share option grants were made
in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

The Group estimates the fair value of Synthetic Options and Business Unit Equity Awards and PSUs using the
Monte-Carlo or BSM pricing models. The assumptions used in the Monte-Carlo and BSM pricing models in the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were as follows:

2022 2023 2024
Business unit’s expected annual volatility 309-752 % 30.5 - 86.0 % 64.2-74.4 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.54-8.83 % 9.11-12.78 % 13.05 %

The Company’s expected annual volatility used in the Monte-Carlo pricing model were in the range of 47.0 to 51.4%
in the year ended December 31, 2022.

The Group used the following assumptions in the BSM and Monte-Carlo pricing models when valuing its Share-
Based Awards:

e  FExpected volatility. For share options and PSUs grants, the Group used historical volatility of the Company’s
own shares. For synthetic options and business unit equity awards grants, the Group calculated the estimated
volatility rates based on the volatilities of common stock of comparable companies in business units’ industries.

e  FExpected term. For BSM pricing model calculation the expected term of awards granted has been calculated
following the “simplified” method, using half of the sum of the contractual and vesting terms, because the
Group has no historical pattern of exercises sufficient to estimate the expected term on a more reliable basis.

e Dividend yield. This assumption is measured as the average annualized dividend estimated to be paid by the
Group over the expected life of the award as a percentage of the share price at the grant date. The Group did not
declare any dividends with respect to 2022, 2023 or 2024. Because options were generally compensated for
dividends and the Group has no plans to pay cash dividends in the near term, it used an expected dividend yield
of zero in its pricing models in the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.
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®  Risk-free interest rate. The Group used the risk-free interest rates based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve or the
Russian government bond zero coupon yield curve in effect at the grant date.

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The following table summarizes information about recognized share-based compensation expenses for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024:

2022 2023 2024
Restricted Share Units (“RSUs”) 261.0 249.9 96.6
Synthetic Options and Business Unit Equity Awards 49.5 108.4 28.5
Share options 5.5 4.0 1.0
Performance Share Units (“PSUs”) 2.6 0.6 (8.4)
RSUs in respect of the Avride Group 43 5.1 2.6
Other 373 2.0 —
Total share-based compensation expenses 360.2 370.0 120.3

Share-based compensation expense is recognized in respect of the awards granted to employees of both continuing
and discontinued operations. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 the Group recognized share-based
compensation expense in relation to employees directly attributable to the operations of the Divested Businesses in the amount
of $350.6, $ 338.7 and $ 63.7 respectively. Share-based compensation expenses for the employees of retained businesses
amounts to $ 9.6, $ 31.3 and $ 56.6 for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

The following table summarizes awards activity for the Company:

Share Options SARs RSUs PSUs
Weighted Weighted ‘Weighted Weighted
average exercise average exercise average exercise average exercise
Quantity price per share  Quantity price per share Quantity price per share Quantity price per share
Outstanding as of
December 31, 2023 2,895,300 $ 44.32 75,000 § 32.85 7,025,015 — 171,979 —
Granted — — — — 9,079,326 — — —
Exercised — — — — (283,870) — — —
Forfeited (561,423) 48.04 — — (53,507) — (171,979) —
Effect of the Divestment
(Note 3) — — — = (6,102,469) — — —
Cancelled (1,157,131) 46.91 — — (197,881 — — —
Outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 1,176,746 $ 40.00 75,000 $ 32.85 9,466,614 — — —

The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable awards as of December 31, 2024:

Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable
Average Average
Remaining Aggregate Remaining Aggregate
Type of Number Contractual Intrinsic Number Contractual Intrinsic

Exercise Price ($) award outstanding Life (in years) Value exercisable Life (in years) Value
$40.00 Option 1,176,746 2.11 12.3 1,176,746 2.11 12.3
Total Share options 1,176,746 2.11 12.3 1,176,746 2.11 12.3
$32.85 SARs 75,000 — — 75,000 — —
Total SARs 75,000 — — 75,000 — —
Total RSUs RSU 9,466,614 9.29 — 451,572 4.95 —
Total Share options, SARs and

RSUs P 10,718,360 8.44 12.3 1,703,318 2.75 12.3
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The following table summarizes information about unvested share awards:

Share Options RSUs PSUs

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Grant Date Grant Date Grant Date
Quantity Fair Value Quantity Fair Value Quantity Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 593,923 $ 20.82 801,354 $ 50.77 171,979 $ 97.51
Granted — — 9,079,326 20.21 — —
Vested (32,500) 27.05 (238,221) 36.47 — —
Forfeited (561,423) 20.46 (53,507) 40.99 — —
Effect of the Divestment (Note 3) — — (573,910) 48.79 — —
Cancelled — — — - (171,979) 97.51
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 — 3 — 9,015,042 § 20.54 — —

In March 2022 and January 2023 the Company oftered holders of Nebius Group N.V. RSUs granted under the Plan
an opportunity to exchange the portion of outstanding awards that would otherwise have vested during 2022 and 2023 in
exchange for cash bonuses. The replacement cash payments were payable in accordance with the original vesting schedules in
respect of the exchanged RSUs. Equity awards in respect of an aggregate of approximately 3.3 and 2.7 million RSUs were
exchanged in March 2022 and January 2023 respectively. The exchanges were accounted for as a modification of equity
awards, resulting in additional share-based compensation expense recognized in the years ending December 31, 2022 and
2023 in amount of $53.1 and $88.9, respectively.

In December 2023, such offer was further extended to the employees of Divested Businesses, covering the respective
vestings for 2024 and 2025. Equity awards in respect of an aggregate of approximately 1.3 million RSUs were exchanged in
December 2023.

During 2024, on a quarterly basis, the Company offered to holders of RSUs granted under Plan an opportunity to
exchange the portion of outstanding awards that would otherwise have vested during 2024 in exchange for cash bonuses. The
offer was aimed at employees directly attributable to the retained businesses. Equity awards in respect of an aggregate of
approximately 0.2 million RSUs were exchanged. The exchange was accounted for as a modification of equity awards,
resulting in additional share-based compensation expense recognized in the year ending December 31, 2024 in the amount of
$5.4. The accrued liability associated with the replacement cash payment in the amount of $0.4 is included in accounts
payable, accrued and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, there was $148.4 of unamortized share-based compensation expense related to unvested
RSUs which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.69 years.

Synthetic Options and Business Unit Equity Awards

The Company granted share-based awards to the employees of several business units, comprised of a synthetic option
award in respect of the relevant business unit (“Synthetic Options” and “Business Unit Equity Awards”) and a linked RSU
award. Synthetic Options and Business Unit Equity Awards entitle the participants to receive phantom or synthetic “shares” in
the relevant business unit, which represent the participant’s right to an amount (the “Payout Amount”) based on the
appreciation in value of the synthetic “shares” from the grant date to the vesting or exercise date. Such Payout Amounts are
satisfied by the vesting of the linked RSU award, which are ultimately settled in the Company’s Class A shares or cash.

The following table summarizes awards activity for the Group:
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Synthetic Options and Business Units Equity Awards

Weighted

average exercise

Quantity price per share
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 5,314,746 $ 16.9
Granted 34,138 —
Vested (483.,442) 34
Forfeited (56,866) 24.0
Effect of the Divestment (Note 3) (4,578,455) 17.4
Cancelled (209,091) 50.8
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 21,030 $ 42.8

The following table summarizes information about unvested share awards:

Synthetic Options and Business Units Equity Awards

Weighted

Average Grant

Quantity Date Fair Value
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 2,650,245 $ 22.8
Granted 34,138 449
Vested (354,307) 22.4
Forfeited (56,866) 15.3
Effect of the Divestment (Note 3) (2,181,825) 21.5
Cancelled (91,386) 45.8

Unvested as of December 31, 2024 _ $ _

Synthetic Options and Business Unit Equity Awards were granted in respect of the Divested Businesses. There were
no unvested awards and unamortized share based compensation expense related to Synthetic Options and Business Units
Equity Awards as of December 31, 2024.

The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable awards as of December 31, 2024:

Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable
Average Average
Remaining Remaining
Number Contractual Number Contractual
outstanding Life (in years) exercisable Life (in years)
Total Synthetic Options and Business Units 21,030 0.47 21,030 047

Equity Awards

As of December 31, 2024, the Group recognized its obligation to settle the Synthetic Options and Business Units
Equity Awards as a liability based on past practice of settlements in cash. The accrued liability associated with the settlement
of Synthetic Options and Business Units Equity Awards in cash amounted to $ 117.6 and $ 1.0 as of December 31, 2023 and
2024, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 the liability represents mostly a current liability of discontinued operations.

Avride Group 2021 Equity Incentive Plan

Avride B.V.,, a subsidiary of the Group (“Avride”), adopted the Avride 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Avride Plan”)
on February 11, 2021. Under the Avride Plan, Avride may grant equity-based awards, including restricted share unit awards, in
respect of Avride. RSUs awarded under the Avride Plan entitle the holder to receive a fixed number of depositary receipts
representing Class A shares in Avride at no cost upon the satisfaction of certain time-based vesting criteria. On February 11,
2021, the Supervisory Board of Avride approved the grant of an aggregate of 2,132,749 Avride RSUs, representing a total of
approximately 6.3% of the equity of Self-Driving Group on a fully diluted basis. Generally,
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Avride RSUs vest over a six-year period, 17% after one year, with the remaining vesting in equal amounts on the last day of

each quarter over the following five years.

The following table summarizes Avride RSUs awards activity for the Group:

Avride RSUs
Weighted
average exercise
Quantity price per share
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 2,075,533 $ —
Cancelled (906,904) —
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 1,168,629 $ —

The following table summarizes information about outstanding and exercisable awards as of December 31, 2024:

Awards Outstanding Awards Exercisable
Average Average
Remaining Remaining
Type of Number Contractual Number Contractual
award outstanding Life (in years) exercisable Life (in years)
Total Avride RSUs RSU 1,168,629 6.14 1,123,586 6.12

The following table summarizes information about unvested share awards:

Avride RSUs
Quantity
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 241,037
Vested (182,604)
Forfeited (13,391)
Unvested as of December 31, 2024 45,042

As of December 31, 2024, the unamortized share based compensation expense related to Avride B.V. RSUs is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.08 years.
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15. INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS & GEOGRAPHIC AREAS

The Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM?”) is the management committee, consisting of the Group’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer. The Group has determined its operating segments based on how the
CODM manages the business, allocates resources, makes operating decisions and evaluates operating performance. The
Group’s CODM evaluates the performance of the Company’s segments on a regular basis, primarily based on earnings before
interest, tax, depreciation and amortization, adjusted for other non-recurring items (“Adjusted EBITDA”).

In 2024, the Company sold all of the Group’s businesses in Russia and related businesses in certain international
markets (Note 3). In 2024, following the completion of the Divestment, the Group introduced the following changes to its
reporting segments compared to those presented within the notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2023, in order to reflect the new operational structure of the retained businesses:

e All operating segments previously reported were reclassified into the results of discontinued operations;

e The Group introduced four new operating segments that constitute the Group’s activities after the
Divestment: Nebius, Avride, Toloka and TripleTen. Their operations were previously part of Other Business
Units and Initiatives.

These changes have been applied retroactively to all periods presented. Reportable segments derive revenues from
the following services:

e Nebius offers a comprehensive and integrated suite of Al cloud solutions, designed to support the entire AL
lifecycle — from building and deploying Al models to managing large-scale Al applications. This segment
also includes the operations of the Group’s proprietary data center in Finland;

e Avride is a developer of autonomous driving technology for self-driving vehicles and delivery robots;
e Toloka offers data solutions for Al model training, evaluation and development; and
e TripleTen is a leading edtech platform focused on re-skilling individuals for careers in technology.

Operating segments of the Group may integrate products managed by other operating segments into their services,
for which they pay compensation. Such compensation represents intersegment transactions, which are included in revenues of
the reportable segments presented below. The Group considers it to be impracticable to separately present revenues from
external customers and intersegment transactions for each reportable segment as such information is not readily available and
is not presented to the CODM. The measures of the segments’ profits and losses that are used by the CODM to assess segment
performance and decide how to allocate resources are presented below. Each segment’s assets are not reviewed by the CODM,
while capital expenditures are evaluated for cash flow management.

The table below presents Revenue, Adjusted EBITDA loss, and expense information about the Group’s operating
segments:
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Revenues:
Nebius
Avride
Toloka
TripleTen
Total segment revenues
Eliminations
Total revenues
Adjusted EBITDA:
Nebius
Avride
Toloka
TripleTen

Total segment adjusted EBITDA loss

Year ended December 31,

Supplemental information about segment expenses:

Nebius:
Employee compensation expenses

Corporate Functions Expenses (excl. personnel costs)

Other costs and expenses

Total Nebius costs and expenses
Avride
Employee compensation expenses
Other costs and expenses

Total Avride costs and expenses
Toloka:
Employee compensation expenses
Other costs and expenses

Total Toloka costs and expenses
TripleTen:
Employee compensation expenses
Other costs and expenses

Total TripleTen costs and expenses

2022 2023 2024
0.5 9.6 68.3
0.3 — 0.3
10.5 11.1 26.4
22 8.2 28.8
13.5 289 123.8
— (8.0) (6.3)
135 20.9 1175
(43.9) (134.1) (128.5)
(22.6) (69.6) (67.0)
(22.3) 42.1) (40.1)
(35.7) (37.0) (30.8)
(124.5) (282.8) (266.4)
7.5 107.1 136.3
14.1 17.2 24.4
22.8 19.4 36.1
44.4 143.7 196.8
124 48.1 46.9
10.5 21.5 20.4
22.9 69.6 67.3
3.3 384 40.8
29.5 14.8 25.7
32.8 53.2 66.5
3.5 21.6 26.4
34.4 23.6 332
37.9 45.2 59.6

Employee compensation expenses include the costs of both employees directly involved in activities of reporting
segments, as well as allocated personnel expenses related to corporate back-office operations; expenses of other corporate
functions primarily benefit the Nebius reporting segment as the Group’s core business and are allocated to that segment. Other
costs and expenses of all reporting segments include marketing and advertising activities, as well as allocated office utilities
costs. In addition, Nebius other cost and expenses include costs of operation and co-location of data center facilities and the
electricity, utility and maintenance costs in data centers. Toloka’s other costs and expenses include direct costs of expert

contractors and crowdsourcing costs.
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The reconciliation between adjusted EBITDA and income/(loss) before income tax expense was as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

Total segment adjusted EBITDA loss (124.5) (282.8) (266.4)
Less: depreciation and amortization (27.5) (29.3) (77.3)
Less: certain SBC expense (6.0) (12.9) (44.9)
Less: one-off restructuring and other expenses — (2.5) (52.1)
Add: interest income 1.0 3.3 63.6
Less: loss/(income) from equity method investments (14.0) (10.9) 0.4
Less: other loss, net (7.9) (4.3) (17.3)

Net loss before income taxes (178.9) (339.4) (394.0)

Revenue disaggregated by geography, based on the legal or invoicing addresses of our customers, indicates that more
than 50% is generated from customers based in the United States.

The Group’s long-lived assets are allocated based on the country of incorporation of the subsidiary with the title of
ownership. The following table presents long-lived assets by geographic area, which includes property and equipment, net,
intangibles assets, net and operating lease assets:

As of December 31,

2023 2024
Long-lived assets:
The Netherlands 67.0 764.6
United States 3.9 71.0
Finland 56.9 52.3
Rest of the world 23.3 9.0
Total long-lived assets 151.1 896.9

16. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In 2021, the Group obtained a noncontrolling interest and exercised significant influence over ClickHouse, Inc.
The Group considered technical support services received from ClickHouse, Inc. in the amount of $0.6 for the year ended
December 31, 2022 as transactions with a related party. As of December 31, 2022, ClickHouse Inc. ceased to be a related
party of the Group as a result of the loss of significant influence by the Group.

17. REVISION OF PREVIOUSLY ISSUED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As disclosed in Note 1, the Company restated its prior period financial statements and the accompanying notes for
the presentation of discontinued operations and change in reporting currency. Additionally, the Company made certain
adjustments to correct the identified immaterial discrepancies as of December 31, 2023 primarily related to the Group's
continuing operations.

The Company evaluated the materiality of the impact on the financial statements quantitatively and qualitatively and
concluded it was not material to any of the affected periods. Consolidated revenues are not affected. Therefore, the Company
revised its previously issued consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023.
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The following table presents the impact of corrections on affected consolidated balance sheet line items as of

December 31, 2023:

Selected Balance Sheets Data:

Accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses

VAT reclaimable

Other current assets

Current assets from discontinued operations
Total current assets

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities
Income and non-income taxes payable
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings

Total equity attributable to Nebius Group N.V.
Total shareholders’ equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

As of December 31, 2023
As previously

reported Adjustment As revised
4.6 (0.5) 4.1
21.4 (4.8) 16.6
16.1 (10.7) 5.4
16.9 0.2) 16.7
3,286.2 33 3,289.5
3,466.4 (12.9) 3,453.5
132.5 4.3) 128.2
4.6 (0.4) 42
39 2.0 59
5,304.3 2.7) 5,301.6
8,770.7 (15.6) 8,755.1
59.2 2.7) 56.5
11.9 2.7 9.2
7.4 (0.5) 6.9
3,876.3 (5.9) 3,870.4
5,467.1 (5.9) 5,461.2
(2,365.3) (22)  (2,367.5)
3,866.9 (7.5) 3,859.4
3,303.4 9.7 3,293.7
3,303.6 9.7 3,293.9
8,770.7 (15.6) 8,755.1

The following table presents the impact of corrections on affected consolidated statements of operations line items

for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Selected Statements of Operations Data:
Cost of revenues

Product development

Sales, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating costs and expenses

Loss from operations

Other loss, net

Net loss before income taxes

Income tax expense / (benefit)

Net loss from continuing operation

Net income/(loss)

Net income/(loss) attributable to Nebius Group N.V.

Year ended December 31, 2023
As previously

reported Adjustment As revised
30.7 1.2 31.9
111.6 0.7 112.3
173.1 1.8 174.9
27.8 1.5 29.3
343.2 5.2 348.4
(322.3) (5.2) (327.5)
(3.4) (0.9) 4.3)
(333.3) (6.1 (339.4)
2.4 (0.3) 2.1
(335.7) (5.8) (341.5)
271.7 (5.8) 265.9
247.1 (5.8) 241.3
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The following table presents the impact of corrections on affected consolidated statements of comprehensive
income/(loss) line items for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Year ended December 31, 2023
As previously

reported Adjustment As revised
Selected Statements of Comprehensive Income Data:
Net income/(loss) 271.7 (5.8) 265.9
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,112.4) 2.2) (1,114.6)
Total comprehensive loss (943.2) (8.0) (951.2)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to Nebius Group N.V. (908.2) (8.0) (916.2)

The following table presents the impact of corrections on affected consolidated statements of cash flows line items

for the year ended December 31, 2023:
Year ended December 31, 2023
As previously

reported Adjustment As revised
Selected Statements of Cash Flows Data:
Net loss from continuing operations (335.7) (5.8) (341.5)
Depreciation of property and equipment 26.6 1.3 27.9
Amortization of intangible assets 1.2 0.2 1.4
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) — (1.5) (1.5)
Foreign exchange gains 1.8 1.0 2.8
Other (0.2) 1.0 0.8
Changes in operating assets and liabilities excluding the effect of
acquisitions and divestitures:
Accounts receivable 1.6 0.5 2.1
Prepaid expenses (13.3) 4.8 8.5)
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and non-income taxes
payable 12.1 5.4 6.7
Deferred revenue 2.8 (0.5) 2.3
Other assets 8.2) 0.2 (8.0)
VAT reclaimable 9.7 10.7 1.0
Net cash used in operating activities — continuing operations (271.6) 6.5 (265.1)
Net cash provided by operating activities — discontinued operations 1,098.2 3.3) 1,094.9
Net cash provided by operating activities 826.6 32 829.8
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents, and
restricted cash and cash equivalents (99.4) (3.2) (102.6)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash and cash
equivalents (109.3) — (109.3)

The impacts of the revisions have been reflected throughout the accompanying consolidated financial statements,
including the applicable notes, as appropriate.
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18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Payment of withholding tax on shares received as part of consideration for the Divestment

In February 2025, the Company filed declarations for dividend withholding tax to the Dutch tax authorities and
subsequently paid EUR 173.7 million ($181.5 million at the exchange rate on the date of payment). The amount paid related
to the treatment of a portion of the Class A shares received as partial consideration for the Divestment as a repurchase of
shares, and corresponds to the contingent liability reflected in the Company’s balance sheets as of December 31, 2024, as
disclosed in Note 11 “Commitments and Contingencies”.

Incorporation of Avride Holding Inc and updated Avride Group Equity Incentive Plan

On February 27, 2025, the Company effected a corporate reorganization of the Avride group, pursuant to which
Avride Holding Inc., a Delaware corporation and subsidiary of Nebius Group N.V., became the intermediate holding company
of the Avride group.

On March 6, 2025, the board of directors of Avride Holding Inc. authorized and approved the adoption of a new
Avride Employee Stock Incentive Plan ("Avride ESOP"), a participating subsidiary plan under the Company’s Amended and
Restated Equity Incentive Plan. The Avride ESOP authorizes the grant of equity awards in respect of up to 7,926,674 shares of
common stock of Avride Holding Inc. (representing 20% of the fully diluted share capital of Avride Group Inc).

These events did not result in any effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

Grant of share options to senior management personnel

In April 2025 the Company’s Board of Directors approved the grant of “premium-priced” share options in respect of
2,000,000 Class A shares to each of three members of senior management at an exercise price of $100 per share. These awards
are intended to incentivize exceptional long-term performance and drive exceptional growth in shareholder value. The awards
vest quarterly over four years from January 1, 2025, and once vested will remain exercisable for up to ten years, including in
the case of termination other than for cause or good reason.
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PART IIL.
Item 17. Financial Statements
See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”
Item 18. Financial Statements.

See the financial statements beginning on page F-1.
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Item 19. Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

1.1T Articles of Association, as amended as of August 2024.

2.1% Description of Capital Stock

2.2 Nebius Group N.V. Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan

4.1" Share Purchase Agreement in relation to International Joint Stock Company “Yandex” dated as of
February 4, 2024, between Nebius Group N.V. (f/k/a Yandex N.V.) and Closed-end Mutual Investment
Fund “Consortium First” (under the trust management of Joint Stock Company Solid Management)_

with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 26, 2024)

4.2" Deed of Amendment dated as of March 28, 2024, in relation to Share Purchase Agreement in relation to
International Joint Stock Company “Yandex” dated as of February 4, 2024, between Nebius Group N.V.
(f/k/a Yandex N.V.) and Closed-end Mutual Investment Fund “Consortium First” (under the trust

April 26, 2024),
4.3" Deed of Undertaking dated as of February 4, 2024, between Nebius Group N.V. (f/k/a Yandex N.V.) and
International Joint Stock Company “Yandex” (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of our Annual

26,2024)

44" Form of Investor Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of our Form 6-K (file no. 001-
35173)_filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 2, 2024)

8.17 Principal Subsidiaries

117 Insider Trading Policy
12.1% Certification by Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
12.27 Certification by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
13.1%  Certification by Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
15.17  Consent of Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V. — Audit, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

1527 Consent of Technologies of Trust — Audit JSC, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
16.17  Letter from Technologies of Trust — Audit JSC, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
99.17 Report of Technologies of Trust — Audit JSC, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, with

99.2" Consent of Technologies of Trust — Audit JSC, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

101  The following financial information formatted in Inline eXtensible Business Reporting Language
(XBRL): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024, (ii) Consolidated Statements of
Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, (v) Consolidated
Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, and
(vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

104 Inline XBRL for the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 20-F, included in the Exhibit 101 Inline
XBRL Document Set

*  Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.
T Filed herewith.
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and authorized the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

Nebius Group N.V.
By:/s/ Ron Jacobs

Name: Ron Jacobs
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Date: April 30, 2025
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Exhibit 1.1

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

In this translation an attempt has been made to be as literal as possible without jeopardizing the overall continuity.
Inevitably, differences may occur in translation, and if so the Dutch text will by law govern.

CONTINUOUS TEXT of the articles of association of the public company: Nebius Group N.V. (previously named:
Yandex N.V.), established in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, after deed of partial amendment of the articles of association
executed on the sixteenth day of August two thousand and twenty-four, before A.J. Wiggers, civil-law notary in
Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
Definitions.

Article 1.

1. Inthe Articles of Association the following words and expressions shall have the meaning hereby assigned to them:

a. "Articles of Association" means: the articles of association of the Company in their current form and as
amended from time to time;

b. "Audit Committee" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 15;

c. "Board of Directors" means: the body of individual persons controlling the management of the Company’s
business consisting of Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors as referred to in Article 12;

d. "Book 2" means: Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

€. "Chairman" means: the Non-Executive Director serving as chairman of the Board of Directors;
f.  "Class A Ordinary Shares" means: class A ordinary shares in the capital of the Company;

g. "Class B Ordinary Shares" means: class B ordinary shares in the capital of the Company;

h. "Class C Ordinary Shares" means: class C ordinary shares in the capital of the Company;

i.  "Company" means: the corporate legal entity governed by these Articles of Association;

j.  "Compensation Committee" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 15;

k. "Conversion Foundation" means: Stichting Yandex Conversion, a foundation incorporated under Dutch law
with statutory seat in The Hague and its business office at Schiphol Boulevard 165, 1118 BG Schiphol (the
Netherlands);

1.  "Director" means: an Executive Director or Non-Executive Director;
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"Executive Director" means: a member of the Board of Directors being appointed as executive director
(uitvoerend bestuurder) and as such entrusted with the responsibility for the day-to-day management of the
Company;

"General Meeting" means: the members constituting the general meeting, and also: meetings of that body of

members;

"Independence Criteria" means: the criteria set forth in the definition of "independent director" in Rule 5605
of the Nasdagq listing Rules (or any successor thereto); or such other independence criteria as may be applicable
under the rules of any stock exchange on which the Company’s equity securities are then publicly traded;

"Initial Qualified Holder" means, in relation to any Class B Ordinary Share, the person holding such Class B
Ordinary Share pursuant to the conversion into Class B Ordinary Shares of ordinary shares in the capital of the

Company on the tenth day of October two thousand eight;

"Meeting of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares" means: the meeting of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares;
"Meeting of holders of Class B Ordinary Shares" means: the meeting of holders of Class B Ordinary Shares;
"Meeting of holders of Class C Ordinary Shares" means: the meeting of holders of Class C Ordinary Shares;
"Nominating Committee" shall have the meaning set forth in Article 15;

"Non-Executive Director" means: a member of the Board of Directors appointed as non-executive director
(niet-uitvoerend bestuurder) not being entrusted with the responsibility for the day-to-day management of the
Company;

"Non-Qualified B Holder" with respect to any Class B Ordinary Share, means: anyone who is not a Qualified
B Holder of such Class B Ordinary Share or ceases to be a Qualified B Holder of such Class B Ordinary Share
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, a legal holder of a Class B Ordinary Share that has Transferred such
Class B Ordinary Share other than to a Permitted Transferee);

"Ordinary Shares" means: Class A Ordinary Shares, Class B Ordinary Shares and Class C Ordinary Shares;
"Permitted Transferee" in relation to any Class B Ordinary Share held by an Initial Qualified Holder means:

(i) such Initial Qualified Holder (as transferee of any Class B Ordinary Share retransferred to such Initial
Qualified Holder from its Permitted Transferee); and

(i) any estate or tax planning vehicle (including a trust, corporation and partnership), the beneficiaries of
which include such Initial Qualified Holder and/or members of the immediate family of such Initial
Qualified Holder, provided that (i) during such Initial Qualified Holder’s lifetime, such Initial Qualified
Holder retains (subject to any community or spousal property laws) sole voting and dispositive power
over such Class B Ordinary Share, and (ii) following the date on which such Initial Qualified Holder’s
dies, such vehicle shall continue to be a Permitted Transferee for a period of twenty-four (24) calendar
months; and provided further that the Transfer to such estate or tax
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2.

aa.

bb.

CC.

planning vehicle does not involve payment of any consideration (other than the interest in such trust,
corporation, partnership or other estate or tax planning vehicle);

"Qualified B Holder" means, in relation to any Class B Ordinary Share: the Company, the Initial Qualified
Holder of such Class B Ordinary Share and any Permitted Transferee thereof, in each case provided that such
Class B Ordinary Share has not been Transferred (including by way of a transfer of the legal holder thereof),
other than to a Permitted Transferee;

"Shares" means: Ordinary Shares;
"Shareholder(s)" means: any holder(s) of Shares;

"Subsidiary(ies)" means: (a) subsidiary(ies) (dochtermaatschappij(en)) as defined in section 24a of Book 2;
and

"Transfer" when used in relation to a Share, means: any direct or indirect sale, assignment, transfer under
general or specific title (algemene of bijzondere titel), conveyance, grant of any form of security interest (other
than as explicitly provided in this definition), or other transfer or disposition of a Share or any legal or
beneficial interest therein, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or involuntary or by operation of
law. A "Transfer" of a Share shall also include, without limitation, the transfer of, or entering into a binding
agreement with respect to, voting control over a Share by proxy or otherwise; provided, however, that the
following shall not be considered a "Transfer" of a Share: (a) the granting of a power of attorney to persons
designated by the Board of Directors of the Company in connection with actions to be taken at a General
Meeting of Shareholders; (b) solely with respect to Class B Ordinary Shares, the entering into or amendment,
solely by and among a Qualified B Holder and one or more of its Permitted Transferees, of a binding
agreement with respect to voting control over a Class B Ordinary Share; or (c) solely with respect to Class B
Ordinary Shares, the pledge of Class B Ordinary Shares by a Qualified B Holder that creates a mere security
interest in such shares pursuant to a bona fide loan or indebtedness transaction so long as the Qualified B
Holder continues to exercise voting control over such pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on
such Shares or other similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a "Transfer" of a Share.

The expressions "written" and "in writing" used in these Articles of Association mean: communications sent by post,

telefax, e-mail or by any other means of telecommunication capable of transmitting written text, unless Dutch

statutory law prescribes otherwise.

Name and Registered Office.
Article 2.

1.

2.

3.

The Company is a public limited liability company and its name is: Nebius Group N.V.

The Company has its registered office in Amsterdam (the Netherlands).

The Company may have branch offices elsewhere, also outside of the Netherlands.




Objects.
Article 3.

1.  The objects for which the Company is established are:

a. either alone or jointly with others to acquire and dispose of participations or other interests in bodies corporate,
companies and enterprises, to collaborate with and to manage such bodies corporate, companies or enterprises;

b. to acquire, manage, turn to account, encumber and dispose of any property - including intellectual property
rights - and to invest capital;

c. to supply or procure the supply of money loans, particularly - but not exclusively - loans to bodies corporate
and companies which are Subsidiaries and/or affiliates of the Company or in which the Company holds any
interest - all this subject to the provision in paragraph 2 of this Article - , as well as to draw or to procure the
drawing of money loans;

d. to enter into agreements whereby the Company grants security, commits itself as guarantor or severally liable
co-debtor, or declares itself jointly or severally liable with or for others, particularly - but not exclusively - to
the benefit of bodies corporate and companies as referred to above under c;

€. todo all such things as are incidental or conducive to the above objects or any of them.

2. The Company may not grant security, give price guarantees, commit itself in any other way or declare itself jointly
or severally liable with or for others with a view to enabling third parties to take or acquire Shares.

Capital.
Article 4.

The authorised capital of the Company is twelve million one hundred eleven thousand two hundred forty-five euro and
two eurocents (EUR 12,111,245.02), divided into:

five hundred seventy-four million eight hundred eighty-seven thousand three hundred sixteen (574,887,316) Shares of
which are:

(i) five hundred million (500,000,000) Class A Ordinary Shares, each with a par value of one eurocent (EUR 0.01);

(ii) thirty-seven million one hundred thirty-eight thousand six hundred fifty-eight (37,138,658) Class B Ordinary
Shares, each with a par value of ten eurocents (EUR 0.10); and

(iii) thirty-seven million seven hundred forty-eight thousand six hundred fifty-eight (37,748,658) Class C Ordinary
Shares, each with a par value of nine eurocents (EUR 0.09).

Transfer and conversion of Class B Ordinary Shares.
Article 4A.

1. Class B Ordinary Shares may only be Transferred to (i) Permitted Transferees, (ii) to the Conversion Foundation for
the purpose of conversion pursuant to Articles 4A and 4B and (iii) to the Company. Any other purported Transfer of
a Class B Ordinary Share shall be null and void.




Class B Ordinary Shares can be converted into Class A Ordinary Shares with due observance of this Article. In order
to cause the Class B Ordinary Shares to be converted into Class A Ordinary Shares, such Class B Ordinary Shares
must be transferred to the Conversion Foundation.

Upon execution of the transfer instrument pursuant to which the Class B Ordinary Shares are Transferred to the
Conversion Foundation, each Class B Ordinary Share is automatically converted into one (1) Class A Ordinary
Share and one (1) Class C Ordinary Share. Unless the Company shall be a party to the transfer instrument, the
Conversion Foundation shall forthwith notify the Company in writing of the conversion of Class B Ordinary Shares
as described in the preceding sentence. The transferor shall receive a Class A Ordinary Share from the Conversion
Foundation in exchange for each Class B Ordinary Share Transferred to the Conversion Foundation.

The Board of Directors shall forthwith register any such conversion of Shares in the register of Shareholders and
equally in any applicable company register.

The Company shall at all times reserve and keep available out of its authorized but unissued capital, solely for the
purpose of effecting the conversion of Class B Ordinary Shares, such number of Class A Ordinary Shares and Class
C Ordinary Shares as shall from time to time be sufficient to effect the conversion of all outstanding Class B
Ordinary Shares into Class A Ordinary Shares and Class C Ordinary Shares.

The Company may, from time to time, establish such policies and procedures relating to the conversion of the Class
B Ordinary Shares into Class A Ordinary Shares and Class C Ordinary Shares and the general administration of this
share capital structure as it may deem necessary or advisable, and may request that holders of Class B Ordinary
Shares furnish affidavits or other proof to the Company as it deems necessary to verify the legal and beneficial
ownership of Class B Ordinary Shares and the "Qualified B Holder" status of any such holder, and to confirm that
Class B Ordinary Shares are not held by a Non-Qualified B Holder.

For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that an Initial Qualified Holder Transfers Class B Ordinary Shares to a party
that falls within paragraph (ii) of the definition of Permitted Transferee, such party shall remain a Permitted
Transferee for a period of twenty-four (24) calendar months following the date on which such Initial Qualified
Holder dies. Upon such twenty-four (24) month anniversary, such party shall automatically cease to be a Qualified
B Holder.

Qualified shareholding of Class B Ordinary Shares.

Article 4B.

1. Only a Qualified B Holder may hold Class B Ordinary Shares.

2. If at any time a Class B Ordinary Share is held by a Non-Qualified B Holder, such Non-Qualified B Holder shall,
without prejudice to the stipulations of paragraph 4 of this Article, not be entitled to any dividend and/or voting
rights attached to the Class B Ordinary Shares held by such Non-Qualified B Holder.

3. If at any time a Class B Ordinary Share is held by a Non-Qualified B Holder, such Non-Qualified B Holder (the

"Transferor") shall notify the Company of this fact by written notice (the "Notice") within three (3) days after the
occurrence of the event pursuant to which the Transferor is obliged to serve the Notice. At the time of the Notice the
relevant Non-Qualified B Holder is obliged to offer his Class B Ordinary Shares to the Conversion Foundation (the
"Offer"), through which such Class B Ordinary Shares are converted into Class A Ordinary Shares and Class C
Ordinary Shares with due observance of Article 4A. The Transferor shall receive an equal number of Class A
Ordinary Shares from the Conversion Foundation in exchange for such Class B Ordinary Shares.
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If the Transferor fails to:
a. give the Notice and or make the Offer within the term provided in this Article; or

b. Transfer the relevant Class B Ordinary Shares to the Conversion Foundation within three (3) days of the
Notice,

the Company is irrevocably empowered and authorised to offer and Transfer the relevant Class B Ordinary Shares to
the Conversion Foundation and to accept the Class A Ordinary Shares in exchange for such Class B Ordinary Shares
for delivery to the Transferor.
If the Conversion Foundation fails to accept the offered Class B Ordinary Shares from the Transferor within three
(3) months after receipt of the Offer, then the Transferor’s dividend and voting rights attached to its Class B
Ordinary Shares shall revive.

Each Class B Ordinary Share held by a natural person that is a Qualified B Holder, or by its Permitted Transferees,
shall, following the death of such Qualified B Holder, be deemed to be held by a Non-Qualified B Holder; provided,
however, that in the event that an Initial Qualified Holder Transfers Class B Ordinary Shares to a party that falls
within paragraph (ii) of the definition of Permitted Transferee, such party shall remain a Permitted Transferee for a
period of twenty-four (24) calendar months following the date on which such Initial Qualified Holder dies. Upon
such twenty-four (24) month anniversary, such party shall automatically cease to be a Qualified B Holder.

Qualified shareholding of the Class C Ordinary Shares.
Article 4C.

1.

The Class C Ordinary Shares may only be held by the Conversion Foundation, the Company or another party that is
specifically nominated by the Board of Directors for this purpose. Any Transfer of Class C Ordinary Shares is
subject to prior written approval of the Board of Directors.

Any Transfer of the Class C Ordinary Shares in violation of paragraph 1 of this Article is null and void.

If and so long as any Class C Ordinary Share is not held by a party that meets the criteria laid down in paragraph 1
of this Article, the voting rights, dividend rights and other rights pertaining to such Class C Ordinary Share
(including, without limitation, the approval rights hereunder) may not be exercised.

Shares. Usufruct and pledge of Shares.

Article 5.

1. All Shares shall be registered shares. No share certificates shall be issued. The Board of Directors may number the
Shares in a manner determined at its sole discretion.

2. Shares may be encumbered with usufruct. At the creation of the right of usufruct in respect of Class A Ordinary
Shares it may be provided that the right to vote pertaining to the Class A Ordinary Shares shall vest in the
usufructuary. The voting rights pertaining to the Class B Ordinary Shares and the Class C Ordinary Shares may not
be transferred to a usufructuary.

3. Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares may be pledged as security. At the creation of the pledge in
respect of Class A Ordinary Shares it may be provided that the right to vote shall vest in the pledgee. The voting
rights pertaining to the Class B Ordinary Shares may not be transferred to a pledgee.

4. The Class C Ordinary Shares may not be pledged.




Addresses. Notices and announcements. Register of Shareholders.

Article 6.

1. Shareholders, pledgees and usufructuaries of Shares must supply their addresses, including their e-mail addresses (if
any), to the Company in writing.

2. Notices, announcements and generally all communications intended for the persons referred to in paragraph 1 of this
Article are to be sent in writing to the addresses they have supplied to the Company.

3. The Board of Directors shall keep a register in which shall be recorded all particulars as prescribed by law or, if
applicable, the rules and regulations of the stock exchange at which Shares are listed concerning shareholders,
usufructuaries and pledgees. In the register shall also be recorded each and any release from liability granted in
respect of monies unpaid and not yet called on Shares.

4.  The register of Shareholders shall be updated at regular times.

5. The Board of Directors shall be entitled to keep a part of the register of Sharcholders outside the Netherlands if such

is required for the compliance with foreign legalization or the rules and regulations of the stock exchange at which
the Shares are listed.

Issue of Shares.

Article 7.

1.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect, the General Meeting has the power to
resolve to issue Shares and to determine the price of issue and the other terms of issue, which terms may include
payment on Shares in a foreign currency. Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect
the General Meeting may transfer its aforesaid power to the Board of Directors for a period not exceeding five (5)
years. Such designation shall specify the number of Shares that may be issued and may also include the price (range)
at which such Shares may be issued. The designation may be extended, from time to time, for periods not exceeding
five (5) years. Unless such designation provides otherwise, it may not be withdrawn.

Within eight (8) days following a resolution by the General Meeting to issue Shares or to designate another body of
the Company, the Company shall file the full text of such resolution at the office of the Commercial Register with
which the Company is registered. Within eight (8) days after each issue of Shares, the Company shall report the

same to the office of said Commercial Register.

The provisions of paragraph 1 and 2 of this Article shall apply mutatis mutandis to the granting of rights to subscribe
for Shares, but not to the issue of Shares to a person exercising a previously acquired right to subscribe for Shares.

The Company or its Subsidiaries cannot subscribe for Shares.

When Shares are subscribed for, the amount of their par value must be paid at the same time and, in addition, if the
Share is subscribed at a higher amount, the difference between such amounts must be paid.

Calls upon the Shareholders in respect of any monies unpaid on their Shares shall be made by the Board of Directors
by virtue of a resolution of the General Meeting.

The body of the Company which has the power to resolve to issue Shares may resolve that payment on Shares shall
be made by some other means than payment in cash or by payments in a foreign (non-euro) currency.
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Pre-emptive right at issue of Shares.

Article 8.

1.

At the issue of any new Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares, the statutory rights of pre-emption
as laid down in Book 2 shall apply. No pre-emption rights shall apply in respect of the issue of the Class C Ordinary
Shares.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect, the General Meeting may each time in
respect of one particular issue of Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares, resolve to limit or to
exclude the pre-emptive right of subscription for the Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares,
provided that such resolution is passed at the same time as the resolution to issue the Class A Ordinary Shares and/or
Class B Ordinary Shares.

If at a General Meeting at which a proposal to limit or exclude the pre-emptive right to subscribe for Class A
Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares comes up for discussion and less than one half of the issued capital
is represented, a resolution to limit or exclude the pre-emptive right may only be adopted by at least two-thirds (2/3)
of the votes cast.

Any proposal to limit or exclude the pre-emptive right must contain a written explanation of the reasons for the
proposal and the choice of the proposed price (or price range or formula for the determination of such price,
including by reference to the market price of such Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares as of a
future date or dates) of issue.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect, the General Meeting can resolve that the
pre-emptive right may also be limited or excluded by the Board of Directors, for a period not exceeding five (5)
years.

Such designation may be renewed for subsequent periods not exceeding five (5) years each. Unless the terms of the
designation provide otherwise, it cannot be revoked.

Within eight (8) days following a resolution by the General Meeting to limit or exclude the pre-emptive right or to
designate the Board of Directors, the Company shall file the full text of such resolution at the office of the
Commercial Register.

A share issue at which Shareholders may exercise a pre-emptive right and the period during which said right is to be
exercised shall be announced by the Company to all Shareholders of the relevant class of Shares either in writing or
by a public announcement in a newspaper taking into account the rules and regulations of the stock exchange at
which Shares are listed. The pre-emptive right may be exercised during the period to be determined by the body of
the Company authorised to issue Shares, that period to be at least two (2) weeks from the day following the date of
despatch of the announcement.

The provisions of the preceding paragraphs of this Article shall apply mutatis mutandis to the granting of rights to
take Shares.

Transfer of Shares. Exercise of Shareholder’s rights.

Article 9.

If Shares are admitted to trading on a regulated market or multilateral trading facility, as referred to in article 1:1 of
the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht) or a system of a non-EU/EEA member state that is
comparable to a regulated market or multilateral trading facility (including, for purposes hereof, The Nasdaq Global
Select Market), the Transfer of a registered Share or of a limited right (beperkt recht) thereto shall require an
instrument intended for such purpose and, save when the Company itself is a party to such legal act, the written
acknowledgement by the Company of the Transfer. The acknowledgement shall be made in the instrument or by a
dated statement on the instrument or on a copy or extract thereof mentioning the
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acknowledgement signed as a true copy thereof by a civil-law notary or the transferor. Service of such instrument of
transfer, copy or extract on the Company shall be deemed to constitute such acknowledgement.

2. Following a Transfer referred to in paragraph 1 of this Article, the rights attached to the Shares concerned may not
be exercised until the instrument of transfer has been served upon the Company or until the Company has
acknowledged the transaction in writing or has been deemed to have acknowledged such transaction. The provision
in the preceding sentence shall not apply if the Company itself has been a party to the transaction.

Acquisition by the Company of its own Shares.
Article 10.

1. Any acquisition by the Company of partly-paid Shares shall be null and void.

2. Provided that the General Meeting has given the Board of Directors authorisation for this purpose, the Company
may acquire fully paid-up Shares provided that:

a. the Company’s equity capital, reduced by the acquisition price, is not less than the sum of the issued and paid-
up capital and the reserves to be maintained pursuant to the law;

b. following the transaction contemplated, at least one issued Share remains outstanding and is not held by the
Company; and

c. in case the Company is admitted to trading on a regulated market or multilateral trading facility, as referred to
in article 1:1 of the Financial Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht) or a system from a non-EU/EEA
member state that is comparable to a regulated market or multilateral trading facility (including, for purposes
hereof, The Nasdaq Global Select Market), the par value of the Shares to be acquired, already held by the
Company or already encumbered for the benefit of the Company as pledgee or which are held by (or
encumbered for the benefit of) Subsidiaries, does not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the issued capital of the
Company.

3. The factor deciding whether the acquisition is valid shall be the amount of the equity of the Company as shown in its
most recently adopted balance sheet, reduced by the acquisition price of Shares and any payments from profit or
reserves to others which may have become due by the Company and its Subsidiaries after the balance sheet date.

If more than six (6) months of a financial year have passed without the annual accounts having been adopted, the
acquisition of own Shares under paragraph 2 of this Article shall not be permitted until such time as such most
recent annual accounts have been so adopted.

4. The authorisation of the General Meeting, referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article, which shall be valid for a
maximum of eighteen (18) months only, must specify how many Shares are permitted to be acquired, the manner in
which they may be acquired and the permitted upper and lower limits of the price.

5. The preceding paragraphs of this Article shall not apply in respect of (i) Shares which the Company may acquire
gratuitously or by universal succession and (ii) Shares that are listed at a stock exchange which are acquired for the
purpose of distribution of such Shares to employees of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries pursuant to an employee
option plan.

6. Any acquisition of Shares by the Company made in breach of the provisions of paragraph 2 of this Article shall be
null and void.

7.  Shares owned by the Company shall not bear any dividend rights unless rights of usufruct are created, for the benefit
of a usufructuary other than the Company or its Subsidiaries, in respect of such Shares prior to the
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acquisition by the Company, in which case the holder of usufruct shall be entitled to any dividends on the underlying
Shares. Shares owned by the Company or its Subsidiaries shall not bear any voting rights unless the voting rights are
transferred to a usufructuary or pledgee pursuant to a right of usufruct or a right of pledge that was created, for the
benefit of a usufructuary or pledgee other than the Company or its Subsidiaries, in respect of Class A Ordinary
Shares prior to the acquisition of such Class A Ordinary Shares by the Company or its Subsidiaries respectively.

Reduction of capital.

Article 11.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect, the General Meeting may resolve to
reduce the issued capital by a cancellation of Shares or by a reduction of the par value of the Shares by amendment
of the Articles of Association. Such resolution to reduce the issued capital of the Company must indicate the Shares
to which it relates and provisions for its implementation must be included.

A resolution to cancel Shares may only relate to i) Shares held by the Company, or ii) to all the Shares of a particular
class, in respect of which the Articles of Association provide that the same may be cancelled against repayment of
their par value.

As provided in clause (ii) of paragraph 2 of this Article 11, Class C Ordinary Shares may be cancelled against
repayment of their par value.

If the General Meeting resolves to reduce the par value of the Shares by amendment of the Articles of Association -
regardless whether this is done without redemption or against partial repayment on the Shares or upon release from
the obligation to pay up the Shares - such reduction must be made pro rata on all Shares of a particular class.

A resolution for reduction of capital shall require a majority of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast, if less than
one half of the issued capital is represented at the relevant General Meeting.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

Composition and Remuneration.

Article 12.

1.

The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by a Board of Directors consisting of one (1) or more
Executive Directors and three (3) or more Non-Executive Directors. A majority of the members of the Board of
Directors shall consist of Non-Executive Directors.

Only individuals shall be eligible for appointment as Executive Director or Non-Executive Director. No person shall
be eligible for appointment or re-appointment as a Non-Executive Director, if:

a. such person is currently, or within two (2) years prior to appointment has been, a political appointee, a member
of a governing body of a political party, a government official, a member or employee of any state apparatus, a
member of parliament, or a political office-holder, in each case in respect of any country in the world.

b. such person is currently, or within two (2) years prior to appointment has been, an employee of a company that
is majority owned or controlled by any government (or any division thereof).

C. such person has any criminal record.
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d. such person is a person with whom the Company or its Board of Directors is prohibited by any applicable
national or supra-national law or regulation from having any dealings.

e. such person has, or within two (2) years has had, a personal or qualified conflict of interest with the Company,
meaning any commercial relationship with any business (other than in the areas/lines of activities in academic
science, education and not-for-profit medicine) that competes with the Company (which, for the avoidance of
doubt, shall include any business that competes with any business of the Company that generates more than
one percent (1%) of the consolidated revenues of the Company for the six (6) months preceding the Company’s
last reporting date based on its consolidated financial statement prepared in accordance with US GAAP). For
purposes hereof, a "commercial relationship" shall mean, in respect of such person or such person’s close
relatives (spouse, parents, spouse’s parents, children, siblings or any person sharing the person’s household) or
entities controlled by such person or such person’s close relatives or in which such person or his/her close
relatives have a shareholding of more than one percent (1%) in the case of a publicly listed company or three
percent (3%) in the case of a private company, any of the following: (i) employment, (ii) membership on the
board of directors or equivalent body, (iii) any consulting relationship (whether paid or unpaid), or a
shareholding in excess of one percent (1%) in the case of a publicly listed company or three percent (3%) in the
case of a private company;

f.  as a result of the appointment of such person, the Board of Directors would fail to include at least a simple
majority of members who satisfy the Independence Criteria.

If a person is not eligible for appointment or re-appointment as a Non-Executive Director for any reason set out in
sub (a) up to including (f) of this paragraph, the Board of Directors may decide by simple majority that such person
is still eligible for appointment or re-appointment by waiving such criteria (an "Eligibility Waiver").

In the event that any duly appointed Director subsequently ceases to satisfy the criteria set forth in paragraph 2
above, as reasonably determined by the Board of Directors acting by simple majority, or the Board of Directors
acting by simple majority revokes its Eligibility Waiver in respect of such Director, he or she shall be deemed to
have automatically resigned from the Board of Directors, effective thirty (30) days following the date notice of such
determination or revocation, as the case may be, has been provided by the Board of Directors to such Director.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the duly appointed Director ceases to satisfy the criteria set forth in paragraph 2(d)
as a result of the Company expanding its business or entering into a new line of business, such Director shall be
deemed to continue to satisfy such criteria until the next annual General Meeting (or, if such conflict arises less than
six (6) months prior to the next annual General Meeting, until the next succeeding annual General Meeting). For
purposes of the preceding sentence, the consolidated revenues threshold set forth in paragraph 2(d) above shall be
five percent (5%), rather than one percent (1%).

Subject to paragraph 5 of this Article, the Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors shall be appointed
by the General Meeting for a maximum period of four (4) years, provided however, that, unless such Director has
resigned at an earlier date, a Director shall cease to hold office on the date of the first General Meeting held in the
fourth year following the year in which he was appointed Director. Directors shall be immediately eligible for re-
appointment at the General Meeting at which they cease to hold office.

The Board of Directors shall make a non-binding nomination in respect of any Director to be appointed by the
General Meeting. If the person nominated by the Board of Directors is subsequently not appointed by the General

Meeting, the Board of Directors will be allowed to make a new non-binding nomination.
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10.

The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint from its Executive Directors a Chief Executive Officer by a
simple majority (whereby for this purpose the majority is calculated as if the member of the Board of Directors who
is object of appointment or removal as CEO would not be in office).

The Board of Directors shall have the power to appoint from its Non-Executive Directors a Chairman.

The General Meeting shall adopt general guidelines in respect of the remuneration of the members of the Board of
Directors and of the person(s) referred to in paragraph 3 of Article 13 (the "Remuneration Policy").

With due observation to the Remuneration Policy, the Board of Directors may establish a remuneration for the
members of the Board of Directors in respect of the performance of their duties. It being understood that, in
accordance with the principle laid down in Article 13 paragraph 5, Executive Directors shall not participate in the
decision making process relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors.

Directors may be suspended and/or removed from office by the General Meeting at any time, such resolution
requiring a majority of at least two-thirds (2/3) of the votes cast in a meeting, such two-thirds (2/3) majority
representing at least fifty percent (50%) of the issued and outstanding capital of the Company. The Director
concerned shall be given the opportunity to account for his conduct at the General Meeting. For that purpose he may
have himself assisted by a legal adviser.

Article 13.

Resolutions of the Board of Directors taken at a meeting are adopted with a simple majority of the votes cast. Each
Director shall have one vote. If the voting for and against a proposal is equally divided, another vote shall be taken if
so demanded by any Director.

The Board of Directors shall draw up board rules to deal with matters that concern the Board of Directors internally
and the division of duties within the Board of Directors and its committees; the adoption and amendment of such

internal rules shall require the approval of the Board of Directors.

The rules of the Board of Directors may inter alia include an allocation of tasks among the members of the Board of
Directors and shall contain provisions concerning the matter in which meetings of the Board of Directors are called
and held. The rules of the Board of Directors may stipulate that certain resolutions of the Board of Directors may
validly be passed by one or more Directors, provided that the relevant resolutions are within the scope of the task(s)
allocated to this or these particular Director(s).

In the event that one or more Directors has ceased to hold office (ontstentenis) or is unable to execute his/her duties
and responsibilities (belef), the General Meeting can appoint a substitute Director who will be entrusted with the role
of the absent or prevented Director during such period of absence until a new Director has been appointed in
accordance with Article 12. The appointment of a substitute Director may be made at any time, including at the time
of appointment of the original Director.

In the event that all Executive Directors or the sole Executive Director shall have ceased to hold office or be unable
to execute their duties and responsibilities and no substitute Directors have been appointed, the Executive Director
role in the management of the Company shall be temporarily entrusted to the person designated or to be designated
for that purpose by the General Meeting.

The provisions of the Articles of Association concerning the Board of Directors and the Director(s) individually
shall apply mutatis mutandis to the person referred to in the previous sentence. Furthermore, that person shall be
required to call a General Meeting as soon as possible, which General Meeting may decide on the appointment of
one or several new Directors.
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The Board of Directors may pass resolutions in writing, provided that all members of the Board of Directors have
been consulted on the proposed resolution(s) and none of the members of the Board of Directors have objected
against this form of resolution. A resolution in writing by the Board of Directors requires a simple majority of the
members of the Board of Directors.

Any Director with a conflict of interest in respect of the Company and/or its business shall refrain from participating
in the deliberations and decision making of the Board of Directors in this particular matter. If as a direct result of the
foregoing, no resolution can be adopted by the Board of Directors, such resolution will be put before the General
Meeting and subsequently the General Meeting can resolve on the matter.

Decision by the Board of Directors subject to approval by the General Meeting
Article 14.

Without prejudice to any other applicable provisions of these Articles of Association, decisions of the Board of Directors

involving a major change in the Company’s identity or character are subject to the approval of the General Meeting,

including:

a. the transfer of the enterprise or substantially all of the enterprise of the Company to a third party;

b. the conclusion or cancellation of any long-lasting cooperation by the Company or a Subsidiary with any other legal
person or company or as a fully liable general partner of a limited partnership or a general partnership, provided that
such cooperation or the cancellation thereof is of essential importance to the Company; and

c. the acquisition or disposal of a participating interest in the capital of a company with a value of at least one-third of

the sum of the assets according to the consolidated balance sheet with explanatory notes thereto according to the last
adopted annual accounts of the Company, by the Company or a Subsidiary.

Duties and powers of the Directors.
Atrticle 15.

L.

The Board of Directors is in charge of the management of the Company. The duties, powers and authorities of the
Board of Directors are divided between the Executive Director(s) and Non-Executive Directors, whereby the
Executive Director(s) will be responsible for the management of the day to day affairs of the Company and the Non-
Executive Directors will be responsible for the supervision of the execution of the duties and responsibilities of the
members of the Board of Directors and of the general course of affairs of the Company and its business. Subject to
the division of duties, powers and authorities set out in the previous sentence, the Board of Directors may attribute
additional duties, powers and authorities to Non-Executive Directors. Any such attribution of duties, powers and
authorities should be set out in the board rules drawn up by the Board of Directors pursuant paragraph 2 of Article
13.

The Board of Directors may install committees consisting of members of the Board of Directors, and/or
management of the Company and/or its Subsidiaries.

The Board of Directors may designate certain tasks and functions to the committees referred to in the previous
paragraph of this Article.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Board of Directors shall install:

a. a committee of three (3) Non-Executive Directors (the "Audit Committee"), each of whom shall satisfy the
Independence Criteria, which shall have the powers and authority set forth in its charter, as the same may be
adopted and approved by the Board of Directors from time to time, acting by simple majority;
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b. a committee of three (3) Non-Executive Directors (the "Compensation Committee"), each of whom shall
satisfy the Independence Criteria, which shall have the powers and authority set forth in its charter, as the same
may be adopted and approved by the Board of Directors from time to time, acting by simple majority;

c. acommittee of three (3) Non-Executive Directors (the "Nominating Committee"), each of whom shall satisfy
the Independence Criteria, which shall have the powers and authority set forth in its charter, as the same may
be adopted and approved by the Board of Directors from time to time, acting by simple majority.

5. The Board of Directors may appoint a company secretary to assist the Board of Directors. The company secretary
will be admitted to meetings of the Board of Directors and the General Meeting.

Representation.
Article 16.

1. The Board of Directors shall represent the Company. The power to represent the Company shall also vest in each
Executive Director individually.

2. If an Executive Director performs any transaction in a private capacity to which transaction the Company also is a
party, or if an Executive Director, acting in his private capacity, conducts any legal action against the Company other
than as referred to in Section 15 of Book 2, each other Executive Director shall have the power to represent the
Company.

3. The Board of Directors may grant power of attorney for signature to one or several persons and may alter or revoke
such power of attorney.

Indemnity and Insurance.

Article 17.

1. To the extent permissible by law, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless:
a. each member of the Board of Directors, both former members and members currently in office;
b. each person who is or was serving as an officer of the Company;
c. each person who is or was serving as a proxy holder of the Company;

d. each person who is or was a member of the board or supervisory board or officer of other companies or
corporations, partnerships, joint ventures, trusts or other enterprises by virtue of their functional responsibilities
with the Company and or its Subsidiaries,

(each of them, for the purpose of this Article only, an "indemnified person"), against any and all liabilities, claims,
judgments, fines and penalties ("claims") incurred by the indemnified person as a result of any threatened, pending
or completed action, investigation or other proceeding, whether civil, criminal or administrative (each, a "legal
action"), brought by any party other than the Company itself or any Subsidiaries, in relation to acts or omissions in
or related to his capacity as an indemnified person.

2. Claims will include derivative actions brought on behalf of the Company or any Subsidiaries against the indemnified
person and claims by the Company (or any Subsidiaries) itself for reimbursement for claims by third parties on the
ground that the indemnified person was jointly liable toward that third party in addition to the Company.
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10.

I1.

The indemnified person will not be indemnified with respect to claims insofar as they relate to the gaining in fact of
personal profits, advantages or compensation to which he was not legally entitled, or if the indemnified person shall
have been adjudged to be liable for willful misconduct (opzef) or intentional recklessness (bewuste roekeloosheid).

Any expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation costs) (collectively, "expenses") incurred by the
indemnified person in connection with any legal action shall be settled or reimbursed by the Company, but only
upon receipt of a written undertaking by that indemnified person that he shall repay such expenses if a competent
court in an irrevocable judgment has determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified. Expenses shall be deemed
to include any tax liability which the indemnified person may be subject to as a result of his indemnification.

Also in case of a legal action against the indemnified person by the Company itself or any Subsidiary/ies, the
Company will settle or reimburse to the indemnified person his reasonable attorneys’ fees and litigation costs, but
only upon receipt of a written undertaking by that indemnified person that he shall repay such fees and costs if a
competent court in an irrevocable judgment has resolved the legal action in favor of the Company or the relevant
Subsidiary/ies rather than the indemnified person.

Expenses incurred by the indemnified person in connection with any legal action will also be settled or reimbursed
by the Company in advance of the final disposition of such action, but only upon receipt of a written undertaking by
that indemnified person that he shall repay such expenses if a competent court in an irrevocable judgment has
determined that he is not entitled to be indemnified.

Such expenses incurred by indemnified persons may be so advanced upon such terms and conditions as the Board of
Directors decides.

The indemnified person shall not admit any personal financial liability vis-a-vis third parties, nor enter into any
settlement agreement, without the Company’s prior written authorization.

The Company and the indemnified person shall use all reasonable endeavors to cooperate with a view to agreeing on
the defense of any claims, but in the event that the Company and the indemnified person would fail to reach such
agreement, the indemnified person shall comply with all reasonable directions given by the Company, in order to be
entitled to the indemnity contemplated by this Article.

The indemnity contemplated by this Article shall not apply to the extent claims and expenses are reimbursed by
insurers.

The Company will provide for and bear the cost of adequate insurance covering claims against the indemnified
person, unless such insurance cannot be obtained at reasonable terms.

This Article can be amended without the consent of the indemnified persons as such. However, the indemnity
provided herein shall nevertheless continue to apply to claims and/or expenses incurred in relation to the acts or
omissions by the indemnified person during the periods in which this clause was in effect.

At its discretion, the Board of Directors may have the Company indemnify other members of the management team,
not being members of the Board of Directors, or other employees, each in case of the Company or of a Subsidiary,
comparable to the indemnification provided herein for the benefit of other indemnified persons.
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GENERAL MEETING.
Notice and venue of the General Meeting,

Article 18.

L.

Without prejudice to the provisions of Article 25, General Meetings shall be held as frequently as the Board of
Directors may wish. The power to call the General Meeting shall vest in the Board of Directors, in each Executive
Director individually and/or the Chairman.

The Board of Directors may determine a registration date for the purpose of registration of Shareholders who can
attend the relevant meeting and in order to establish the number of votes to be exercised at such General Meeting. In
case the Board of Directors resolves to set a registration date for a General Meeting, any Shareholder who wishes to
attend such General Meeting must inform the Board of Directors of its intent to attend the General Meeting. At the
same time the registration date determines the number of votes that a Shareholder may cast in the General Meeting.
The aforesaid registration date is set on the twenty-eighth (28th) day prior to the day of the relevant General
Meeting. Should the Board of Directors resolve not to set a registration date, then all parties that can prove to hold
Shares on the day of the General Meeting may attend the General Meeting and such Shareholders shall be able
exercise votes on the basis of their Shares held on the day of the General Meeting.

The Board of Directors must call a General Meeting:

a. if one or several Shareholders jointly representing at least one tenth (1/10) of the issued capital so request the
Board of Directors, that request to specify the subjects to be discussed and voted upon;

b.  within three (3) months after the Board of Directors has considered it plausible that the equity capital of the
Company has decreased to an amount equal to or less than one-half of the paid and called up part of the capital.

If the General Meeting is not held within six (6) weeks after the request referred to under (a), the applicants
themselves may call the General Meeting - with due observance of the applicable provisions of the law and the
Articles of Association - provided that the President of the District Court has granted leave to such applicants for the
convocation of a General Meeting. The provisions of paragraph 2 of this Article shall apply mutatis mutandis to the
procedure of calling a General Meeting referred to in the preceding sentence.

Any Shareholder(s) who hold at least three one-hundredths (3/100) of the issued capital of the Company may
propose items for the agenda of the General Meeting. Such items for the agenda should together with an explanation
be submitted to the Board of Directors at least sixty (60) days prior to the day of the General Meeting at which it
shall be addressed. The Board of Directors will include such items for the agenda in an equal manner as items on the
agenda proposed by the Board of Directors.

Notice of the General Meeting must be given to each Shareholder. The term of notice must be at least fifteen (15)
clear days before the day on which the meeting is held. Notice shall be given by means of letters, specifying the
subjects to be discussed at the meeting. The notice should also contain information on a formal registration date (if
applicable) for the registration of Shareholders who can attend the relevant meeting and in order to establish the
number of votes to be exercised at such General Meeting.

General Meetings shall be held in The Hague, Amsterdam, Rotterdam, Utrecht or at Schiphol Airport in the
municipality of Haarlemmermeer. Entirely without prejudice to the provisions of paragraph 3 of this Article, any
resolution passed at a General Meeting held elsewhere - in or outside the Netherlands - shall be valid only if the
requirements of notice set out in paragraph 5 of this Article have been complied with and the entire issued and
outstanding share capital is represented.
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Admittance to and chairmanship of the General Meeting,

Article 19.

1. The Shareholders are entitled to admittance to the General Meeting. The Directors of the Company also are entitled
to admittance, with the exception of any Director who has been suspended, and admittance shall further be granted
to any person whom the chairman of the meeting concerned has invited to attend the General Meeting or any part of
that meeting.

2. If a Shareholder wishes to attend a General Meeting by proxy, he must issue a written power of attorney for that

purpose, which power of attorney must be presented to the chairman of the meeting concerned.

3. The General Meeting shall be presided over by the Chairman. In case the Chairman is not available the Board of
Directors shall appoint the chairman of the General Meeting.

4. Unless a notarial record of the business transacted at the meeting is drawn up, or unless the chairman of the General
Meeting himself wishes to keep minutes of the meeting, the chairman shall designate a person charged with keeping
the minutes.

The minutes shall be adopted by the General Meeting at the same meeting or at a subsequent meeting, in evidence of
which the minutes shall be signed by the chairman of the General Meeting and the secretary of the meeting at which
the minutes were adopted.

5. The chairman of the General Meeting decides on all issues regarding admittance to the meeting, voting and the order
of the meeting.

Voting rights. Decision-making,

Article 20.

1. Each Class A Ordinary Share carries the right to cast one (1) vote. Each Class B Ordinary Share carries the right to
cast ten (10) votes. Each Class C Ordinary Share carries the right to cast nine (9) votes.

2. In determining the extent to which the Shareholders cast votes, are present or are represented, or the extent to which
the share capital is represented the Shares in respect of which no votes may be cast shall not be taken into account.

3. Unless the Articles of Association stipulate a larger majority, all resolutions of the General Meeting shall be passed
by a simple majority of the votes cast.

4. Blank votes and invalid votes shall not be counted as votes.

5. Votes on business matters - including proposals concerning the suspension, dismissal or removal of persons - shall
be taken by voice or acclamation, but votes on the election of persons shall be taken by secret ballot, unless the
chairman of the General Meeting decides on a different method of voting and none of the persons present at the
meeting object to such different method of voting.

6. If at the election of persons the voting for and against the proposal is equally divided, another vote shall be taken at
the same meeting; if then again the votes are equally divided, then - without prejudice to the provision in the
following sentence of this paragraph - such person shall not be elected.

If at an election of persons the vote is taken between more than two candidates and none of the candidates receive
the simple majority of votes, another vote - where necessary after an interim vote - shall be taken between the two
candidates who have received the largest number of votes in their favor.
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If the voting for and against any other proposal than as first referred to in this paragraph is equally divided, that
proposal shall be rejected.

7. The General Meeting may resolve to allow a Shareholder to attend and participate in the General Meeting by
electronic means of communication, if and to the extent the identity of the thus attending Shareholder can be verified
by the chairman of the General Meeting. Electronic votes submitted to the Board of Directors within twenty-eight
(28) days of the General Meeting shall be considered to be issued at the General Meeting, provided the means of
communication allows the chairman of the General Meeting to verify the identity of the voting Shareholder.

8. A Shareholder can be excluded from admittance and participation in a General Meeting when required pursuant to
sanctions legislation applicable to the Company and/or its Shareholders. The Board of Directors is authorised to
determine at its own discretion whether a Shareholder qualifies for such exclusion as referred to in the previous

sentence.

Shareholders’ proxy. Shares belonging to any community of property or joint estate.

Article 21.

1. In respect of any or all of his Shares a Shareholder may give one or several persons written power of attorney to
exercise any or all of the rights attached to those Shares. Such power of attorney may not be given in respect of one
and the same Share to more than one person simultaneously. The powers referred to in this paragraph may also vest
in usufructuaries and pledgees of Class A Ordinary Shares. The Board of Directors may invoke certain rules on the
registration of proxies as referred to in this paragraph.

2. Joint owners of any community of property or joint estate comprising Shares or a limited right to Shares may only
exercise their rights by giving one or several persons written power of attorney to exercise said rights. If power of
attorney is given to several persons, such power of attorney must specify in respect of which number of Shares each
proxy is authorised to exercise the rights attached thereto.

Decision-making outside a meeting,

Article 22.

Unless statutory provisions provide otherwise, any resolution which Shareholders entitled to vote can pass at a General
Meeting may also be passed by them outside a meeting, provided that they all express themselves in writing in favor of
the proposal concerned. The persons who have passed a resolution outside a meeting shall immediately inform the Board
of Directors of that resolution.

Meetings of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares,
meetings of holders of Class B Ordinary Shares, and

meetings of holders of Class C Ordinary Shares.
Article 23.

1. Meetings of holders of a particular class of Shares shall be convened by the Board of Directors.

2. The convocation shall take place not later than on the fifth (5™) day prior to the day on which the meeting shall take

place.

3. A meeting of any class of Shares shall be held in the Netherlands at the place notified in convocation; provided,
however, that if all of the holders of such class of Shares so agree, (i) a meeting of such class may instead be
convened elsewhere, or (ii) such holders may pass resolutions in writing in accordance with Article 22.
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4. Other than as varied by paragraphs 2 and 3 above, Articles 18 through 22 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to any
meeting referred to in this Article.

Financial Year. Annual accounts.

Article 24.

1.  The financial year of the Company shall be equal to the calendar year.

2. Each year within five (5) months after the end of the Company’s financial year, save where this term is extended by
a maximum of five (5) months by the General Meeting on account of special circumstances, the Board of Directors
shall draw up annual accounts and an annual report on that financial year. To these documents shall be added the
particulars referred to in Section 392, sub-section 1, of Book 2. However, if the provisions of Section 403 of Book 2
have been applied to the Company and if and to the extent that the General Meeting does not decide otherwise:

a. the obligation to draw up the annual report; and
b. the obligation to add to the annual accounts the particulars referred to in Section 392 of Book 2,
shall not apply.

If the Company qualifies as a legal entity in the terms of Section 395a sub-section 1, Section 396 sub-section 1 or
Section 397 sub-section 1 of Book 2 the Company shall not be required to make an annual report unless by law the
Company must establish a works council or unless no later than six (6) months from the start of the financial year
concerned the General Meeting has resolved otherwise.

3. The annual accounts shall be signed by all Directors. If the signatures of one or more of the Directors are missing,
this and the reason for such absence shall be stated.

4. The Board of Directors shall ensure that the annual accounts and, if required, the annual report and the particulars
added by virtue of Section 392 of Book 2 shall be available at the office of the Company as soon as possible but not
later than as from the date of notice calling the General Meeting intended for the discussion and approval thereof.
Said documents shall be open to the inspection of the Shareholders at the office of the Company and copies thereof
may be obtained by them free of charge.

Annual General Meeting. Adoption of annual accounts.

Article 25.

1. Each year at least one General Meeting shall be held, that meeting to be held within six (6) months after the end of
the Company’s last expired financial year.

2. The annual accounts shall be adopted by the General Meeting.

Profits and losses.
Article 26.

1. The distributable profit of the Company shall be at the disposal of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors determines the amount of the profit of the Company that shall be allocated to the profit
reserves and the amount of profit available for distribution.

2. The Company may distribute profit only if and to the extent that its equity exceeds the sum of the paid and called-up
part of the issued capital and the reserves which must be maintained by virtue of the law.
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10.

I1.

If and when the Board of Directors resolves to allocate or distribute a profit, the holders of Shares shall be entitled
pari passu to the profits of the Company, pro rata to the total number of Class A Ordinary Shares, Class B Ordinary
Shares and Class C Ordinary Shares held, provided that out of the profit of any financial year, the holders of Class C
Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to a maximum amount equal to one percent (1%) of the nominal value of such
Class C Ordinary Shares, without prejudice to the provisions below.

Dividends may be paid only after approval and adoption of the annual accounts which show that they are justified.

For the purposes of determining the allocation of profits, (i) any Shares held by the Company (except as otherwise
provided in paragraph 7 of Article 10), (ii) any Shares of which the Company has a usufruct and (iii) any shares of
which the dividend rights are suspended by the Board of Directors in accordance with paragraph 11 of this Article,
shall not be taken into account.

The Board of Directors may resolve to declare interim dividends out of the profits realised in the current financial
year. Dividend payments as referred to in this paragraph may be made only if the provision in paragraph 2 of this
Article has been met as evidenced by an interim statement of assets and liabilities as referred to in Section 105
subsection 4 of Book 2.

The distributable reserves of the Company shall be at the disposal of the Board of Directors and with due observance
of the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article.

Unless the Board of Directors sets a different term for that purpose, dividends shall be made payable within thirty
(30) days after they are declared.

The Board of Directors may resolve that dividends are satisfied in whole or in part by the distribution of assets or the
issue of Shares.

Any deficit may be set off against the statutory reserves only if and to the extent permitted by law.

A Shareholder can be excluded from receiving dividend payments when required pursuant to sanctions legislation
applicable to the Company and/or its Shareholders. The Board of Directors is authorised to determine at its own
discretion whether a Shareholder qualifies for such exclusion as referred to in the previous sentence.

Amendment of Articles of Association. Merger. Demerger. Division.

Article 27.

L.

Upon receipt of a written proposal of the Board of Directors to this effect, the General Meeting may resolve to
amend the Articles of Association, to conclude a legal merger or demerger or to dissolve the Company in the terms
of Part 7 of Book 2.

The adoption of a resolution to amend the Articles of Association, to conclude a legal merger or demerger, in the
terms of Part 7 of Book 2, or to dissolve the Company requires a two/thirds (2/3) majority of the votes cast in the
General Meeting.

For the adoption of a resolution to amend the Articles of Association in which (a) the rights, including but not
limited to the calculation of entitlement to any profits, of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares are taken
away/affected, including but not limited to any change in the dividend or liquidation entitlement of the holders of
Class B Ordinary Shares or Class C Ordinary Shares; (b) the definitions of "Initial Qualified Holder", "Non-
Qualified B Holder", "Permitted Transferee", "Qualified B Holder" or "Transfer" are changed; (c) any
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amendment is made to Article 4A, Article 4B or this Article 27; or (d) the number of authorized Class B Ordinary
Shares is to be increased; the prior approval of the Meeting of holders of Class A Ordinary Shares is required, which
resolution requires a majority of at least three/fourth (3/4) of the votes cast at such meeting.

Article 28.

1. The General Meeting shall have the power to resolve to wind up the Company, provided with due observance of the
requirement laid down in Article 27.

2. Unless otherwise resolved by the General Meeting or unless otherwise provided by law, the Directors of the
Company shall be the liquidators of the Company.

3. The surplus assets remaining after (i) all the Company’s liabilities have been satisfied, (ii) all profit reserves and
other dividend entitlements have been distributed, shall be divided among the holders of the Shares pro rata to the
total number of Shares held, albeit that (i) the holders of Class C Ordinary Shares shall be entitled to a maximum
amount of one eurocent (EUR 0.01) per Class C Ordinary Share.

4. After completion of the liquidation the books, records and other data-carriers of the dissolved Company shall for a
period of seven (7) years remain in the custody of the person whom the liquidators have appointed for that purpose
in writing.
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Exhibit 2.1

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Nebius Group N.V. is a Dutch public company with limited liability (naamloze vennootschap), and our affairs are
governed by our articles of association, as amended, and Dutch law. The following description sets forth certain material
terms and provisions of Nebius Group N.V. (“Nebius,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) securities that are registered under Section
12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
General

Our authorized share capital consists of 500,000,000 Class A shares, par value €0.01 per share, 37,138,658 Class B
shares, par value €0.10 per share, 37,748,658 Class C shares, par value €0.09 per share. Our Class A shares are listed on
the Nasdaq Global Select Market and are held in book-entry form. The following description of our Class A Shares,
together with the additional information we included herein, including the material provisions of our articles of
association as currently in force and relevant provisions of Dutch law and the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, is a
summary and does not purport to be complete. For the complete terms of our Class A Shares please refer to our Articles of
Association, as amended, which is incorporated by reference as Exhibit 1.1 to our Annual Report on Form 20-F which
this Exhibit 2.1 is a part.

Ordinary Shares

We have three classes of authorized ordinary shares, which vote together as a single class unless otherwise
provided by our articles of association or Dutch law: Class A shares, which have one vote per share; Class B shares,
which have ten votes per share; and Class C shares, which have nine votes per share.

Under Dutch law, the voting power of shares is determined by reference to their par value. Our company's
multiple class share structure is designed to give our principal shareholders increased voting power (without increasing
their economic interest in our company), while also providing a means for them to convert their shares into Class A shares
that can be transferred or sold, including in the public market.

Transfer and Conversion of Ordinary Shares

Because the conversion of a Class B share into a Class A share, with a lower par value, will result in a reduction
of our company's share capital (an event which cannot occur without convening a formal shareholders' meeting), our
articles of association provide that each Class B share converts (in defined circumstances) into both one Class A share and
one Class C share. The Class C shares are intended to serve as a means of "storing" the additional par value of the
converted Class B share until such time as the Class C share can be repurchased and cancelled by our company. We intend
to repurchase and cancel any such Class C shares. To ensure that all such Class C shares are available for repurchase and
cancellation, and to assure that they do not affect the outcome of any shareholder vote, any Class C shares will be held by
the Conversion Foundation, a Dutch foundation managed by our board of directors. The foundation has agreed to sell any
Class C shares it may hold, for no consideration, to our company at any time, and not to sell or transfer such shares to any
other party. We expect that such repurchases will occur promptly following the conversion of any Class B shares into
Class A shares and Class C shares, as the repurchase itself (as opposed to the cancellation of the Class C shares) does not
require shareholder approval. At the first general meeting of shareholders following any such repurchase, we would seek
shareholder approval for the
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cancellation of such Class C shares. The foundation has also agreed that it will vote any Class C shares it may hold in the
same proportion as all other votes are cast at any general meeting of shareholders.

Our Class B shares are transferable only:

*  To the Conversion Foundation. Upon transfer to the foundation, each Class B share converts into one Class A
share and one Class C share. The foundation is obligated to transfer the Class A share to the original Class B
shareholder, and to transfer the Class C share to our company as described above.

*  To our company for the purposes of repurchasing Class B shares.

* By an original holder, to estate and tax planning vehicles (including trusts, corporations and partnerships)
controlled by such original holder of Class B shares (subject to such entities becoming parties to the
shareholders' agreement among our Class B shareholders).

* By an original holder that is a trust, to the beneficiaries of such trusts as of October 10, 2008 (the date our
Class B shares were originally created).

In addition to the above, if any Class B shares are transferred to a party not described above or the transferee
ceases to meet the criteria described above the voting and economic rights of the Class B shares held by such holder or
holders will lapse and the holder is obligated to transfer the Class B shares to the Conversion Foundation in exchange for
Class A shares.

Our Class A shares and Class C shares are not convertible into any other class of shares in our capital.
Shareholder Meetings and Voting Rights

At our shareholders' meetings, each Class A share is entitled to one vote, and each Class B share is entitled to ten
votes. Each Class C share will be entitled to nine votes, but the Conversion Foundation has agreed with us that it will vote
any Class C shares it may hold at any time in the same proportion as all other votes are cast at any general meeting of our
shareholders. The Class A, B and C shares vote together as a single class on all matters, including the election of
directors, except as otherwise provided in our articles of association or Dutch law.

Each sharcholder has a right to attend general meetings of shareholders, either in person or by proxy, and to
exercise voting rights in accordance with the provisions of our articles of association. We must hold at least one general
meeting of shareholders each year. This meeting must be convened at one of several specified locations in the
Netherlands within six months after the end of our fiscal year. Our board of directors may convene additional general
meetings of shareholders as often as it deems necessary, or upon the request of shareholders, or other persons entitled to
attend the general meetings of shareholders, representing at least 10% of the par value of our issued share capital.

We will give notice of each meeting of shareholders by notice in any manner that we may be required to follow
in order to comply with applicable stock exchange requirements. In addition, we will notify registered holders of our
shares by letter, cable, telex or fax, or, where permitted or required, by email or other electronic means. We will give this
notice no later than the fifteenth day prior to the day of the meeting. As deemed necessary by the board of directors, either
the notice will include or be accompanied by an agenda identifying the business to be considered at the meeting or will
state that the agenda will be available for shareholders and other persons who are entitled to attend the general meeting of
shareholders, at our offices or places of business. Shareholders representing at least 3% of the par value of our
outstanding share capital have the right to request the inclusion of additional items on the agenda of shareholder meetings,
provided that such request together with an explanation of such agenda items is received by us no later than 60 days
before the day the relevant shareholder meeting is held.

We are exempt from the proxy solicitation rules under the Exchange Act.
Board of Directors; Adoption of Annual Accounts

The members of our board of directors are appointed, removed and suspended from office by the general
meeting of shareholders. A resolution to remove or suspend a director requires at least a two-thirds majority of the votes
cast representing at least 50% of our issued share capital. The board of directors shall be comprised of one (1) or more
executive directors and three (3) or more non-executive directors. A majority of the members of the board of directors
shall consist of non-executive directors.




Our board of directors must prepare annual accounts for our company, prepared in accordance with either Dutch
generally accepted accounting principles or International Financial Reporting Standards, which must be audited by Dutch
auditors. Our board of directors must make these available to the shareholders for inspection at our offices within five
months after the end of our fiscal year. Under some special circumstances, Dutch law permits an extension of this period
for up to five additional months by approval of the general meeting of shareholders. The board of directors must submit
these annual accounts to the shareholders for adoption at a general meeting of shareholders. Within eight days of the
adoption of these annual accounts, and not more than 12 months from the end of our fiscal year, we must publish and
submit these annual accounts to the Chamber of Commerce in The Hague. We are required to file an annual report on
Form 20-F, which will include our audited consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP,
with the SEC within the prescribed time period after the end of each of our fiscal years.

In the performance of its duties, the board of directors is required by Dutch law to consider the interests of
Nebius, its shareholders, its employees and other stakeholders.

When the general meeting of shareholders adopts the annual accounts prepared by the board of directors, it may
discharge the members of the board of directors from potential liability with respect to the exercise of their duties during
the fiscal year covered by the accounts. This discharge may be given subject to such reservations as the general meeting
of shareholders deems appropriate and is subject to a reservation of liability required under Dutch law. Examples of
reservations of liability required by Dutch law include: (i) liability of members of boards of directors upon the bankruptcy
of a company; and (ii) general principles of reasonableness and fairness. Under Dutch law, a discharge of liability does
not extend to matters not properly disclosed to the general meeting of shareholders. The discharge of the board of
directors must be a separate item on the agenda of the general meeting of shareholders and the members of the board of
directors are not automatically discharged by adoption of the annual accounts. Any meeting of our board of directors may
be held at any location, within or outside of the Netherlands.

Our board of directors may, in accordance with the director compensation policy adopted by our general meeting
of shareholders, establish compensation for the members of the board of directors. The board of directors must submit to
the general meeting of shareholders for approval any plan or amendment to any plan awarding shares or the right to
subscribe for shares to the directors. We have no requirement that our directors own any of our shares.

Under our articles of association, a director may not take part in any vote on a subject or transaction in relation to
which he or she has a conflict of interest with us. However, under our articles of association, a director with a conflict of
interest may continue to represent us without prejudice to the power of the general meeting of shareholders to at any time
designate one or more other persons for such purpose provided that they continue to meet the criteria set out in our
articles for appointment as a director.

Under our articles of association, our board of directors may exercise all the powers of the company to borrow
money or mortgage its property and assets as security for any obligation of the company or of any third party.

We have not established a mandatory retirement age for our directors.
Dividends

The holders of our shares are entitled to such part of our profits for any fiscal year as remains available after
reservation of profits by our board of directors. Such dividends are payable on a pari passu basis on the Class A and
Class B shares. Although our Class C shares are technically entitled to a maximum dividend of 1% of the nominal value
of such Class C shares when we declare dividends on our Class A and Class B shares, we intend to repurchase all Class C
shares issued upon conversion of our Class B shares promptly following their issuance such that no dividends would be
payable on our Class C shares. Additionally, the board of directors has the right to declare interim dividends without the
approval of the general meeting of shareholders. We may not pay dividends if the payment would reduce shareholders'
equity to an amount less than the aggregate fully paid-up share capital plus the reserves that have to be maintained by law
or our articles of association. The amounts available for dividends will be determined based on the statutory accounts of
Nebius Group N.V. prepared under Dutch law, which may differ from our consolidated financial statements.
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The board of directors may decide that dividends or other distributions are paid in the form of cash, shares or a
combination of both.

Issue of Shares; Preemptive Rights

Our board of directors has the power to issue shares, if and to the extent that either the general meeting of
shareholders or the articles of association has delegated such power to the board of directors to act as the authorized body
for this purpose. A delegation of authority to the board of directors to issue shares remains effective for the period
specified by the general meeting of shareholders, or specified in the articles of association, and may be up to five years
from the date of delegation or the date of the articles of association. A general meeting of shareholders may renew
annually this delegation and this delegation may also be renewed by the articles of association for additional periods of up
to five years. Without this delegation, the general meeting of shareholders has the power to authorize the issuance of
shares.

The holders of our Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares have a pro rata (based on the
number of shares held) preemptive right to subscribe for Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares that we
issue for cash, unless the general meeting of shareholders, or the board of directors (if either the general meeting of
shareholders or the articles of association has delegated such power to the board of directors), limits or eliminates this
right. No pre-emption rights shall apply in respect of the issue of Class C Ordinary Shares. In addition, the right of our
shareholders to subscribe for Class A Ordinary Shares and/or Class B Ordinary Shares pursuant to this preemptive right
may be limited in certain circumstances. If the general meeting of shareholders delegates its authority to the board of
directors for this purpose, then the board of directors will have the power to limit or eliminate the preemptive rights of
shareholders. In the absence of this delegation, the general meeting of shareholders will have the power to limit or
climinate these rights. Such resolution requires the approval of a two-thirds majority of the votes cast in a general meeting
of shareholders if less than 50% of our issued share capital is present or represented. Delegations of authority to the board
of directors may remain in effect for up to five years and may be annually renewed for additional periods of up to five
years.

These provisions apply equally to any issue by us of rights to subscribe for any of our Class A Ordinary Shares
and/or Class B Ordinary Shares, including options and warrants other than pursuant to the Nebius Group N.V. Amended
and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”).

No obligation other than to pay up the nominal amount of a share may be imposed upon a shareholder against
the shareholder's will, by amendment of the articles of association or otherwise.

On August 15, 2024, the Company’s shareholders authorized the Board of Directors (i) to issue Class A Shares
(and/or grant rights to subscribe for Class A Shares) in an amount up to 20% of the issued share capital (excluding Class
C Shares) from time to time of the Company, and (ii) to exclude the pre-emptive rights of shareholders in respect of such
issuances of shares and/or granting of rights to subscribe for shares are intended to give the Board of Directors flexibility
in financing the Company in the most efficient manner. Furthermore, such authorizations give the Board of Directors
flexibility in the context of potential acquisitions and mergers.

Repurchase of Shares

We may acquire our shares, subject to applicable provisions of Dutch law and of our articles of association, to
the extent:

*  our shareholders' equity, less the amount to be paid for the shares to be acquired, exceeds the sum of (i) our
aggregate fully paid-up share capital plus (ii) any reserves required to be maintained by Dutch law or our articles
of association; and

» after the acquisition of shares, we and our subsidiaries would not hold, or hold as pledgees, shares having an
aggregate par value that exceeds 50% of the par value of our issued share capital, as these amounts would be
calculated under Dutch GAAP or IFRS, as the case may be.

Our board of directors may direct the company to repurchase shares only if the general meeting of shareholders
has authorized the board of directors to repurchase shares. This authorization may be given for a maximum period of
18 months and should contain the maximum number of shares to be repurchased and a price range. The authorization may
be renewed annually. On August 15, 2024, the Company’s shareholders authorized the
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Board of Directors, for a period of 18 months starting on August 15, 2024 to repurchase the Company’s fully paid-up
Class A Shares, within the limits of Dutch law, applicable regulations and the Company’s articles of association, through a
purchase on the Nasdaq Global Select Market or otherwise, up to a maximum of 81,648,455 Class A Shares, at a purchase
price per Class A Share set with reference to the prevailing market price at the time of the announcement of a potential
share repurchase but in any case no lower than the nominal value of the Class A Shares and no higher than $10.50 per
share. On December 2, 2024, the Board of Directors determined that a potential repurchase by the Company of its Class A
shares is no longer warranted.

We intend to regularly repurchase, for no consideration, any Class C shares that may be issued to the Conversion
Foundation promptly upon the conversion of Class B shares, in which case the above requirements do not apply.

Reduction of Share Capital

At a general meeting of shareholders, our shareholders may vote to reduce the issued share capital by canceling
shares held by us or by reducing the par value of our shares. In either case, this reduction would be subject to applicable
statutory provisions and, if less than 50% of our issued share capital is present or represented, requires a two-thirds
majority of the votes cast in a general meeting of shareholders. We intend to seek shareholder approval on a regular basis
for the cancellation of any Class C shares that may be issued from time to time following their repurchase by us.
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Exhibit 2.2

NEBIUS GROUP N.V.
AMENDED AND RESTATED EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN
1. Introduction.

(a) This Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) of Nebius Group N.V. (the “Company”)
is effective as of August 15, 2024 (“Restatement Effective Date™), subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company. The Plan is an amendment and restatement of the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan that was effective as of May 26,
2016, and amended as of June 27, 2019 upon approval of the Company’s shareholders. All awards made under the Plan
prior to this amendment and restatement shall continue to be governed solely by the terms of the Plan then in effect and
the other documents evidencing such awards.

(b) The Plan provides for the grant of options, share appreciation rights, restricted shares, restricted share
units and other equity-based awards (the “Awards”) covering shares of the Company and/or one or more of its
subsidiaries to persons who provide services to the Company or its subsidiaries.

(©) The Plan serves as the successor to the Company’s Fourth Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan
(the “Predecessor Plan”), and no further share-based awards shall be or have been made under the Predecessor Plan on or
after the date on which the shareholders of the Company approved the Plan. All awards made under the Predecessor Plan
shall continue to be governed solely by the terms of the documents evidencing such awards.

(d) Capitalized terms used herein have the meanings given to them in Section 18 (Definitions).

2. Purpose.

The purpose of this Plan is to advance the interests of the Company’s shareholders by enhancing the ability of
the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) to attract, retain and motivate persons who are expected to make
important contributions to the Group and/or to specific subsidiaries of the Company that are functioning as business units
of the Group. This Plan allows the Company to provide such persons with equity ownership opportunities and incentives
that are intended to better align the interests of such persons with those of the Company’s shareholders and/or the
performance of the Group or its specific business units.

3. Eligibility.

(a) All employees, officers, advisors and consultants of the Group and members of the Board of Directors
(the “Board”) of the Company and the board of directors of a subsidiary of the Company (together, the “Eligible
Participants”) are eligible to receive Awards under the Plan. Each person who receives an Award under the Plan is called
a “Participant”. A Participant shall be deemed to be an Eligible Participant with respect to a Participating Subsidiary so
long as the Participant remains an employee, officer, member of the board of directors, advisor and/or consultant of such
Participating Subsidiary.

(b) Each Eligible Participant shall be eligible to receive one or more Awards covering Class A shares of the
Company (the “Company Shares™). In addition, an Eligible Participant who is an employee, officer, member of the board
of directors, advisor and/or consultant of a Participating Subsidiary shall be eligible to receive an Award covering
ordinary shares of such Participating Subsidiary.




4. Administration of Plan.

The Plan will be administered by the Board or, if so delegated by resolution of the Board or if required by
applicable law or applicable stock exchange rules, the Compensation Committee (the Board or the Compensation
Committee, as the case may be, is referred to herein as the “Administrator”). The Board shall have the authority to grant
Awards, including determining the type and number of Shares and the Purchase Price, Exercise Price or Measurement
Price, as applicable, in respect thereof. Either the Board or the Compensation Committee, acting as Administrator shall
have the authority to adopt, amend and repeal such administrative rules, guidelines and practices relating to the Plan as it
deems advisable. The Administrator may construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and any Awards granted under the
Plan. The Administrator may correct any defect, supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or any
Award in the manner and to the extent it shall deem expedient to carry the Plan into effect. Either the Board or the
Compensation Committee, acting as Administrator may approve the amendment of any Award in accordance with the
terms of this Plan and such Award, provided, however, that any amendment that increases the number of Shares under
such Award or changes the Purchase Price, Exercise Price or Measurement Price, as applicable, in respect thereof shall
require the approval of the Board, subject to Section 15(¢)(2). All decisions by the Administrator shall be made in its sole
discretion, and shall be final and binding on all persons having or claiming any interest in the Plan or in any Award.

5. Number of Shares Available for Awards.

(a) Company Shares. Subject to the provisions of this Section 5 and to adjustment under Section 14
(Adjustments for Changes in Shares and Certain Other Events), the maximum number of Company Shares which may be
issued in the aggregate under the Plan on and after the Restatement Effective Date shall not exceed 30,000,000 Company
Shares. In addition, any Company Shares that remained available for Awards under the Plan as of the Restatement
Effective Date, subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14 (Adjustments for Changes in Shares and Certain Other
Events) below, may be issued with respect to Awards under this Plan on and after the Restatement Effective Date.

(b) Participating_Subsidiary Shares. Subject to the provisions of this Section 5 and to adjustment under
Section 14 (Adjustments for Changes in Shares and Certain Other Events), the maximum number of Participating
Subsidiary Shares of any Participating Subsidiary which may be issued in the aggregate under the Plan on and after the
Restatement Effective Date shall be determined by the Board but shall in no event exceed twenty percent (20%) of the
aggregate number of such Participating Subsidiary Shares issued and outstanding from time to time. In addition, any
Participating Subsidiary Shares that remained available for Awards under the Plan as of the Restatement Effective Date,
subject to adjustment as provided in Section 14 (Adjustments for Changes in Shares and Certain Other Events) below,
may be issued with respect to Awards under this Plan on and after the Restatement Effective Date.

() Share Counting. Shares subject to outstanding Awards granted under the Plan after the Restatement
Effective Date shall be available for subsequent issuance under the Plan on and after the Restatement Effective Date to
the extent those Awards are forfeited, terminated, surrendered, exchanged, cancelled, or expire for any reason on or after
the Restatement Effective Date and prior to the issuance of the underlying Shares. Unvested Shares issued under the Plan
after the Restatement Effective Date and subsequently forfeited to or repurchased by the Group on and after the
Restatement Effective Date, at a price per share not greater than the Purchase Price or Exercise Price, as applicable, paid
per share, shall be added back to the number of Shares reserved for issuance under the Plan and shall accordingly be
available for reissuance through one or more subsequent Awards under the Plan on and after the Restatement Effective
Date. Should the Exercise Price of an Option be paid through the withholding of a portion of the otherwise issuable
Shares, then the authorized Share reserve shall be reduced by the gross number of Shares for which that Option is
exercised. Upon the exercise of any SAR, the Share reserve shall be reduced by the gross number of Shares for which the
SAR is exercised. Shares withheld or surrendered for payment of taxes with respect to Awards shall not be available
for re-issuance under the Plan. To the extent any Awards granted on and after the Restatement Effective Date are paid in
cash, and not in Shares, any Shares previously subject to such Awards shall again be available for issuance or transfer
under the Plan. For the avoidance of doubt, if Shares are repurchased by the Company on the open market with the
proceeds of the Exercise Price of Options, such Shares may not again be made available for issuance under the Plan.
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(d) Subject to the provisions of this Section 5 and to adjustment under Section 14 (Adjustments for Changes
in Shares and Certain Other Events), the maximum number of Company Shares which may be issued under the Plan on
and after the Restatement Effective Date pursuant to Incentive Stock Options shall not exceed 30,000,000 shares.

6. Share Options.

(a) General. The Board may grant an option to acquire Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares
(“Options”). The Board may determine the type and number of Shares to be covered by each Option (the “Option
Shares”) and the exercise price per Share of each Option (the “Exercise Price”), and the Administrator may determine the
other conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of each Option, in each case as it considers necessary or
advisable. Each Option shall be evidenced by a Notice of Option Grant in a form approved by the Administrator (which
may be in electronic form) (a “Notice of Grant™). Each Notice of Grant may contain terms and conditions in addition to,
or which modify, those set forth in the Plan. In no event will dividends or Dividend Equivalents be granted in connection
with Options.

(b) Exercise Price. The Exercise Price per Share of an Option shall not be less than 100% of the Fair
Market Value (as defined below) of the Share as of the date of grant; provided that if the Administrator approves the grant
of an Option effective as of a future date, the Exercise Price shall not be less than the Fair Market Value as of such future
date.

() Vesting_Schedule. Each Option shall vest at such time or times, during such period and for such
number of Shares as shall be determined by the Administrator. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator in a
particular Notice of Grant or by Section 11 (Accelerated Vesting), Options shall vest in installments over four (4) years,
with four-sixteenths (4/16) of the Option Shares vesting on the last day of the 12th full calendar month following the date
of grant, and an additional one-sixteenth (1/16) of the Option Shares vesting on the last day of each third full calendar
month thereafter, until all such Option Shares are fully vested and exercisable. The Option shall only vest on a vesting
date if the Participant continues to be an Eligible Participant of the Group on that vesting date; provided, however, that an
Option covering Participating Subsidiary Shares shall only vest on a vesting date if the Participant continues to be an
Eligible Participant with respect to that Participating Subsidiary on that vesting date. The right of exercise shall be
cumulative, so that if the Option is not exercised to the maximum extent possible upon any exercise, it shall continue to
be exercisable, in whole or in part, with respect to all vested Shares not so purchased until expiration of the Option term.

(d) Incentive Stock Options.

) An Option covering Company Shares that the Administrator intends to be an “incentive stock
option” (an “Incentive Stock Option”) as defined in Section 422 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), may only be granted to employees of Company or any of its current or future parent or subsidiary
corporations as defined in Sections 424(e) or (f) of the Code, and shall be subject to and shall be construed consistently
with the requirements of Section 422 of the Code.

2) If any employee to whom an Incentive Stock Option is granted is a 10% Shareholder, then (i)
the Exercise Price per Share shall not be less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair Market Value per Company
Share on the Option grant date and (ii) the Option term shall not exceed five (5) years measured from the Option grant
date.

3) The aggregate Fair Market Value of the Company Shares (determined as of the respective date
or dates of grant) for which one or more Options granted to any employee under the Plan (or any other option plan of the
Company or any parent or subsidiary of the Company) may for the first time become exercisable as Incentive Stock
Options during any one (1) calendar year shall not exceed the sum of One Hundred Thousand U.S. Dollars
(U.S.$100,000). To the extent the employee holds two (2) or more such options which become exercisable for the first
time in the same calendar year, the foregoing limitation on the exercisability of such options as Incentive Stock Options
shall be applied on the basis of the order in which such options are granted, except to the extent otherwise provided under
applicable law or regulation.




4 The Company shall have no liability to a Participant, or any other party, if an Option (or any
part thereof) that is intended to be an Incentive Stock Option is not an Incentive Stock Option.

7. Share Appreciation Rights.

(a) General. The Board may grant Awards consisting of share appreciation rights (“SARs”) entitling the
holder, upon exercise, to receive a number of Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares determined by
reference to the appreciation, from and after the date of grant, in the Fair Market Value of a Company Share or a
Participating Subsidiary Share over the Measurement Price established pursuant to Section 7(b). Such appreciation will
be paid in the form of Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares, unless the Administrator determines to pay it
in the form of cash or a combination of Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares and cash. The date as of
which such appreciation is determined shall be the date on which the Company receives a duly executed Notice of
Exercise (which may be in electronic form) (or, in the case of SARs with respect to Company Shares, if the stock
exchange on which the Company Shares are then listed is not open for trading on such day, the last trading day prior to
such date). The Board may determine the number of SARs to be covered by each such Award and the Measurement Price
in respect thereof, and the Administrator may determine the other conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of
each such Award, in each case as it considers necessary or advisable. Each such Award shall be evidenced by a Notice of
SAR in a form approved by the Administrator (which may be in electronic form) (a “Notice of SAR”). Each Notice of
SAR may contain terms and conditions in addition to, or which modify, those set forth in the Plan. In no event will
dividends or Dividend Equivalents be granted in connection with SARs.

(b) Measurement Price. The Board shall establish the measurement price of each SAR (the “Measurement
Price”) and specify it in the applicable Notice of SAR. The Measurement Price shall not be less than 100% of the Fair
Market Value per Company Share or Participating Subsidiary Share, as applicable, as of the date the SAR is granted;
provided that if the Board approves the grant of a SAR effective as of a future date, the Measurement Price shall be not
less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per Company Share or Participating Subsidiary Shares, as applicable, as of such
future date.

) Vesting Schedule. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator in a particular Notice of SAR or by
Section 11 (Accelerated Vesting), SAR Awards shall vest in installments over four (4) years, with four-sixteenths (4/16) of
such SARs vesting on the last day of the 12th full calendar month following the date of grant, and an additional one-
sixteenth (1/16) of such SARs vesting on the last day of each third full calendar month thereafter, until all such SARs are
fully vested and exercisable. The SARs shall only vest if the Participant continues to be an Eligible Participant at the time
of each vesting date. The right of exercise shall be cumulative, so that if the SAR Award is not exercised to the maximum
extent possible upon any exercise, it shall continue to be exercisable, in whole or in part, with respect to all vested SARs
not so exercised.

(d) Exercise of SARs. SARs may be exercised by delivery to the Company of a notice of exercise in a
form (which may be electronic) approved by the Administrator (a “Notice of Exercise”), together with any other

documents required by the Administrator.

8. Restricted Shares; Restricted Share Units.

(a) General. The Board may grant Awards entitling recipients to acquire restricted Company Shares or
Participating Subsidiary Shares (“Restricted Shares™), subject to forfeiture or the right of the Company or the
Participating Subsidiary, as applicable, to repurchase from the recipient all or part of such Restricted Shares at their issue
price or other stated or formula price in the event that conditions specified by the Administrator in the applicable Award
are not satisfied prior to the end of the applicable restriction period or periods established by the Administrator for such
Award. The Board may also grant Awards entitling the recipient to receive Company Shares, Participating Subsidiary
Shares or cash, or a combination thereof, to be delivered at the time such Award vests or is exercised (“Restricted Share
Units”) (Restricted Shares and Restricted Share Units are each referred to herein as a “Restricted Share Award”).
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(b) Terms and Conditions for All Restricted Share Awards. The Administrator shall determine the terms
and conditions of a Restricted Share Award, including the conditions for vesting and repurchase (or forfeiture), and the
Board shall determine the issue price thereof.

(c) Additional Provisions Relating_to Restricted Shares; Dividends. Unless otherwise provided in the
applicable Award agreement, any dividends (whether paid in cash, shares or property) declared and paid by the Company
with respect to Restricted Shares (“Accrued Dividends™) shall be paid to the Participant only if and when such Restricted
Shares become free from the restrictions on transferability and forfeitability that apply to such Shares. Each payment of
Accrued Dividends will be made no later than the end of the calendar year in which the dividends are paid to shareholders
or, if later, the 15th day of the third month following the lapsing of the restrictions on transferability and the forfeitability
provisions applicable to the underlying Restricted Shares.

(d) Additional Provisions Relating to Restricted Share Units.

) Settlement. Upon the vesting of and/or lapsing of any other restrictions and/or satisfaction of
any exercise requirements (i.e., settlement) with respect to each Restricted Share Unit, the Participant shall be entitled to
receive from the Company one Company Share or one Participating Subsidiary Share, provided that the Administrator
may determine instead to settle the Restricted Share Unit in the form of cash equal to the Fair Market Value of the
applicable underlying Share or in the form of a combination of Shares subject to the Award and cash, on the vesting or
lapse date. The Administrator may, in its discretion, provide that settlement of Restricted Share Units shall be deferred,
on a mandatory basis or at the election of the Participant in a manner that complies with Section 409A of the Code.

2) Voting Rights. A Participant shall have no voting rights with respect to any Restricted Share
Units.

3) Dividend Equivalents. The Award agreement for Restricted Share Units may provide
Participants with the right to receive an amount equal to any dividends or other distributions declared and paid on an
equal number of outstanding Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares, as applicable (“Dividend Equivalents”).
Dividend Equivalents may be credited to an account for the Participant, may be settled in cash and/or Company Shares or
Participating Subsidiary Shares, as applicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Dividend Equivalents
granted in connection with Restricted Share Units under the Plan shall vest and be paid only if and to the extent the
underlying Restricted Share Units vest and are paid.

9. Other Equity-Based Awards. The Board may grant Other Equity-Based Awards, which are Awards (other than
those described in Sections 6, 7 and 8 of the Plan) that are based on or measured by Company Shares or Participating
Subsidiary Shares, to any Participant, on such terms and conditions as the Administrator shall determine (“Other Equity-
Based Awards”). Other Equity-Based Awards may be awarded subject to the achievement of performance or other criteria
or other conditions and may be payable in cash, Company Shares or Participating Subsidiary Shares, as applicable, or any
combination of the foregoing, as the Administrator shall determine. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, any
dividends or Dividend Equivalents granted in connection with Other Equity-Based Awards under the Plan shall vest and
be paid only if and to the extent the underlying Awards vest and are paid.

10. Exercise of Awards.
(a) Duration of Awards.
) Term. Subject to the terms of the Plan, Options and SARs may be exercised by the Participant
within the period of ten (10) years from the date of grant (the “Term of Exercise”), subject to earlier termination upon the

Participant’s ceasing to be an Eligible Participant, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator.

2) Cessation as Eligible Participant. Except as provided in Section 10(a)(3) and Section 13
(Cancellation of Awards) below or as otherwise determined by the Administrator, upon ceasing to be an Eligible
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Participant the Participant will have ninety (90) days to exercise the Option or SAR, as applicable, provided that such
Award shall be exercisable only to the extent that the Award was exercisable by the Participant on the date the Participant
ceased to be such an Eligible Participant, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator. Upon the expiration of the
applicable exercise period or (if earlier) upon the expiration of the Term of Exercise, the Option or SAR shall terminate
and cease to be outstanding.

3) Exercise upon Death or Disability of Participant. Unless otherwise determined by the
Administrator, if a Participant dies or becomes Disabled (as defined below) prior to the expiration of the Term of Exercise
for an Award, such Award shall be exercisable within the period of nine (9) months from the date of such death or
disability, by the Participant or by the person to whom the Award is transferred by will or laws of descent and distribution,
as the case may be; provided that the Award shall be exercisable only to the extent that such Award was exercisable by the
Participant on the date of his or her death or disability, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator.

(4) Administrator Discretion. The Administrator shall have the discretion, exercisable either at the
time an Award is granted or at any time while the Award remains outstanding, to:

(A) extend the period of time for which the Award is to remain exercisable
following the Participant’s ceasing to be an Eligible Participant, becoming disabled or death from the limited exercise
period otherwise in effect for that Award to such greater period of time as the Administrator shall deem appropriate, but in
no event beyond the expiration of the Term of Exercise;

(B) include an automatic extension provision whereby the specified post-service
exercise period in effect for any Award shall automatically be extended by an additional period of time equal in duration
to any interval within the specified post-service exercise period during which the exercise of that Award or the immediate
sale of the Shares acquired under such Award could not be effected in compliance with applicable securities laws, but in
no event shall such an extension result in the continuation of such Award beyond the Term of Exercise of that Award;

©) permit the Award to be exercised, during the applicable post-service exercise
period, not only with respect to the number of vested Shares for which such Award is exercisable at the time of the
Participant’s ceasing to be an Eligible Participant or death but also with respect to one or more additional installments in
which the Participant would have vested had the Participant continued to be an Eligible Participant; and/or

(D) provide that an Award will continue to vest and remain outstanding
following the time that the Participant ceases to be an Eligible Participant.

(b) Exercise Procedure; Issuance of Shares.

)] Awards may be exercised by delivery to the Company of a written Notice of Exercise by the
Participant (or his or her authorized representative), in the form of notice (including electronic notice) approved by the
Administrator, together with payment (if any) in full as specified herein for the number of Shares for which the Award is
exercised.

2) Company Shares issuable to the Participant pursuant to exercise of an Award shall be issued by
the Company, by way of a written document or notarial deed as required by Dutch law or the Articles of Association of
the Company, as soon as practicable following exercise. Shares of a Participating Subsidiary due upon exercise of an
Award covering shares of such Participating Subsidiary shall be (at the election of the Administrator) transferred by the
Company or issued by such Participating Subsidiary as soon as practicable following exercise.

3) The Company (or any Participating Subsidiary) will not be obligated to issue (or transfer, as
the case may be) any Shares pursuant to the Plan until (i) all conditions of the applicable Award have been met to the
satisfaction of the Company, (ii) in the opinion of the Company’s counsel, all other legal matters in connection
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with the issuance of such Shares have been satisfied, including any applicable securities laws and any applicable stock
exchange or stock market rules and regulations, (iii) the Participant has executed and delivered to the Company such
representations or agreements as the Company may consider appropriate to satisfy the requirements of any applicable
laws, rules or regulations, and (iv) in the case of an Award in respect of Participating Subsidiary Shares, the Participant
has become a party to any shareholders agreement then in effect in respect of such Participating Subsidiary.

4 All exercises of Awards and issuances or transfers of Shares pursuant thereto shall be subject
to any necessary consents of the authorities in The Netherlands, the jurisdiction of the Participating Subsidiary (where
applicable) or elsewhere under statutes or regulations then in force and it shall be the responsibility of the Participant to
comply with any requirements to be fulfilled in order to obtain or obviate the necessity for any such consent.

(c) Repurchase Right with respect to Participating_Subsidiary Shares. In the event that (i) a Participant to
whom an Option covering Participating Subsidiary Shares has been granted ceases to be an Eligible Participant with
respect to such Participating Subsidiary (whether as a result of cessation of service, death or becoming Disabled) and (ii)
such Participant exercises his or her Option during the limited period provided by Section 10 to the extent vested on
ceasing to be an Eligible Participant, the Company shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to settle or caused to be
settled such exercise with a payment in cash or Company Shares (in lieu of Participating Subsidiary Shares). For each
vested Participating Subsidiary Share covered by such Option exercise, the Fair Market Value of the Company Shares
issued or the cash payment delivered shall be equal to the difference between (x) the Fair Market Value per Participating
Subsidiary Share subject to the Option less (y) the Exercise Price payable per Share.

11. Accelerated Vesting.

If a Participant ceases to be an Eligible Participant within nine (9) months following the consummation of a
Change of Control of the Company either (a) because of termination by the Participant for Good Reason or (b) because of
termination by the Group (or any successor) for any reason other than for Cause, the Award(s) held by such Participant
following such Change in Control (including any awards granted in substitution thereof) shall become fully vested and
immediately exercisable.

12. Payment Upon Exercise.

Shares purchased upon the exercise of an Option granted under the Plan shall be paid for as follows:
(a) in cash or wire transfer to the order of the Company;

(b) if the Shares (or depositary shares representing such Shares) are then traded on the Nasdaq Stock
Market, the New York Stock Exchange or any other major global stock exchange (an “Internationally Recognized Stock
Exchange”), by (A) delivery of an irrevocable and unconditional undertaking by a creditworthy broker to deliver
promptly to the Company sufficient funds to pay the Exercise Price due and any required tax withholding, or (B) delivery
by the Participant to the Company of a copy of irrevocable and unconditional instructions to a creditworthy broker to
deliver promptly to the Company cash or a check sufficient to pay the Exercise Price due and any required tax
withholding, or

(©) in the case of Options to purchase Company Shares, by having the Company withhold, from the Shares
otherwise issuable upon exercise of the Option, a number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the aggregate
Exercise Price.

13. Cancellation of Awards.

If (A) the Participant’s relationship with the Group (or a Participating Subsidiary, as the case may be) is
terminated for Cause, (B) the Participant’s relationship with the Group (or a Participating Subsidiary, as the case may be)
terminates for any reason and the Participant thereafter breaches any applicable non-competition or non-
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solicitation restriction or otherwise assists a competitor of the Group (or of a Participating Subsidiary, as the case may be)
in any way within one (1) year of such termination or (C) the Participant discloses confidential information about the
Group’s (or a Participating Subsidiary’s, as the case may be) business or harms the Group’s (or a Participating
Subsidiary’s, as the case may be) reputation or public image by disparagement, then all outstanding Awards of such
Participant (to the extent then still outstanding) shall immediately terminate and the Awards shall be cancelled with the
Participant having no further rights with respect to the Award.

14. Adjustments for Changes in Shares and Certain Other Events.

(a) Changes in Capitalization. If there is any change in the number or kind of Shares outstanding by reason
of (i) a share dividend, spinoff, recapitalization, share split, reverse share split or combination or exchange of shares, (ii) a
merger, reorganization or consolidation, (iii) a reclassification, or (iv) any other extraordinary or unusual event affecting
the outstanding Shares as a class without the Company’s receipt of consideration, or if the value of outstanding Shares is
substantially reduced as a result of a spinoff or the payment of an extraordinary dividend or distribution, the maximum
number and kind of Shares available for issuance under the Plan, the number and kind of shares covered by outstanding
Awards, the number and kind of shares issued and to be issued under the Plan, and the price per share or the applicable
market value of such Awards shall be equitably adjusted by the Administrator to reflect any increase or decrease in the
number of, or change in the kind or value of, the issued Shares to preclude, to the extent practicable, the enlargement or
dilution of rights and benefits under the Plan and such outstanding Awards; provided, however, that any fractional shares
resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. In addition, the Administrator is authorized to make adjustments in
the terms and conditions of, and the criteria included in, Awards in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events
(including, without limitation, events described in the preceding sentence, and acquisitions and dispositions of businesses
and assets) affecting the Company, any subsidiary or any business unit, or the financial statements of the Company or any
subsidiary, or in response to changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles. In addition, in the event of
a Change of Control, the provisions of Section 14(b) and (c) shall apply. Any adjustments to outstanding Awards shall be
consistent with Section 409A or 424 of the Code, to the extent applicable. The adjustments of Awards under this
Section 14(a) shall include adjustment of shares, Exercise Price of Options, Measurement Price of SARs, other Purchase
Price of an Award, performance goals or other terms and conditions, as the Administrator deems appropriate. The
Administrator shall have the sole discretion and authority to determine what appropriate adjustments shall be made and
any adjustments determined by the Administrator shall be final, binding and conclusive.

(b) Change of Control.

) In connection with a Change of Control of the Company, the Board may take any one or more
of the following actions as to all or any (or any portion of) outstanding Awards other than Restricted Shares on such terms
as the Board determines: (i) provide that Awards shall be assumed, or substantially equivalent Awards shall be
substituted, by the acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof), (ii) upon written notice to a Participant,
provide that the Participant’s unexercised or unvested Awards will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of
such Change of Control unless exercised by the Participant within a specified period following the date of such notice,
(iii) provide that Awards shall become exercisable, realizable, or deliverable, or restrictions applicable to an Award shall
lapse, in whole or in part, prior to the Change of Control, upon the Change of Control or upon certain terminations of
employment or other service following such Change of Control, (iv) in the event of a Change of Control under the terms
of which holders of Shares will receive upon consummation thereof a cash payment for each share surrendered in the
Change of Control (the “Acquisition Price”), make or provide for a cash payment to a Participant equal to the excess, if
any, of (A) the Acquisition Price times the number of Shares subject to the Participant’s Awards (to the extent the Exercise
Price does not exceed the Acquisition Price) over (B) the aggregate Exercise Price or Measurement Price, as the case may
be (if any), of all such Awards and any applicable tax withholdings, in exchange for the termination of such Awards with
any such cash payment subject to any escrow, holdback, earn-out or similar provision arrangement in the Change of
Control to the same extent and in the same manner as such provisions apply to a holder of Shares, (v) provide that, in
connection with a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, Awards shall convert into the right to receive liquidation
proceeds (if applicable, net of the Exercise Price or Measurement Price thereof (if applicable) and any applicable tax
withholdings) and (vi) any combination of the foregoing. In taking any of the actions permitted under this Section 14(b),
the Board shall not be




obligated by the Plan to treat all Awards, all Awards held by a Participant, or all Awards of the same type, identically.

2) For purposes of clause 13(b)(1) above, an Award (other than a Restricted Share Award) shall
be considered assumed if, following consummation of the Change of Control, the Award confers the right to acquire, for
each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the consummation of the Change of Control, the consideration
(whether cash, securities or other property) received as a result of the Change of Control by holders of Shares for each
Share held immediately prior to the consummation of the Change of Control (and if holders were offered a choice of
consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided,
however, that if the consideration received as a result of the Change of Control is not solely shares of the acquiring or
succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof), the Company may, with the consent of the acquiring or succeeding
corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of Awards to consist solely of shares of the
acquiring or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) equivalent in value (as determined by the Board) to the per
Share consideration received by holders of outstanding Shares as a result of the Change of Control.

() Consequences of a Change of Control on Restricted Shares. Upon the occurrence of a Change of
Control other than a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, the repurchase and other rights of the Company with
respect to outstanding Restricted Shares shall inure to the benefit of the Company’s successor and shall, unless the Board
determines otherwise, apply to the cash, securities or other property which the Shares were converted into or exchanged
for pursuant to such Change of Control in the same manner and to the same extent as they applied to such Restricted
Shares; provided, however, that the Board may provide for termination or deemed satisfaction of such repurchase or other
rights under the instrument evidencing any Restricted Shares or any other agreement between a Participant and the
Company, either initially or by amendment, to occur, in whole or in part, prior to, upon or upon certain terminations of
employment or other service following such Change of Control. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control involving
the liquidation or dissolution of the Company, except to the extent specifically provided to the contrary in the instrument
evidencing any Restricted Shares or any other agreement between a Participant and the Company, all restrictions and
conditions on all Restricted Shares then outstanding shall automatically be deemed terminated or satisfied.

15. General Provisions Applicable to Awards.
(a) Transferability of Awards and Restrictions on Shares.
) Except as the Administrator may otherwise provide in a Notice of Grant or in any other

agreement between a Participant and the Company, and other than a transfer pursuant to the Participant’s will or the laws
of descent and distribution, the Participant shall not sell, assign, transfer, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of, by
operation of law or otherwise, any Award or any interest therein.

2) Except as the Administrator may otherwise provide in a Notice of Grant or in any other
agreement between a Participant and the Company, Shares acquired upon exercise of an Award may be transferred only
(i) if the Shares (or depositary shares representing such Shares) are publicly traded on a recognized international stock
exchange and there are no other restrictions on the sale of Shares or (ii) fifty percent (50%) or more of the voting power
of the Shares are sold to a third-party buyer in one or a series of related transactions, in which case the Participant shall
have the right to participate in such sale pro-rata with the other shareholders of the Company if such third-party buyer
elects to offer to purchase such Shares. Any transfer of Shares pursuant to clause (ii) above shall be executed by way of a
notarial deed if so required. Participating Subsidiary Shares acquired upon exercise of an Award shall be subject to such
restrictions on transfer as may be provided in the applicable Notice of Grant or any shareholders agreement then in effect
in respect of such Participating Subsidiary.

3) The Administrator may require that a Participant (or any successor in interest) execute a
shareholders agreement, with such terms as the Administrator deems appropriate, with respect to any Shares of a
Participating Subsidiary issued to the Participant pursuant to the Plan.
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(b) Fractional Shares. In no event shall fractional shares be issued upon exercise of any Award. Any
fractional entitlement upon an exercise shall be rounded down to the nearest number of whole Shares, and such fractional
entitlement shall lapse and shall not be carried forward to any subsequent exercise.

(© Discretion. The terms of each Award need not be identical, and the Administrator need not treat
Participants uniformly. The Administrator may at any time provide that any Award shall become immediately exercisable
in full or in part, free of some or all restrictions or conditions.

(d) Withholding. The fiscal and social security consequences (both employer (where applicable) and
employee) arising from accepting the grant of an Award or exercising, vesting or delivery of Shares under an Award shall
be borne by the Participant. Where in relation to Awards granted, the Group is liable, or in accordance with current
practice is believed to be liable, under any statute or regulation or is otherwise to account to any revenue or other
authority for sums in respect of any tax or social security liability of the Participant, then it may impose such conditions
upon the exercise of the Award as are necessary to ensure that it is able to meet such liabilities, including if necessary a
condition that no exercise, vesting or delivery of Shares under any Award may take place unless the Group has been
provided by the Participant with cash funds sufficient to meet any withholding requirement in any jurisdiction. As an
alternative to the Participant providing such cash funds, he or she may enter into arrangements acceptable to the
Administrator to secure that such cash funds are available (whether by authorizing the sale of some or all of the Shares
underlying such Award on his/her behalf and the payment to the Group of the relevant amount of the proceeds of the sale,
or otherwise).

(e) Amendment of Awards.

) The Administrator may amend, modify or terminate any Award, including, but not limited to,
substituting therefor another Award of the same or a different type, or changing the date of exercise or realization;
provided, however, that any amendment that increases the number of Shares under such Award or changes the Purchase
Price, Exercise Price or Measurement Price, as applicable, in respect thereof shall require the approval of the Board,
subject to Section 15(e)(2). The Participant’s consent to such action shall be required unless (i) the Administrator
determines that the action, taking into account any related action, would not materially and adversely affect the
Participant’s rights under the Plan or (ii) the change is permitted under Section 14 (Adjustments for Changes in Shares
and Certain Other Events) or is otherwise required under applicable law or regulation.

2) The Board may not amend any Option or SAR granted under the Plan to provide an Exercise
Price or Measurement Price (if any) per Share that is lower than the then-current Exercise Price or Measurement Price per
Share of such Award without shareholder approval. The Board may not cancel any outstanding award (whether or not
granted under the Plan) and either (i) grant in substitution therefor new Options or SARs under the Plan covering the
same or a different number of Shares and having an Exercise Price or Measurement Price per Share lower than the then-
current Exercise Price or Measurement Price per Share of the cancelled Award or (ii) pay consideration in lieu thereof in
cash or in equity securities of the Company or a Participating Subsidiary without shareholder approval.

16. Forfeiture of Gain.

In the event that a Participant materially breaches the non-competition or non-solicitation provisions of an
applicable Award or any other agreement with the Group (or a Participating Subsidiary, as the case may be), the
Participant shall pay to the Company, by way of liquidated damages, an amount (in cash or Shares) equal to the Aggregate
Gain under the Award. For purposes hereof, “Aggregate Gain” shall mean the total value received by the Participant
under such Award(s), pursuant to one or more exercises thereunder (if applicable), calculated as (x) in the case of
Company Shares, the closing price of one Share on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on the date or dates of each exercise
or issuance thereunder, less the applicable Exercise Price or Measurement Price (if any), multiplied by the number of
Shares acquired, without regard to any subsequent market price decrease or increase, or (y) in the case of Participating
Subsidiary Shares, the fair market value of such Shares as determined in good faith by the Board, less the applicable
Exercise Price, multiplied by the number of Shares acquired, without regard to any subsequent market price decrease or
increase.
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17. Definitions.

For purposes of this Plan, the following terms shall have the following definitions:

(a) “Accrued Dividends” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 8(c).

(b) “Acquisition Price” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 14(b).

(©) “Administrator” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 4.

(d) “Aggregate Gain” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 16.

(e) “Awards” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 1(b).

® “Board” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 3(a).

(2) “Cause” shall mean (a) an act of fraud, embezzlement or theft by the Participant; (b) intentional

wrongful damage by the Participant to the property or business of the Group; (c) intentional wrongful disclosure by the
Participant of secret processes or confidential information of the Group; or (d) intentional failure or refusal of the
Participant to comply with the conditions of any employment, consulting or advisory agreement with a Group company,
unless such failure or refusal to comply is required by applicable law.

(h) “Change of Control” with respect to the Company shall mean (a) the acquisition (other than by the
Company and other than through a public offering) by any person, entity or group (excluding, for this purpose, the
Company or its subsidiaries, or any employee benefit plan of the Company or its subsidiaries which acquires beneficial
ownership of voting securities of the Company) of the beneficial ownership of at least 50% of the voting power of the
Company’s then-outstanding voting securities; (b) the approval by the shareholders of the Company of a reorganization,
merger or consolidation as a result of which the shareholders of the Company immediately prior to such event do not,
immediately thereafter, own more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the reorganized, merged or
consolidated Company’s then-outstanding voting securities; (c) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company (other than
pursuant to the Bankruptcy Act (Faillissementswet));, or (d) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company. A sale or other transfer by an existing shareholder of any of the shares in the Company to a person or entity
that is part of the same group of which the shareholder is part, or a sale or other transfer by an existing shareholder of any
of its shares in the Company to another existing shareholder, shall not constitute a Change of Control. The Administrator
may modify the definition of Change of Control for a particular Award as the Administrator deems necessary or
appropriate; provided that any such modification may only narrow the potential transactions that could be deemed a
Change of Control for purposes of such Award.

(i) “Clawback Policy” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 18(g).

Q) “Code” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(d)(1).

(k) “Company” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 1(a).

Q) “Company Shares” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 3(b).

(m) “Compensation Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board. The Compensation

Committee shall consist of directors who are “independent directors,” as determined in accordance with the independence
standards established by the stock exchange on which the Company Shares are at the time primarily traded.

(n) “Disabled” shall mean having a physical or mental infirmity that impairs the Participant’s ability to
perform his or her duties for the Group for a period of one hundred eighty (180) consecutive days, and “date of
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disability” shall be the earlier of the 180th day of such disability or such date as may be agreed by the Participant and the
Administrator.

(o) “Dividend Equivalents” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 8(d)(3).

(p) “Eligible Participants” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 3(a).

Q@ “Exercise Price” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(a).

(1) “Fair Market Value” per Company Share shall mean (A) at any time when the Company Shares (or

depositary shares representing such Shares) are not publicly traded on an internationally recognized stock exchange, the
price per Share most recently determined by the Board, in its sole discretion, to be the fair market value thereof, which
determination shall be made at least once every six calendar months; and (B) at any time when the Shares (or depositary
shares representing such Shares) are publicly traded on an internationally recognized stock exchange, (i) in the case of
RSUs, the closing price per Share (as adjusted to account for the ratio of Shares to such depositary shares, if necessary)
on the date of such determination; and (ii) in the case of Options and Share Appreciation Rights, the average closing price
per Share (as adjusted to account for the ratio of Shares to such depositary shares, if necessary) on the 20 trading days
immediately following the date of determination.

(s) “Fair Market Value” per Participating Subsidiary Share shall be determined from time to time by the
Board (following consultation with an independent valuation expert).

) “Good Reason” shall mean, except to the extent provided otherwise by the Administrator in an
applicable Award, the occurrence of any of the following circumstances (unless expressly consented to in writing by the
Participant or corrected within thirty (30) days of notice to the Company that the Participant intends to terminate his or
her relationship with the Group for Good Reason as a result thereof): (a) a reduction in (i) the Participant’s annual target
gross compensation, (ii) the percentage of the Participant’s target compensation that is fixed or (iii) the Participant’s
employee benefits as in effect on the date of the Change of Control (but excluding any reduction resulting merely from
currency exchange fluctuations); (b) a requirement that the Participant be based full-time at a Group office more than
eighty (80) kilometers from the Group office at which the Participant is principally engaged immediately prior to the date
of the Change of Control; (c) a material reduction in the position, duties or responsibilities of the Participant as in effect
on the date of the Change of Control; or (d) the failure by the Group to pay the Participant any portion of his or her
current compensation within seven (7) days of the date such compensation is due or any portion of his or her
compensation under any deferred compensation program of the Group within thirty (30) days of the date such
compensation is due.

(w) “Group” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 2.

) “Incentive Stock Option” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(d)(1).

(w) “Internationally Recognized Stock Exchange” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section
12(b).

x) “Measurement Price” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 7(b).

y) “Notice of Exercise” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 7(d).

(z) “Notice of Grant” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(a).

(aa)  “Notice of SAR” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 7(a).
(bb)  “Options” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(a).

(cc)  “Option Shares” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 6(a).
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(dd)  “Other Equity-Based Awards” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 9.

(ee)  “Participant” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 3(a).

() “Participating_Subsidiary” shall mean a direct or indirect subsidiary of the Company whose service
providers are eligible to receive Awards under the Plan covering shares of such subsidiary, as determined from time to
time by the Board. At the Restatement Effective Date, the Participating Subsidiary is Avride B.V.,and additional
Participating Subsidiaries may be designated by the Board from time to time at the Board’s discretion.

(gg)  “Participating Subsidiary Shares” with respect to a Participating Subsidiary shall mean ordinary shares
of that Participating Subsidiary.

(hh)  “Plan” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 1(a).

(ii) “Predecessor Plan” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 1(c).

(1) “Purchase Price” shall mean the purchase price payable for the Award.

(kk)  “Restatement Effective Date” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 1(a).
) “Restricted Share Award” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 8(a).
(mm) “Restricted Shares” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 8(a).

(nn)  “Restricted Share Units” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 8(a).

(00)  “SARs” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 7(a).
(pp)  “Shares” shall mean a Company Share or a Participating Subsidiary Share, as applicable.

(qqQ) “10% Shareholder” shall mean the owner of share (as determined under Code Section 424(d))
possessing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of shares of the Company (or
any parent or subsidiary).

(17) “Term of Exercise” shall have the meaning ascribed to the term in Section 10(a)(1).

18. Miscellaneous.

(a) No Right To Employment or Other Status. No person shall have any claim or right to be granted an
Award, and the grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a Participant the right to continued employment or any
other relationship with the Group or any Participating Subsidiary, as the case may be. The Company expressly reserves
its right (or the right of a Participating Subsidiary) at any time to dismiss or otherwise terminate its (or such Participating
Subsidiary’s) relationship with a Participant free from any liability or claim under the Plan, except as expressly provided
in the applicable Award. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that the employment of any Eligible Participant is
transferred from one Group company to another Group company, such transfer shall not affect such employee’s status as
an Eligible Participant hereunder, and the vesting of any Award shall be unaffected by such transfer; provided, however,
that if an Eligible Participant is transferred from a Participating Subsidiary to another Group company, he or she shall
cease to be an Eligible Participant in respect of such Participating Subsidiary.

(b) No Rights As Shareholder. Subject to the provisions of the applicable Award, no Participant or
designated beneficiary of a Participant shall have any rights as a shareholder with respect to any Shares to be distributed
with respect to an Award until becoming the record holder of such Shares.
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(©) Suspension of Vesting During Leave. Except to the extent otherwise required by applicable law, in the
event that a Participant who is a Group employee takes sick leave, parental leave or unpaid leave from employment with
the Group for more than 90 consecutive days (and does not perform work during such period), the vesting of such
Participant’s Award(s) hereunder shall be suspended during the period of such leave, and shall recommence when such
Eligible Participant resumes active employment with the Group. The Administrator shall have sole discretion to
determine the measurement of any such period.

(d) Term of Plan.

)] The Plan was originally adopted on May 26, 2016 and amended on June 27, 2019. The Plan is
hereby amended and restated on the Restatement Effective Date. No Award shall be granted under the Plan after August
15, 2034, but Awards previously granted may extend beyond that date and be governed by the provisions of the Plan.

2) Prior to August 15, 2034, the Board may at any time resolve to terminate the Plan and that no
further Awards will be granted under the Plan, but Awards previously granted may extend beyond that date and be
governed by the provisions of the Plan.

(e) Amendment of Plan. Subject to any shareholder approval requirements under the rules of any stock
exchange that are applicable to the Company at any time or applicable laws or regulations, the Board may amend or
suspend the Plan or any portion thereof at any time. Unless otherwise specified in the amendment, any amendment to the
Plan adopted in accordance with this Section 18(e) shall apply to, and be binding on the holders of, all Awards
outstanding under the Plan at the time the amendment is adopted, provided the Board determines that such amendment
does not materially and adversely affect the rights of Participants under the Plan.

() Authorization of Sub-Plans. The Board may from time to time establish one or more sub-plans under
the Plan for purposes of satisfying applicable securities or tax laws of various jurisdictions. The Board shall establish
such sub-plans by adopting supplements to this Plan containing (i) such limitations on the Board’s or the Compensation
Committee’s discretion under the Plan as the Board deems necessary or desirable or (ii) such additional terms and
conditions not otherwise inconsistent with the Plan as the Board shall deem necessary or desirable. All supplements
adopted by the Board shall be deemed to be part of the Plan, but each supplement shall apply only to Participants within
the affected jurisdiction and the Company shall not be required to provide copies of any supplement to Participants in any
jurisdiction which is not the subject of such supplement.

(2) Company_Policies and Clawback Rights. All Awards under the Plan shall be subject to any applicable
share trading policies and other policies that may be approved or implemented by the Board or the Compensation
Committee from time to time, whether or not approved before or after the Restatement Effective Date. All Awards and
amounts payable under the Plan are additionally subject to the terms of any applicable clawback policies approved by the
Board or Compensation Committee, as in effect from time to time (including, without limitation, a clawback policy
required to be implemented by an applicable stock exchange), whether approved before or after the date of grant of an
Award (as applicable, a “Clawback Policy”). Further, to the extent permitted by applicable law, including without
limitation Section 409A of the Code, all amounts payable under the Plan are subject to offset in the event that a
Participant has an outstanding clawback, recoupment or forfeiture obligation to the Company or Participating Subsidiary
under the terms of any applicable Clawback Policy. In the event of a clawback, recoupment or forfeiture event under an
applicable Clawback Policy, the amount required to be clawed back, recouped or forfeited pursuant to such policy shall be
deemed not to have been earned under the terms of the Plan, and the Company or Participating Subsidiary, as applicable,
shall be entitled to recover from the Participant the amount specified under the Clawback Policy to be clawed back,
recouped or forfeited (which amount, as applicable, shall be deemed an advance that remained subject to the Participant
satisfying all eligibility conditions for earning the amounts deferred, accrued, or credited under this Plan).

(h) Governing Law. The provisions of the Plan and all Awards made hereunder shall be governed by and
interpreted in accordance with the laws of The Netherlands, without giving effect to the conflicts of law principles
thereof.
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(1) Disputes. All disputes arising in connection with the provisions of this Plan shall be settled in
accordance with the arbitration rules of the Netherlands Arbitration Institute (Nederlands Arbitrage Instituut). The arbitral
tribunal shall be composed of three (3) arbitrators. The place of arbitration shall be Amsterdam, The Netherlands. The
arbitral proceedings shall be conducted in the English language. The arbitral tribunal shall decide according to the rules
of law.

sekokskok
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Exhibit 8.1

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

Name of Subsidiary(1) Jurisdiction of Organization
NEBIUS B.V. Netherlands

AVRIDE B.V. Netherlands

TOLOKA AI INC. U.S.

TRIPLETEN INC. U.S.

NEBIUS ISRAEL LTD. Israel

TOLOKA AI B.V. Netherlands

EDTECH PLUS B.V. Netherlands

(1) Directly or indirectly held




Exhibit 11

NEBIUS GROUP N.V.

Insider Trading Policy

(Effective as of August 15, 2024)
1. Background and Purpose

The US federal securities laws prohibit any member of the Board of Directors (a “Director”) or employee of Nebius
Group N.V. (the “Company” and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) or its subsidiaries from purchasing or
selling Company securities on the basis of material nonpublic information concerning the Company or the Group, or from
disclosing material nonpublic information to others who might trade on the basis of that information. In addition, the
Dutch Financial Supervision Act prohibits such practices to the extent a person is in the Netherlands when engaging in the
prohibited actions. These laws impose severe sanctions on individuals who violate them. In addition, the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) has the authority to impose large fines on the Company and on the Company’s
Directors, senior management of the Group and controlling shareholders if the Group’s employees engage in insider
trading and the Company has failed to take appropriate steps to prevent it (so-called “controlling person” liability).

This insider trading policy is being adopted in light of these legal requirements, and with the goal of helping:

o prevent inadvertent violations of the insider trading laws;

° avoid even the appearance of impropriety on the part of those employed by, or associated with, the
Group;

° protect the Company from controlling person liability; and

) protect the reputation of the Company, its Directors and the Group’s employees.

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer shall serve as the Compliance Officer for the purposes of this policy.
2. Personal Responsibility and Limitation of Liability

Persons subject to this policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the
Group and to not engage in transactions in Company securities while in possession of material nonpublic information.
Each individual is responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this policy, and that any family member,
household member or entity whose transactions are subject to this policy, as discussed below, also comply with this
policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic
information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company or the Group, the Compliance Officer or
any other employee or director pursuant to this policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or
insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and
disciplinary action by the Company for any conduct prohibited by this policy or applicable securities laws.

3. Definition of Material Non-Public Information
3.1 Material Information. Information is considered “material” if a reasonable investor would consider that
information important in making a decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be

expected to affect the Company’s stock price, whether it is positive or negative,
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should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather,
materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by
enforcement authorities after the fact, with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all
categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as
material are:

° projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;

° changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings
guidance;

° a pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;

° a pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;

° a pending or proposed joint venture;

° a Company or Group restructuring;

° significant related party transactions;

° a change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional
securities;

° material bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;

° the establishment of a repurchase program for Company securities;

° a change in senior management;

° a change in auditors or notification that the auditor’s reports may no longer be relied upon;

° development of a significant new product, process, or service;

° pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;

o impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;

° the gain or loss of a significant business partner; or

° the imposition of a ban on trading in Company securities or the securities of another company.

When Information is Considered Public. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is
generally considered to be nonpublic information. In order to establish that the information has been
disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely
disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed
through a newswire service, a widely-available radio or television program, a widely-available
newspaper, magazine or news website, or a public disclosure document filed with the SEC that is
available on the SEC’s website. By contrast, information would likely not be
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considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company’s employees, or if it is only
available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public sufficient
time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed
by the marketplace until after second business day after the day on which the information is released. If,
for example, the Company were to make an announcement on a Monday, you should not trade in
Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the Company may
determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic
information.

4. Prohibitions relating to Transactions in the Company’s Securities

4.1

4.2

Covered Persons. This Section 4 applies to:

o all Directors;
° all employees of the Group;
° all family members of Directors and employees of the Group who share the same address as,

or are financially dependent on, the Director or employee of the Group, and any other person
who shares the same address as the Director or employee of the Group (other than an unrelated
person who is not financially dependent on the Director or employee of the Group and on
whom the Director or employee of the Group is not financially dependent);

° all corporations, partnerships, trusts or other entities controlled by any of the above persons,
unless the entity has implemented policies or procedures designed to ensure that such person

cannot influence transactions by the entity involving Company securities; and

° such other persons as the Company may determine should be subject to this Section 4 based
upon their access to material nonpublic information.

Prohibition on Trading While Aware of Material Nonpublic Information.

(a) Except as provided in Section 6, no person or entity covered by Section 4 may:

° purchase or sell any securities of the Company while he or she is aware of any
material nonpublic information concerning the Company, or recommend to another
person that they do so;

° disclose to any other person any material nonpublic information concerning the
Company if it is reasonably foreseeable that such person may misuse that
information, such as to purchase or sell Company securities;

° purchase, sell, or recommend to purchase or sell any securities of another company
while he or she is aware of any material nonpublic information concerning such other
company which he or she learned in the course of his or her service as a Director or
employee of the Group, or recommend to another person that they do so;

° disclose to any other person any material nonpublic information concerning another
company which he or she learned in the course of his or her service as a
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Director or employee of the Group if it is reasonably foreseeable that such person
may misuse that information, such as to purchase or sell securities of such other
company; or

° assist anyone with any of the above.

(b) If a person ceases to be a Director or employee of the Group at a time when he or she is aware
of material nonpublic information concerning the Company and/or the Group, the prohibition
on purchases or sales of Company securities in Section 4.2(a) shall continue to apply to such
person until that information has become public or is no longer material.

4.3 Prohibition on Pledges. No person or entity covered by this Section 4 may purchase Company securities
on margin, borrow against Company securities held in a margin account, or pledge Company securities
as collateral for a loan. However, an exception may be granted where a person wishes to pledge
Company securities as collateral for a loan and clearly demonstrates the financial capacity to repay the
loan without resort to the pledged securities. Any person who wishes to pledge Company securities as
collateral for a loan must submit a request for approval to the Compliance Officer.

4.4 Prohibition on Short Sales and Derivative Transactions. No person or entity covered by this Section 4
may engage in any of the following types of transactions:

° short sales of Company securities, including short sales “against the box”; or
o purchases or sales of puts, calls or other derivative securities based on the Company’s
securities.

Additional Prohibitions Applicable to Directors, Senior Management and Designated Employees
5.1 Covered Persons. This Section 5 applies to:
) all Directors;
° all employees of the Group with the following positions (with the Company or any material

Group subsidiary) or, in the future, with positions with different titles that carry with them
substantially similar responsibilities as those set out below (“Senior Management™):

° Chief Executive Officer

o Chief Operating Officer

[ Chief Technology Officer
o Chief Financial Officer

° Chief Accounting Officer
o Head of Investor Relations
° Tax Director

° Head of Treasury
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5.4

° such other employees of the Group as are designated from time to time by the Board of
Directors of the Company, the Chief Executive Officer of the Group or the Compliance Officer
as being subject to this Section 5 (the “Designated Employees”);

° all family members of Directors, Senior Managers and Designated Employees who share the
same address as, or are financially dependent on, the Director, Senior Manager or Designated
Employee, and any other person who shares the same address as the Director, Senior Manager
or Designated Employee (other than an unrelated person who is not financially dependent on
the Director, Senior Manager or Designated Employee and on whom the Director, Senior
Manager or Designated Employee is not financially dependent); and

° all corporations, partnerships, trusts or other entities controlled by any of the above persons,
unless the entity has implemented policies or procedures designed to ensure that such person
cannot influence transactions by the entity involving Company securities.

Blackout Periods.

(a) Except as provided in Section 6, no person or entity covered by this Section 5 may purchase or
sell any securities of the Company during the period beginning two weeks prior to the end of
each fiscal quarter and ending upon the completion of the second full trading day after the
public announcement of earnings for such quarter (a “regular blackout period”).

(b) The Company may from time to time notify Directors, Senior Managers and other specified
employees of the Group that an additional blackout period (a “corporate news blackout
period”) is in effect in view of significant events or developments involving the Company and
the Group. In such event, except as provided in Section 6, no such individual may purchase or
sell any securities of the Company during such corporate news blackout period or inform any
third party that a corporate news blackout period is in effect. (In this policy, regular blackout
periods and corporate news blackout periods are each referred to as a “blackout period.”)

Trading Solely Under Trading Plans. Subject to Section 6, and unless otherwise expressly approved by
the Compliance Officer in writing, Directors, Senior Managers and such other persons identified by the
Compliance Officer from time to time (the “Plan Persons” and each a “Plan Person”) shall only be
permitted to effect any sales or purchases of securities of the Company pursuant to a binding contract,
written plan or specific instruction (a “trading plan”) which is adopted and operated in compliance with
Rule 10b5-1. Such trading plan must be: (1) in writing; (2) submitted to the Company for review by the
Company prior to its adoption; and (3) not be adopted during a blackout period or while the Plan Person
was aware of material nonpublic information.

Notice of Trades; Filing Requirements.

(a) Advance Notice. No person or entity covered by this Section 5 may purchase or sell or
otherwise acquire or dispose of securities of the Company, other than in a transaction permitted
under Section 6(a), unless he, she or it notifies the Compliance Officer prior to such
transaction.

(b) Notification Procedures. The notifications required by Section 5.3(a) may be oral or in writing
(including by e-mail) and should include the identity of the covered person, the type of
transaction (for example, an open market purchase, a privately negotiated sale, an option
exercise, etc.), the date or proposed date of the transaction and the number of shares involved.
For purposes of Section 5.3, a purchase, sale or other acquisition or
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6.

7.

Exceptions

(a)

(b)

disposition shall be deemed to occur at the time the person becomes irrevocably committed to
it (for example, in the case of an open market purchase or sale, this occurs when the trade is
executed, not when it settles).

The prohibitions in Sections 4.2(a) and 5.2 on purchases and sales of Company securities do
not apply to:

° exercises of share options or other equity awards that would otherwise expire or the
surrender of shares to the Company in payment of the exercise price or in satisfaction
of any tax withholding obligations, in each case in a manner permitted by the
applicable equity award agreement; provided, however, that the securities so acquired
may not be sold (either outright or in connection with a “cashless” exercise
transaction through a broker) while the employee or Director is aware of material
nonpublic information or, in the case of someone who is subject to Section 5, during a
blackout period (as defined in Section 5.2(b));

° acquisitions or dispositions of Company ordinary shares under any future Company
sponsored pension plan which are made pursuant to standing instructions not entered
into or modified while the employee or Director is aware of material nonpublic
information or, in the case of someone who is subject to Section 5, during a blackout

period;
° other purchases of securities from the Company or sales of securities to the Company;
° bona fide gifts, unless the person making the gift has reason to believe that the

recipient intends to sell the securities while the employee or Director is aware of
material nonpublic information or, in the case of someone who is subject to Section 5,
during a blackout period; and

° purchases or sales made pursuant to a binding contract, written plan or specific
instruction (a “trading plan”) which is adopted and operated in compliance with Rule
10b5-1; provided such trading plan: (1) is in writing; (2) was submitted to the
Company for review by the Company prior to its adoption; and (3) was not adopted
while the employee or Director was aware of material nonpublic information or, in
the case of someone who is subject to Section 5, during a blackout period.

Nothing in this policy is intended to limit the ability of a venture capital partnership or other
similar entity with which a Director is affiliated to distribute Company securities to its
partners, members or other similar persons. It is the responsibility of each affected Director
and the affiliated entity, in consultation with their own counsel (as appropriate), to determine
the timing of any distributions, based on all relevant facts and circumstances and applicable
securities laws.

Penalties for Violation

Violation of any of the foregoing rules is grounds for disciplinary action by the Company, including termination of
employment.




8. Company Assistance and Education

The Company shall take reasonable steps designed to ensure that all Directors and employees of the Group are educated
about, and periodically reminded of, the US federal and Dutch securities law restrictions and Company policies regarding
insider trading.

9. Limitation on Liability

None of the Company, the Compliance Officer or the Company’s other employees will have any liability for any delay in
reviewing a trading plan submitted for review pursuant to Section 6(a) or for any refusal to permit a pledge pursuant to
Section 5.3. Notwithstanding any review of a trading plan pursuant to Section 6(a) or receipt of an advance notice
pursuant to Section 5.3(a), none of the Company, the Compliance Officer or the Group’s other employees assumes any
liability for the consequences of such trading plan or transaction to the person engaging in or adopting such trading plan
or transaction.




Exhibit 12.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Arkady Volozh, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Nebius Group N.V. (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2025
By: /s/ Arkady Volozh

Name: Arkady Volozh
Title: Chief Executive Olfficer and Executive Director, (Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 12.2

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Ron Jacobs, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Nebius Group N.V. (the “Company”);

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made,
not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(©) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: April 30, 2025
By: /s/ Ron Jacobs

Name: Ron Jacobs
Title: Chief Financial Officer,  (Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 13.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 20-F of Nebius Group N.V. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31,
2024, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), the undersigned Arkady
Volozh and Ron Jacobs each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

(D) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

Date: April 30, 2025

By: /s/ Arkady Volozh
Name: Arkady Volozh
Title: Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

By: /s/ Ron Jacobs
Name: Ron Jacobs
Title: Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)




Exhibit 15.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-213317) of Nebius
Group N.V. of our reports dated April 30, 2025 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, which appear in this Form 20-F.

/s/ Reanda Audit & Assurance B.V.

April 30, 2025




Exhibit 15.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-213317) of Nebius
Group N.V. of our report dated April 26, 2024, except with respect to the matter that alleviated previous substantial doubt
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and except for the effects of discontinued operations and the
change in reporting currency discussed in Note 1 and the change in composition of reportable segments discussed in Note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, as to which the date is April 30, 2025, relating to the financial statements, which
appears in this Form 20-F.

/s/ Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit”
Moscow, Russia

April 30, 2025




Exhibit 16.1

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We have read the statements made by Nebius Group N.V., which we understand will be filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, pursuant to Item 16F of Form 20-F of Nebius Group N.V. dated April 30, 2025. We agree with the
statements concerning our Firm contained therein.

Very truly yours

tH)

/s/ Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit
Moscow, Russia

April 30, 2025




Exhibit 99.1

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of International Public Joint-Stock Company YANDEX
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of International Public Joint-Stock Company YANDEX and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of May 16, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/(loss),
cash flows and shareholders’ equity for the period from January 1, 2024 to May 16, 2024, including the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”) (not presented herein). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of May 16, 2024, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the period from January 1, 2024 to May 16, 2024 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements
that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Using accounting estimates and assumptions to determine certain account balances in the consolidated financial statements as of May
16, 2024

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s management make certain assumptions and judgements
including: (i) revenue from online advertising and cloud services and regular monthly expenses for the first sixteen days of May 2024
were accrued pro-rata to the number of days; (ii) certain expenses, which are closely related to specific revenue streams, were accrued
using gross profit margin for the whole month of May 2024; and (iii) trade accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, funds receivable,
other current assets, accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and deferred revenue were calculated as actual balances as of March
31, 2024 adjusted to reflect the change in the net assets of the Company for the period from March 31, 2024 till May 16, 2024.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to the accounting estimates and assumptions used
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is a critical audit matter is judgement exercised by the Company’s
management in determining the portion of certain income and expense items to be recognised in the first sixteen days of May 2024 and
estimating certain current assets and current liabilities balances as of May 16, 2024 (non-standard closing date for the Company), which
in turn led to a high degree of auditor judgment and effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence obtained relating to
whether the cut-off as of May 16, 2024 was appropriately achieved by the Company’s management.




Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included, among others (i) testing management’s process for determining the
portion of certain income and expense items to be recognised in the first sixteen days of May 2024 and estimating certain current assets
and current liabilities balances as of May 16, 2024; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the approach used by management; (iii) testing
the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in developing the estimate; and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of proportions
for the calculation of certain revenue and expense items in the first sixteen days of May 2024 and certain current assets and current
liabilities balances as of May 16, 2024. Evaluating these management’s assumptions involved considering (i) nature of services and
customer contract terms; (ii) supplier and employee contract terms; and (iii) consistency with historical trends.

/s/ Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit”
Moscow, Russian Federation

April 30, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2023.




Exhibit 99.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Annual report on Form 20-F (No. 333-213317) of Nebius Group
N.V. of our report dated April 30, 2025, relating to the consolidated financial statements of International Public Joint-Stock
Company YANDEX and its subsidiaries for the period from January 1, 2024 to May 16, 2024, which appears in this Form
20-F.

/s/ Joint-Stock Company “Technologies of Trust — Audit”

Moscow, Russia
April 30, 2025




